Improving Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services: A Qualitative and

Quantitative Exploration into the Current State of Services in Alberta,

Canada

by

Matthew Alexander Reeson

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Psychiatry University of Alberta

© Matthew Alexander Reeson, 2022

ABSTRACT

Background

There is a paucity of evidence-based research aimed at determining best-practice treatment in the context of child and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS). Despite the high prevalence of mental illness in youth, no gold-standard for treatment currently exists. Assessment tools are necessary to monitor treatment outcomes but are often overlooked. The overarching aim of this dissertation is to investigate ways in which CAMHS can be improved, with a specific focus on the use of outcome measures.

Objectives

The objectives of this work are to explore stakeholder perceptions of treatment success in a child and adolescent psychiatric inpatient unit; to investigate the impact of early-life trauma on mental illness and treatment outcomes, and to implement the use of standardized outcome measures in a youth treatment program.

Methods

A qualitative analysis of focus groups was conducted to determine stakeholder perceptions of treatment success in a youth psychiatric inpatient unit. Caregivers of children and adolescents undergoing treatment, as well as the service providers of the unit, were interviewed (Chapter 2). Subsequently, a regression analysis of the reported number of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) in youth child sexual abuse (CSA) survivors and their biological caregivers was conducted (Chapter 3). This was followed up with a longitudinal study of changes in cognitive performance

for CSA survivors aged 8-12 (Chapter 4). The longitudinal analysis approach was extended to a study of changes in mental health and well-being for adolescent female CSA survivors (Chapter 5a). Based off these preliminary results, a longitudinal study of changes in mental health and well-being was extended to the first half of the program in both the children and adolescent CSA survivors; changes for pre-COVID and COVID-era cohorts were compared (Chapter 5b).

Results

Five primary themes emerged as relevant determinants of treatment success: (1) youth mental health and well-being; (2) caregiver mental health and well-being; (3) the health of the caregiverchild dyad; (4) education, socialization, & occupation; (5) institutional interactions. A moderate correlation was found between parent and child ACE scores (r[90] = 0.44, p < 0.0001). Over the course of treatment, statistically significant improvements in mean cognitive scores occurred for executive function (13.8%, p<0.001), attention (13.5%, p=0.009), working memory (7.3%, p=0.02), as well as the overall cognitive score (9.1%, p=0.005). In the child program, significant improvement in round one pre-COVID cohorts was reported for PTSD (-26.0%, p=0.036), depression (-36.6%, p=0.05), and anxiety (-26.2%, p=0.001). In the adolescent program, significant improvement in round one pre-COVID cohorts was reported in all domains: PTSD (-31.3%, p=0.005), depression (-21.4%, p=0.03), anxiety (-31.3%, p=0.007)), and self-esteem (20.0%, p=0.005). Pre-COVID cohorts generally reported larger improvements than COVID-era cohorts.

Discussion/Conclusion

This dissertation provides new knowledge in the field of child and adolescent mental health treatment and services. This is the first study to qualitatively investigate stakeholder perceptions of treatment success in a Canadian youth psychiatric inpatient unit. These interviews provided unique insights into the determinants of inpatient treatment outcomes. Stakeholders supported the implementation of regular outcome assessment as a means to evaluate treatment success in this context.

Following this analysis, a novel treatment program specifically designed for youth survivors of CSA was evaluated. These studies provide examples of routine outcome collection as a method of assessing a novel residential child and adolescent mental health treatment program. The findings of this dissertation provide preliminary evidence that the intensive and multimodal design is effective and appropriate for this population and warrants further investigation with larger samples. The unexpected onset of the COVID-19 pandemic provided a unique opportunity to assess the pandemic's impact on a vulnerable population. The results appeared to indicate that the pandemic induced treatment resistance in participants undergoing treatment, but further investigation is needed. Considering the well-established impact early-life trauma has on the onset and severity of mental illness, treatment approaches directed at specific experiences, such as CSA, may be more appropriate and effective for young people than those directed at treating symptoms or a specific diagnosis. Further investigation into best-practice approaches in CAMHS is needed.

PREFACE

The research contained in this thesis includes data collected from two different child and adolescent treatment centers: (1) The Glenrose Rehabilitation Hospital (GRH) child and adolescent psychiatric inpatient unit; (2) The Little Warriors Be Brave Ranch (BBR), a residential treatment facility specifically designed for child sexual abuse survivors. Child and adolescent mental health services is an area needing research; however, because of the difficulties associated with the mental health of youth and their families, it is considered a highly sensitive field—this is particularly true where there is early-life trauma. Unlike many areas of clinical medicine, engaging with children and adolescents in mental health has significant limitations related to access to participants and the use of specific research methodologies such as randomized-controlled trials. In my experience, over the journey that has given rise to this dissertation, I've been fortunate to work with individual researchers who had access to vulnerable populations and close associations with health organizations including Alberta Health Services (AHS) and not-for-profit organizations like Little Warriors. In this context, I've capitalized on the opportunity to use existing measurements and gather data related to stakeholder engagement. As such, this dissertation is engages a naturalistic approach with the utilization of convenience samples. It was not possible in the current environment in Alberta, and with the resources available to me, to initiate any formal clinical trial or health implementation project. Consequently, the thesis comprises two main approaches: (1) assessment in the context of inpatient hospital care (GRH); (2) evaluation of clinical data available from program evaluation that has been developing at the BBR residential treatment center over the past five years. In this context I've been able to achieve the following, as outlined in this preface.

Chapter 2

All authors made significant intellectual contributions to this manuscript. MR and MJ developed the research methods and study design with expert input from AG. Focus group interviews were conducted by MR and MJ. Transcription of interviews was completed independently by MR and MJ, and thematic analysis of the findings achieved collaboratively. AG gave final recommendations on the qualitative findings and manuscript composition.

Chapter 3

Research questions, study design, and manuscript construction was primarily the work of MR and HP with significant intellectual input from PS, WP, and AG. Data were collected by MR and analyzed statistically by MR and HP. VA, YW, GH, and LS provided consultation and expertise. All authors contributed to the editorial process and approved the final manuscript.

This manuscript has been submitted for publication in Journal of Youth and Adolescence

Chapter 4

MR, HP, WP, and PS developed research questions, study design, and research methods, with expert input from AG, VA, GH, YW, and LS. The manuscript was written primarily by MR, with assistance from HP and PS. Data were collected by WP and LS and provided to MR for statistical analysis. All authors contributed to the editorial process and approved the final manuscript.

Chapter 5a

All authors made significant intellectual contributions to this manuscript. MR, HP, WP, and PS developed the research questions, study design and research methods, with expert input from AG, VA, GH, YW, and LS. The manuscript was written primarily by MR, with assistance from HP and

PS. Data were collected and statistically analyzed by MR with expert input from PS, HP, and AG. All authors contributed to the editorial process and approved the final manuscript.

This manuscript has been published: Reeson M, Polzin W, Pazderka H, et al. A novel 2-week intensive multimodal treatment program for child sexual abuse (CSA) survivors is associated with mental health benefits for females aged 13-16. *J Can Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2020;29(3):165-76.

Chapter 5b

All authors made significant intellectual contributions to this manuscript. MR, HP, WP, and PS developed the research questions, study design, and research methods, with additional expertise and consultation provided by AG, VA, GH, YW, and LS. The Manuscript was written primarily by MR, with assistance from HP and PS. Data were collected and statistically analyzed by MR with the assistance of PS, HP, and AG. All authors contributed to the editorial process and approved the final manuscript.

This manuscript has been accepted upon review in Child Abuse & Neglect

DEDICATION

First and foremost, this dissertation is dedicated to the countless young people who struggle with mental illness. I hope this research is a worthy contribution to the ongoing pursuit of improving the lives of the vulnerable. To the truly courageous children and adolescents at the Be Brave Ranch—those who in their short lives have endured so much adversity—thank you for exemplifying the power of resilience.

I also dedicate this dissertation to the intellectual giants upon whose shoulders I am privileged to stand. Your wisdom, influence, and guidance has been instrumental in my development as an academic and a human being.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I am forever thankful for the many friends and family who have supported me on this journey. To my parents, Rick and Katya, your enduring love has granted me the freedom to pursue my aspirations, and I am truly grateful to have such wonderful parents. To my brother Peter, thank you for always being my best friend and my rock. To Samantha, I couldn't have done this without your love and support, thank you for always being my biggest supporter. To my great friends, DC, EA, BT, CC, and JD, I cherish our fellowship. I'd also like to acknowledge my academic peers, particularly those who have become friends, your insight and guidance is truly appreciated. To Dr. Margot Jackson, thank you for your mentorship and kindness. I learned a lot from our work together and appreciate the lessons that you taught me. I want to thank the amazing people at Little Warriors who gave me the opportunity to work with an incredible organization. To the members of the Scientific and Clinical Council, thank you for the engaging conversations and for providing the expertise necessary to complete this research effectively. Specifically, thank you to Dr. Wanda Polzin Holman, Dr. Hannah Pazderka, and Dr. Peter Silverstone for your wisdom and guidance, I will always look fondly on our monthly dinner meetings. Finally, thank you to my incredible supervisor, Dr. Andy Greenshaw—I am forever grateful to have been blessed with such a kind, supportive, and engaging mentor. I feel honored to call you my supervisor and my friend.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	xix
List of Figures	xxi
List of Abbreviations	xxiii
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 The Burden of Mental Illness	1
1.2 Prevalence	2
1.3 Early-life Stress and Epigenetics	4
1.4 Services and Treatment	6
1.5 Outcome Measures	10
1.6 Treatment Assessment and Evidence-Based Implementation	on12
1.7 Aims of the Dissertation	14
1.8 Specific Study Objectives	15
1.9 Potential Impact of the Dissertation	16
1.10 References	
Chapter 2: Stakeholder Perceptions in a Child and Adolescen	t Psychiatric Inpatient Unit: A
Qualitative Analysis	
2.1 Abstract	34
2.2 Introduction	35
2.2.1 Study Objective	
2.3 Methods	
2.3.1 Ethics and Recruitment	
2.3.2 Study Design	
2.3.3 Study Participants	
2.3.3.1 Caregivers	
2.3.3.2 Inpatient Service Providers	

2.3.4 Data Collection	
2.3.4.1 Semi-structured Interviews	
2.3.4.2 Data Analysis	
2.4 Results	41
2.4.1 Youth Mental Health and Well-Being	
2.4.2 Caregiver Mental Health and Well-Being	
2.4.3 The Caregiver-Child Dyad	
2.4.4 Education, Socialization, & Occupation	
2.4.5 Institutional Interactions	
2.5 Discussion	47
2.5.1 Youth Mental Health & Well-Being	
2.5.2 Caregiver Mental Health and Well-Being	
2.5.3 The Caregiver-Child Dyad	
2.5.4 Education, Socialization, & Occupation	
2.5.4 Institutional Interactions	51
2.5.6 Limitations	
2.5.7 Conclusions and Future Research	
2.6 References	54
2.7 Additional Information	62
2.7.1 Declaration of Interest	
2.7.2 Funding	
2.7.3 Acknowledgments	
2.7.4 Author Contributions	
2.8 Implications of results and rationale for further investigation	63
Chapter 3: Rates of adverse child experiences (ACEs) in youth survivor	rs of child sexual abuse
(CSA) and their biological caregivers	65
3.1 Abstract	66
3.2 Introduction	
3.2.1 Study Objectives	
3.3 Materials and Methods	70
3.3.1 Study Design	

3.3.2 Statistical Analysis	71
3.4 Results	71
3.4.1 Demographics	71
3.4.2 Nature of the CSA	72
3.4.3 Distribution of ACE Scores	72
3.4.4 Caregiver ACE Score and Age versus Child ACE Score	73
3.4.5 Proportion Analyses	73
3.4.6 Principal Component Analysis (PCA)	74
3.5 Discussion	74
3.5.1 Distribution of ACE Scores and Implications	75
3.5.2 Findings of the Principal Component Analysis	76
3.5.3 Implications for policy and program development	77
3.5.4 Limitations & Future Directions	78
3.5.5 Conclusion	80
3.6 References	81
3.7 Additional Information	88
3.7.1 Declaration of Interest	88
3.7.2 Funding	88
3.7.3 Acknowledgments	88
3.7.4 Author Contributions	88
3.8 Tables	89
3.8.1 TABLE 1. Baseline participant demographics for primary caregivers and for youth child sexual	ıl abuse
survivors receiving multimodal treatment for their trauma	89
3.8.2 TABLE 2. Distribution of ACE Scores	90
3.8.3 TABLE 3. Results of Principal Component Analysis	92
3.9 Figures	93
3.9.1 FIGURE 1. Linear regression comparing caregiver ACE scores with youth child sexual abuse	survivor
CYW ACE-Q scores	93
3.9.2 FIGURE 2. Distribution of ACE questionnaire	94
3.9.3 FIGURE 3. Principal Component Analysis biplot of ACE scores among child and adolescent s	urvivors
of Child Sexual Abuse	

Chapter 4: Cognitive improvements in child sexual abuse survivors aged 8-12 following a	
complex multimodal treatment program	96
4.1 Abstract	97
4.2 Introduction	99
4.2.1 Study Objectives	100
4.3 Materials and Methods	100
4.3.1 Ethics and recruitment	100
4.3.2 Study Design	100
4.3.2.1 Assessment Tool	100
4.3.2.2 Participants	101
4.3.2.3 Program Design	102
4.3.2.4 Statistical Analysis	103
4.4 Results	103
4.4.1 Baseline Cognitive Performance	103
4.4.2 Change in Cognitive Performance Over Treatment	103
4.5 Discussion	104
4.5.1 Main Findings	104
4.5.2 Limitations & Future Research	106
4.5.3 Conclusions	107
4.6 References	108
4.7 Additional Information	113
4.7.1 Declaration of Interest	113
4.7.2 Funding	113
4.7.3 Acknowledgements	113
4.7.4 Author Contribution	113
4.8 Tables	114
4.8.1 TABLE 1. Baseline MyCQ scores	114
4.8.2 TABLE 2. Cognitive performance scores for five domains of cognition	115
4.9 Figures	116
4.9.1 FIGURE 1: Percent change in mean cognitive performance scores	116
4.9.2 FIGURE 2. Number of children at or above the average cognitive performance for their age .	117

5a.1 Abstract	
5a.2 Introduction	
5a.2.1 Study Objective	
5a.3 Materials and Methods	
5a.3.1 Study Design	
5a.3.2 Treatment Program	
5a.3.2.1 Program Design	
5a.3.3 Data Collection	
5a.3.3.1 Assessment Details	
5a.3.3.2.Outcome Measures	
5a.3.4 Statistical Analysis	
5a.4 Results	
5a.4.1 Demographics	
5a.4.2 Nature of the Trauma	
5a.4.3 Outcome Measures	
5a.4.3.1 Overall Results	
5a.4.3.2 Substance Abuse	
5a.4.3.3 PTSD	
5a.4.3.4 Anxiety	
5a.4.3.5 Depression	
5a.4.3.6 Quality of Life	
5a.4.3.7 Self-Esteem	
5a.4.3.8 Resilience	
sa.5 Discussion	
5a.5.1 Limitations	
5a.5.2 Conclusion and Future Research	
5a.6 References	
5a.7 Additional Information	
5a.7.1 Declaration of Interest	
5a.7.2 Funding	

Chapter 5A: A novel 2-week Intensive Multimodal Treatment Program for Child Sexual

5a 7 4 Author Contribution	
5a.8 Tables	145
5a.8.1 TABLE 1. Demographic and environmental information	
5a.8.2 TABLE 2: Information relating to nature of the child sexual abuse event	(s) 146
5a.8.3 TABLE 3a. Parametric analysis results: Mean change in self-report outc	ome measures 147
5a.8.3 TABLE 3b. Non-parametric analysis results: Mean change in self-report	t outcome measures 148
5a.9 Figures	149
5a.9.1 FIGURE 1a. Parametric Analysis Results: Percentage improvements in 1	mean self-report outcome
measure scores	
5a.9.1 FIGURE 1b. Non-Parametric Analysis: Percentage improvements in me measure scores	dian self-report outcome
5a.9.2 FIGURE 2. The number of adolescent female child sexual abuse (CSA)	survivors who met the clinical
cut-off for a diagnosis of posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), anxiety disorde	r, and major depressive
disorder at initial admission	
Chapter 5B: Child sexual abuse survivors: Differential complex mult COVID and COVID era cohorts	timodal outcomes for pre- 155
Chapter 5B: Child sexual abuse survivors: Differential complex mult COVID and COVID era cohorts	timodal outcomes for pre- 155 156
 Chapter 5B: Child sexual abuse survivors: Differential complex mult COVID and COVID era cohorts	timodal outcomes for pre- 155 156 158
Chapter 5B: Child sexual abuse survivors: Differential complex multi COVID and COVID era cohorts	timodal outcomes for pre-
Chapter 5B: Child sexual abuse survivors: Differential complex multi COVID and COVID era cohorts	timodal outcomes for pre-
Chapter 5B: Child sexual abuse survivors: Differential complex multi COVID and COVID era cohorts	timodal outcomes for pre-
Chapter 5B: Child sexual abuse survivors: Differential complex multi COVID and COVID era cohorts	timodal outcomes for pre-
Chapter 5B: Child sexual abuse survivors: Differential complex multi COVID and COVID era cohorts	timodal outcomes for pre-
Chapter 5B: Child sexual abuse survivors: Differential complex multi COVID and COVID era cohorts 5b.1 Abstract 5b.2 Introduction 5b.2.1 Primary Objective 5b.3 Methods 5b.3.1 Ethics Approval 5b.3.2. Study Design 5b.3.2.2 Participants	timodal outcomes for pre-
Chapter 5B: Child sexual abuse survivors: Differential complex multi COVID and COVID era cohorts	timodal outcomes for pre-
Chapter 5B: Child sexual abuse survivors: Differential complex mult COVID and COVID era cohorts 5b.1 Abstract 5b.2 Introduction 5b.2.1 Primary Objective 5b.3 Methods 5b.3.1 Ethics Approval 5b.3.2. Study Design 5b.3.2.1 Treatment Program 5b.3.2.2 Participants 5b.3.2.3 Program Design 5b.3.3 Data Collection	timodal outcomes for pre-
Chapter 5B: Child sexual abuse survivors: Differential complex mult COVID and COVID era cohorts Sb.1 Abstract Sb.2 Introduction Sb.2.1 Primary Objective Sb.3 Methods Sb.3.1 Ethics Approval Sb.3.2. Study Design Sb.3.2.2 Participants Sb.3.2.3 Program Design Sb.3.3 Data Collection Sb.3.1 Statistical Analysis	timodal outcomes for pre-
Chapter 5B: Child sexual abuse survivors: Differential complex mult COVID and COVID era cohorts 5b.1 Abstract 5b.2 Introduction 5b.2.1 Primary Objective 5b.3 Methods 5b.3.1 Ethics Approval 5b.3.2.1 Treatment Program 5b.3.2.2 Participants 5b.3.2.3 Program Design 5b.3.3 Data Collection 5b.3.1 Statistical Analysis 5b.4 Results	timodal outcomes for pre-
 Chapter 5B: Child sexual abuse survivors: Differential complex mult COVID and COVID era cohorts 5b.1 Abstract 5b.2 Introduction 5b.2.1 Primary Objective 5b.3 Methods 5b.3.1 Ethics Approval 5b.3.2. Study Design 5b.3.2.2 Participants 5b.3.2.3 Program Design 5b.3.3.1 Statistical Analysis 5b.4 Results 5b.4.1 Participants 	timodal outcomes for pre- 155 156 158 160 160 160 160 161 161 161 162 163 164 165 165

5b.4.1.2 Adolescent Program	165
5b.4.2 Environmental Questionnaire	166
5b.4.2.1 Child Program	166
5b.4.2.2 Adolescent Program	166
5b.4.3 Survey Results	167
5b.4.3.1 Child Program	167
5b.4.3.2 Adolescent Program Results	169
5b.4.4 COVID-19 Questionnaire	171
5b.5 Discussion	172
5b.5.1 Impact of Treatment Program on CSA	172
5b.5.2 The Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic	173
5b.5.3 Cultural Considerations	175
5b.5.4 Limitations & Future Considerations	175
5b.5.5 Conclusion	176
5b.6 References	178
5b.7 Additional Information	187
5b.7.1 Declaration of Interest	187
5b.7.2 Funding	187
5b.7.3 Acknowledgments	187
5b.7.4 Author Contribution	187
5b.8 Tables	188
5b.8.1 TABLE 1. Demographic information	188
5b.8.2 TABLE 2. Number of participants who answered "Yes" to questions in the Environmental	
Questionnaire designed for youth child sexual abuse survivors	190
5b.8.3 TABLE 3a. Results from self-report questionnaires answered by young child sexual abuse survivo	ors
(aged 8-12)	191
5b.8.4 TABLE 3b. Results from self-report questionnaires answered by adolescent child sexual abuse	
survivors (aged 13-17)	193
5b.9 Figures	196
5b.9.1 FIGURE 1. Percent improvements in median self-report questionnaire scores for child survivors	of
child sexual abuse (aged 8-12) engaged in a multimodal treatment program.	196
5b.9.2 FIGURE 2: Percent improvements in median self-report questionnaire scores for adolescent surv	vivors
of child sexual abuse (aged 13-16) engaged in a multimodal treatment program for their abuse	198

50.9.5 FIGURE 5: Results from the COVID-19 Questionnaire for child survivors of child sexu	al abuse (aged
8-12) engaged in a multimodal treatment program for their abuse	200
5b.9.4 FIGURE 4: Results from the COVID-19 Questionnaire for adolescent survivors of child	l sexual abuse
(aged 13-16) engaged in a multimodal treatment program for their abuse	201
5b.10 Appendix A: Assessment Details	202
5b.10.1 Outcome Measures	202
5b.10.1.1 PTSD	202
5b.10.1.2 Depression & Anxiety	202
5b.10.1.3 Quality of Life	203
5b.10.1.4 Self-Esteem	203
5b.10.2 COVID Questionnaire	203
5b.10.2.1 COVID Questionnaire Example	204
Chapter 6: Summary of Findings and Future Directions	204
6.1 Background	205
6.2 Summary of Findings	205
6.5 Limitations	211
6.3.1 Sample Size and Program Assessment	211 212
6.3.1 Sample Size and Program Assessment6.3.2 Data Collection and Analysis	211 212 213
 6.3 Limitations 6.3.1 Sample Size and Program Assessment 6.3.2 Data Collection and Analysis 6.3.3 Response shift 	211 212 213 214
 6.3 Limitations 6.3.1 Sample Size and Program Assessment 6.3.2 Data Collection and Analysis 6.3.3 Response shift 6.3.4 Researcher bias 	
 6.3 Limitations 6.3.1 Sample Size and Program Assessment 6.3.2 Data Collection and Analysis 6.3.3 Response shift 6.3.4 Researcher bias 6.4 Recommendations for Future Research	
 6.3 Limitations 6.3.1 Sample Size and Program Assessment 6.3.2 Data Collection and Analysis 6.3.3 Response shift 6.3.4 Researcher bias 6.4 Recommendations for Future Research 6.4.1 Inclusion of relevant stakeholders in outcome assessment	
 6.3 Limitations 6.3.1 Sample Size and Program Assessment 6.3.2 Data Collection and Analysis 6.3.3 Response shift 6.3.4 Researcher bias 6.4 Recommendations for Future Research 6.4.1 Inclusion of relevant stakeholders in outcome assessment 6.4.2 The significance of ACEs and intergenerational trauma 	
 6.3 Limitations 6.3.1 Sample Size and Program Assessment 6.3.2 Data Collection and Analysis 6.3.3 Response shift 6.3.4 Researcher bias 6.4 Recommendations for Future Research 6.4.1 Inclusion of relevant stakeholders in outcome assessment 6.4.2 The significance of ACEs and intergenerational trauma 6.4.3 Assessment of multimodal treatment for CSA survivors 	211 212 213 213 214 215 215 215 216 216 217
 6.3 Limitations 6.3.1 Sample Size and Program Assessment 6.3.2 Data Collection and Analysis 6.3.3 Response shift 6.3.4 Researcher bias 6.4 Recommendations for Future Research 6.4.1 Inclusion of relevant stakeholders in outcome assessment 6.4.2 The significance of ACEs and intergenerational trauma 6.4.3 Assessment of multimodal treatment for CSA survivors 6.4.3.1 Full Program Assessment 	211 212 213 213 214 215 215 215 216 216 217
 6.3 Limitations 6.3.1 Sample Size and Program Assessment 6.3.2 Data Collection and Analysis 6.3.3 Response shift 6.3.4 Researcher bias 6.4 Recommendations for Future Research 6.4.1 Inclusion of relevant stakeholders in outcome assessment 6.4.2 The significance of ACEs and intergenerational trauma 6.4.3 Assessment of multimodal treatment for CSA survivors 6.4.3.1 Full Program Assessment 6.4.3.2 Comparison of outcomes to other populations 	211 212 213 214 214 215 215 215 216 216 216 217 217 217 219
 6.3 Limitations 6.3.1 Sample Size and Program Assessment 6.3.2 Data Collection and Analysis 6.3.3 Response shift 6.3.4 Researcher bias 6.4 Recommendations for Future Research 6.4.1 Inclusion of relevant stakeholders in outcome assessment 6.4.2 The significance of ACEs and intergenerational trauma 6.4.3 Assessment of multimodal treatment for CSA survivors 6.4.3.1 Full Program Assessment 6.4.3.2 Comparison of outcomes to other populations 6.4.3.3 Comparing outcomes for CSA survivors with or without PTSD 	211 212 213 214 215 215 216 216 217 217 217 219 220
 6.3.1 Sample Size and Program Assessment	211 212 213 214 215 215 215 216 216 216 217 217 217 217 219 220
 6.3.1 Sample Size and Program Assessment	211 212 213 214 215 215 216 216 217 217 217 219 220 221
 6.3.1 Sample Size and Program Assessment	

Comprehensive Bibliography	234
----------------------------	-----

List of Tables

Chapter 3

3.8.1 TABLE 1. Baseline participant demographics for primary caregivers and for youth child sexual abuse survivors receiving multimodal treatment for their trauma.

3.8.2 TABLE 2. Distribution of ACE Scores

3.8.3 TABLE 3. Results of Principal Component Analysis

Chapter 4

4.8.1 TABLE 1. Baseline MyCQ scores for five different domains of cognitive performance in children admitted into a multimodal treatment program specifically designed for child sexual abuse survivors. Scores represent percentile aged-related performance. Two-tailed independent t-tests assessed statistical significance in the difference from expected performance

4.8.2 TABLE 2. Cognitive performance scores for five domains of cognition in child sexual abuse survivors (aged 8-12) undergoing a multimodal treatment program for their abuse (n=54). Scores were measured at initial admission (baseline) and final discharge (graduation) at 12-months. Scores are measured by the MyCQ cognitive performance app and represent a percentile of performance for a given age group as compared to a control database (i.e., scores of 50 indicate average performance for a given age group.

Chapter 5a

5a.8.1 TABLE 1. Demographic and environmental information for adolescent female child sexual abuse (CSA) survivors undergoing an episodic complex multimodal treatment program

5a.8.2 TABLE 2: Information relating to nature of the child sexual abuse event(s) experienced by adolescent females undergoing an episodic complex multimodal treatment program for their traumatic experience(s)

5a.8.3 TABLE 3a. Parametric analysis results: Mean change in self-report outcome measures after 2-weeks of an episodic complex multimodal treatment program for adolescent female survivors of child sexual abuse (CSA) (n=27)

5a.8.4 TABLE 3b. Non-parametric analysis results: Mean change in self-report outcome measures after 2-weeks of an episodic complex multimodal treatment program for adolescent female survivors of child sexual abuse (CSA) (n=27)

Chapter 5b

5b.8.1 TABLE 1. Demographic information for participants in a multimodal treatment program designed for youth child sexual abuse survivors aged 8-16. Pre-Covid participants underwent their treatment round(s) prior to March, 2020; Covid impacted participants underwent their treatment round(s) following May, 2020.

5b.8.2 TABLE 2. Number of participants who answered "Yes" to questions in the Environmental Questionnaire designed for youth child sexual abuse survivors aged 8-12 undergoing a multimodal treatment program. Participant answers were recorded at initial admission (baseline). Pre-Covid participants underwent their treatment round(s) prior to March, 2020; Covid impacted participants underwent their treatment round(s) following May, 2020

5b.8.3 TABLE 3a. Results from self-report questionnaires answered by young child sexual abuse survivors (aged 8-12) engaged in a multimodal treatment program for their abuse.

5b.8.4 TABLE 3b. Results from self-report questionnaires answered by adolescent child sexual abuse survivors (aged 13-17) engaged in a multimodal treatment program for their abuse.

List of Figures

Chapter 3

3.9.1 FIGURE 1. Linear regression comparing caregiver ACE scores with youth child sexual abuse survivor CYW ACE-Q scores

3.9.2 FIGURE 2. Distribution of ACE questionnaire scores for three groups: (1) Youth CSA survivors undergoing multimodal treatment for their sexual abuse; (2) Biological caregivers of the youth undergoing treatment; (3) Results from the 2013 Alberta ACE survey including 1700 respondents.

3.9.3 FIGURE 3. Principal Component Analysis biplot of ACE scores among child and adolescent survivors of Child Sexual Abuse

Chapter 4

4.9.1 FIGURE 1: Percent change in mean cognitive performance scores (as measured by the MyCQ app) for five domains of cognition in child sexual abuse survivors (aged 8-12) undergoing a multimodal treatment program for their abuse (n=54). Scores were measured at initial admission (baseline) and final discharge (graduation) at 12-months.

4.9.2 FIGURE 2: Number of children at or above the average cognitive performance for their age in five domains of cognition as measured by the MyCQ app (n=54). Number of children at or above this level are noted at initial admission (baseline) and final discharge at 12-months (graduation).

Chapter 5a

5a.9.1 FIGURE 1a. Parametric Analysis Results: Percentage improvements in mean self-report outcome measure scores for adolescent female child sexual abuse (CSA) survivors undergoing 2-weeks of a complex multimodal treatment program

5a.9.1 FIGURE 1b. Non-Parametric Analysis: Percentage improvements in median self-report outcome measure scores for adolescent female child sexual abuse (CSA) survivors undergoing 2-weeks of a complex multimodal treatment program

5a.9.2 FIGURE 2. The number of adolescent female child sexual abuse (CSA) survivors who met the clinical cut-off for a diagnosis of posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), anxiety disorder, and major depressive disorder at initial admission (baseline) and discharge after 2-weeks of a complex multimodal treatment program (n=27)

Chapter 5b

5b.9.1 FIGURE 1. Percent improvements in median self-report questionnaire scores for child survivors of child sexual abuse (aged 8-12) engaged in a multimodal treatment program.

5b.9.2 FIGURE 2. Percent improvements in median self-report questionnaire scores for adolescent survivors of child sexual abuse (aged 13-16) engaged in a multimodal treatment program for their abuse.

5b.9.3 FIGURE 3. Results from the COVID-19 Questionnaire for child survivors of child sexual abuse (aged 8-12) engaged in a multimodal treatment program for their abuse

5b.9.4 FIGURE 4. Results from the COVID-19 Questionnaire for adolescent survivors of child sexual abuse (aged 13-16) engaged in a multimodal treatment program for their abuse

List of Abbreviations

ACE	Adverse Childhood Experience
BBR	The Be Brave Ranch
CAMHS	Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services
CSA	Child Sexual Abuse
HPA	Hypothalamic Pituitary Adrenal
KT	Knowledge Translation
PTSD	Posttraumatic Stress Disorder
tf-CBT	trauma-focused Cognitive Behavioral Therapy

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 The Burden of Mental Illness

Mental illness has quickly become one of the most pressing problems facing health systems today. The global prevalence of mental health disorders varies by region, but it estimated that over 12% of the world population currently meets the criteria for a mental illness¹. A 2016 survey revealed that mental health disorders impacted over a billion people worldwide². In Canada, it is approximated that nearly half of Canadians will face an addiction or mental health issue by the age of 40³. The Mental Health Commission of Canada (MHCC) estimates the combined economic impact of mental illness and substance abuse in Canada to be over \$90 billion per year⁴⁻⁶. Individuals suffering from mental health problems are more likely to be unemployed⁷, absent from work⁸, encounter the criminal justice system, and engage in substance misuse⁶. Sadly, recent investigation has shown no reduction in the global burden of mental illness over the last 30 years⁸.

According to the Lancet Commission on global mental health and sustainable development⁹, the disability adjusted life-year (DALY)–which is an indication of the number of healthy life years lost due to a health problem—increased globally from 1991-2016 from 6.6 to 9.4 years for mental and substance use disorders, Alzheimer's disease and other dementias, and suicide. Interestingly, the DALY for mental illness is significantly larger in high sociodemographic index (SDI) populations, increasing from 13.6 to 16.2 years over the same timeframe; however, low and low-middle SDI populations have seen the largest relative increase over time, both nearly doubling over the last three decades⁹. Geographically, the DALY per 100 000 were highest in North America, South America, Australia, and parts of North and Sub-Saharan Africa¹. Summating DALY within a population can give an indication of disease burden by representing the gap between an ideal health situation and the current health status. When stratifying for age, the disease burden of mental and substance use disorders is highest for individuals aged 25-29 (roughly 14% disease burden) but is over 10% for all cohorts between the ages of 10-49 years. Notably, the global burden of disease rises significantly from 5% to 13% in the 5-9 year-old cohort to the 10-14 cohort. Considering nearly 75% of people suffering from psychiatric disorders experience the

onset of their illness prior to the age of 24^{5,10}, it is reasonable to hypothesize that strategies directed at prevention and early-treatment for mentally ill youth may prospectively alleviate the burden of mental illness in older populations. At present, there is limited research examining best-practice and evidence-based treatment options for youth psychiatric patients. Furthermore, there is a scarcity of literature investigating the appropriate assessment tools necessary to determine treatment success.

1.2 Prevalence

The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, fifth edition, text revision (DSM-V-TR) is a tool used to identify and diagnose mental illnesses. A mental disorder is a behavioural or psychological problem that reflects an underlying psychobiological disturbance that impairs an individual's ability to function normally¹¹. Mental disorders tend to be bifurcated into *internalizing* problems, in which symptoms manifest internally and somatically (e.g., depressive and anxiety disorders), and *externalizing problems*, where individuals regularly engage in impulsive or disruptive behaviors (e.g., conduct disorder (CD), oppositional defiant disorder (ODD), attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD))^{1,11}. A substance-related or addictive disorder is a common type of externalizing disorder that occurs when overuse of an illegal drug, alcohol, nicotine, or pharmaceutical causes a major impairment in an individual's ability to properly function¹². It is important to note that although mental illness and substance abuse are not the same, they commonly co-occur and are often the cause of each other^{13,14}. Globally, one in seven youth aged 10-19 is afflicted with a mental illness or substance use disorder; this translates to over 170 million individuals¹⁵. Comparatively in Canada, approximately 1.2 million children and adolescents are affected by a mental illness, and an estimated 1 in 5 Canadians will develop a mental illness prior to the age of 25^{16,17}. Over 10% of Canadian youth aged 15-24 are diagnosed with a substance use disorder, with adolescent males having a three-fold increased risk for alcohol and cannabis abuse¹⁸. Young males aged 5-25 are more likely to be diagnosed with CD, ODD, ADHD, autism spectrum disorder (ASD), and idiopathic developmental intellectual disability; young females have higher rates of mood and eating disorders^{1,15}.

There is some evidence that rates of child and adolescent mental illness have increased over the last 25 years, but much of this varies depending on the population in question. For example, a systematic review conducted by Bor et al. (2014)¹⁹ found that the prevalence of externalizing problems has plateaued over the last two decades, but internalizing problems, particularly in adolescent females, have increased. Adolescents and young adults are particularly susceptible to anxiety, depression, and behavioural disorders, with youth aged 15-24 having the highest risk for psychiatric issues^{18,20}. The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that 5-7% of children aged 10-19 meet the diagnostic criteria for an anxiety or depressive disorder¹⁵. Perhaps most significantly, suicide is the fourth leading cause of death among adolescents worldwide, and accounts for over a quarter of deaths for youth aged 15-24^{15,16}. For Canadian children and adolescents aged 10-19, suicide is the second leading cause of death. Females account for nearly three quarters of self-harm hospitalizations, while 70% of those who commit suicidal are male²¹. Indigenous Canadians are particularly susceptible to mental illness and suicide²². Indigenous children and adolescents, the rate of suicide is 11 times higher than the national average¹⁶.

In a review of secular trends in child and adolescent mental health, Collishaw et al. (2015)²³ suggested four hypotheses for the apparent rise in youth mental illness. First, there may be increased individual vulnerability to mental illness as a result of pre- and post-natal impacts (e.g., teratogen exposure, premature birth, maternal stress), or biological/environmental changes that disrupt endocrine homeostasis which may impact the onset of puberty and development. Second, changes in family life, such as divorce or intrafamilial conflict may leave children more vulnerable to the onset of mental illness. Living with a parent who is mentally ill increases the risk for youth psychiatric problems²⁴. This is significant considering over a third of mothers and fathers of children receiving psychiatric treatment report having a mental illness²⁵. Third, extrafamilial psychosocial influences that impact mental health may be having a greater impact on youth than in previous generations. For example, the rise of social media has increased the number of victims of bullying—especially in the cybersphere—which often results in the onset of antisocial behavior and substance abuse in victims^{26,27}. Finally, changes in broader socioeconomic and cultural influences, including decreased stigmatization and a greater level of awareness regarding youth mental illness, may be responsible for the rise in reported mental illness among young people. The

authors note that it is important to emphasize this final point, as it may be the primary reason for the reported increase in child psychiatric disorders. It is difficult to retrospectively compare prevalence when the tools and resources necessary for identification have changed over time. However, these hypotheses do not consider the impact of genetic predisposition and heritable factors on mental health. Susceptibility to mental illness varies between individuals depending on genetic predispositions, environmental influences, and the complex interplay between these two components (i.e., genes x environment interactions)²⁸.

1.3 Early-life Stress and Epigenetics

Brain development is a complex interaction of genetic predispositions and environmental experiences. As humans are an altricial species (i.e., producing offspring that are highly dependent on parental care upon birth), young brains are particularly plastic and susceptible to experiential influences²⁹. The benefit of this plasticity is the human capacity for creativity, ingenuity, and improvisation; the resultant trade-off is that young brains are more vulnerable to stressful experiences. If a threatening event, or series of events, induces a strong enough stress response in the developing brain, trauma is said to have occurred³⁰. The impact early-life stress has on brain development and the onset of mental illness is an area of research that has garnered more attention since the publication of the seminal Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) Study in 1998³¹. The findings of the ACE study revealed a strong relationship between early-life abuse and household dysfunction with the leading causes of adult fatality (e.g., ischemic heart disease, cancer, liver disease, etc.). Further investigation into ACEs has shown that early-life stress increases individual risk for PTSD, mood disorders, behavioural problems, and substance abuse in adolescence and adulthood³²⁻³⁴. However, not all individuals with early-life trauma suffer from mental illness and not all individuals with mental illness have necessarily experienced adverse events in their childhood. There are a number of factors related to resilience, including positive peer interactions, individual personality characteristics, caregiver/familial relationships, and perception of safety that can impact long-term outcomes³⁵. The complex interaction of environmental influences, genetic predispositions, and resilience factors are mediated through the intricate mechanisms of epigenetics.

The field of epigenetics ("above genetics") encompasses a number of heritable intracellular mechanisms that regulate gene transcription and translation without direct modification to the genetic code itself³⁶. The two most commonly investigated mechanisms are DNA methylation and histone acetylation. In the former mechanism, methylation of cytosine nucleotides at promoter regions of specific genes can either prevent or enhance the binding of important transcription proteins, effectively controlling gene expression³⁷. Gene transcription can also be influenced by the degree of DNA coiling around histone proteins. Tightly wound DNA—known as heterochromatin—is less accessible to transcription factors than loosely wound euchromatin. Acetylation of lysine residues on histone proteins neutralizes their charge and prevents them from binding to the negatively charged backbone of DNA; this results in loosely bound euchromatin and an increase in DNA transcription. Likewise, histone deacetylation induces heterochromatin formation and a decrease in gene transcription. By measuring the degree of DNA methylation or histone acetylation in particular genes, researchers can compare epigenetic profiles of different individuals to elucidate the impact of stressful experiences on brain development.

Twin studies have revealed differential epigenetic profiles between siblings with different environmental backgrounds^{38,39}, which may help explain variability in mental health between genetically similar individuals. A study conducted by Meaney & Szyf (2005)⁴⁰ compared epigenetic profiles of genes responsible for the expression of the glucocorticoid receptor (GR) in mouse pups. The GR is an essential component of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis-the primary hormonal pathway for stress regulation in the body. Binding of free cortisol to the GR inhibits the HPA axis and reduces the stress response, effectively acting as a regulatory feedback mechanism. The researchers compared methylation rates of GR-linked genes in mouse pups raised by nurturing high-grooming (HG) mothers, or by low-grooming (LG) mothers. The findings revealed that pups of LG mothers had changes in DNA methylation and histone acetylation that reduced GR expression and caused overactivation of the HPA axis as compared to pups of HG mothers. Interestingly, these effects were reversed when LG pups were cross-fostered to HG mothers. Similar studies have shown comparable results⁴¹. Human studies on epigenetics and early-life stress have replicated these impacts on the HPA axis⁴² including an increased susceptibility to chronic inflammation and neuro-endocrine dysregulation⁴³. Perhaps most significantly, epigenetic changes from early-life stress can be heritable and multigenerational.

Research conducted by Yehuda et al. (2016)⁴⁴ investigated the epigenetic profiles of Holocaust survivors and their offspring and found both groups had altered methylation levels on certain sites of the FKBP5 gene, which is linked to GR expression. Dysfunction in this gene has been associated with increased risk for major depressive disorder (MDD)⁴⁶. In a Canadian context, the impact of intergenerational trauma is particularly relevant to the offspring of survivors of the Indian Residential Schools (IRS), which likely contributes to the disproportionate prevalence of mental illness and substance abuse in Indigenous Canadian populations⁴⁷. Services directed at treating mental ill children and adolescents should consider individual and familial trauma histories as a routine part of screening and assessment. The MHCC released the Youth Strategy Report which outlines the importance of engaging with First Nations, Inuit, and Metis populations in order to effectively meet the distinct cultural and mental health needs of these communities⁴⁸.

1.4 Services and Treatment

To date, much of the strategy towards mental illness has been to reactively treat adults rather than proactively prevent the onset of chronic mental illness through early identification and treatment in youth⁴⁹. In Canada, fewer than 1 in 5 individuals under the age of 18 receives appropriate treatment for their mental health or substance use problem¹⁶. The MHCC Youth Strategy Report highlighted improving service access as a high priority for youth mental health in Canada⁴⁸. It is essential that these services are easily accessible and available to those who need them. There is growing evidence that strategies focused on early detection and timely intervention can provide long-term health and socioeconomic benefits by preventing the onset of mental illness in childhood and the subsequent impact non-treatment has on the developing individual⁵⁰.

When accessible, a variety of treatment services are available to mentally ill youth, including inpatient services, outpatient programs, community-based programs, and, more recently, both synchronous and asynchronous online psychotherapy⁵¹⁻⁵⁴. Following diagnostic screening, the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidelines suggests self-help and psychosocial strategies such as improving hygiene, sleep patterns, diet, encouraging exercise, anti-bullying strategies (if applicable), and addressing any parental mental illness, as the first step in treatment⁵¹. Both the Canadian Network for Mood and Anxiety Treatments (CANMAT) and the

NICE guidelines recommend psychotherapy as the first line intervention for children and adolescents with mood disorders⁵⁵. Pharmacotherapy, such as selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), are suggested as second and third line treatment options for non-responders to CBT or other psychotherapies^{51,55}. A meta-analysis on psychotherapy in children revealed both cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) and interpersonal therapy (IPT) to be superior to comparison conditions (e.g., placebo, waitlist, treatment as usual)^{56,57}, and remote internet-based interventions have been shown to be effective in treating depression for youth, particularly adolescents^{58,59}. Treatment resistant individuals may benefit from polytherapy (e.g., psychotherapy + pharmacotherapy) which has yielded mixed results in this population⁶⁰; however, pharmacotherapy combined with CBT for suicide prevention appears to be an effective strategy, particularly for depressed children and adolescents with a recent suicide attempt.

Inpatient and residential treatment programs are the most time- and resource-intensive options available, and preliminary evidence suggests they may be effective at treating children and adolescents with severe mental health problems^{53,61}. In Alberta, an estimated 25% of the mental health budget is allocated towards inpatient services⁵⁴. There is significant heterogeneity in the structure of inpatient and residential program design (e.g., eligibility criteria for admission, which therapeutic options are included, how long participants attend treatment, etc.), but programs generally provide 24-hour multi-disciplinary treatment⁶². Residential programs are less intensive than inpatient care but are often reserved for children and adolescents with complex mental health concerns—defined as presenting major impairments in psychological, emotional, social and/or behavioural functioning at home, school, and/or the community^{61,63}. Preliminary evidence investigating intensive treatment options for mentally ill youth suggest that these programs may provide positive gains over the course of treatment; however, there is a significant lack of transitional programs and follow-up data after discharge^{64,65}. Without routine follow-up, it is difficult to determine whether the positive effects of treatment are sustained.

Appropriately evaluating the impact of inpatient or residential treatment programs requires that they must first be assessed on their efficacy and then their effectiveness. Efficacy is defined as the capacity for an intervention to produce a desired outcome under specific circumstances; efficacy studies are highly-controlled experiments which investigate the impact of an intervention on a

study sample⁶⁶. Effectiveness considers the how well a specific outcome is produced in "realworld" settings. Effectiveness studies are designed to investigate the application of an intervention scaled to the general population⁶⁶. Research evaluating treatment outcomes in youth residential programs is sparse⁶⁷, and routine collection of measures related to treatment success is seldom conducted⁶⁸. It is even suggested that the majority of youth mental health clinical services have little or no evidence of effectiveness⁶⁹. As such, these programs are in need of robust critical appraisal. One barrier to effectively evaluating residential treatment is the challenge associated with conducting randomized-controlled trials (RCTs) on children and adolescents, as it is unethical to withhold an intervention from a youth in need. Some studies may include a comparison group that is exposed to a less intensive intervention or maintains treatment-as-usual in a particular setting; unfortunately, very few evaluative studies implement these strategies, which makes it difficult to clearly determine treatment effects^{67,68}. One methodological solution to this constraint is the stepped-wedge design (SWD) which initiates participant data collection prior to the onset of an intervention⁷⁰. In a SWD, participants are randomized by the time of intervention onset rather than whether or not they receive the intervention. The SWD provides outcome data from participants with and without treatment; as such, individuals act as their own control⁷¹. This method is particularly useful for intensive treatment programs which are often limited in the number of participants that can be admitted at any given time. A recent example of a proposed SWD in this context is the MULTI+ study which plans to evaluate the effectiveness and implementation of a multidisciplinary lifestyle treatment for adolescent psychiatric inpatients⁷². Those inpatients waiting to receive the intervention will continue treatment-as-usual (i.e., inpatient care) to avoid withholding treatment from a vulnerable population, while still evaluating the implementation of a novel approach. Utilizing these research methods will improve assessments of youth mental health treatment programs.

The 2015 MHCC Youth Strategy Report outlined six strategies to improve outcomes for mental ill youth⁴⁹. First, to reduce incidence rates, a focus on lifelong prevention by identifying which groups are in need; second, strategies aimed at improving wellbeing and recovery by providing respect, choices, and rights; third, improving access to appropriate services; fourth, ensuring all populations have equal access to appropriate services; fifth, engaging with Indigenous communities to improve outcomes for these communities while acknowledging cultural

considerations; and sixth, encouraging inter- and intra-disciplinary collaboration at all levels. However, in order for these suggestions to be implemented, sufficient resources need to be distributed to CAMHS. A report by the Canadian Paediatric Society recommended three policy changes for the federal mental health budget: (1) The government should allocate 1/3 of federal mental health funding to ensure equitable and timely access to appropriate treatment for youth under the age of 25; (2) Invest in the development of clinical practice guidelines that focus on patient-centered stepped care, in which patients are triaged into the most appropriate treatment available; (3) Provide significant resources to the development of psychoeducational resources and interdisciplinary training programs to improve quality of care⁷³. The implementation of these strategies will reduce the economic burden of mental illness by proactively preventing the development of serious, untreated mental illness.

The Alberta Quality Matrix for Health⁷⁴ is a tool designed to maximize the efficiency of health research and treatment and may be a useful model for other provinces to follow. The matrix combines six dimensions of quality, focused on the patient/client experience with specific areas of need in the healthcare system, namely: (1) Being healthy and maintaining a healthy lifestyle; (2) Improving from acute illness or injury; (3) Managing and learning to live with a chronic condition; (4) Maximizing care for elderly and palliative patients. The British Colombia quality matrix for health includes some notable differences in their categorizations that are also worthy of consideration. This includes differentiating between system perspectives (i.e., equity and efficiency of services) from individual perspectives (i.e., respect, safety, accessibility, effectiveness, and appropriateness)⁷⁵. This matrix also considers the importance of optimizing early life by improving maternal health and encouraging healthy development in youth.

One major challenge to treating this children and adolescents is the heterogeneity in symptom manifestation and the timing of symptom onset⁴⁹. When defining youth, it may be more appropriate to differentiate between developmental stages, such as pre-pubescent children (aged 0-12), adolescents (aged 12-17), and young adults (aged 18-25)¹³. These groups differ from each other not just in physiological terms, but psychologically as well. For instance, there is evidence that the degree to which an individual believes that personal traits are ingrained and non-malleable is predictive of treatment outcome and mental illness severity⁷⁶. Many of these sets of beliefs,

known as implicit theories, are dependent on environmental influences (e.g., caregivers, peer groups, etc.) and intellectual capacity, both of which change over the course of development. Clearly defining eligibility criteria for intensive treatment programs is the first of nine critical factors for success outlined by Johnson et al. (2015)⁶². Other characteristics include the program adopting a family-centered approach; having cohesive interprofessional staff; maintaining cultural and linguistic competence; providing individualized and appropriate programming; developing seamless transition and integrated aftercare with community partners; and performance management and evaluation. The final factor, assessment of treatment, is of particular importance as it is extremely difficult to determine treatment success without gathering data that measures treatment outcomes⁷⁷.

1.5 Outcome Measures

As mental health concerns faced by youth vary considerably, it is difficult to determine which specific indicators are most significant for interpreting effective treatment⁶². Standardized assessments are generally accepted for use by practitioners but are infrequently applied in routine practice⁷⁸. Perhaps the most important aspect of any health service is the implementation of outcome measures and assessment tools to capture the impact of treatment on specific populations⁴⁸. Outcome measures are essential indicators of longitudinal change over the course of an intervention⁷⁹. Utilizing outcome measures effectively helps health care professionals to make informed clinical decisions that maximize the impact of treatment⁸⁰. Psychiatric assessment tools generally come in the form of questionnaires, in which each question is scored on a Likert scale. Assessment tools can be self-report from the patient, clinician-rated, or stakeholder-rated (e.g., caregivers, teachers, community members, etc.). The Health of the Nation Outcome Scale (HoNOS) was a tool originally developed to assist clinicians in mapping progress of patients with severe mental illness⁸¹. The child and adolescent version of this questionnaire (HoNOSCA) has the potential to be an appropriate tool for this population but may neglect the impact of family and peer relationships and may not fully capture the heterogeneity of youth mental illness⁸¹. A systematic review of mental health outcome measures for young people aged 12-25 noted five tools considered appropriate for this population, despite none being specifically designed for youth⁸². The five outcome measures noted were: (1) Kessler Psychological Distress Scale (K10);

(2) Clinical Global Impressions Scale – Severity of Illness (CGI-S); (3) Global Assessment of Functioning (GAF); (4) Medical Outcomes Study 36-item Short Form Healthy Survey (SF-36); (5) World Health Organization Quality of Life Instrument-Brief (WHOQOL). At the time this review was collected, none of these measures had been specifically tested for clinical utility in a child and adolescent context⁸². Since then, only the K10 and SF-36 have been validated as useful tools for young people^{83,84}. The shorter versions of these measures—the K6 and SF-12, respectively—have also shown clinical utility for adolescents^{84,85}. Adherence to routine outcome assessment is highly dependent on the time investment required to complete the measure, both for the patient and service provider; as such, outcome measures that are thorough and brief are considered ideal^{78,79}. These measures provide good indications of general mental health and welfare, including information related to physical health, emotional regulation, educational success, and peer/friend relationships, but are less specific to particular disorders. Several outcome tools are currently available for specific mental illnesses; for example, the Revised Children's Anxiety and Depression Scale (RCADS), the Patient Health Questionnaire – adolescent version (PHQ-A), and the Generalized Anxiety Disorder Scale (GAD) have been accepted as useful tools for measuring mood disorders in youth⁸⁶. Likewise, the Child PTSD Symptom Scale (CPSS), the Obsessive Compulsive Inventory for Children, the KIDSCREEN-10 quality of life measure, the Rosenberg self-esteem scale, and the Columbia Suicide Severity Rating Scale have all been recommended as functional assessment tools for this population⁸⁶. In general, combining assessments from a variety of sources will give the best indication of treatment effects; this is particularly true in a youth setting in which particular stakeholders, such as parents or teachers, have a significant impact on outcomes⁸⁷. Outcomes that consider the dyadic relationship between youth and their caregivers are should be utilized⁸⁸. Measures that evaluate family functioning, such as the Family Assessment Device (FAD), are useful tools in developing the context for each individual⁸⁹. These measures can give an indication into the health of the parent-child dyad, which is a strong determinant of psychiatric treatment outcomes⁹⁰. In a trauma context, parental reflective functioning (i.e., the caregiver's capacity to understand their child's mental state) is a key factor in child attachment and the health of the caregiver-child dyad⁹¹. Implementing validated measures of reflective functioning, such as the self-report Reflective Functioning Questionnaire (RFQ), may be a useful addition to any outcome assessment strategy⁹². This may be particularly true in the context of early-life and intergenerational trauma⁹³.

Despite the utility of assessment tools, current research investigating best-practice and evidencebased outcome measures in child and adolescent mental health is sparse. Moreover, assessment tools used in practice may not capture critical elements of recovery such as quality of life, satisfaction with services, and information regarding relevant stakeholders. In order to be appropriate for practice, outcome measures must be both reliable and valid, but also brief and easy enough to realistically administer in a clinical setting^{78,94}. Reliability refers to the ability of an outcome measure to consistently find the same result; robust assessment tools should find similar results in test-retest conditions and maintain internal consistency⁹⁴. The validity of an outcome measure is an indication of the degree to which the measure actually assesses the outcome in question. In psychiatric settings, determining the validity of an outcome measure can be difficult because these assessments are predicated on loosely defined outcomes. For example, tools designed for the assessment of intelligence have long been contested because many are developed to measure a particular way of thinking and may not be an accurate representation of intelligence across populations⁹⁵. There is also evidence that perceived change by the patient may differ from the quantifiable measured change noted by the healthcare professional⁹⁶. In a mental health context, validity can be improved by defining "meaningful changes" based on the values considered essential to the client, family, or clinician⁹⁷. In order for an outcome to be useful, it must first be properly defined within the context of the service being provided. When used properly, routine outcome measurements can assist in assessing the effectiveness of a health service, as well as help engage with relevant stakeholders in order to achieve the goals of treatment⁹⁸.

1.6 Treatment Assessment and Evidence-Based Implementation

Over the course of the 20th century, psychiatry in Canada evolved from a focus on subjective clinical inference to a focus on evidence-based practice⁹⁹. Evidence-based practice refers to the implementation of interventions that have undergone scientific assessment for quality, robustness, or validity¹⁰⁰. Best-practice treatment options are determined by appraising evidence supportive of the intervention(s) in question. The National Institutes of Health (NIH) have outlined

methodologies to evaluate the quality of scientific research¹⁰¹. Assessing the underlying evidence for a therapeutic approach helps to determine whether a particular intervention is likely to improve health outcomes. In a review of evidence-based psychosocial treatments for youth exposed to trauma, Dorsey et al. (2017)¹⁰² classified interventions as either well-established, probably efficacious, possibly efficacious, experimental, or questionably efficacious depending on the amount of assessment data available. In the CAMHS context, it is essential to differentiate therapies by the quality and quantity of evidence available in order to determine best-practice treatment guidelines^{100,103}.

When evaluating interventions or treatment effects in mental health, it is important to distinguish between efficacy and effectiveness. Between-group efficacy studies, such as RCTs, are useful in distilling treatment effects and strengthening the evidence-base for a particular intervention¹⁰³. However, it is essential to acknowledge that the apparent value of treatments validated in efficacy studies may not necessarily translate into effective interventions when implemented in routine practice¹⁰⁴. Knowledge translation (KT) refers to the ongoing process of using scientific evidence to implement strategies and services aimed at improving the healthcare system¹⁰⁵. There are several notable barriers to KT, including constraints on time and resources, organizational culture and attitudes resistant to change, technical challenges (i.e., obtaining the required technology to implement a service), or cognitive impediments (e.g., ability to access and comprehend primary scientific literature)^{105,106}. For KT to be successful, facilitators to implementation must be bolstered. Effective implementation requires an integration of organization- and clinician-level strategies aimed at enabling KT¹⁰⁷. Improving systemic attitudes towards KT, encouraging self-efficacy and knowledge acquisition in service providers, and allocating appropriate resources towards implementation are key determinants in improving evidence-based practice¹⁰⁵⁻¹⁰⁷.

In a psychiatric context, measurement-based care—which incorporates routine collection of assessment measures—may inform treatment approaches and improve outcomes¹⁰⁸. Efficacy studies often use changes in standardized measures of central tendency (e.g., mean or median) of assessment scales to determine treatment effects^{109,110}. The findings of these studies can act as benchmarks for replication studies and larger trials that aim to build on pre-existing evidence¹¹¹. In CAMHS, collecting data from multiple stakeholders and multiple timepoints is particularly
important in improving the validity of the research¹¹². There is some debate as to whether parental involvement in treatment is necessary^{113,114}, but empirical evidence suggests that including some level of family involvement in treatment and data collection improves outcomes^{102,115}. Effective therapeutic assessment requires collaboration between stakeholders and service providers to determine the definition of success¹¹⁶. Furthermore, treatment efficacy is highly dependent on the outcomes and intervention being studied. For example, trauma-informed interventions are considered effective if trauma-related symptomatology is reduced; whereas, the success of relation-based interventions, such as family therapy, are predicated on behavioural outcomes and family functioning¹¹⁷. Explicitly defining the metrics under investigation is an essential aspect of any treatment evaluation.

Assessing the efficacy of an intervention is only one form of treatment assessment. As outlined by the Alberta Quality Matrix for Health⁷³, in order for interventions to be considered fully evaluated, they must be assessed for acceptability, accessibility, appropriateness, effectiveness, efficiency, and safety. Treatment acceptability determines the level at which participants are likely to engage in an intervention and is often measured by the rate of adherence^{118,119}. Treatment acceptability is a key predictor of whether an intervention will be useful when implemented at scale, but findings can often be biased because data is usually collected only from participants who are willing to engage with the intervention¹¹⁹. Treatment accessibility and appropriateness are important determinants of KT because inaccessible and inappropriate interventions are bound to face resistance by service providers and administrators^{118,119}. Assuring that treatments are safe at a sample level is necessary considering the risk for adverse events increase when an intervention available to the public¹²⁰. Finally, creating the most efficient and cost-effective treatments lowers the resource constraint barrier and improves the likelihood of successful implementation^{105,117,122}. Despite the importance of evaluating treatments along these dimensions, treatment assessment instruments are often underutilized and the majority of evidence-based research is primarily aimed at determining the efficacy of an intervention 102,112.

1.7 Aims of the Dissertation

Child and adolescent mental health services need robust, evidence-based research directed at improving the acceptability, accessibility, appropriateness, effectiveness, efficiency, and safety of these services. Considering the vast economic and social burden of mental illness, strategies aimed at prevention and amelioration should be prioritized. In particular, policies that identify and treat vulnerable populations are essential to proactively prevent the onset or reduce the severity of mental illness. Routine outcome assessment is imperative to monitor the effectiveness of these services and can assist in identifying which individuals are most likely to benefit from which treatment.

Broadly speaking, the aim of this dissertation is to investigate ways in which child and adolescent mental health services can be improved, with a specific focus on the utilization of assessment measures. This dissertation aims to investigate outcomes relevant to treatment success to explore the utility of particular assessment strategies in child and adolescent mental health treatment programs. With consideration of the strong link between early-life trauma and mental illness, the primary treatment program under investigation is specifically designed for youth survivors of child sexual abuse (CSA) aged 8-17 years. This research uses both qualitative and quantitative methods to utilize data gathered from youth mental health stakeholders. These findings assisted with the implementation of routine outcome assessment in a residential treatment center designed for youth with a history of CSA.

1.8 Specific Study Objectives

Study 1: To explore the perceptions of stakeholders involved in a child and adolescent psychiatric inpatient unit in order to develop a better understanding of factors relevant to treatment success and stakeholder satisfaction.

Study 2: To assess the impact of a complex multimodal treatment program designed for child sexual abuse survivors aged 8-12 on age-standard cognitive performance.

Study 3: To assess the impact of a complex multimodal treatment program designed for adolescent females aged 13-17 on a number of mental health domains including PTSD, depression, anxiety, quality of life, self-esteem, and resilience.

Study 4a: To examine the relationship between biological caregivers of child sexual abuse survivors and their children in terms of ACE history, as well as how the distribution of ACE scores in this population compares to the standard population.

Study 4b: To evaluate the impact of a complex multimodal treatment program designed for youth child sexual abuse survivors aged 8-17 on mental health outcomes including PTSD, depression, anxiety, quality of life, and self-esteem. Secondary to this, to explore the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on treatment outcomes.

1.9 Potential Impact of the Dissertation

This dissertation aims to add new knowledge to the field of child and adolescent mental health treatment and services. The vast economic and social burden of mental illness can be significantly alleviated by investing in strategies targeted at prevention and treatment of children and adolescents¹²¹. Developing effective mental health services for youth is paramount to maximizing treatment efficiency¹²². Considering youth mental health is an often neglected area of research, there is a significant need for the generation of novel research data. Treatment success (i.e., whether or not a patient benefits from treatment) can only be assessed through routine collection of outcome measures. Unfortunately, very few CAMHS presently implement the use of standardized assessment tools. The first part of this dissertation investigates stakeholder perceptions of treatment success in a youth psychiatric inpatient unit. The goal of this analysis was to learn how outcome measures are currently used in clinical practice and use these results to inform policy makers how these findings can guide future research in CAMHS.

The second part of this dissertation focuses on a novel residential treatment program specifically designed for child and adolescent CSA survivors. This program recognized the importance of using routine outcome measurement and was intentionally designed to include regular data collection. The author was fortunate to have access to this convenience sample, and felt it was an excellent opportunity to assess the implementation of routine outcome measurement as means to evaluate a novel youth residential treatment program designed for CSA survivors. The findings of these studies may stimulate further investigation into whether youth treatment programs are better utilized when aimed at specific experiences rather than symptoms.

Finally, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, this dissertation presents data collected before and after the pandemic's onset. The asymmetry in daily life for children and adolescents prior to and during the pandemic has been significant. These findings may provide preliminary insight into the additive impact of mass trauma on child and adolescents with a history of early-life trauma.

1.10 References

- GBD 2019 Mental Disorders Collaborators. Global, regional, and national burden of 12 mental disorders in 204 countries and territories, 1990-2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. *The Lancet Psychiatry*. 2022;9(2):137-50.
- 2. Rehm J, Shield KD. Global burden of disease and the impact of mental and addictive disorders. *Curr Psychiatry Rep.* 2019;21(2):10.
- 3. Smetanin P, Stiff D, Briatne C, et al. The life and economic impact of major mental illnesses in Canada: 2011 to 2041. *RiskAnalytica*, on behalf on the Mental Health Commission of Canada. 2011.
- 4. Mental Health Commission of Canada (MHCC). *Making the Case for Investing in Mental Health in Canada*. 2010. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/wp-content/uploads/drupal/2016-06/Investing in Mental Health FINAL Version ENG.pdf</u>
- The Center for Addiction and Mental Health (CAMH). *Mental Illness and Addiction: Facts and Stats*. 2020. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.camh.ca/en/driving-change/the-crisis-is-real/mental-health-statistics</u>.
- Canadian Substance Use Costs and Harms Scientific Working Group. *Canadian substance* use costs and harms (2007-2014). (Prepared by the Canadian Institute for Substance Use Research and the Canadian Center on Substance Use and Addiction). Ottawa, ON: Canadian Center on Substance Use and Addiction. 2018.
- Waddell C, McEwan K, Shepherd CA, et al. A public health strategy to improve the mental health of Canadian children. *Can J Psychiatry*. 2005;50(4):226-33.

- Institute of Health Economics. Mental health economics statistics in your pocket. Edmonton: IHE. Number of absent workers calculated using Statistics Canada work absence rates. 2007. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/71-211-x/71-211-x2011000-eng.pdf</u>.
- 9. Patel V, Saxena S, Lund C, et al. The Lancet Commission on global mental health and sustainable development. *The Lancet Commission*. 2018;392(10157):1153-98.
- Kessler RC, Berglund P, Demler O, et al. Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 2005;62(6):593-602.
- 11. American Psychiatric Association. DSM-V Basics: Introduction. In *Diagnosis and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). 2013.
- 12. American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic Criteria and Code: substance-related and addictive disorders. In *Diagnosis and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). 2013.
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Service Administration (SAMHSA). Treatment considerations for youth and young adults with serious emotional disturbances and serious mental illnesses and co-occurring substance use. Publication No. PEP20-06-02-001. Rockville, MD: National Mental Health and Substance Use Policy Laboratory, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. 2021.
- O'Neil KA, Conner BT, Kendall PC. Internalizing disorders and substance use disorders in youth: comorbidity, risk, temporal order, and implications for intervention. *Clin Psychol Rev.* 2010;31(1):104-12.
- 15. World Health Organization (WHO). *Adolescent Mental Health*. 2021. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/adolescent-mental-health</u>

- 16. Youth Mental Health Canada (YMHC). Youth mental health statistics in Canada. 2017. Retrieved from: <u>https://ymhc.ngo/resources/ymh-stats/</u>
- 17. Costello EJ, Mustillo S, Erkanli A, et al. Prevalence and development of psychiatric disorders in childhood and adolescence. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 2003;60(8):837-44.
- Pearson C, Jantz T, Ali J. Mental and substance use disorders in Canada. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 82-624-X. 2013. Retrieved from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/82-624-x/2013001/article/11855-eng.pdf</u>
- Bor W, Dean AJ, Najman J, et al. Are child and adolescent mental health problems increasing the 21st century? A systematic review. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry*. 2014;48(7):606-16.
- 20. Donald M, Dower J, Lucke J. Prevalence of adverse life events, depression and suicidal thoughts and behavior among a community sample of young people aged 15-24 years. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*. 2009;25(5):426-32.
- 21. Navaneelan T. Suicide rates: an overview. Statistics Canada no. 82-624-X. 2012. Retrieved from: https://www.suicideinfo.ca/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/Suicide-Rates-An-Overview_oa.pdf
- 22. Collins-Vezina D, Dion J, Trocme N. Sexual abuse in Canadian Aboriginal communities: A broad review of conflicting evidence. *Pimatisiwin*. 2009;7(1):27-47.
- 23. Collishaw S. Annual research review: Secular trends in child and adolescent mental health. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*. 2015;56(3):370-93.
- 24. Hosman CMH, van Doesum KTM, van Santvoort F. Prevention of emotional problems and psychiatric risks in children of parents with a mental illness in the Netherlands: The scientific basis to a comprehensive approach. *Advances in Mental Health*. 2009;8(3):250-63.

- 25. Campbell TCH, Reupert A, Sutton K, et al. Prevalence of mental illness among parents of children receiving treatment within child and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS): a scoping review. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2021;30(7):997-1012.
- 26. Losel F, Bender D. Emotional and antisocial outcomes of bullying and victimization at school: A follow-up from childhood to adolescence. *Journal of Aggression, Conflict and Peace Research.* 2011;3(2):89-96.
- 27. Radliff KM, Wheaton JE, Robinson K, et al. Illuminating the relationship between bullying and substance use among middle and high school youth. *Addict Behav.* 2012;37(4):569-72.
- 28. Uher R. The role of genetic variation in the causation of mental illness: an evolution-informed framework. *Molecular Psychiatry*. 2009;14:1072-82.
- 29. Spenrath MA, Clarke ME, Kutcher S. The science of brain and biological development: implications for mental health research, practice, and policy. *J Can Acad Child Adoles Psychaitry*. 2011;20(4): 298-304.
- 30. Grasso DJ, Ford JD, Briggs-Gowan MJ. Early life trauma exposure and stress sensitivity in young children. *J Pediatr Psychol*. 2013;38(1):94-103.
- 31. Felitti VJ, Anda RF, Nordenberg D, et al. The relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults. The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) Study. Am J Prev Med. 1998;14(4):245-58.
- 32. Merrick MT, Ports KA, Ford DC. Unpacking the impact of adverse childhood experiences on adult mental health. *Child Abuse Negl*. 2017;69:10-9.
- 33. Lu W, Mueser KT, Rosenberg SD, et al. Correlates of adverse childhood experiences among adults with severe mood disorders. *Psychiatr Serv.* 2008;59(9):1018-26.

- 34. Davis JP, Tucker JS, Stein BD, et al. Longitudinal effects of adverse childhood experiences on substance use transition patterns during young adulthood. *Child Abuse Negl.* 2021;120:105201.
- 35. Soleimanpour S, Geierstanger S, Brindis CD. Adverse childhood experiences and resilience: addressing the unique needs of adolescents. *Acad Pediatr*. 2017;17(7S):S108-14.
- 36. Blumberg MS, Freeman JH, Robinson SR. A new frontier for developmental behavioral neuroscience. In: Blumberg MS, Freeman JH, Robinson SR, (Ed.). Oxford handbook of developmental behavioral neuroscience. New York, NY: Oxford University Press. 2010.
- 37. Zhang G, Pradhan S. Mammalian epigenetic mechanisms. *IUBMB Life*. 2014;66(4):240-56.
- 38. Peng H, Zhu Y, Strachan E, et al. Childhood trauma, DNA methylation of stress-related genes, and depression: findings from two monozygotic twin studies. *Psychosom Med.* 2018;80(7):599-608.
- 39. Malki K, Koritskaya E, Harris F, et al. Epigenetic differences in monozygotic twins discordant for major depressive disorder. *Transl Psychaitry*. 2016;6(6):e893.
- 40. Meaney MJ, Szyf M. Environmental programming of stress response through DNA methylation: life at the interface between a dynamic environment and a fixed genome. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci.* 2006;7(2):103-23.
- 41. Champagne FA. Epigenetic mechanisms and the transgenerational effects of maternal care. *Front Neuroendocrinol.* 2008;29(3):386-97.
- 42. Silberman DM, Acosta GB, Zorilla Zubilete MA. Long-term effects of early life stress exposure: role of epigenetic mechanisms. *Pharmacol Res.* 2016;109:64-73.

- 43. Juruena MF, Gadelrab R, Cleare AJ, et al. Epigenetics: a missing link between early life stress and depression. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. 2021;109:110231.
- 44. Yehuda R, Daskalakis NP, Bierer LM, et al. Holocaust exposure induced intergenerational effects on FKBP5 methylation. *Biol Psychiatry*. 2016;80(5):372-80.
- Menke A, Klengel T, Rubel J, et al. Genetic variation in FKBP5 associated with the extent of stress hormone dysregulation in major depression. *Genes Brain Behav.* 2013;12(3):289-96.
- 46. Bombay A, Matheson K, Anisman H. The intergenerational effects of Indian residential schools: Implications for the concept of historical trauma. *Transcultural Psychiatry*. 2013;51(3):320-38.
- 47. Nelson SE, Wilson K. The mental health of Indigenous peoples in Canada: A critical review of research. *Social Science & Medicine*. 2017;176:93-112
- 48. Mental Health Commission of Canada. *The Mental Health Strategy for Canada: A youth perspective*. Ottawa, ON: MHCC. 2015.
- 49. McGorry PD, Purcell R, Goldstone S, et al. Age of onset and timing of treatment for mental and substance use disorders: implications for preventive intervention strategies and models of care. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*. 2011;24(4):301-6.
- 50. Kieling C, Baker-Henningham H, Belfer M, et al. Child and adolescent mental health worldwide: evidence for action. *The Lancet*. 2011;378(9801):1515-25.
- 51. 54 National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Clinical practice guidelines for the treatment of child and youth depression. 2005. Retrieved from: <u>https://frayme.ca/fr/projects/clinical-practice-guidelines-treatment-child-and-youthdepression</u>

- 52. Venturo-Conerly KE, Fitzpatrick OM, Horn RL, et al. Effectiveness of youth psychotherapy delivered remotely: A meta-analysis. *American Psychologist*. 2022;77(1):71-84.
- 53. Hayes C, Simmons M, Simons C, et al. Evaluating effectiveness in adolescent mental health inpatient units: a systematic review. *Int J Ment Health Nursing*. 2017;27(2):498-513.
- 54. Wild CT, Wolfe J, Wang J, Ohinmaa A. Gap Analysis of Public Mental Health and Addictions Programs (GAP-MAP) Final Report. Edmonton, AB: University of Alberta School of Public Health. 2014.
- 55. MacQueen GM, Frey BN, Ismail Z, et al. Canadian Network for Mood and Anxiety Treatments (CANMAT) 2016 clinical guidelines for the management of adults with major depressive disorder—Section 6: Special populations: youth, women, and the elderly. *Can J Psychiatry*. 2016;61(9):588-603.
- 56. Klein JB, Jacobs RH, Reinecke MA. Cognitive-behavioural therapy for adolescent depression: a meta-analytic investigation of changes in effect-size estimates. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2007;6(11):1403-13.
- 57. Zhou X, Hetrick SE, Cuijpers P, et al. Comparative efficacy and acceptability of psychotherapies for depression in children and adolescents: A systematic review and network meta-analysis. *World Psychiatry*. 2015;14(2):207-22.
- 58. Ebert DD, Zarski AC, Christensen H, et al. Internet and computer-based cognitive behavioral therapy for anxiety and depression in youth: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled outcome trials. *PLoS One*. 2015;10(3):e0119895.
- 59. Pennant ME, Loucas CE, Whittington C, et al. Computerized therapies for anxiety and depression in children and young people: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Beh Res Ther*. 2015;67:1-18.

- 60. Vitiello B, Brent DA, Greenhill LL, et al. Depressive symptoms and clinical status during the Treatment of Adolescent Suicide Attempters (TASA) study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2009;48(10):997-1004.
- 61. Lyons JS, Bornstein S, Navarro, P et al. Youth Residential Treatment Options in Newfoundland & Labrador. St. John's, NL: Newfoundland & Labrador Center for Applied Health Research, Memorial University. 2010.
- 62. Johnson LL, Van Wagner V, Sheridan M, et al. Strengthening children's mental health residential treatment through evidence and experience. Markham, ON; Kinark Child and Family Services. 2015.
- 63. Leichtman, M. Residential treatment of children and adolescents: Past, present, and future. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*. 2006;76(3):285-94.
- 64. Harder AT, Knorth EJ, Kalveroboer ME. Transition secured? A follow-up study of adolescents who have left secure residential care. *Children and Youth Services Review*. 2011;33(12):2482-8.
- 65. Frensch KM, Cameron G. Treatment of choice or a last resort? A review of residential mental health placements for children and youth. *Child & Youth Care Forum*. 2002;31:307-39.
- 66. Singal AG, Higgins PDR, Waljee AK. A primer on effectiveness and efficacy trials. *Clin Trans Gastroenterol.* 2014;5(1):e45.
- 67. Butler LS, McPherson PM. Is residential treatment misunderstood? [Editorial]. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*. 2007;16(4):465-72.
- 68. Hair HJ. Outcomes for children and adolescents after residential treatment: A review of research from 1993 to 2003. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*. 2005;14(4):551-75.

- Hoagwood KE, Purtle J, Spandorfer J, et al. Aligning dissemination and implementation science with health policies to improve children's mental health. *Am Psychol*. 2020;75(8):1130-45.
- 70. Hemming K, Haines TP, Chilton PJ, et al. The stepped wedge cluster randomized trial: rationale, design, analysis, and reporting. *BMJ*. 2015;350:h391.
- 71. Iyer SN, Shah J, Boksa P, et al. A minimum evaluation protocol and stepped-wedge cluster randomized trial of ACCESS Open Minds, a large Canadian youth mental health services transformation project. *BMC Psychiatry*. 2019;19:273.
- 72. den Bleijker NM, van Schothorst MME, Hendriksen IJM, et al. Effectiveness and implementation of a multidisciplinary lifestyle focused approach in the treatment of inpatients with mental illness (MULTI+): a stepped wedge study protocol. *BMC Psychiatry*. 2022;22:230.
- 73. The Canadian Paediatric Society. *Policy Brief: Child & Youth Mental Health*. April, 2022. Retrieved from: <u>https://cps.ca/uploads/advocacy/PolicyBrief_MH.pdf</u>
- 74. Cowell J, Harvie M. HQCA: Building a credible, transparent, and independent healthcare quality and safety organization in Alberta. In Healthcare Management Forum (Vol. 25, No. 4, pp. 185-87). Sage CA: Los Angeles, CA: SAGE Publications. 2012.
- 75. British Colombia Patient Safety & Quality Council. *BC Healthy Quality Matrix*. 2020. Retrieved from: <u>https://bcpsqc.ca/resource/bc-health-quality-matrix/</u>
- 76. Schleider JL, Abel MR, Weisz JR. Implicit theories and youth mental health problems: a random-effects meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*. 2015;35:1-9.

- 77. American Association of Children's Residential Centers. Trauma-informed care in residential treatment. *Residential Treatment for Children & Youth*. 2014;31(2):97-104.
- 78. Jaffa T, Stocc C. Do inpatient adolescent units recover? A study of outcome and acceptability of treatment. *Eur Child Adolesc Psyhciaty*. 1999;8:292-300.
- 79. Batty MJ, Moldavsky M, Foroushani PS, et al. Implementing routine outcome measures in child and adolescent mental health services: From present to future practice. *Child and Adolescent Mental Health*. 2013;18(2):82-7.
- 80. Kelley SD, Bickman L. Beyond outcomes monitoring: measurement feedback systems in child and adolescent clinical practice. *Curr Opin Psychiatry*. 2009;22(4):363-8.
- Brann P, Alexander M, Coombs T. Routine outcome measurement in youth mental health: a comparison of two clinician rated measures, HoNOSCA and HoNOS. *Psychiatry Res.* 2012;200(2-3):884-9.
- 82. Kwan B, Rickwood DJ. A systematic review of mental health outcome measures for young people aged 12 to 25 years. *BMC Psychiatry*. 2015;15:279.
- Smouth MF. The factor structure and predictive validity of the Kessler Psychological Distress Scale (K10) in children and adolescents. *Australian Psychologist*. 2019;54(2):102-13.
- 84. Lin Y, Yu Y, Zeng J, et al. Comparing the reliability and validity of the SF-36 and SF-12 in measuring quality of life among adolescents in China: a large sample cross-sectional study. *Health Qual Life Outcomes*. 2020;18(1):360.
- 85. Ferro MA. The Psychometric properties of the Kessler Psychological Distress Scale (K6) in an epidemiological sample of Canadian youth. *Can J Psychiatry*. 2019;64(9):647-57.

- 86. Krause KR, Chung S, Adewuya AO, et al. International consensus on a standard set of outcome measures for child and youth anxiety, depression, obsessive-compulsive disorder, and post-traumatic stress disorder. *Lancet Psychiatry*. 2021;8(1):76-86.
- 87. Garland AF, Lewczyk-Boxmeyer CM, Gabayan EN, et al. Multiple stakeholder agreement on desired outcomes for adolescents' mental health services. *Psychatir Serv.* 2004;55(6):671-6.
- 88. Sharma V, Hendon J, Churchill R, et al. Improving child and youth mental health: Stakeholder perspectives from a cross-sectional survey to inform research priorities. *Mental Health and Prevention*. 2021;22(1):200201.
- Staccini L, Tomba E, Grandi S, et al. The evaluation of family functioning by the family assessment device: a systematic review of studies in adult clinical populations. *Fam Process*. 2015;54(1):94-115.
- 90. Vostanis P, Graves A, Meltzer H, et al. Relationship between parental psychopathology, parenting strategies and child mental health. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*. 2006;41:509-14
- 91. Camoirano A. Mentalizing makes parenting work: A review about parental reflective functioning and clinical interventions to improve it. *Front Psychol*. 2017;8:14.
- 92. Fonagy P, Luten P, Moulton-Perkins A, et al. Development and validation of a self-report measure of mentalizing: The reflective functioning questionnaire. *PLoS One*. 2016;11(7):e0158678.
- 93. Berthelot N, Ensink K, Bernazzani O, et al. Intergenerational transmission of attachment in abused and neglected mothers: the role of trauma-specific reflective functioning. *Infant Ment Health J*. 2015;36(2):200-12.

- 94. Roach KE. Measurement of health outcomes: reliability, validity and responsiveness. *Journal* of *Prosthetics and Orthotics*. 2006;18(6 proceedings):P8-12.
- 95. Reynolds CR, Suzuki LA. *Bias in psychological assessment: An empirical review and recommendations*. Handbook of Psychology, Second Edition. Johny Wiley & Sons, Inc. 2013.
- 96. Rickwood DJ, Mazzer KR, Telford NR, et al. Changes in psychological distress and psychosocial functioning in young people visiting headspace centers for mental health problems. *Med J Aust.* 2015;202(10):537-42.
- 97. Eisen SV, Ranganathan G, Seal P, et al. Measuring clinically meaningful change following mental health treatment. *J Behav Health Serv Res*. 2007;34(3):272-89.
- 98. Hall CL, Moldavsky M, Baldwin L, et al. The use of routine outcome measures in two child and adolescent mental health services: a completed audit cycle. *BMC Psychiatry*. 2013;13:270.
- 99. Paris J. Canadian psychiatry across 5 decades: from clinical inference to evidence-based practice. *Can J Psychiatry*. 200;45(1):34-9.
- 100. Hoagwood K, Burns BJ, Kiser, et al. Evidence-based practice in child and adolescent mental health services. *Psychiatr Serv*. 2001;52(9):1179-89.
- 101. National Institutes of Health (NIH). Study Quality Assessment Tools. Retrieved from: https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-topics/study-quality-assessment-tools
- 102. Dorsey S, McLaughlin KA, Kerns, SEU, et al. Evidence base update for psychosocial treatments for children and adolescents exposed to traumatic events. *J Clin Child Adoles Psychol.* 2017;46(3):303-30.

- 103. Weisz JR, Sandler IN, Durlak JA, et al. Promoting and protecting youth mental health through evidence-based prevention and treatment. *Am Psychol.* 2005;60(6):628-48.
- 104. Horvath AR. From evidence to best practice in laboratory medicine. *Clin Biochem Rev.* 2013;34(2):47-60.
- 105. Ellen ME, Leon G, Bouchard G, et al. Barriers, facilitators and views about next steps to implementing supports for evidence-informed decision-making in health systems: a qualitative study. Implement Sci. 2014;9:179.
- 106. Le PD, Eschliman EL, Grivel MM, et al. Barriers and facilitators to implementation of evidence-based task-sharing mental health intervnetions in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review using implementation science frameworks. *Implement Sci.* 2022;17:4.
- 107. Williams NJ, Beidas RS. Annual Research Review: The state of implementation science in child psychology and psychiatry: a review and suggestions to advance the field. *J Child Psychol and Psychiatry*. 2018;60(4):430-50.
- 108. Scott K, Lewis CC. Using measurement-based care to enhance any treatment. *Cogn Behav Pract.* 2015;22(1):49-59.
- 109. Yin B, Teng T, Tong L, et al. Efficacy and acceptability of parent-only group cognitive behavioral intervention for treatment of anxiety disorder in children and adolescents: a metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. *BMC Psychiatry*. 2021;21:29.
- 110. Huang T, Li H, Tan S, et al. The efficacy and acceptability of exposure therapy for the treatment of post-traumatic stress disorder in children and adolescents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Psychiatry*. 2022;22:259.

- 111. Hunsley J, Lee CM. Research-informed benchmarks for psychological treatments: Efficacy studies, effectiveness studies, and beyond. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*. 2007;38(1):21-33.
- 112. Villarreal V, Ponce C, Guitierrez H. Treatment acceptability of interventions published in six psychology journals. *School Psychology International*. 2015;36(3):322-32.
- 113. Silverman WK, Ortiz CD, Viswesvaran C, et al. Evidence-based psychosocial treatments for children and adolescents exposed to traumatic events. *J Clin Child Adoles Psychol*. 2008;37(1):156-83.
- 114. Leenarts LEW, Diehle J, Doreleijiers TAH, et al. Evidence-based treatments for children ith trauma-related psychopathology as a result of childhood maltreatment: a systematic review. *Eur Child Adoles Pschiatry*. 2013;22(5):259-83.
- 115. Herman KC, Borden LA, Hsu C, et al. Enhancing family engagement in interventions for mental health problems in youth. *Residential Treatment for Children & Youth*. 2011;28(2):102-19.
- 116. Tharinger DJ, Finn SE, Gentry L, et al. Therapeutic assessment with children: A pilot study of treatment acceptability and outcome. *Journal of Personality Assessment*. 2009;91(3):238-44.
- 117. Macdonald G, Livingston N, Hanratty J, et al. The effectiveness, acceptability and costeffectiveness of psychosocial interventions for maltreated children and adolescents: an evidence synthesis. *Health Technol Assess*. 2016;20(69):1-508.
- 118. Nilsson L, Hofflander M, Eriksen S, et al. The importance of interaction in the implementation of information technology in health care: a symbolic interactionism study on the meaning of accessibility. *Inform Health Soc Care*. 2012;37(4):277-90.

- 119. Proctor E, Silmere H, Raghavan R, et al. Outcomes for implementation research: conceptual distinctions, measurement challenges, and research agenda. *Adm Policy Ment Health*. 2011;38(2):65-76.
- Braithwaite J, Marks D, Taylor N. Harnessing implementation science to improve care quality and patient safety: a systematic review of targeted literature. *Int J Qual Health Care*. 2014;26(3):321-9.
- 121. Mei C, Fitzsimons J, Allen N, et al. Global research priorities for youth mental health. *Early Interv Psychiatry*. 2020;14(1):3-13.
- 122. Hamilton MP, Hetrick SE, Mihalopoulos C, et al. Identifying attributes of care that may improve cost-effectiveness in the youth mental health service system. *Med J Aust*. 2007;207(10):S27-37.

Chapter 2: Stakeholder Perceptions in a Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Inpatient Unit: A Qualitative Analysis

Authors: Matthew Reeson¹, Dr. Margot Jackson², Dr. Andrew Greenshaw¹

¹Department of Psychiatry, Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry, University of Alberta, Edmonton,

²Faculty of Nursing, Grant MacEwan University, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada

2.1 Abstract

Background: Child and adolescent psychiatric inpatient programs provide patients with prolonged and intensive therapy; however, they require significant resource and time investment. Data relating to the effectiveness of program offerings are essential in guiding policy and resource allocation in this context. To date, there is a paucity of research related to stakeholder perceptions in child and adolescent psychiatric inpatient services—especially how these perceptions coincide with the outcomes of these services.

Study Objective: The aim of this study was to develop a better understanding of the perceptions of stakeholders in an established youth psychiatric inpatient program in an urban hospital setting.

Methods: Exploratory qualitative methodology and thematic analysis was used to examine the common challenges faced by stakeholders in a youth psychiatric inpatient program. Three focus groups were carried out, two with caregivers of youth being treated in the program and a third with the staff of the inpatient unit. Discussions were transcribed and analyzed thematically.

Results: Thematic analysis of the focus group discussions identified five interacting categories that are pertinent to the perception of positive outcomes: (1) youth mental health and well-being; (2) caregiver mental health and well-being; (3) the health of the caregiver-child dyad; (4) education, socialization, & occupation; (5) institutional interactions.

Conclusions: Stakeholder perceptions to child and adolescent inpatient services were generally positive, but both caregivers and service providers identified a number of major gaps and problems in defining treatment outcomes in this setting. This preliminary analysis provides the impetus for further research into the development of tools aimed at capturing these aspects.

Key Words: Inpatient, Psychiatric, Mental Health, Youth, Stakeholders, Qualitative

2.2 Introduction

Child and adolescent mental illness and addiction have a significant impact on public health services. An estimated 20% of Canadians experience a mental health or addiction issue in their lifetime, and by the age of 40, nearly half of the population will have faced some form of mental illness¹. Significantly, over 33% of affected individuals present their onset of symptoms prior to the age of 18². In fact, youth aged 15-24 are at the highest risk for psychiatric issues and substance use disorders³. In Canada, the economic burden of mental illness and addiction was an estimated at around \$89 billion per year^{1,4,5}. Despite the economic burden that mental illness and addiction continue to place on society, psychiatric programs are often underfunded, while poor access to services and increasingly long waiting lists have become the norm⁶. These issues are especially pertinent for Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS)⁷.

In Edmonton, Alberta in Canada the number of children and adolescents referred for mental health services increased nearly 50% from 2013-2019, from approximately 3500 to 6700⁸. Over 60% of referrals are for youth aged 11-17; more specifically, 40% are for adolescents between 14-17 years of age. Standard practice currently involves triaging referred individuals through a telephone interview designed to identify the presenting problem and assess the degree of risk. This is followed by placement on a waiting list for access to an appropriate intervention. Once available, patients may be offered outpatient treatment—which includes day treatment programs, individual therapy, mobile services, and residential treatment programs—or inpatient programs. In Alberta, roughly 5% of children and adolescents require inpatient psychiatric treatment⁹, and it estimated that nearly a quarter of the mental health budgets is allocated towards inpatient services¹⁰.

A recent survey conducted by Wild et al. (2014)¹⁰ identified major gaps in service availability within Alberta. They concluded that the current mental health infrastructure is insufficient to effectively treat Alberta adults, despite the fact that the system is heavily invested in adult services rather than CAMHS. That analysis is supported by the report that only around 12-15% of children and adolescents who have a mental health or addiction issue will receive appropriate clinical treatment or intervention^{11,12}. In Alberta, an average of 1 in 5 youth psychiatric referrals results in

unsuccessful contact, withdrawn referral, or absence from intake interview⁸. At present, there is no follow-up program in place to track what happens to those referrals that go unplaced.

Contemporary research assessing the efficacy of child and adolescent inpatient services is sparse. Inpatient services are of particular importance because they require the greatest amount of service resources and staff involvement, while serving fewer patients than community care¹³. Unfortunately, there is no current agreement on the optimal length of admission, the interventions used, the effectiveness of the interventions administered, and the longevity of treatment effects¹⁴. Furthermore, without adequate transition and follow-up programs, the risk of re-admission remains high in these populations¹⁵. The few studies that have assessed inpatient programs have shown clinically meaningful changes. A study conducted by Green et al. (2007)¹³ investigated changes in Child Global Assessment Scale (CGAS) scores for children and adolescents undergoing inpatient treatment in four different inpatient units at admission, discharge, and one-year follow-up. The analysis showed clinically and statistically significant improvement for both children and adolescents undergoing psychiatric inpatient treatment. Further to this, CGAS improvements were associated with the length of stay, independent of diagnosis, which suggests further evidence for the positive effect of longitudinal intensive treatment.

Although these observed improvements are encouraging, there are still a number of gaps in child and adolescent inpatient services that need to be addressed. In an analysis of practitioner perceptions towards standardized diagnostic assessments, Martin et al. (2011)¹⁶ found that over a quarter of child and adolescent service providers had little to no qualification or training in working with youth. The lack of relevant knowledge and training, the time required to care for each individual child or adolescent, and the scarcity of resources afforded to service providers are all major barriers to managing youth psychiatric problems¹⁷. As mental health concerns faced by youth vary considerably, it is difficult to determine which specific indicators are most significant in interpreting effective treatment. Considering the increasing prevalence mental illness in Canadian youth, alternative approaches are urgently required. In order to reliably assess treatment efficacy, it is imperative there be the implementation of thorough and accurate evaluative measures¹⁸. Standardized assessments are generally accepted for use by practitioners but are infrequently applied in routine practice¹⁶. In order to properly evaluate the efficacy of any treatment regimen, the definition of "successful" or "positive" first needs to be clearly determined^{19,20}. Satisfaction levels of young people and their caregivers is predictive of treatment outcomes in inpatient services, and stakeholder perceptions are an important consideration when investigating treatment success²¹. Mental illness is never isolated to one individual—particularly within the child and adolescent context where caregivers and family members are almost always impacted²². Further to this, staff well-being, preparedness and support are all essential aspects inpatient programs and should be considered relevant components to any evaluative measure²³.

2.2.1 Study Objective

The primary aim of this study is to explore the perceptions of stakeholders involved in a child and adolescent psychiatric inpatient unit. In doing so, the issues and challenges commonly faced by parents of youth undergoing psychiatric inpatient treatment, as well as those experienced by the service providers, was analyzed. Through an exploration into the perceptions of caregivers and service providers in this context, researchers aimed to develop a better understanding the factors associated with successful treatment outcomes.

2.3 Methods

2.3.1 Ethics and Recruitment

Research participants for this study were recruited from a child and adolescent inpatient treatment program located in Edmonton, Alberta. In compliance with Canadian Tri-Council ethics requirements, all subjects were required to give formal written consent prior to participation and the reporting of results of their interviews. The study was approved by the Health Research Ethics Board of the University of Alberta (PRO: 00065662).

2.3.2 Study Design

This research study used exploratory qualitative methodology and thematic analysis to acquire insight, knowledge and understanding. Thematic analysis provides a coordinated approach to obtaining, analyzing and presenting data in a way that is meaningful and relevant, and has been shown to be a useful method for conducting qualitative research^{24,25}. While individual themes were pulled forward, the relationship between themes were also explored which allowed the findings to be fully analyzed and understood.

This Edmonton inpatient treatment program adopts a medical model with a multidisciplinary team consisting of psychiatrists, nurses, mental health therapists, social workers, occupational therapists, psychologists, and speech and language pathologists in conjunction with on-site specialized teachers from the local school board. Units employ a structured milieu along with a combination of psychotherapy, medication, and family education. The programs operate Sunday to Friday and follow the school calendar, including holiday breaks (e.g., Christmas), with average lengths of stay of 90-120 days. For this study, research participants were recruited from two different stakeholder groups: (1) Caregivers; (2) Inpatient Service Providers

2.3.3 Study Participants

2.3.3.1 Caregivers

As a part of the program design, caregivers of children undergoing treatment are required to attend semi-weekly group discussions known as "Parent Group." Each session is approximately one hour and focuses on topics related to stigma, parental stress, self-care, familial and parental challenges, and open discussion. Parent group is led by two social workers whose aim is to create a safe environment for parents to talk about their grievances and find common cause with individuals facing similar challenges. In total, the parents are asked to attend six sessions.

Two researchers (MJ and MR) attended each session for two separate cohorts of parents. Each cohort consisted of caregivers of children aged 12-17 who were, at the time of the sessions, being treated in the inpatient unit. The researchers informed each participant that a voluntary focus group would be carried out during the final session by the researchers.

Inpatient programs require a multidisciplinary team to implement the intensive nature of the treatment regimen. Similar to the caregivers, service providers were informed on the nature and reasoning of the research and were asked to volunteer for a focus group in an attempt to gain their insight.

2.3.4 Data Collection

Focus groups were carried out in a private classroom located within the inpatient unit. All members sat collectively around a large table, and the aim of the researchers was to make the discussion feel as informal as possible. All participants provided written consent for the research, information forms and verbal information from the researchers ensured that participants were aware that their voices would be recorded, and the conversations transcribed for subsequent analysis.

In total, three separate groups were interviewed. The first two groups consisted only of caregivers, while the final group consisted of only service providers. Group One involved 6 individuals: two couples (mother and father) and two mothers, representing five children in total. Group Two involved 4 individuals: two couples (mother and father), representing two children in total. Group Three involved 6 individuals (1 male, 5 females)—three administrators, two social workers, and one therapist.

2.3.4.1 Semi-structured Interviews

To stimulate conversation in the focus groups, the following semi-structured interview questions were asked:

Caregiver Semi-Structured Interview

1. How do you define treatment success in the context of your child(ren)?

2. What are some common challenges you face with your child(ren)?

3. What were your expectations prior to admission into the program? Did these changes as the your child(ren) progressed through the program?

4. If you could change one thing about the current program, what would it be?

5. In your mind, what is the best aspect of the program?

6. What is something that you think others may not understand about what you or your child(ren) has gone through?

7. Overall, do you feel satisfied or dissatisfied by the treatment program?

Service Provider Semi-Structured Interview

1. How do you define treatment success in the context of the inpatient program?

2. What are common challenges you face as a youth inpatient service provider?

3. What are the common challenges you see with the effectiveness of the program?

4. What are your general outcome expectations when a child is admitted? Has this changed as you've worked here?

5. Is there any particular patient characteristic(s) that you find predict better or worse outcomes program?

6. If you could change anything about the program, what would it be?

7. In your mind, what is the best aspect of the program?

8. What is something that you think makes this program unique from other youth mental health programs?

2.3.4.2 Data Analysis

Each focus group conversation was digitally recorded and transcribed verbatim. Each research participant was given a pseudonym (e.g., "Parent A etc.) and all names were changed to denote the person in question (e.g., "daughter's name"). Data was then analyzed using thematic analysis.

2.4 Results

Analysis of the transcribed focus group conversations revealed five primary themes related to treatment success and program structure improvements: (1) Youth mental health and well-being; (2) Caregiver mental health and well-being; (3) The health of the caregiver-child dyad; (4) Education, socialization, and occupation; (5) Institutional interactions. Figure 1 schematically represents the way in which the themes are associated with each other.

2.4.1 Youth Mental Health and Well-Being

The first theme consisted of issues related directly to the children and adolescents being treated in the program. Staff and caregivers identified mental and physical health, symptom progression, behavioural regulation, and readiness for treatment as key components in the determination of successful treatment. In fact, patient mindset and attitude towards their own mental health was suggested as one of the most important determinants of success. Some examples of these expectations are shared in the following participant statements:

"[Son's name] was initially so worked up about coming here and then realized very quickly that it's a positive atmosphere and he's getting a lot of positive things out of it." [C]

"It's about changing the mindset and how you look at things, right? ... A lot of people come in thinking, you know, you're just cured, it's over. But it's about managing and levelling the ups and downs." [S]

"I think engagement is key, too. Like, when the kid turns that corner and they're able to engage in the treatment process and be able to work with us, identifying the goals they want to work

on." [S]

Many of the caregivers' concerns were related to transitioning from inpatient treatment back to the community. They felt that many of their children had experienced positive gains from treatment but were concerned that their child would relapse or regress when they were no longer in a structured environment. The sudden change from intensive treatment to no treatment at all was identified as a significant missing piece or challenge in the program design, as shown by these statements:

"I mean, I think that everything that's happening today has been really positive, and, you know, he's changing internally a bit, but it's the long term. What happens next?" [C]

"It's about what happens after? How do we maintain what he's learning here because if it's not front of mind and central all the time, you don't use it you lose it, right? So I'm concerned about the next phases." [C]

2.4.2 Caregiver Mental Health and Well-Being

The second theme includes statements pertaining to the quality of life, stress level, and the mental health of the caregivers. Since the attitudes the caregivers have about treatment are often mirrored by their children, the staff stressed the importance of caregiver mindset and readiness for positive outcomes, as exemplified by these statements:

"It's with the families and the kids that don't really engage that you don't see success. You don't see, like, the changes that are happening that you hope for. More so than the ones that do fully embrace the program and work with us." [S]

"I was very upset with [son's name] coming here, right? And I said I understand how he feels and now you're just going to go and just throw him to somebody else and I'm like 'nah'.

Anyway, now that we've been here for this long, I'm amazed by it. It was one of the best decisions we made was having him here." [C]

Many of the caregivers expressed how worn down they had become. This was primarily a result of constantly looking for answers and not finding solutions to their child's problem(s). They identified the respite the program afforded them, particularly knowing that their child was in a safe and stable environment.

"All of a sudden a load is lifted because you worry about your child all the time, but when she's in this program, I don't worry about her and it gives me time to do all the things I'm supposed to be doing because you fall way behind on all your stuff when all you do is worry about your child." [C]

"It definitely has allowed us to, like, be able to breathe a little bit and know that he's safe. We know that he's being taken care of, and know that he's being fed and spoken to, and developing relationships, and that we can breathe." [C]

One caregiver in particular identified the effect stigma and blame had on their ability to cope with their child's mental illness, quoted here:

"Blame comes from a lot of other people...when they don't understand what's going on. And we didn't understand it enough really to explain to people. But you will get people who will say to you: 'Did you take drugs? Were you an alcoholic? What did you do to have your child turn out this way?' And, you know, I didn't drink, I didn't smoke, I didn't do drugs, I tried to do whatever I could when I knew I had a child on the way, and I don't know why he's different than our cookie-cutter model, but he is." **[C]**

2.4.3 The Caregiver-Child Dyad

The strength of the child-caregiver dyad was identified as an essential component to consider in any evaluation of youth psychiatric outcomes. Staff noted that caregiver engagement and education are essential pieces to youth therapy because they encourage a stronger bond between the child and caregiver, and they give families the necessary tools for maintenance and management after discharge.

"I want to see [daughter's name] develop the confidence that she has the tools and she can deal with things when they come up. But also that we are there for her and that she knows [negative symptoms] are going to come up when she feels this way and she knows how we can all deal with it together." [C]

Health care providers see first-hand the impact that environments has on youth with mental health challenges and shared these concerns:

"It would be great to have family therapists working on board, because we can do so much with these kids, get them to, you know, make some really positive changes. But if they're going back to the same environment that hasn't changed or supported that kid's treatment, that kid's going to show up in the system again in another program, right? Or coming back to us which we have seen, too. So that's one thing I think is the limitations of our programming is that we don't have enough family support." [S]

A major concern parents expressed was their inability to trust their child on their own. Many parents expressed fear and concerns about the safety of their child and the way their child's mental health can permeate into their physical health. This caused concerns about safety particularly for those with children who had previously displayed self-harm, suicidal ideation and/or suicidal behavior. The following participants statement illustrate these fears and concerns:

"Safety is my major concern. I will measure success as if she is safe by herself at home." [C]

"But that's the thing is I don't know if they don't get a second chance to think about [not harming themselves], they won't." [C] "The last [suicide attempt] was the third time for our daughter. Once last year, and then twice at the same time the year before." [C]

2.4.4 Education, Socialization, & Occupation

The fourth theme relates to academic performance, peer relationships, social functioning, and vocational success. One caregiver expressed concern over how their child was going to be able to build and maintain relationships in the future:

"[Daughter's name] has managed to keep her friends from school, but she says now that she's been away from them for so long, she feels like she's, I don't know, like she's sort of out of the loop and she's worried about losing their friendship." [C]

Almost all stakeholders voiced their concerns about "the coming next phase." Observing noticeable behavioural and cognitive improvements during treatment is an essential outcome in assessing any treatment program; however, there was major concern that not enough emphasis is currently being placed on the importance of the long-term maintenance and management and the practical application of these skills after discharge.

"You're going to throw him back into the regular population and the schools that aren't ready for, or not necessarily equipped to deal with, children who are of a higher need." [C]

"Everyone just thinks short-term. It's school now, but then it's getting a job, getting into society. How are they going to make their way?" [S]

Many caregivers noted the positive effects healthy peer and adult socialization within the inpatient setting had on their child. Service providers reiterated this sentiment, suggesting that the inclusive environment promoted by the program inherently induces positive effects.

"Because [son's name] has never socially been really accepted and he is being more accepted here with, you know, different peer groups, right? The staff are treating him with the respect that he doesn't necessarily get elsewhere even though he behaves, you know, kind of poorly in that moment." [C]

"You're inclusive of other people, they're helping you with your mental health, they're providing you with those social skills, and they're getting respect playing games and time together." [S]

2.4.5 Institutional Interactions

The final theme identified relates to the structure of the child and adolescent mental health system, including the most prominent issues, suggestions for improvements, and what is currently seen as working well. Many of the parents expressed grievances over service access. They indicated that they had very little understanding of the steps involved in finding appropriate treatment and gaining access to those services when identified, as expressed in this quote:

"There's just not enough resources out there. Somebody to point you in the right direction, or there's nobody with you along the way saying, 'okay, go here.' You wait for an appointment just to find that out." [C]

Waitlist length was implicated a number of times as a major issue with the current system. Caregivers noted that a child's threshold for access was far too high—with self-harm or suicidal ideation/attempt being requisites for admission to treatment.

"What is bad enough? Because we took her to emergency because she was cutting herself and bleeding like a stuck pig, but because she didn't actually try and kill herself, she was just hurting herself, that wasn't considered bad enough, right?" [C]

"Because there is a huge waitlist, I think our responsibility is to be meeting the needs of the most in need as best we can...because we realize that there are finite resources and there's a long

waitlist, it's important to find out what's going to be the most effective treatment with the resources that we have." [S]

Service providers indicated that the lack of a "waitlist gatekeeper" made it very difficult to triage the individuals who are best suited for inpatient treatment. This has further implications for the effect of the milieu in therapy, as suggested by this service provider:

"I think one thing with the intake that we try to do to support the program more is understanding that there's a milieu therapy, that the therapeutic milieu is a big part of it, but then there's individual things where they work with the kids. So the milieu provides the kids with a supportive environment where they can feel good about themselves and have hope." [S]

2.5 Discussion

The purpose of this study was to delineate the perceptions of stakeholders towards a child and adolescent psychiatric inpatient unit. The qualitative findings of this analysis revealed five primary themes identified by caregivers and service provides as essential metrics in assessing treatment efficacy and service utilization.

2.5.1 Youth Mental Health & Well-Being

Service providers stressed the importance of patient readiness as an essential component to developing a mindset amenable for treatment. The literature supports the assertion that mindfulness, readiness, and motivation are major predictors of positive outcomes in youth psychiatric patients^{26,27}. Depressed adolescents who are more mindful of their symptoms are more likely to seek primary care for their mental illness²⁸. In a study comparing readiness and depression scores in adolescents undergoing a variety of psychiatric interventions for their depression, Lewis et al. (2009)²⁹ found that, regardless of the treatment type, readiness at baseline predicted positive response to treatment.

A major concern identified by caregivers was the lack of available transition programs and the potential negative effect a lack of follow-up may have on any improvements their child attained from treatment. Transition from treatment programs back to the community can be a difficult process—this is particularly true for inpatient treatment, which is both intensive and extensive^{31,32}. Adolescents undergoing inpatient treatment are often concerned about the stigma of requiring such treatment, the lack of continuity between the inpatient setting and the outside world, and the difficulties in transitioning from an intensive setting to the community^{32,33}. Poor transition out of inpatient care can lead to recurrence of symptoms and increases the risk of readmission¹⁵. Considering waitlist times for treatment are already too long, the healthcare system can ill afford a high readmission rate. As such, the implementation of a well-designed transition program for youth psychiatric inpatients will prospectively lessen the burden on the healthcare system at large. Despite transition services being the most common supportive service offered by Alberta Health Services (AHS)¹⁰, the need for further research and development of these programs is still required.

2.5.2 Caregiver Mental Health and Well-Being

A common misconception with mental illness is that the impact is isolated to the afflicted individual. In a child and adolescent psychiatric context, this is particularly erroneous. Caregiver mental health and well-being are highly linked to that of the child and vice versa²². In this study, caregivers noted the significance of the respite inpatient treatment afforded them. Self-care was identified as something the parents recognized was important, but very often neglected. This is significant because recent research has shown that parental stress levels are highly correlated with child symptom severity, treatment intensification, and psychiatric outcomes^{34,35}. In order for treatment to be truly effective, the skills and tools learned in treatment need to be maintained and managed. Parental psychoeducation has been shown to improve treatment outcomes by developing a rudimentary understanding of mental illness and helping to enhance mindfulness³⁶. A recent study looking at the outcomes of a mindfulness course designed for parents being treated secondarily for their child's psychopathology found widespread mental health improvements in both parent and the child, as well as decreased parental stress³⁷. These findings suggest that

implementing a supplementary psychoeducation-based program for caregivers could have compounding positive effects.

Stigma and judgement were common issues that caregivers identified. Stigma, which relates to the misguided or ill-informed attitudes and behaviours an individual has towards a particular circumstance, can come in two forms: (1) *internal/self-stigmatization* - relating to shame felt by the affected individual; or (2) *external stigmatization* - the unfair attitudes and beliefs others have of the affected individual³⁸. In this context, caregivers expressed struggling with both forms of stigma—feeling responsible for their child's mental illness and/or feeling unfairly judged by extended family, friends, co-workers, and peers. Many parents experienced difficulties explaining their child's mental illness to others, and often felt misunderstood. This is significant considering stigmatization can be a major obstruction to service access and the desire to seek treatment³⁹. It should be noted that there is evidence that psychoeducation and mindfulness can induce self-stigmatization and shame in the caregivers⁴⁰. Considering this, psychoeducation programs that combine mindfulness and cognitive behavioral therapy may induce positive outcomes while minimizing the risk of caregiver self-stigmatization.

2.5.3 The Caregiver-Child Dyad

The caregiver-child dyad is the most important relationship in a child's development⁴¹. The caregiver's role is to provide the child with the guidance necessary to facilitate proper cognitive and emotional development. Despite this, family and parent engagement in the treatment process continues to be a patent challenge for mental healthcare providers⁴². Children who have had improper cognitive development as a result of negative or absent parenting are more likely to lack the cognitive tools and attitudes necessary for treatment engagement and success^{43,44}. If a child returns to a stressful environment after treatment, the environment may counteract the positive gains made through therapy and induce symptom relapse in the child. It has been shown that children and adolescents with familial risk factors—such as familial stress and low family functioning—are less likely to benefit from inpatient treatment⁴⁵. There is substantial evidence that Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) are linked to a number of mental and physical illnesses^{46,47}. If these ACE were experienced at home, it is likely that many reminders of the
event(s) responsible for the original onset of the child's psychopathology are present in the child's daily environment.

Trust is a vital component to the success of any relationship, and the inability to formulate trust in many children was identified by service providers as a major impediment in the healthy dyadic relationship. A common struggle reported by caregivers was the consistent fear that the child may harm themselves or attempt/commit suicide. As youth with mental illness are more likely to experience suicidal ideation and attempt⁴⁸, one of the key challenges parents faced was figuring out how to cope caring for a child who has a propensity for self-harm. Increased resources towards transition and follow-up services, coupled with investment into preventative measures, could help alleviate some of these longstanding worries.

2.5.4 Education, Socialization, & Occupation

Caregivers identified educational success, sociability, and long-term outcomes as significant concerns. Strong interpersonal relationships have been identified as a major mediating factor in the onset of youth mental illness⁴⁹ and as a predictive component of treatment outcomes⁵⁰. It's been suggested that the traditional medical model fails to account for the impact of psychosocial factors on progression of youth mental illness⁵¹. In a study done by Setoya et al. (2011)⁵², youth psychiatric inpatients identified improving interpersonal relationships and sociability as the primary aim of treatment.

One of the key components of any inpatient program is the temporary isolation of the individual from the "real world." In one sense, this is useful because it creates a safe and structured environment for the patient that is meant to be amenable to positive changes; however, the temporary isolation can create a gap between patient and community^{21,53}. Interviews with adolescent psychiatric inpatients has often revealed that individuals felt constricted in an institutional, hospital-like setting, and disconnected from the outside world⁵⁴. However, many caregivers noted the positive effects of positive peer relationships and adult socialization that occurred within the inpatient setting; current research has noted the importance of positive social relationships in inpatient program outcomes³². In these settings, individuals have the opportunity

to meet other youth with similar afflictions as their own which may help them to feel more included and less marginalized. Furthermore, youth see the important differences in their peers and learn to be empathetic and accepting of others; this often extends to other activities as well such as recreational activities and team sports that help build leadership and communication skills⁵⁵.

2.5.4 Institutional Interactions

Both caregivers and service providers acknowledged some of the underlying issues with the current child and adolescent psychiatric inpatient system. Access to services was a theme particularly emphasized in all of the discussions. Help-seeking and decision-making models for children and adolescents differs from those for adults in that they heavily rely on external factors, particularly caregiver behavior, attitude, and communication⁵⁶. That is, youth with mental health concerns are much less likely to seek out their own treatment and generally rely on family members, teachers, health professionals, and/or community members to initiate the referral process. In a review of parental mental health services utilization, Logan and King (2006)⁵⁸ developed the framework for "parentally mediated service-seeking," which emphasizes the importance of developing a process-oriented framework that can be easily utilized by caregivers looking for services.

Perhaps the most common grievance for caregivers was their concern over the waitlist times. Most expressed concern that the waitlist was too long and that the qualifications required to access inpatient or intensive services was too severe. Computer-assisted practices, such as electronic assessments, psychoeducation modules, or online cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) could help ameliorate the struggles faced by families waiting for service access, while simultaneously lowering the burden on the mental healthcare system^{58,59}. In Alberta, online technologies were traditionally underutilized, with roughly 2% of AHS direct programs reporting that they use the internet for screening, assessment, treatment, support, and/or post-treatment follow-up¹⁰. The COVID-19 pandemic has significantly increased the need for remote interaction, which has revealed the utility of remote therapy via phone, video chat, or mobile applications^{60,61}. With the technology and methodology increasingly improving, it is essential that CAMHS continue to adopt a modern approach to manage these challenges.

Service providers identified the therapeutic milieu as one of the major strengths of the program. The milieu refers both to the environment and setting of the treatment program, as well as the make-up of the people, both staff and patients, involved⁵⁵. A harmonious balance of staff with differing skillsets, as well as patients with the right blend of diagnoses and behavioural tendencies, will draw the largest benefit from milieu therapy⁶². One of the strengths of inpatient therapy is that it often involves an interdisciplinary approach, providing a combination of therapies³¹. The staff pointed out that without a waitlist "gatekeeper," there is less control over the patient make-up, dampening the potential positive impact of the milieu. Primary care providers who are best suited to act as these "gatekeepers" should be utilized in order control the portal of entry and effectively triage individuals to where they will receive the best possible benefit^{17,63}.

2.5.6 Limitations

There are a number of limitations to this analysis which restrict the strength of the findings. Firstly, the analysis was carried out on a small number of individuals and did not represent all the stakeholders engaged with the program. Future research should aim to gather information from a variety of stakeholders, including but not limited to caregivers and immediate family, extended family, service providers, healthcare professionals, psychiatric experts, teachers and counsellors, and community members. Second, this was analysis was carried out at a single youth psychiatric inpatient unit; future research should obtain information from inpatient unit in different geographical regions and jurisdictions for comparison. Finally, this was a qualitative assessment and contained no quantitative data. A more in-depth analysis could use quantitative information to supplement any qualitative findings to improve the rigour of the analysis.

2.5.7 Conclusions and Future Research

Child and adolescent mental illness have quickly become one of the largest burdens on the health care system. With the ever-increasing prevalence of youth diagnosed with a psychiatric illness, it has become imperative for treatment options to be as efficient and effective as possible. In order to achieve this goal, a consensus on assessment characteristics must be achieved. In this study, we assessed the perceptions of stakeholders involved in a youth psychiatric inpatient unit in order to parse out these characteristics. Both staff and parents noted the diverse factors associated with determining outcomes, which indicates that current measures used in this setting may exclude important data necessary for a thorough assessment of treatment effects. Going forward, CAMHS research should work towards the development of a "balanced scorecard" outcome measure, which would contain robust multivariate information to account for the abundance of different metrics relating to mental health and well-being. This analysis provided a preliminary framework for identifying these factors.

2.6 References

- Smetanin P, Stiff D, Briatne C, et al. The life and economic impact of major mental illnesses in Canada: 2011 to 2041. *RiskAnalytica*, on behalf on the Mental Health Commission of Canada. 2011.
- Government of Canada. The Human Face of Mental Health and Mental Illness in Canada. Ottawa: Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada. 2016.
- Pearson C., Janz T, Ali J. Mental and substance use disorders in Canada. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 82-624-X. 2013.
- 4. Canadian Substance Use Costs and Harms Scientific Working Group. Canadian substance use costs and harms (2007-2014), prepared by the Canadian Institute for Substance Use Research and the Canadian Center on Substance Use and Addiction. Ottawa, ON: Canadian Center on Substance Use and Addiction. 2018.
- 5. Lim KL, Jacobs P, Ohinmaa A, et al. A new population-based measure of the economic burden of mental illness in Canada. *Chronic Diseases in Canada*. 2008;28(3):92-8.
- 6. Mental Health Commission of Canada. Changing direction, changing lives: The mental health strategy for Canada. Calgary, AB: MHCC. 2012.
- 7. Mental Health Commission of Canada. The Mental Health Strategy for Canada: A youth perspective. Ottawa, ON: MHCC. 2015.
- 8. Alberta Health Services. Volume Intake (2013-2019). Spreadsheets prepared by Alberta Health Services. Edmonton, AB: AHS. 2019.
- 9. Alberta Health Services. Treatment Services for Youth. 2018. Retrieved from: https://www.albertahealthservices.ca/amh/Page2546.aspx

- Wild CT, Wolfe J, Wang J, et al. *Gap Analysis of Public Mental Health and Addictions Programs (GAP-MAP) Final Report*. Edmonton, AB: University of Alberta School of Public Health. 2014.
- 11. Findlay LC, Sunderland A. Professional and informal mental health support reported by Canadians aged 15 to 24. *Health Reports*. 2014;25(12):3-11.
- Chen LP, Murad MH, Paras ML, et al. Sexual abuse and lifetime diagnosis of psychiatric disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Mayo Clinic proceedings*. 2010;85(7):618-29.
- James, S, Charlemagne SJ, Gilman AB, et al. Post-discharge services and psychiatric rehospitalization among children and youth. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health*. 2010;37:434-45.
- 14. Green J, Jacobs B, Beecham, J, et al. Inpatient treatment in child and adolescent psychiatry: a prospective study of health gain and costs. *Journal of child and adolescent psychiatry, and allied disciplines*. 2007;48(12):1259-67.
- Fontanella CA. The influence of clinical, treatment, and healthcare system characteristics of psychiatric readmission of adolescents. *The American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*. 2008;78 (2):187-98.
- 16. Martin AM, Fishman R, Baxter L, et al. Practitioners' attitudes towards the use of standardized diagnostic assessment in routine practice: a qualitative study in two child and adolescent mental health services. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry*. 2011;16(3):407-20.
- O'Brien D, Harvey K, Howse J, et al. Barriers to managing child and adolescent mental health problems: a systematic review of primary care practitioners' perceptions. *British Journal of General Practice*. 2016;66(651): e693-707.

- 18. Hoagwood, K., Burns, B.J., Kiser, L., Ringeisen, H., Schoenwald, S.K. (2001). Evidencebased practice in child and adolescent mental health services. *Psychiatr Serv.* 52(9):1179-89.
- 19. Jaffa T, Stocc C. Do inpatient adolescent units recover? A study of outcome and acceptability of treatment. *Eur Child Adolesc Psyhciaty*. 1999;8:292-300.
- 20. Poa M. Defining success in the transition to adulthood. *Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am.* 2017;26(2):191-8.
- 21. Varol Tas F, Guvenir T, Cevrim E. Patients' and their parents' satisfaction levels about the treatment in a child and adolescent mental health inpatient unit. *Journal of Psychiatric Mental Health and Nursing*. 2010;17(9):769-74.
- 22. Boursnell M. Parents with mental illness: the cycle of intergenerational mental illness. *Children Australia*. 2011;36(1):26-35.
- 23. Shastri PC. Promotion and prevention in child mental health. *Indian Journal of Psychiatry*. 2009;51(2):88-95.
- 24. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*. 2006;3(2):77-101.
- 25. Willis DG, Sullivan-Bolyai S, Knafl K, et al. Distinguishing features and similarities between descriptive phenomenological and qualitative description research. *Western journal of nursing research*. 2016;38(9):1185-204.
- 26. Biegel GM, Brown KW, Shaprio SL, et al. Mindfulness-based stress reduction for the treatment of adolescent psychiatric outpatients: A randomized clinical trial. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*. 2009;77(5):855-66.

- 27. DiClemente CC, Schlundt D, Gemmell L. Readiness and stages of change in addiction treatment. *The American Journal on Addictions*. 2004;13(2):103-19.
- Taniellen T, Jaycox PH, Paddock, SM, et al. Improving treatment seeking among adolescents with depression: understanding readiness for treatment. *Journal of Adolescent Health*. 2009;45(5):490-8.
- 29. Lewis CC, Simons AD, Silva SG, et al. The role of readiness to change in response to treatment of adolescent depression. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*. 2009;77(3):422-8.
- 30. Sather EW, Iversen VC, Svindseth MF, et al. Patient's perspectives on care pathways and informed shared decision making in the transition between psychiatric hospitalization and the community. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice*. 2019;25(6):1131-41.
- 31. Hegedus A, Kozel B, Fankhauser N, et al. Outcomes and feasibility of the short transitional intervention in psychiatry in improving transition from inpatient treatment to the community: A pilot study. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*. 2017;27(2):571-80.
- 32. Gill F, Butler S, Pistrang N. The experience of adolescent inpatient care and the anticipated transition to the community: Young people's perspectives. *Journal of Adolescence*. 2016;46:57-65.
- 33. Martin JK, Pescosolido BA, Olafsdottir S, et al. The construction of fear: Americans' preferences for social resistance from children and adolescents with mental health problems. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*. 2007;48(1):50-67.
- 34. Vijverberg R, Ferdinand R, Beekman A, et al. Factors associated with treatment intensification in child and adolescent psychiatry: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Psychiatry*. 2018;18:291.

- 35. Hudson JL, Rapee RM, Deveney C, et al. Cognitive-behavioural treatment versus an active control for children and adolescents with anxiety disorders: a randomized trial. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*. 2009;48(5):533-44.
- 36. Martinez JI, Lau AS, Chorpita BF, et al. Psychoeducation as a mediator of treatment approach engagement in child psychotherapy for disruptive behavior. J Clin Child & Adol Psychol. 2017;46(4):573-87.
- 37. Bogels SM, Hellemans J, van Deursen S, et al. Mindful parenting in mental health care: effects on parental and child psychopathology, parental stress, parenting, coparenting, and marital functioning. *Mindfulness*. 2013;5(5):536-51.
- 38. Gray AJ. Stigma in psychiatry. Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine. 2002;95(2):72-6.
- 39. Heflinger CA, Hinshaw SP. Stigma in child and adolescent mental health services research: understanding professional and institutional stigmatization of youth with mental health problems and their families. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health*. 2010;37(1):61-70.
- 40. Hasson-Ohayon I, Levy I, Kravetz S, et al. Insight into mental illness, self-stigma, and the family burden of parents of persons with a severe mental illness. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*. 2011;52(1):75-80.
- Deater-Deckard K, Petrill SA. Parent-child dyadic mutuality and child behavior problems: an investigation of gene-environment processes. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*. 2004;45(6):1171-9.
- 42. Gopalan G, Goldstein L, Klingenstein K, et al. (2010). Engaging families into child mental health treatment: updates and special considerations. *Journal of the Canadian Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*. 2010;19(3):182-196.

- 43. Vostanis P, Graves A, Meltzer H, et al. Relationship between parental psychopathology, parenting strategies and child mental health. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*. 2006;41:509-14.
- 44. Cook A, Spinazzola J, Ford J, et al. Complex trauma in children and adolescents. *Psychiatric Annals*. 2005;35:390-8.
- 45. Serim Demirgoren B, Ozbek A, Gencer O. Factors affecting improvement of children and adolescents who were treated in the child and adolescent psychiatry inpatient unit. *The Journal of international medical research*. 2017;45(4):1318-23.
- 46. Copeland WE, Shanahan L, Hinesly J, et al. Association of childhood trauma exposure with adult psychiatric disorders and functional outcomes. *JAMA Netw Open*. 2018;1(7):e184493.
- 47. Schilling EA, Aseltine RH, Gore S. Adverse childhood experiences and mental health in young adults: a longitudinal survey. *BMC public health*. 2007;7:30.
- 48. Cash SJ, Bridge JA. Epidemiology of youth suicide and suicidal behavior. *Current opinion in pediatrics*. 2009;21(5):613-19.
- 49. Rao U, Chen LA. Characteristics, correlates, and outcomes of childhood and adolescent depressive disorders. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*. 2009;11(1):45-62.
- 50. Williams RJ, Chang SY. A comprehensive and comparative review of adolescent substance abuse treatment outcome. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*. 2000;7(2):138-66.
- 51. Shah P, Mountain D. The medical model is dead: long live the medical model. *British Journal of Psychiatry*. 2007;191:135-7.

- 52. Setoya Y, Saito K, Kasahara M, et al. Evaluating outcomes of the child and adolescent psychiatric unit: A prospective study. *International Journal of Mental Health Systems*. 2018;5:7.
- 53. Pumariega AJ. Residential treatment for children and youth: Time for reconsideration and reform. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*. 2007;77(3):343-5.
- 54. Hayes C, Eivors A, Crossley J. 'Living in an alternative reality': adolescents' experiences of psychiatric inpatient care. *Child and Adolescent Mental Health*. 2011;16(3):150-7.
- 55. Millard H, Parke S, Wilson C, et al. Inpatient milieu therapy: considerations for adolescent and transitional age youth. *Adolescent Psychiatry*. 2020;10(1):7-16.
- 56. Barker G. Adolescents, social support and help-seeking behavior: An international literature review and programme consultation with recommendations for action. World Health Organization. 2007.
- 57. Logan DE, King CA. Parental facilitation of adolescent mental health service utilization: A conceptual and empirical review. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*. 2001;8(3):319-33.
- 58. Wolford G, Rosenberg SD, Rosenberg HJ, et al. A clinical trial comparing interviewer and computer-assisted assessment among clients with severe mental illness. *Psychiatric Services*. 2008;59(7):769-75.
- 59. Epstein J, Klinkenberg WD. From Eliza to internet: A brief history of computerized assessment. *Computers in Human Behavior*. 2001;17(3):295-314.
- 60. Guzick AG, Leong AW, Dickonson EM, et al. Brief, parent-led, transdiagnostic cognitivebehavioral therapy for youth with emotional problems related to the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Affective Disorders*. 2022;301(15):130-7.

- 61. Boydell KM, Hodgins M, Pignatiello A, et al. Using technology to deliver mental health services to children and youth: A scoping review. *J Can Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2014;23(2):87-99.
- 62. Geanellos R. The milieu and milieu therapy in adolescent mental health nursing. *International Journal of Psychiatric Nursing Research*. 2000;5(3):638-48.
- 63. American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry. Improving mental health services in primary care: reducing administrative and financial barriers to access and collaboration. *Pediatrics*. 2009;123(4):1248-51.

2.7 Additional Information

2.7.1 Declaration of Interest

The author(s) declare no potential conflicts of interest with respect to research, authorship, or publication of this article.

2.7.2 Funding

This research was funded through a University of Alberta Department of Psychiatry stipend and the University of Alberta's 75th Anniversary Graduate Student Award

2.7.3 Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the staff at the Glenrose Rehabilitation Hospital Youth Psychiatric Inpatient Unit. In particular, Christine Mummery and Beverly Lent for their assistance conducting this research

2.7.4 Author Contributions

All authors made significant intellectual contributions to this manuscript. Research methods and study design were developed by M.R. and M.J. with assistance from A.G. Focus group interviews were conducted by M.R. and M.J. Transcription of interviews was independently completed by M.R. and M.J., and thematic analysis of the findings was done collaboratively. A.G. gave final recommendations on the qualitative findings and manuscript composition.

2.8 Implications of results and rationale for further investigation

For the purposes of this dissertation, the findings of Chapter 2 provide the rationale for subsequent chapters. Based on the recommendations and suggestions noted by caregivers and service providers, the treatment program under consideration will be an episodic and complex multimodal treatment program specifically designed for youth survivors of child sexual abuse—the Be Brave Ranch (BBR). The rationale for selecting this program for the implementation of outcome assessment is as follows:

- 1. Caregivers of the focus groups identified the significant impact of stigma, both for themselves and their children. Some of the effects of stigma can be reduced by replacing the institutional setting of an inpatient hospital unit with a camp-like setting; this may remove the feeling a child or adolescent may have about being "different" or "abnormal" when confined to a hospital setting and alleviate the feelings some patients felt about feeling siloed from the outside world. Second, caregivers of sexually abused children may experience stigma through shame or embarrassment, often dealing with feelings of guilt for not protecting their child from the abuse. Caregivers of sexually abused children may benefit from the interaction of individuals who have had similar experiences, and the knowledge that they are not alone in the challenges they have endured.
- 2. Participants discussed the benefits of intensive inpatient treatment and the structure it provides for patients. Intensive treatment allows for more complex forms of therapy to be conducted and helps sustain positive outcomes. For the caregivers, intensive treatment provides a respite from their child while giving them with the assurance that their child is in a safe place. The Be Brave Ranch consists of four intensive treatment rounds spaced out over the course of one year. The episodic structure of the program provides the benefit of intensive treatment without the necessity for an extended length of stay.
- 3. Service providers noted the importance of the therapeutic milieu in determining treatment outcomes. The Be Brave Ranch controls for the milieu in a number of ways. First, there are two programs separated by age—a child program for kids aged 8-12 and an adolescent

program for teens aged 13-17. Cohorts are limited to groups of 4-7 individuals to promote group cohesion and are controlled for gender. The treatment program is multimodal in design which further enhances the therapeutic milieu by employing a variety of treatment options (e.g., cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT), yoga therapy, mindfulness training, eye movement desensitization and reprocessing (EMDR), recreational/play therapy, animal-assisted therapy, etc.). Perhaps most significantly, every participant in the program has experienced early-life trauma in the form of child sexual abuse. The common ACE shared by these participants allows therapists to focus on trauma-informed practice and tailor treatment to the specific adverse childhood experiences of this population.

Investigating treatment impacts on a population with early-life trauma is particularly important considering the strong link between adverse childhood experiences and early-onset mental illness. In order to elucidate a better picture of the population under investigation, Chapter 3 explores the level of early-life adversity for children and adolescents admitted into this program, as well as for their caregivers. Chapters 4-6 investigate treatment success using a variety of standardized outcome assessment tools.

Chapter 3: Rates of adverse child experiences (ACEs) in youth survivors of child sexual abuse (CSA) and their biological caregivers

Authors: Matthew Reeson, BSc¹, Wanda Polzin, MA, RCSW, EdD², Hannah Pazderka, PhD¹,

Vincent Agyapong, MSc, FAPA, MD (research) PhD, FRCPC¹, Andrew J. Greenshaw, PhD,

FRSA¹, Gary Hnatko, MD, FRCPC³, Yifeng Wei, MA, PhD¹, Laurie Syzmanski², Peter H.

Silverstone, MB BS, MD, FRCPC^{1*}

¹Department of Psychiatry, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada

²Little Warriors Be Brave Ranch, Edmonton Alberta

³CASA Child and Adolescent Mental Health, Edmonton, Canada

This manuscript has been submitted to a peer-reviewed journal

3.1 Abstract

Background: It is well recognized that Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) and developmental trauma are associated with poorer long-term mental health outcomes. Child Sexual Abuse (CSA) is a frequent ACE, which requires specific trauma-focused therapies to help treat impacted individuals. Current evidence suggests that even those with extensive negative experiences can be helped by a variety of interventions such as improving relational caregiving, while poor caregiving may exacerbate subsequent problems. Therefore, it is reasonable that caregivers who themselves have high ACE scores may adversely affect the development of their affected children.

Study Objective: The present analysis examines the relationship between biological caregivers of CSA survivors and their children, in terms of history of ACEs. Secondarily, we aim to determine whether this population (both caregivers and children) are more likely to have higher ACE scores than the standard population. Finally, we wanted to examine carefully the level and distribution of ACE scores for youth CSA survivors.

Materials and Methods: Children and adolescent CSA survivors aged 8-17 who were enrolled into a multimodal treatment program for their abuse completed the 18-item Center for Youth Wellness ACE questionnaire (CYW ACE-Q). One biological caregiver of each child was asked to complete the original 10-item ACE questionnaire (ACE-Q). Scores were statistically compared to determine if caregiver ACE score was associated with their child's ACE score. Secondarily, the distribution of scores were compared to the 2013 Alberta ACE survey to determine if this population statistically differed from the Alberta reported average.

Results: A moderate correlation was found between caregiver and child ACE scores (r[90] = 0.44, p < 0.0001). Compared to the standard population, ACE scores were significantly higher in both CSA survivors and their caregivers (Median ACE score for CSA participants was 6, caregivers 5.5, and for the Alberta survey sample 1). Statistical differences were found between both the CSA survivor group and the Alberta sample (p < 0.0001), and the caregiver group and the Alberta sample

(p<0.0001). We also found that a high proportion of caregivers had themselves been victims of CSA.

Conclusions: ACE scores in both the young survivors of CSA as well as their biological parents are much higher than what is commonly seen in a normal population. These results support the need for trauma-informed approaches when working with sexual abuse survivors, as individuals have most likely experienced many other kinds of trauma beyond that abuse. They also underscore the importance of considering family systems, parental histories, in addition to the trauma narrative of the child who is in a treatment program. The findings of this study suggest that a family-centered, trauma-informed care approach should be considered, rather than just programming for the impacted child. This would require changes in both policy and practice when dealing with developmental trauma such as sexual abuse.

Keywords: Adverse childhood experiences; child sexual abuse; children's mental health; adolescent mental health; developmental trauma; mental health treatment; policy

3.2 Introduction

Brain development is a process that begins shortly after conception and continues into early adulthood¹. Toxic stress—when a child experiences strong, frequent, and/or prolonged adversity without adequate adult support—can impair brain development and increase the risk for stress-related disease and cognitive impairment^{2,3}. Research on the biology of stress has identified that early lifetime adversity can impair a developing brain and its architecture^{4,5}.

Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) are defined as traumatizing events that occur before the age of 18. ACEs are generally assessed using the ACE questionnaire (ACE-Q), which measures an individual's exposure to toxic stress experiences from birth to 18 years of age. ACEs have been consistently associated with a variety of negative psychiatric outcomes, including early onset mental illness and cognitive deficits⁶⁻⁸. The seminal ACE Study⁹ examined the connection between early-life adversity and long-term health outcomes in 18,000 adults and showed that a higher level of exposure to early life stress had a clear, dose-response relationship to an individual's likelihood of developing physical, behavioral, and social problems in adulthood, as well as a higher likelihood of future victimization. Subsequent studies have shown that higher ACE scores are associated with a variety of mental health issues, including depression, anxiety, substance abuse, suicidal ideation, and addiction¹⁰⁻¹³, and can also impact parent-child relationships and healthy attachments¹⁴⁻¹⁶.

Child Sexual Abuse (CSA) is a common ACE, and studies from the United States suggest approximately 8% of men and 16% of women have experienced at least one incident^{17,18}. Rates of CSA in Canada are comparable, with an estimated 10% for males and 20% for females^{19,20}. However, considering a significant number of CSA incidents go unreported to the proper authorities, these estimates undoubtedly understate the severity of the problem²¹. Of further consequence, there is evidence suggesting that there are particularly sensitive periods in childhood in which the deleterious effects of CSA can be amplified^{22,23}. Fortunately, research on resilience has shown that providing stable, responsive, nurturing relationships in the earliest years of life can prevent or even reverse the damaging effects of early life stress, with lifelong benefits for learning, behavior, and health²⁴⁻²⁶.

Recent developments have begun to shed some light on the biological mechanisms involved in mediating traumatic experiences via physiological changes, some of which may involve epigenetic inheritance. It has been well established that the effects of early-life stress on one individual can be passed down to subsequent generations²⁷⁻²⁹. In Canada, this is of particular significance to Indigenous populations. Bombay et al.³⁰ found greater depressive symptoms in the offspring of individuals who had attended the Indian Residential Schools. Further research in these populations has shown this is particularly true children whose parents have elevated incidences of alcoholism, suicide, and early death³¹. Recent research has suggested that the effects of childhood trauma may be transmitted to subsequent generations; in fact, a caregiver's own unresolved trauma increases the risk that their child(ren) may be exposed to adverse events²⁷. Thus, using epigenetic markers, Yehuda et al.³² found an increase in methylation in the functional region of the FKBP5 gene in the children of Holocaust survivors. The FKBP5 gene plays an important role in the regulation of the Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal (HPA) axis—a key pathway in stress regulation—and can be effectively disrupted through epigenetic modifications, such as methylation. Similarly, Yang and co-workers found altered methylation patterns at numerous sites for a group of maltreated children who were removed from their parents, compared to a group of age-matched controls³³. Additionally, aside from genetic factors, caregivers may also transmit their unresolved trauma histories to their children via behavioural means, such as increased anxiety, unwillingness to allow developmentally appropriate behaviours such as exploration, and overreaction to hearing about their child's negative experiences. For these reasons, a better understanding of the transgenerational effects of ACEs on mental health may help to develop preventative measures and alleviate these widespread problems

By comparing ACE data from both CSA victims and their biological caregivers, it may be possible to gain a greater understanding of these relationships as well as determine best practices relating to generational trauma(s). Data was collected at the Be Brave Ranch (BBR), a treatment facility designed to treat youth CSA survivors^{34,35}. As part of their regular intake activities, the BBR routinely evaluates the role of multi-generational ACE scores. Using data collected at this facility it is possible to compare ACE scores from both the patient and caregiver groups.

3.2.1 Study Objectives

The aim of this study was to determine if there is an association between the ACE scores of child sexual abuse (CSA) survivors and those of their biological caregivers. Secondarily, we aimed to assess whether CSA survivors and their biological caregivers reported more significant ACE histories as compared to the general population.

3.3 Materials and Methods

3.3.1 Study Design

Here we present results from a cross-sectional analysis involving secondary use of de-identified data collected during routine admission to the Be Brave Ranch (BBR) program. Ethics approval was obtained from the University of Alberta for this secondary use of the data (HREB ID Pro00089614).

The treatment program was carried out in an independent episodic trauma-focused facility specifically designed to treat child and youth CSA survivors aged 8-17. Upon admission into the program, participants and caregivers are routinely administered a number of questionnaires which are used to guide individual treatment, and to evaluate the efficacy of the program. To measure history of early-life trauma, caregivers are administered the ACE Questionnaire (ACE-Q), a 10-question self-report survey designed to measure an individual's history of early-life adversity. Additionally, caregivers of children under the age of 13 were asked to complete the ACE questionnaire on behalf of their child. Each question is a yes/no variable that asks about the individual's history of abuse, neglect, and household dysfunction. For the youth CSA survivors participating in the program, ACE history was measured using the Center for Youth Wellness ACE-Questionnaire (CYW ACE-Q). The CYW ACE-Q is not considered a validated diagnostic tool; however, it has been shown to be an effective tool for measuring exposure to adversity in adolescents³⁶. The CYW ACE-Q is an 18-question survey that asks binary "yes/no" questions pertaining to a variety of common adverse events experienced by youth, including the standard 10

ACE items. Scores with an answer of "yes" are given 1 point and the total is summed. As such, higher scores indicate more ACEs experienced by the individual. A CYW ACE-Q score of >4 combined with symptomatology is generally considered an indicator for treatment referral³⁷. Moreover, previous research has suggested that ACE scores are dependable, showing good to excellent test-retest reliability over time³⁸.

3.3.2 Statistical Analysis

Regression analysis was used to compare child and caregiver ACE scores. A correlation coefficient of r > 0.5 was considered strong, 0.3 < r < 0.5 moderate, and r < 0.3 weak³⁹. To compare the distribution of ACE scores in our population against a comparison group, the 2013 Alberta ACE Survey⁴⁰ was used as a comparison group. This survey, conducted by the Alberta Centre for Child, Family and Community Research, issued telephone interviews to 1200 Albertan adults in order to collect a sample estimate of the prevalence of ACEs in the Albertan population. From the 1169 respondents who completed the full survey, over a quarter (27.2%) reported at least 1 ACE. To our knowledge, no Canadian data regarding the prevalence of ACEs in youth, as measured by the CYW ACE-Q, currently exists, so a comparison of score distributions with this group was not possible. However, because the section 1 of the CYW ACE-Q is the same as the original ACE questionnaire, the frequency of section 1 score distribution was plotted and compared against the same sample. Non-parametric Mann-Whitney U tests were conducted to test for statistically significant differences between youth, caregivers, and the Alberta sample. Statistical significance was considered at p<0.05.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Demographics

Demographic information for the CSA treatment participants and their caregivers is summarized in Table 1. Ninety child-caregiver pairs were available for analysis. The average age of the CSA survivors was 12.4 ± 7.4 years with an age range of 8-17; for the caregivers, the average age at

baseline was 39.0 ± 9.0 years with an age range of 27-62. Seventy-four (82.2%) of the youth CSA survivors were female, while 16 (17.8%) were male¹. The caregivers consisted of 78 biological mothers (86.7%) and 12 biological fathers (13.3%). Twenty-nine (32.2%) of the participants and 26 (28.9%) of the caregivers identified as an Indigenous Canadian. Of the CSA survivors, 58.9% (53) had been previously treated for a mental illness, and 43 (47.8%) had been pharmacologically medicated for their mental illness; for the caregivers, 61.1% (55) had been previously treated for mental illness and 35 (38.9%) had been pharmacologically medicated. Nearly half (41.1%) of the caregivers reported an average family income of under \$30 000/year, and only 14 (15.5%) reported an annual income over \$100 000.

Insert Table 1 here

3.4.2 Nature of the CSA

As part of the intake surveys, caregivers are asked a few questions about their child's sexual abuse. Of the 90 CSA survivors treated in the program, 74 (82.2%) had been sexually abused on multiple occasions. The reported mean age at first traumatic incident was 6.6 ± 3.1 years old. The vast majority of survivors (94.4%) knew their offender prior to the abuse. Sixty-three (70.0%) of abusers were adults, 22 (24.4%) were adolescents, and 5 (5.6%) of offenders were other children.

3.4.3 Distribution of ACE Scores

The distribution of traumatic early-life events experienced by participants and caregivers is summarized in Table 2. As was expected, all youth participants reported having been a victim of sexual abuse; 60% of caregivers reported being sexually abused prior to the age of 18. Outside of sexual abuse, the most common ACE for the CSA participants were experiencing harassment or bullying at school (n=77, 85.6%), living with a mentally ill household member (n=75, 83.3%), being victims of verbal abuse (n=65, 72.2%), and having parents who are separated or divorced

¹ Because the adolescent program is limited to females for safety reasons, our data necessarily oversamples females

(n=62, 68.9%). For the caregivers, the most commonly reported ACEs were having parents who are separated or divorced (n=70, 77.8%), being a victim of verbal abuse (n=64, 71.1%), living with a mentally ill household member (n=52, 57.8%), and living with a household member with a substance use disorder (n=48, 53.3%).

Insert Table 2 here

3.4.4 Caregiver ACE Score and Age versus Child ACE Score

Linear regression analysis was used to compare child and caregiver ACE scores. Figure 1 shows the linear regression of child versus caregiver ACE score. This analysis found a statistically significant correlation coefficient of r(90) = 0.44, (p < 0.0001). Hence, this data supports the possibility that there is likely to be a moderate correlation between ACE scores of children with CSA and their biological parents.

Insert Figure 1 here

3.4.5 Proportion Analyses

Figure 2 shows box and whisker plots of ACE scores for youth CSA survivors, their biological caregivers, as well as those of the 2013 Alberta ACE survey reference group. As was expected none of the children reported a score of 0, while only one caregiver reported experiencing no ACEs. The median ACE score for the CSA participants on section 1 of the CYW ACE-Q was 6, and a score of 8 was the most frequent reported in the child group with 22 children (24.4%) reporting 8 ACEs. The median caregiver ACE score was 5.5, with a score of 6 (17.8%) being the most common number of ACEs reported. By contrast, in the 2013 Alberta survey, the median ACE score was 1, with 87.9% of participants reporting a score of 3 or lower. Mann Whitney U tests confirmed statistically significant differences between the CSA participant ACE scores and the

Alberta sample (p<0.001), as well as between the caregivers and the Alberta sample (p<0.001). The difference between the child and caregiver samples was not statistically significant (p=0.071).

Insert Figure 2 here

3.4.6 Principal Component Analysis (PCA)

To further examine the pattern of ACE scores in the patients, a Principal Components Analysis, using Varimax rotation, was performed (Table 3). Varimax rotation maximizes the variance shared among items by increasing the squared correlation of items related to a given factor, while at the same time decreasing correlations to other factors; thus, the loadings are assumed to be orthogonal.

Analysis was limited to the 10 original ACE questionnaire items, less the sexual abuse question which was de facto experienced by everyone in our sample. Three factors were suggested using the Kaiser rule (i.e., with eigenvalues > 1.0). We observed the component loading pattern presented in Table 3. Upon examination, the three factors translated roughly as: *Neglect*, characterized by not having food in the house, a parent who had been incarcerated and/or substance abusing, and verbal abuse; *Domestic Violence*, characterized by physical abuse and/or the witnessing of abuse and feeling unloved; and *Lack of Family Cohesion*, which was marked by a history of divorce or mental illness in the home. Taken together, these three factors explain 53.98% of the variance in the data. Note, however, that the accompanying interpretations for the factors are based upon subjective understanding and could reasonably be interpreted in other ways. These components are illustrated graphically by a biplot of the data, shown in Figure 3.

Insert Table 3 and Figure 3 here

3.5 Discussion

The results from the present analysis support our hypothesis that there would be a statistically significant correlation between child sexual abuse (CSA) survivor ACE scores and those of their biological caregivers. We believe the observed correlation emphasize the need for further research regarding the reasons for this possible link. Further to this, we found that the number of ACEs reported by both caregivers and their children were significantly higher than the surveyed general population. These findings indicate that the risk for ACE may be higher in children whose parents have a significant history of early-life trauma. Specifically, the high prevalence of these ACE in this population supports the notion that CSA survivors are 2-3 times more likely to experience all other ACE as compared to those with no history of CSA⁴¹.

3.5.1 Distribution of ACE Scores and Implications

Current research on the prevalence of ACEs has shown that individual's whose immediate family members have had early-life trauma are more likely to face childhood adversity themselves⁴². When comparing both the child and caregiver ACE score distributions to the standard population, we found significantly higher overall scores for both the victims of CSA and their caregivers. Because all of the children admitted to the program have been victims of sexual abuse, and because sexual abuse is one of the ACEs included in the ACE-Q, *a priori* none of them could have a CYW ACE-Q score of zero. An unexpected finding from our analysis was the high proportion of caregivers who had themselves been victims of CSA. Furthermore, only one parent reported an ACE of 0, and the median was over 5. Similarly, the children/youth in the program exhibited ACE scores over 6. In other words, both the caregivers and the patients themselves showed scores several times higher than the comparison population of other Albertans, a finding that was quite remarkable in and of itself. A similar recent study of over 200,000 Americans found a mean ACE score of 1.56, further supporting the observed disparity⁴³. This highlights the way in which ACEs can disproportionately impact certain populations by making subsequent generations more vulnerable to other ACEs.

These findings emphasize that trauma-informed education for both CSA victims and their caregivers could be a useful addition to trauma-focused family systems intervention and care.

Support for caregivers is important to help them learn to be self-reflective, attachment based, and trauma-informed in their parenting styles, so that intergenerational trauma cycles are not unintentionally passed from caregiver(s) to child(ren). Further, mental health supports should be considered within the context of the family system whenever early childhood trauma and early childhood sexual abuse is identified⁴⁴. This is in contrast to current practice which treats child and parent (or caregiver) separately, usually without support for the family as a whole⁴⁵.

3.5.2 Findings of the Principal Component Analysis

The Principal Component Analysis (PCA) conducted in this study revealed three factors associated with a history of CSA: *neglect, domestic violence*, and *lack of family cohesion*. Neglect—which included having endured long periods without food or shelter, having a family member who was incarcerated, and having a family member with a substance use disorder—accounted for the highest explained variance (21%) in the youth surveyed, which may suggest that neglect is a greater risk factor for CSA than other ACE factors. In some sense, this interpretation is reasonable because children who are left to care for themselves may be more likely to encounter difficult situations which they are unsure of how to handle. These findings also call into question the tendency to lump abuse and neglect together, which remains common practice despite evidence suggesting the experiences are very different and result in distinct consequences. As Golden et al (2003) notes, "Most think about abuse and neglect as if they go together. They are linked in our language and legislation as well as in our minds"⁴⁶. Neglect involves a situation in which there is a failure to meet the emotional, physical, and health needs of the child rather than overt acts of violence, making it materially different from abuse.

Interestingly, having a family member with a substance use disorder was strongly associated with both the *neglect* and *lack of family cohesion* components. Substance use disorders may manifest differently depending on the individual and substance(s) being used, and this may explain why this ACE loaded so strongly on two separate components. Although there is some evidence for an increased risk of CSA in children of parents with alcoholism, the relationship is complicated by the identity of the offender—be it the substance abusing parent or someone else⁴⁷. However,

children whose parents have a lifetime diagnosis of a substance use disorder are more likely to suffer more severe neglect⁴⁸, which as mentioned above may also increase their vulnerability to sexual abuse due to parent absenteeism. Furthermore, children of substance abusive parents with high ACE scores are more likely themselves to suffer from a number of ACEs, highlighting the transgenerational and cyclical transmission of early-life stress and mental illness¹³.

The PCA revealed an association between CSA and physical abuse, witnessing household abuse, feeling unloved (*domestic violence* component), and with living with a mentally ill household member, and having divorced or separated parents (*lack of family cohesion* component)—although these were relatively weaker than the neglect component, each accounting for just over 16% of the variance. Differentiating early-life traumatic experiences by subtype may be useful in assisting health professionals to determine which psychopathologies an individual is most susceptible to, based on their trauma history⁴⁹. Understanding patterns of ACE scores likely to be seen in CSA survivors may also offer fruitful suggestions for treatment approaches.

3.5.3 Implications for policy and program development

Trauma-informed developmental care within children's mental health and treatment programming has been defined as best practice^{50,51}. This includes, but is not limited to, recognizing consideration of the child's *developmental* age versus *chronological* age, identifying and addressing trauma in its earliest stages wherever possible, and addressing care plans and service delivery based upon mindful reflection of how trauma impacts people's lives, their family system, as well as their unique service needs⁵². These findings emphasize that it may be more appropriate to incorporate dyadic and/or family systems therapy into standard treatment for children with developmental trauma disorder, with a particular eye to potential shared trauma histories. It has become evident that family-centered, trauma-informed approaches with the child as well as their caregiver(s) is necessary and invaluable⁵³. As there is a complex interplay between the trauma narratives of both the child and caregiver, how those narratives affect their present can impact their response to therapy. For example, the trauma history of the parent or caregiver may interfere with a child's treatment, via emotional and behavioral strategies that reflect issues with the adults' coping *with*

their own trauma rather than the current functioning of the child. This family-centered approach necessitates involving a key caregiver in the treatment, recognizing the crucial role of the caregiver in helping to provide a safe environment for the child, and giving them the tools to resolve their own issues. This approach may also delve into the caregiver's history and *their* need for clinical interventions and supports, something which our current healthcare structure does not advocate. In so doing, we recognize the patient as the *family unit* versus any one individual. Therefore, treatment best practice potentially should be delivered by an integrated team who have a broad understanding of how to help both the child victim and their caregiver and/or family.

In this context, the ACE-Q and the CYW ACE-Q are valuable tools for assisting the clinical team in identifying the past narrative context, and how those narratives may influence the present story for both the caregiver and child. Trauma-informed family care and intervention supports the belief that traumatic experiences are relatively common, and that people and families often encounter numerous adverse experiences throughout their lifetime. This assertion is further supported by the growing literature noting the association of parental ACEs as a risk factor for trans-generational childhood adversity²⁹. Interestingly, maternal trauma history accounts for up to one-third of the variance in predicting child maltreatment and may therefore be a better predictor of child ACE scores⁴¹. In working with mental health and addictions therapists, children and families can present with a complex range of symptoms which have not previously been connected with their trauma history⁵⁴. By identifying the ACE scores of both child and caregiver, trauma-informed intervention and treatment can engage with a family-focused approach. Understanding ACE history may enhance caregiver empathy towards their child as they reflect on their own experiences and develop a better connection to their child⁵⁵. Effective programs to support caregiver relationships are key to the successful emotional, social, and cognitive development of children⁵³. The results from the present analysis, therefore, demonstrate that the ACE score of adult caregivers may provide helpful information for families and clinicians.

3.5.4 Limitations & Future Directions

There were a few limitations that need to be kept in mind in interpreting our findings. Firstly, there was no direct control group to compare to those in the program or their caregivers. Specifically, it would have been helpful to have data from a non-CSA population, gathered at the same time and using the same methods, to compare directly against. Secondly, ACE scores for caregivers encompass the first 18-years of their lives; as the children in the program had an average age of 12, their scores may not adequately represent a complete ACE history - which makes their elevated scores that much more remarkable. Thirdly, females were overrepresented in our sample, which limits the comparability of the data to the comparison group of Alberta adults, in which there was a nearly even split between genders. Finally, some methodological quirks of the Alberta survey also complicate the comparison. Namely, their team made changes to some items, such as asking about chronic illness rather than physical and emotional neglect; nor did they ask about incarceration. These changes limit the generalizability and comparability of those data to this and other ACE studies. It is also possible that their results reflect an underrepresentation of the true ACE scores of the Alberta population.

This discussion demonstrates the need to look beyond treating child developmental trauma in isolation. Contemporary research on trauma-informed care and leading clinical practices encourages an approach to treat the family system as a whole. There continues to be a significant need to look at risk factors for ACEs in an attempt to mitigate their prevalence. Future research should support identifying resiliency factors alongside the collection of ACE scores. At the same time, improving policy-makers' understanding of the significance of ACEs is imperative to improving awareness and driving effective research. Finally, when working in the area of developmental and generational trauma, encouraging therapists to work from a trauma-informed, family-centered lens is essential.

Future articles should directly examine whether the unresolved parental/caregiver trauma can interfere with the treatment goals of the child, thereby altering the trajectory of healing. Evidence informed outcomes should be measured for child, dyad, family, and funding allocations based on a positive outcomes approach, instead of the current situation where funding is allocated solely based upon the number of individuals treated. By collecting both child and caregiver ACEs, early

targeted interventions for children at a high risk for toxic stress, adversity, and disrupted attachments, can be developed.

3.5.5 Conclusion

The key finding from the present analysis is that biological caregivers for victims of childhood sexual abuse (CSA) may themselves have experienced multiple types of trauma in their own childhoods, including CSA. From this standpoint, it is important to recognize that adverse childhood experiences, as they relate to an individual child, cannot be understood in isolation. The interplay between the child, their caregiver(s), and the combined history of adverse events, invokes a necessary conversation for healing and treating developmental trauma. In clinical practice, some protective factors for supporting children and adolescents with their developmental trauma comes within the context of treating the entire family; understanding this highlights the importance of factors that predict resilience.

In many jurisdictions, including Alberta, the mental healthcare system is separate for children and for adults, with little to no integration of the parent-child dyad. Specialized services (such as the Be Brave Ranch) tend to focus on one population (children) due to funding limitations and implications. Yet high correlations in intrafamilial ACEs demonstrate the transmission of trauma and adversity. These results support clinical observations suggesting that there is a relationship between trauma experienced by the parent (and/or caregiver) and that of the child. Our conclusion from this analysis is that the *status quo* in treating childhood developmental trauma needs to shift towards a seamless family system approach. It is believed that this integrated approach would better address the longer-term term negative mental health and addictions symptoms that are tightly associated with childhood abuse.

3.6 References

- Spenrath MA, Clarke ME, Kutcher S. The science of brain and biological development: implications for mental health research, practice, and policy. *J Can Acad Child Adoles Psychaitry*. 2011;20(4): 298-304.
- van der Kolk BA. Developmental trauma disorder: towards a rational diagnosis for chronically traumatized children. *Prax. Kinderpsychol. Kinderpsychiatr.* 2009;58(8):572-86.
- Heim C, Binder EB. Current research trends in early life stress and depression: review of human studies on sensitive periods, gene-environment interactions, and epigenetics. *Experimental Neurology*. 2012;233:102-11.
- 4. Danese A, Caspi A, Williams B, et al. Biological embedding of stress through inflammation processes in childhood. *Molecular Psychiatry*. 2014;16(3):244-6.
- 5. Baker LM, Williams LM, Korgaonkar MS, et al. Impacts of early vs. late childhood early life stress on brain morphometrics, *Brain Imaging and Behavior*. 2012;7:196-203.
- 6. Lee V, Hoaken PNS. Cognition, emotion, and neurobiological development: mediating the relation between maltreatment and aggression. *Childhood Maltreatment*. 2007;12:281-98
- 7. Fergusson DM, Boden JM, Horwood LJ. Exposure to childhood sexual and physical abuse and adjustment in early adulthood. *Child Abuse & Neglect*. 2008;32:607-19.
- Scury K, Kolasssa IT. Biological memory of childhood maltreatment: current knowledge and recommendations for future research. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*. 2012;1262: 93-100.

- Felitti VJ, Anda RF, Nordenberg D, et al. Relationship of Childhood Abuse and Household Dysfunction to Many of the Leading Causes of Death in Adults: The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) Study. *American Journal of Preventative Medicine*. 1998;14(4):245-58.
- Dube SR, Anda RF, Felitti VJ, et al. Childhood abuse, household dysfunction, and the risk of attempted suicide throughout the life span: findings from the Adverse Childhood Experiences Study. *JAMA*. 2001;286(24):3089-96.
- 11. Chapman DP, Whitfield CL, Felitti VJ, et al. Adverse childhood experiences and the risk of depressive disorders in adulthood. *J Affect Disord*. 2004;82(2):217-25.
- Brodsky BS, Stanley B. Adverse childhood experiences and suicidal behavior. *Psychiatric Clinics of North America*. 2008;31(2):223-35.
- 13. Anda RF, Whitfield CL, Felitti VJ, et al. Adverse childhood experiences, alcoholic parents, and later risk of alcoholism and depression. *Psychiatr Serv.* 2002;53(8):1001–9.
- 14. Shonkoff JP, Fisher PA. Rethinking evidence-based practice and two-generation programs to create the future of early childhood policy. *Dev Psychopathol.* 2013;25:1635-53.
- 15. Shonkoff JP, Garner AS, Committee on Psychosocial Aspects of Child and Family Health, et al. The lifelong effects of early childhood adversity and toxic stress. *Pediatrics* 2012;129:e232–46.
- 16. Ludy-Dobson CR, Perry BD. The role of healthy relational interactions in buffering the impact of childhood trauma. In E. Gil (Ed.), Working with children to heal interpersonal trauma (pp 26-44). New York: Guilford Press. 2010.

- 17. Chiu GR, Luftey KE, Litman HJ, et al. Prevalence and overlap of childhood and adult physical, sexual, and emotional abuse: a descriptive analysis of results from the Boston Area Community Health (BACH) survey. *Violence Vict.* 2013;28:381-402.
- Barth J, Bermetz L, Heim E, et al. The current prevalence of child sexual abuse worldwide: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Public Health*. 2013;58(3):469-83.
- MacMillan HL, Tanaka M, Duku E, et al. Child physical and sexual abuse in a community sample of young adults: results from the Ontario Child Health Study. *Child Abuse & Neglect.* 2013;37(1):14-21.
- Stoltenbourg M, van Ijzendoorn MH, Euser EM, et al. A global perspective on child sexual abuse: meta-analysis of prevalence around the world. *Child Maltreatment* 2011;16(2):79-101.
- 21. Martin EK, Silverstone PH. How much Child Sexual Abuse is "below the surface", and can we help adults identify it early? *Frontiers in Psychiatry: Child and Neurodevelopmental Psychiatry*. 2013;4:58.
- 22. Pereda N, Guilera G, Forns M, et al. The international epidemiology of child sexual abuse: a continuation of Finkelhor (1994). *Child Abuse & Neglect*. 2009;33:331-42.
- 23. Andersen SL, Tomada A, Vincow ES, et al. Preliminary evidence for sensitive periods in the effect of childhood sexual abuse on regional brain development. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci.* 2008;20(3): 292-301.
- 24. Collishaw S, Pickles A, Messer J, et al. Resilience to adult psychopathology following childhood maltreatment: evidence from a community sample. *Child Abuse and Neglect*. 2007;31(3): 211-29

- 25. Luby JL, Belden AC, Spitznagel E. Risk factors for preschool depression: the mediating role of early stressful life events. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*. 2006;47(12):1292-8.
- 26. Affifi TO, MacMillan HL. Resilience following child maltreatment: a review of protective factors. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*. 2011;56(5):266-72
- 27. Lev-Wiesel R. Intergenerational transmission of trauma across three generations: A preliminary study. *Qualitative Social Work*. 2007;6(1):75-94.
- 28. Martos SN, Tang WY, Wang Z. Elusive inheritance: Transgenerational effects and epigenetic inheritance in human environmental disease. *Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology*. 2015;118(1):44-54.
- 29. Jones CW, Esteves KC, Gray SAO, et al. The transgenerational transmission of maternal adverse childhood experiences (ACEs): Insights from placental aging and infant autonomic nervous system reactivity. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. 2019;106:20-7.
- 30. Bombay A, Matheson K, Anisman H. The impact of stressors on second generation Indian residential school survivors. *Transcultural Psychiatry*. 2011;48:367-391.
- 31. Nelson SE, Wilson K. The mental health of Indigenous peoples in Canada: A critical review of research. *Social Science & Medicine*. 2017;176:93-112.
- 32. Yehuda R, Daskalakis NP, Bierer LM, et al. Holocaust exposure induced intergenerational effects on FKBP5 methylation. *Biological Psychiatry*. 2015;80(5):372-80.
- Yang B-Z, Zhang H, Ge W, et al. Child abuse and epigenetic mechanisms of disease risk. *Am J Prev Med.* 2013;44(2):101–107.

- 34. Reeson M, Polzin W, Pazderka H, et al. A novel 2-week intensive multimodal treatment program for child sexual abuse (CSA) survivors is associated with mental health benefits for females aged 13-16. *J Can Acad Child Adoles Psychiatry*. 2020;29(3):165-76.
- 35. Silverstone PH, Greenspan F, Silverstone M, et al. A complex multimodal 4-week residential treatment program significantly reduces PTSD symptoms in child sexual abuse victims. *Journal of Child and Adolescent Behaviour*. 2016;4(1):doi:10.4172/2375-4494.1000275.
- 36. Lee D, Jerman P, Purewal-Boparai SK, et al. Review of tools for measuring exposure toa diversity in children and adolescents. *J Ped Health Care* 2018;32(6):564-83.
- 37. Harris NB, Renschler T. Center for Youth Wellness ACE-Questionnaire (CYW ACE-Q child, teen, teen SR) 7th ed. Center for Youth Wellness, San Francisco, CA. 2015.
- 38. Dube SR, Williamson DF, Thompson T, et al. Assessing the reliability of retrospective reports of adverse childhood experiences among adult HMO members attending a primary care clinic. *Child Abuse Negl.* 2004;28:729–737.
- 39. Akoglu H. User's guide to correlation coefficients. Turk J Emerg Med. 2018;18(3):91-3.
- 40. McDonald S, Tough S. *The Alberta Center for Child, Family and Community Research.* The Alberta Adverse Childhood Experiences Study. 2013.
- Dong M, Anda RF, Dube SR, et al. The relationship of exposure to childhood sexual abuse to other forms of abuse, neglect, and household dysfunction during childhood. *Child Abuse* & Neglect. 2003;6:625-39.
- 42. Randell KA, O'Malley D, Dowd DM. Association of parental adverse childhood experiences and current child adversity. *JAMA Pediatr*. 2015;169(8):786-7.
- 43. Giano Z, Wheeler DL, Hubach RD. The frequencies and disparities of adverse childhood experiences in the U.S. *BMC Public Health*. 2020;20:1327.
- 44. Narayan AJ, Lieberman AF, Masten AS. Intergenerational transmission and prevention of adverse childhood experiences (ACEs). *Clinical Psychology Review*. 2021;85:101997.
- 45. Tavkar P, Hansen DJ. Interventions for families victimized by child sexual abuse: clinical issues and approaches for child advocacy center-based services. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*. 2011;18(3):188-99.
- 46. Golden MH, Samuels MP, Southall DP. How to distinguish between neglect and deprivational abuse. *Arch Dis Child*. 2003;88:105-107.
- 47. Widom CS, Hiller-Sturmhofel S. Alcohol abuse as a risk factor for and consequence of child abuse. *Alcohol Res Health*. 2001;25(1):52-7.
- 48. Kirisci L, Dunn MG, Mezzich AC, et al. Impact of parental substance use disorder and clinical neglect severity on substance use involvement in male offspring. *Prevention Science*. 2001;2:241-55.
- 49. Carr CP, Martin CMS, Stingel AM, et al. The role of early life stress in adult psychiatric disorders: a systematic review according to childhood trauma subtypes. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*. 2013;201(12):1007-20.
- 50. Bremness A, Polzin W. Trauma-informed care. *J Can Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry* 2014;23(2):86.
- 51. Bremness A, Polzin W. Commentary: Developmental Trauma Disorder: A Missed Opportunity in DSM V. *J Can Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry* 2014;23(2):142–145.

- 52. Ashton CK, O'Brien-Langer A, Silverstone PH. The CASA Trauma and Attachment Group (TAG) program for children who have attachment issues following early developmental trauma. *J Can Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2016;25(1):35–42.
- 53. Kerig PK, Alexander JF. Family matters: Integrating trauma treatment into functional family therapy for traumatized delinquent youth. *Journal of Child & Adolescent Trauma* 2012;5:205-23.
- Zelochoski AD, Sharma R, Besserra K, et al. Traumatized youth in residential treatment settings: prevalence, clinical presentation, treatment, and policy implications. *J Fam Viol*. 2013;28:639-52.
- 55. Garon-bissonnette J, Duguay G, Lemieux R, et al. Maternal childhood abuse and neglect predicts offspring development in early childhood: The roles of reflective functioning and child sex. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 2021;105030.

3.7 Additional Information

3.7.1 Declaration of Interest

The author(s) declare no potential conflicts of interest with respect to research, authorship, or publication of this article.

3.7.2 Funding

Funding for this analysis was provided by Little Warriors via an unrestricted educational grant to the University of Alberta. MR funding was provided through a Mitacs Accelerate award.

3.7.3 Acknowledgments

We wish to acknowledge the extensive support from an independent charity, Little Warriors (http://littlewarriors.ca), that designed and organizes the Be Brave Ranch facility among its various activities. We were grateful for the provision of an anonymized database, which allowed examination of the data described within this publication.

3.7.4 Author Contributions

Research questions, study design and manuscript construction was primarily the work of MR and HP with significant intellectual input from PS, WP, and AG. Data were collected by MR and analyzed statistically by MR and HP. Consultation and expertise were provided by VA, YW, GH, and LS. All authors contributed to the editorial process and approved the final version of this manuscript.

3.8 Tables

3.8.1 TABLE 1. Baseline participant demographics for primary caregivers and for youth child sexual abuse survivors receiving multimodal treatment for their trauma.

		Caregivers (n=90)	Children & Adolescents (n=90)
Mean Age (SD)		39.0 (9.0)	12.4 (7.4)
Sex (%)			
	Female	78 (86.7%)	74 (82.2%)
	Male	12 (13.3%)	16 (17.8%)
Identify as Indigenous (%)		26 (28.9%)	29 (32.2%)
Previously treated for mental illness		55 (61.1%)	53 (58.9%)
Previously medicated for mental illness		35 (38.9%)	43 (47.8%)
Annual I	ncome		
	Under \$30K	37 (41.1%)	
	\$30-50K	18 (20.0%)	
	\$50-100K	21 (23.3%)	
	\$100-250K	13 (14.4%)	
	Over 250 K	1 (1.1%)	

3.8.2 TABLE 2. Distribution of ACE Scores

ACE Question	Youth (n=90)	Caregivers (n=90)
Parents divorced or separated	62 (68.9%)	70 (77.8%)
Household member incarcerated	29 (32.2%)	26 (28.9%)
Mentally ill household member	67 (74.4%)	52 (57.8%)
Witness household verbal or physical abuse	43 (47.8%)	29 (32.2%)
Victim of verbal abuse	65 (72.2%)	64 (71.1%)
Victim of sexual abuse	90 (100.0%)	54 (60.0%)
Lived without food, clothing, or homeless more	20 (22.2%)	27 (30.0%)
than once		
Victim of physical abuse	47 (52.2%)	52 (57.8%)
Household member substance abuse	53 (58.9%)	48 (53.3%)
Felt unsupported or unloved	44 (48.9%)	52 (57.8%)
Been in foster care	13 (14.4%)	
Have experienced harassment of bullying	75 (83.3%)	
Have lived with a parent or guardian who died	14 (15.6%)	
Experienced abuse from a romantic partner	15 (16.7%)	
Had a serious medical procedure of life threatening	32 (35.6%)	
illness		
Have seen or heard violence in the neighbourhood	18 (20.0%)	
Have been detained, arrested, or incarcerated	30 (33.3%)	

Have been abused based on ethnicity, sexual	28 (20.0%)	
orientation, or religion		

Footnote: Percentages indicate the number of participants who answered "yes" to each of ACE on the CYW ACE-Q for youth child sexual abuse survivors undergoing multimodal treatment for their sexual abuse. Number of caregivers who responded "yes" to each ACE on the original ACE questionnaire are also included

3.8.3 TABLE 3. Results of Principal Component Analysis

Component 1:		Component 2:		Component 3:		
"Neglect"		"Domestic Violence"		"Lack of Family Cohesion"		
Variable	Loading	Variable	Loading Variable		Loading	
No food	.758	Witness_abuse	729	Mentally_ill	.777	
Incarceration	.675	Victim_physical	.636	Divorce	.548	
Substance_abuse	.580	Felt_unloved	.537	Substance_abuse	.417	
Victim_verbal	.502	Victim_verbal	.383	Victim_physical	.390	
Felt_unloved	.425	Divorce	251	Victim_verbal	.359	
Witness_abuse	.233	Substance_abuse	.158	No food	203	
Victim_physical	.187	Mentally_ill	.157	Witness_abuse	.199	
Mentally_ill	.036	Incarceration	147	Incarceration	.093	
Divorce	020	No food	.106	Felt_unloved	060	
Eigenvalue:	2.439		1.263	L	1.157	
Variance explained (%):	21.017		16.834		16.128	
Accumulated variance (%):	21.017		37.860		53.988	

3.9 Figures





Footnote: The regression has a correlation coefficient of r = 0.44 (p < 0.0001), which is considered a moderate correlation.

3.9.2 FIGURE 2. Distribution of ACE questionnaire scores for three groups: (1) Youth CSA survivors undergoing multimodal treatment for their sexual abuse; (2) Biological caregivers of the youth undergoing treatment; (3) Results from the 2013 Alberta ACE survey including 1700 respondents.



Footnote: ***p<0.0001

3.9.3 FIGURE 3. Principal Component Analysis biplot of ACE scores among child and adolescent survivors of Child Sexual Abuse



Component Plot in Rotated Space

Chapter 4: Cognitive improvements in child sexual abuse survivors aged 8-12 following a complex multimodal treatment program

Authors: Matthew Reeson, BSc¹, Wanda Polzin, MA, RCSW, EdD², Hannah Pazderka, PhD¹,

Vincent Agyapong, MSc, FAPA, MD (research) PhD, FRCPC¹, Andrew J. Greenshaw, PhD,

FRSA¹, Gary Hnatko, MD, FRCPC³, Yifeng Wei, MA, PhD¹, Laurie Syzmanski², Peter H.

Silverstone, MB BS, MD, FRCPC 1*

¹Department of Psychiatry, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada

²Little Warriors Be Brave Ranch, Edmonton Alberta

³CASA Child Treatment facility, Edmonton, Canada

This manuscript has been submitted to a peer-reviewed journal

4.1 Abstract

Background: It is well recognized that child sexual abuse (CSA) occurs frequently, with the vast majority of cases never being reported. The impact of such abuse has previously been shown to have both psychological and cognitive impacts that can be long-lasting. However, there is little research regarding any potential improvement in cognitive abilities following treatment.

Study Objective: The aim of this study was to examine cognitive functioning over the course of treatment for CSA survivors undergoing a multimodal treatment program for their abuse.

Methods: Children aged 8-12 underwent multiple intensive interventions located at a dedicated facility (the Be Brave Ranch) during a 12-month period. We examined cognitive changes during this program, as measured by MyCognition Quotient (MyCQ), an online cognitive assessment tool. Cognition was measured in five domains: attention, episodic memory, executive function, working memory, and processing speed. Changes in cognitive performance were analyzed to determine whether statistically significant improvement occurred.

Results: Fifty-four children completed cognitive assessments at both timepoints. The mean baseline MyCQ score was below the age-group standard, but not significantly (48.6th percentile, p=0.36). Over the course of treatment, statistically significant improvements in mean cognitive scores occurred for executive function (13.8% improvement, p<0.001), attention (13.5%, p=0.009), working memory (7.3%, p=0.02), as well as the overall cognitive score (9.1%, p=0.005). Episodic memory was the only cognitive domain that decreased over the course of treatment, but this result was not statistically significant (-3.5%, p=0.47).

Conclusion: The present results show that cognitive abilities of CSA survivors may improve with multimodal treatment. In general, these improvements mirror the degree of overall clinical improvement. This research adds to the evidence demonstrating that cognitive changes occur following CSA and is among the first to demonstrate possible reversion of such changes in CSA victims following treatment. It also demonstrates that MyCQ is potentially a useful tool to track such changes.

Key words: Cognition; Children; Sexual Abuse; Rating; Treatment; Attention; Memory; Executive Function; Processing Speed

4.2 Introduction

Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) encompass a number of potentially traumatic events commonly experienced prior to the age of 18^{1,2}. ACEs have been persistently associated with a variety of negative psychiatric outcomes, including early onset mental illness and cognitive deficits³⁻⁶. Child Sexual Abuse (CSA) is a common ACE with approximately 17% of women and 8% of men experiencing at least one incident of sexual abuse prior to adulthood^{7,8}. In Canada, the prevalence of CSA has been estimated at 15.2% for females and 4.8% for males^{9,10}; however, rates of disclosure to authorities vary between populations, and it is suggested that many incidents go unreported¹¹, despite recent evidence has shown that disclosure rates are increasing¹². CSA is associated with a multitude of long-term negative outcomes, including increased risk for posttraumatic stress disorder (PSTD), mood disorders, substance abuse, self-harm, suicidal ideation and suicide, risky sexual behavior, as well as cognitive and processing deficits¹³⁻¹⁶.

To date, limited research examining the effect of ACEs on cognitive impairment has been conducted. Preliminary studies have observed reduced verbal comprehension, executive function, and lower IQs in abused and neglected children¹⁷⁻¹⁹, and there is some evidence that ACEs negatively impact late-life cognition²⁰, but further investigation is required. To our knowledge, no study has specifically focused on cognitive impairment in youth CSA survivors. However, some studies examining the link between PTSD and cognitive functioning in children have suggested that PTSD could be a risk factor for cognitive impairment^{21,22}. With roughly half of CSA survivors meeting the criteria for a PTSD diagnosis, it is reasonable to assert that this population is at high risk for cognitive impairment²³. Considering the brain is most malleable in early childhood²⁷, it is imperative that a thorough understanding of the cognitive risk factors involved in CSA be firmly understood. By developing a more comprehensive grasp on the cognitive domains most affected by CSA, better early-intervention and preventative strategies can be developed¹³.

Treatment options for CSA survivors are numerous, but there is currently no agreed upon evidence-based best-practice treatment regimen for this population. A review of cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) interventions for CSA survivors found trauma-focused CBT to be the most effective treatment for CSA survivors²⁴, but research comparing treatment modalities, as well

as those that investigate the impact of combination therapy (e.g., CBT + family therapy) is lacking²⁵. Current research aimed at determining the most effective range of approaches to help youth with mental health issues, often following a range of traumatic events, has shown that more intensive multi-modal programs may be the most effective in treating trauma-induced mental illness²⁶.

4.2.1 Study Objectives

The aim of this study was to assess the impact of a multimodal treatment program on cognitive performance. We hypothesize that, over the course of a 12-month complex, episodic, and multimodal treatment program, participants will show improved performance in each cognitive domain measured. Secondly, given the association between PSTD, CSA, and cognitive impairment, we hypothesized that the mean cognitive performance for these participants would be lower than age standard performance at baseline.

4.3 Materials and Methods

4.3.1 Ethics and recruitment

This study was conducted as part of an ongoing novel treatment program carried out at an independent facility described below. Researchers carried out an independent secondary analysis of data collected as standard practice by this organization. Data was anonymized by a third party and sent to researchers for analysis. This study was approved by the University of Alberta Human Research Ethics Committee (Ethics review number: Pro:00089614).

4.3.2 Study Design

4.3.2.1 Assessment Tool

To assess cognitive performance, participants used an interactive cognitive assessment app known as MyCognition Quotient (MyCQ)—which has been shown to have high correlation with other, more intensive, computer based cognitive testing programs²⁸. This app examines cognitive functioning in five different domains: attention, episodic memory, executive function, processing speed, working memory, and also produces an overall cognitive score combining all five domains. The program is comprised of the most validated psychometric tests used in neuropsychological research and has been validated by comparison to the commonly used Cambridge Neuropsychological Automated Test Battery (CANTAB). It is considered a cost-efficient and easily administrable tool that is appropriate for a variety psychiatric populations²⁸.

Each individual assessment produces a score based on the MyCQ algorithm that incorporates accuracy and latency to derive the value. Scores represent percentile performance an individual as compared to their age group. These age standard scores are derived from a comprehensive database including data from more than 17,000 individuals who have been involved in standardized assessments previously. The scores follow a normal distribution curve and are therefore non-linear. For example, a MyCQ score of 50.00 would indicate average performance (or 50th percentile) for that individual for their age. Participants were evaluated in each domain at initial admission into the treatment program and at "graduation" (final discharge) at 12-months.

4.3.2.2 Participants

Each participant attended a residential treatment facility known as the Little Warriors Be Brave Ranch (BBR). Participants were referred to the program and then screened for acceptable inclusion. Inclusion criteria for the program included: children aged 8-12 with a known and disclosed history of at least one incident of CSA; psychologically-minded/able to benefit from therapy; IQ > 80 as determined by previous assessments; medically stable and compliant with medications; family/caregiver is identified and involved; completion of a readiness assessment.

Baseline scores were collected for each individual based on their first successful completion of the assessment. Of the 76 children enrolled in the study, 62 (81.6%) completed at least a baseline assessment, while 54 (71.5%) completed more both assessments and the treatment program.

Reasons for missing baseline assessment were a combination of technical errors and incomplete assessments, while removal or dropout from the program accounts for those who completed only a baseline assessment.

4.3.2.3 Program Design

The BBR is a complex, multimodal, and episodic treatment program specifically designed for youth CSA survivors. The program consists of four treatment rounds spanning over the course of 12-months. The initial treatment round is a 4-week stay at the ranch, followed by three 12-day stays at 3-months, 6-months, and 12-months after initial admission. The ranch is located in a semi-rural area in Alberta, Canada and includes a number of communal lodges designed to accommodate the children and give the ranch a "camp-like" feel. The ranch contains a number of advanced security features designed to provide safety for the children; this includes a security-guarded gate, a secured fence, and a confidential location. The facility has been specifically designed to exceed the required safety and regulatory guidelines and is assessed regularly by the proper authorities.

During their stay at the ranch, each child is administered a daily comprehensive schedule that primarily revolves around trauma-focused Cognitive Behavioral Therapy (tf-CBT). Daily and weekly meetings with therapists and staff ensured that there was consistency in treatment. The tf-CBT program involved the following components: (1) skill-building phase that aimed at improving behavioural, affective, biological, and cognitive self-regulation; (2) careful and gradual exposure to the child's trauma in a safe and controlled setting; (3) cognitive processing of the child's personal traumatic incident as achieved through the development of a trauma narrative; (4) combined child-caregiver sessions and safety planning to develop treatment closure. This approach has been shown to have lasting positive effects for CSA victims²⁹.

The children were also scheduled for a number of recreational activities that were designed to make the program more enjoyable and not solely therapeutic. These activities included: arts and crafts, structured play, animal therapy, cognitive-training, musical activities, yoga and meditation, and physical exercise. Each activity was properly supervised and carried out under strict

guidelines. Roughly 6 hours each day were allocated to structured activities, with the remainder of the day being reserved for free time and meals. Each child also spent approximately 2 hours each week working on Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing (EMDR), which is an empirically validated treatment for adverse childhood experiences and trauma³⁰. As such, this program is considered a complex, episodic, and multimodal intervention focused around the tf-CBT.

4.3.2.4 Statistical Analysis

In order to compare the baseline assessment scores against the age standard performance, twotailed independent *t*-tests were carried out for the overall score as well as each of the five cognitive domains. To compare the change in the mean scores for each domain over the course of treatment, paired sample, two-tailed t-tests were carried out. Statistical significance was considered at p<0.05.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Baseline Cognitive Performance

Table 1 shows the mean baseline scores for each domain. At baseline, the mean overall MyCQ score was 48.6 ± 11.5 , 1.4 percentiles below the age group standard (*p*=0.36). The highest mean MyCQ score was observed in working memory (61.3 ± 14.3 , p <0.001), while the lowest mean MyCQ score was in processing speed (41.8 ± 14.1 , p <0.001). At baseline, mean scores for attention (44.5 ± 14.9 , p<0.008), executive function (44.3 ± 13.2 , p<0.002), and overall cognition were below age-standard performance.

Insert Table 1 here

4.4.2 Change in Cognitive Performance Over Treatment

MyCQ scores at baseline and graduation are summarized in Table 2 and Figure 1. In total, four of the five cognitive domains showed improvement in mean MyCQ scores at graduation as compared to baseline, including the overall MyCQ score. The greatest improvement occurred in executive function, increasing 6.1 percentiles and 13.8% from baseline (p<0.001). Statistically significant improvements also occurred in attention (13.5%, p=0.009), working memory (7.3%, p=0.021), and the overall combined score (9.1%, p=0.005). Episodic memory was the only domain in which the mean MyCQ score was reduced, decreasing 1.9 percentiles and 3.5% from baseline, but this result was not statistically significant (p=0.47).

Insert Table 2 and Figure 1

Figure 2 shows the number of children who were at or above their age standard performance (≥ 50.0) at baseline and at final discharge for each domain. Episodic memory was the only domain that saw a reduction in the number of children at or above the age standard, with 6 fewer children scoring 50.0 or above. All other domains saw an increase in the number of children scoring at or above the average for their age. Executive function and attention had the largest improvements, with 11 and 10 more children scoring at or above average, respectively.

Insert Figure 2 here

4.5 Discussion

4.5.1 Main Findings

The findings of this study provide preliminary evidence for our hypothesis that a multimodal treatment program designed for youth CSA survivors may enhance cognitive performance. This was supported by our findings, with statistically significant improvements being found in attention, executive function, and working memory, as well as in the overall assessment score. Secondarily, we predicted that children with a history of sexual abuse would have lower baseline cognitive performance assessments than the age standard population. Mean scores in attention, processing

speed, and executive function were lower at baseline as compared to the age-group standard, which may suggest that this population is at a higher risk for cognitive impairment; however, the results are inconclusive as to whether overall cognition was below average in this sample.

Current research suggests that early-life trauma, particularly when it leads to posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), is a strong predictor of cognitive impairment^{19,21,22,31}. This may be due to the impacts of early-life stress, which has been found to induce structural and functional changes to areas of the brain essential for complex cognitive processes and higher order emotional control^{32,33}. Children with histories of maltreatment have also been shown to have altered epigenetic profiles in genes responsible for stress regulation, and this impact has been shown to be intergenerational³⁴. Treatment aimed at improving stress regulation through trauma-focused CBT may have the capacity to improve access to higher-level functioning. A recent study conducted by Garrett et al. (2021)³⁵ found improved structural changes in brain regions associated with executive functioning in youth undergoing trauma-focused CBT for their PTSD. Considering this, it is reasonable to assert the complex multimodal treatment program is partly responsible for the observed improvements in cognitive performance.

Interestingly, both episodic and working memory scores were above average at both timepoints. Working memory scores were particularly high, ranking in the 61st percentile at baseline and the 66th percentile at graduation. Victims of trauma are often hypervigilant in the presence of a perceived threat³⁶. By design, working memory is meant to be short-lived and acute, responding to immediate stimuli in the environment. The hypervigilance associated with PTSD and early-life trauma may explain the notably higher scores in this cognitive domain. However, a study conducted by Dodaj et al. (2017)³⁷ noted that survivors of childhood maltreatment were more likely to have reduced working memory capacity in adulthood as compared to non-abused individuals, which conflicts with our findings. Episodic memory was the only domain that showed a reduction in cognitive performance with treatment, but this reduction was relatively small and not statistically significant. For many survivors, memories of traumatic events tend to be repressed over time, which would indicate a reduction in episodic memory³⁸. However, fMRI studies have noted elevated hippocampal activity in individuals with histories of trauma who often re-experience their trauma³⁹. Re-experiencing traumatic events in a controlled manner, a hallmark of

trauma-focused CBT, may induce a reduction of neural activity in these overstimulated brain regions, effectively dampening episodic memory performance⁴⁰. Furthermore, individuals with PTSD are particularly susceptible to deficits in episodic memory⁴¹, often experiencing spouts of vivid memory, usually activated by trauma-related stimuli⁴². Thus, this reduction of episodic memory could conceivably also represent a positive outcome of the treatment program.

Given that cognitive deficits are common in CSA victims, it is essential that a useable tool be established in order to properly measure changes in cognitive functioning. From our experience, despite the young age and traumatic histories of the study participants, the children did not appear to have difficulties completing assessments. MyCQ appears to be specifically useful in that performance can be differentiated into individual domains of cognitive performance. However, a useability analysis was not conducted as part of this study; future research should investigate the acceptability of MyCQ in youth residential mental health treatment programs.

4.5.2 Limitations & Future Research

There are a number of limitations to this study that should be noted. First, this study was a retrospective analysis of data collected by a not-for-profit treatment program in which there was no specific control group. However, a utility of the MyCQ app is that scores indicate percentile rank compared to age standard performance; this was considered a the best available substitute for a comparison group. Second, as demographic information was not collected by the program, participants were not controlled for gender, ethnicity, or useful environmental factors such as caregiver involvement and home environment. Without this information, more rigorous statistical analysis could not be carried out. Fourth, because the treatment program was a complex multimodal intervention, it is difficult to determine whether one particular intervention or therapy was responsible for the improvements seen in cognitive performance, or if improvements were a result of the hospitable and safe environment inherent to the treatment program. Additionally, it would have been useful to have measured cognition at each treatment round to get a better indication of cognitive changes over the course of treatment, or follow-up information to determine whether cognitive improvements held following the end of the treatment program.

Finally, considering a number of studies have suggested that a PTSD diagnosis is a better predictor of cognitive deficits than having a history of trauma²¹, it may be useful to compare cognitive performance in CSA victims with and without a diagnosis of PTSD.

4.5.3 Conclusions

The findings of this study suggest that a multimodal treatment program specifically aimed at treating CSA survivors may improve cognitive performance in this population. Despite their traumatic histories, participants in this study were able to collectively score at or above their age group in most cognitive domains by the end of treatment. Considering victims of early-life trauma are more likely to experience cognitive impairment, it is essential for treatment programs aimed at treating this population to incorporate measures of cognitive performance into standard practice. In doing so, the impact of early-life trauma on cognition, and the ways in which these impacts can be prevented and treated, will become clearer.

4.6 References

- 1. Boulier M, Blair M. Adverse childhood experiences. *Pediatrics and Child Health*. 2018;28(3):132-7.
- Herzog JI, Schmahl C. Adverse childhood experiences and the consequences on neurobiological, psychosocial, and somatic conditions across the lifespan. *Front Psychiatry*. 2018;9:420.
- Scury K, Kolasssa IT. Biological memory of childhood maltreatment: current knowledge and recommendations for future research. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*. 2012;1262:93-100.
- 4. Fergusson DM, Boden JM, Horwood LJ. Exposure to childhood sexual and physical abuse and adjustment in early adulthood. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 2008;32:607-19.
- 5. Lee V, Hoaken PNS. Cognition, emotion, and neurobiological development: mediating the relation between maltreatment and aggression. *Childhood Maltreatment*. 2007;12:281-98.
- 6. Putnam FW. Ten-year research update review: child sexual abuse. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*, 2003;3:269-78.
- Chiu GR, Luftey KE, Litman HJ, et al. Prevalence and overlap of childhood and adult physical, sexual, and emotional abuse: a descriptive analysis of results from the Boston Area Community Health (BACH) survey. *Violence and Victims*. 2013;28:381-402.
- 8. Pereda N, Guilera G, Forns M, et al. The prevalence of child sexual abuse in community and student samples: a meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*. 2009;29:328-38.
- MacMillan HL, Tanaka M, Duku E, et al. Child physical and sexual abuse in a community sample of young adults: results from the Ontario Child Health Study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*. 2013;37(1):14-21.

- 10. Stoltenborgh M, van Ijzendoorn MH, Euser EM, et al. A global perspective on child sexual abuse: meta-analysis of prevalence around the world. *Child Maltreatment*. 2011;16(2):79-101.
- 11. Martin EK, Silverstone PH. How much Child Sexual Abuse is "below the surface", and can we help adults identify it early? *Frontiers in Psychiatry: Child and Neurodevelopmental Psychiatry*. 2013;4:58.
- McElvaney R. Disclosure of child sexual abuse: Delays, non-disclosure and partial disclosure. What the research tells us and implications for practice. *Child Abuse Review*. 2013;24(3):159-69.
- 13. Bücker J, Kapczinski F, Post R, et al. Cognitive impairment in school-aged children with early trauma. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*. 2012;53(6):758-64.
- 14. Chen LP, Murad MH, Paras ML, et al. Sexual abuse and lifetime diagnoses of psychiatric disorders: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*. 2010;85(7):618-29.
- 15. Maniglio R. The impact of child sexual abuse on health: a systematic review of reviews. *Clinic Psychol Rev.* 2009;29:647-57.
- Robert R, O'Connor T, Dunn J, et al. The effects of child sexual abuse in later family life; mental health, parenting and adjustment of offspring. *Child Abuse & Neglect*. 2004;28(5): 525-45.
- 17. Guinosso SA, Johnson SB, Riley AW. Multiple adverse experiences and child cognitive development. *Pediatric Research*. 2016;79:220-6.
- 18. Spratt EG, Friedenberg SL, Swenson CC, et al. The effects of early neglect on cognitive, language, and behavioural function in childhood. *Psychology (Irvine)*. 2012;3(2):175-82.

- Pears K, Fisher PA. Developmental, cognitive, and neuropsychological functioning in preschool-aged foster children: associations with prior maltreatment and placement history. *Dev Behav Pediatr.* 2005;26:112-22.
- Patel P, Oremus M. The association between adverse childhood experiences and late-life cognition: A systematic review of cross-sectional and case-control studies. *The Gerontologist*. 2022;gnac041.
- Burri A, Maercker A, Krammer S, et al. Childhood trauma and PTSD symptoms increase the risk of cognitive impairment in a sample of former indentured laborers in old age. *PLoS ONE*. 2013;8(2):e57826.
- 22. Quereshi SU, Long ME, Bradshaw MR, et al. Does PTSD impair cognition beyond the effect of trauma? *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci.*, 2011;23(1):16-28.
- 23. Gospodarevskaya E. Post-traumatic stress disorder and quality of life in sexually abused Australian children. *J Child Sex Abuse*. 2013;22:277-96.
- Macdonald G, Higgins JP, Ramchandani P, et al. Cognitive-behavioural interventions for children who have been sexually abused. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. 2012;16(5):CD001930.
- 25. Fraser JG, Lloyd S, Murphy R, et al. A comparative effectiveness review of parenting and trauma-focused interventions for children exposed to maltreatment. *J Dev Behav Pediatr*. 2013;34(5):353-68.
- 26. Silverstone PH, Greenspan F, Silverstone M. A complex multimodal 4-week residential treatment program significantly reduces PTSD symptoms in child sexual abuse victims. *J Child and Adoles Behav.* 2016;4:275.

- 27. Spenrath MA, Clarke ME, Kutcher S. The science of brain and biological development: implications for mental health research, practice, and policy. *J Can Acad Child Adoles Psychaitry*. 2011;20(4): 298-304.
- 28. Domen AC, van de Weijer SCF, Jaspers MW, et al. The validation of a new online cognitive assessment tool: The MyCognition Quotient. *International Journal of Methods in Psychiatric Research*. 2019;28(3):e1775.
- Mannarino AP, Cohen JA, Deblinger E, et al. Trauma-focused cognitive-behavioural therapy for children sustained impact of treatment 6 and 12 months later. *Childhood Maltreatment*. 2012;17:231-41.
- 30. Shapiro F. The role of eye movement desensitization (EMDR) therapy in medicine: addressing the psychological and physical symptoms stemming from adverse life experiences. *Perm J*. 2014;18(1):71-7.
- 31. Majer M, Nater UM, Lin JM, et al. Association of childhood trauma with cognitive function in healthy adults: a pilot study. *BMC Neurology*. 2010;10:61.
- Lupien SJ, Juster RP, Raymond C, et al. The effects of chronic stress on the human brain: From neurotoxicity, to vulnerability, to opportunity. *Front Neuroendocrinology*. 2018;49(91):91-105.
- 33. Pechtel P, Pizzagalli DA. Effects of early life stress on cognitive and affective function: an integrated review of human literature. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*. 2011;214(1):55-70.
- 34. Ramo-Fernandez L, Boeck C, Koenig AM, et al. The effects of childhood maltreatment on epigenetic regulation of stress-response associated genes: an intergenerational approach. *Scientific Reports*. 2019;9:983.

- 35. Garrett AS, Abazid L, Cohen JA, et al. Changes in brain volume associated with traumafocused cognitive behavioural therapy among youth with posttraumatic stress disorder. J Trauma Stress. 2011;34(4):744-56.
- 36. Perry, BD. Effects of traumatic events on children: an introduction. *The Child Trauma Academy*. 2003. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.fa-sett.no/filer/perry-handout-effects-of-trauma.pdf</u>
- 37. Dodaj A, Krajina M, Sesar K. The effects of maltreatment in childhood on working memory capacity in adulthood. *Eur J Psychol.* 2017;13(4):618-32.
- 38. Goodman GS, Ghetti S, Jodi A, et al. A prospective study of memory for child sexual abuse: new findings relevant to the repressed-memory controversy. *Psychological Science*. 2003;14(2):113-18.
- 39. Stevens JS, Reddy R, Kim YJ, et al. Episodic memory after trauma exposure: medial temporal lobe function is positively related to re-experiencing and inversely related to negative affect symptoms. *Neuroimage Clin.* 2018;17:650-58.
- 40. Brewin CR. Episodic memory, perceptual memory, and their interaction: Foundations for a theory of posttraumatic stress disorder. *Psychological Bulletin*. 2014;140(1):69-97.
- 41. Zlomuzica A, Woud LM, Machulska A, et al. Deficits in episodic memory and mental time travel in patients with post-traumatic stress disorder. *Progress in Neuropsycopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry.*, 2018;83:43-54.
- 42. Brewin CR. Re-experiencing traumatic events in PTSD: new avenues in research on intrusive memories and flashbacks. *European J Psychotraumatology*. 2015;6:27180.

4.7 Additional Information

4.7.1 Declaration of Interest

There are no conflicts of interest to disclose. Neither Little Warriors staff or MyCognition staff were involved in the analysis of the data presented in this publication.

4.7.2 Funding

Funding for this analysis was provided by Little Warriors via an unrestricted educational grant to the University of Alberta.

4.7.3 Acknowledgements

We wish to acknowledge the extensive support from an independent charity, Little Warriors (http://littlewarriors.ca), that designed and organizes the Be Brave Ranch facility among its various activities. We were grateful for the provision of an anonymized database, which allowed examination of the data described within this publication. We are also grateful to MyCognition (https://mycognition.com) for providing detailed anonymized data for the analysis used within this publication. Neither Little Warriors staff or MyCognition staff were involved in the analysis of the data presented in this publication.

4.7.4 Author Contribution

Research questions, study design and research methods were developed by MR, HP, WP, and PS, with expertise and consultation provided by AG, VA, GH, YW, and LS. Manuscript was written primarily by MR, with assistance from HP and PS. Data were collected by WP and LS and provided to MR for statistical analysis. All authors contributed to the editorial process and approved the final version of this manuscript.

4.8 Tables

4.8.1 TABLE 1. Baseline MyCQ scores for five different domains of cognitive performance in children admitted into a multimodal treatment program specifically designed for child sexual abuse survivors. Scores represent percentile aged-related performance. Two-tailed independent t-tests assessed statistical significance in the difference from expected performance

Cognitive Domain	μ Baseline (SD)	Percentile difference from age-average	p-value
Overall	48.6 (11.5)	-1.4	0.36
Attention	44.5 (14.9)	-5.5	0.008
Episodic Memory	54.6 (14.6)	4.6	0.02
Executive Function	44.3 (13.2)	-5.7	0.002
Processing Speed	41.8 (14.1)	-8.2	<0.001
Working Memory	61.3 (14.3)	11.3	<0.001

4.8.2 TABLE 2. Cognitive performance scores for five domains of cognition in child sexual abuse survivors (aged 8-12) undergoing a multimodal treatment program for their abuse (n=54). Scores were measured at initial admission (baseline) and final discharge (graduation) at 12-months. Scores are measured by the MyCQ cognitive performance app and represent a percentile of performance for a given age group as compared to a control database (i.e., scores of 50 indicate average performance for a given age group.

Cognitive Domain	μ Baseline (SD)	μ Graduation (SD)	Δ	Δ %	p-value
Overall	48.6 (11.5)	53.0 (11.5)	4.4	9.1%	0.005
Attention	44.5 (14.9)	50.5 (14.6)	6.0	13.5%	0.009
Episodic Memory	54.6 (14.6)	52.7 (18.1)	-1.9	-3.5%	0.47
Executive Function	44.3 (13.2)	50.4 (9.6)	6.1	13.8%	<0.001
Processing Speed	41.8 (14.1)	45.9 (18.0)	4.1	9.6%	0.13
Working Memory	61.3 (14.3)	65.8 (15.0)	4.5	7.3%	0.021

4.9 Figures

4.9.1 FIGURE 1: Percent change in mean cognitive performance scores (as measured by the MyCQ app) for five domains of cognition in child sexual abuse survivors (aged 8-12) undergoing a multimodal treatment program for their abuse (n=54). Scores were measured at initial admission (baseline) and final discharge (graduation) at 12-months.



Footnote: **p* <0.05; ** *p* <0.00; variability indicators represent standard error

4.9.2 FIGURE 2. Number of children at or above the average cognitive performance for their age in five domains of cognition as measured by the MyCQ app (n=54). Number of children at or above this level are noted at initial admission (baseline) and final discharge at 12-months (graduation).



Chapter 5A: A novel 2-week Intensive Multimodal Treatment Program for Child Sexual Abuse (CSA) Survivors is Associated with Mental Health Benefits for Females aged 13-16

Authors: Matthew Reeson BSc¹; Wanda Polzin MA, RSW, EdD²; Hannah Pazderka PhD¹; Vincent Agyapong MSc, FAPA, MD (research) PhD, FRCPC¹; Andrew J. Greenshaw PhD, FRSA¹; Gary Hnatko MD, FRCPC³; Yifeng Wei MA, PhD¹; Laurie Szymanski²; Peter H. Silverstone MB BS, MD, FRCPC¹

¹Department of Psychiatry, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta

²Little Warriors Be Brave Ranch, Edmonton, Alberta

³CASA Child Treatment facility, Edmonton, Alberta

This manuscript has been published:

Reeson M, Polzin W, Pazderka H, Agyapong V, Greenshaw AJ, Hnatko G, Wei Y, Szymanski L, Silverstone PH. (2020). A novel 2-week intensive multimodal treatment program for child sexual abuse (CSA) survivors is associated with mental health benefits for females aged 13-16. *J Can Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*, 29(3): 165-76.

5a.1 Abstract

Study Objective: The aim of this study was to evaluate the psychiatric outcomes for the first cohorts of adolescent female Child Sexual Abuse (CSA) survivors after 2-weeks in an intensive multimodal treatment program designed for this population.

Method: Baseline data was collected at intake and again immediately prior to discharge. Data collected included demographic information, as well as measurement of standardized scales for PTSD, depression, anxiety, quality of life, self-esteem, and resilience. Mean scores at baseline and discharge were statistically analyzed to determine the effect of the treatment program on these measures.

Results: From the first twenty-seven (27) adolescent female CSA survivors, who completed 2weeks of the multimodal treatment program, all three symptomatic scales showed statistically significant improvements from baseline. There were decreases in mean questionnaire scores for Depression (-23.8%, p = 0.001), Anxiety (-20.6%, p = 0.006), and PTSD (-20.3%, p = 0.002), as well as decrease of nearly 50% in the number of participants who were having active suicidal thoughts. In keeping with this, there were also statistically significant improvements in ratings for Quality of Life (17.6%, p = 0.022), Self-Esteem (22.9%, p = 0.010), and Resilience (6.9%, p =0.019).

Conclusion: This study presents preliminary findings from an intensive 2-week multimodal treatment program specifically designed to help survivors of child sexual abuse (CSA). The highly positive short-term findings suggest that further longer-term follow-up in larger groups is appropriate. These preliminary results also support ongoing research for such intensive multimodal programs.

5a.2 Introduction

Child sexual abuse (CSA) is an all too common form of early-life trauma that affects youth across the globe. CSA encompasses a diverse set of sexually-related behaviours, including intercourse, attempted intercourse, oral-genital contact, and exposure to adult sexual activity or pornography¹. It is estimated that 1 in 6 females and 1 in 12 males experience at least one significant incident of sexual abuse prior to adulthood^{2,3}. Young females are particularly susceptible to CSA, with approximately 20% of females in Canada and the United States experiencing some form of sexual abuse before the age of 18-making them more at least twice as likely to experience CSA than males^{4,5}. Individual experiences can vary considerably, and this can manifest into a variety of negative longer-term psychiatric outcomes. Evidence indicates that there are common and persistent mental health consequences related to exposure to CSA, including elevated risk for posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), depression, anxiety, substance abuse, suicidal ideation, eating disorders, sexual dysfunction, and cognitive deficits⁶⁻⁹. The most common outcome for CSA victims is PTSD, with an estimated 36% of children who are exposed to CSA later meeting the criteria for a PTSD diagnosis¹⁰. With growing awareness of the prevalence of CSA, increasingly more adolescents have disclosed their abuse, particularly closer to the time of the incident(s) rather than delaying disclosure¹¹. For these reasons, as well as a possible increase in the incidence of CSA, it has become essential for mental health professionals to develop novel interventions aimed at directly treating the effects of CSA.

At present, there is limited research clarifying the best-practice treatment for CSA survivors—this is particularly true for youth¹². Current literature on treatment options for children subject to maltreatment have shown Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT), in particular Trauma-Focused Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (tf-CBT), to be the most effective in treating victims of CSA^{13,14}. This appears to be particularly true for CBT interventions that involve non-offending caregivers^{15,16}. That being said, comparative literature between treatment options is lacking and requires further research¹³.

One of the primary challenges in developing an effective treatment program is the diversity of circumstances incorporated with the traumatic incident(s). It is important to note that CSA is not

a disorder, it is a specific form of trauma that can manifest into a varied set of negative outcomes¹⁴. The age and sex of the child or adolescent, the frequency or number of incidents, as well as the child's relationship to the perpetrator, are all relevant factors that can influence treatment outcomes¹. Other treatments, including art therapy¹⁷, animal assisted therapy^{18,19}, play therapy²⁰, eye movement desensitization and reprocessing (EMDR)^{21,22}, and group therapy^{23,24}, are also considered viable treatment options. There is some preliminary evidence that incorporating a number of different therapeutic options, centered around tf-CBT, into one comprehensive regimen—an intensive multimodal treatment program—could be beneficial for child CSA victims, especially those with CSA-induced PTSD²⁵. However, there is limited research investigating the effects of an intensive multimodal program for CSA survivors—this is particularly true for adolescent female CSA victims. The implementation of such a program has the capability to induce long-term positive effects across a number of affected mental health domains.

5a.2.1 Study Objective

The current research aims to assess a novel, intensive multimodal treatment program for adolescent female CSA survivors carried out at a dedicated facility, the Be Brave Ranch. By comparing self-report outcome measures over the course of 2-weeks of treatment, we assessed the effect initial treatment had on a variety of mental health domains. In doing so, we hoped to examine evidence for the potential impact of the treatment regimen, which may additionally help with future implementation of similar programs.

5a.3 Materials and Methods

5a.3.1 Study Design

This study was conducted as a part of a novel ongoing treatment program at the Be Brave Ranch, an independent facility described below, which is dedicated to treating child and adolescent CSA victims. Participants were recruited from October 2018-November 2019. As a standard part of the program, each participant completes a number of psychiatric self-report questionnaires aimed at
assessing different psychiatric outcomes. All surveys were administered by staff at the Be Brave Ranch. Surveys were administered at initial admission (baseline) and again immediately prior discharge after 2-weeks in the treatment program. Anonymized data was sent to a third-party server where it was encoded and sent to the researchers for a secondary independent analysis of the collected data. Changes in scores over the course of treatment were determined in order to assess the potential impact of the program.

We performed an independent analysis of the anonymized data. This second-level independent analysis of previously collected data was approved by the University of Alberta Human Research Ethics Committee (Ethics review number: Pro00089614).

5a.3.2 Treatment Program

Each participant attended a residential facility known as the "Be Brave Ranch" (BBR). The Be Brave Ranch is funded through a not-for-profit charitable organization that relies solely on donations. The current adolescent girls program has the capacity to treat up to six individuals per cohort. Each cohort receives 8-weeks of treatment divided into four 2-week visits that occur at baseline, 3-months, 6-months, and 1-year. At present, the Be Brave Ranch's Adolescent Girls Program treats 5-7 cohorts/year, translating into roughly 30-40 individuals per annum. The present report is for the first 2-weeks only, and reports data for all initial cohorts.

Inclusion criteria for the program included:

- individual is biologically female,
- 13-16 years of age (with potential exceptions for mature minors),
- psychologically-minded/able to benefit from therapy,
- IQ >80 as determined by previous assessments,
- medically stable and compliant with medications,
- family/caregiver is identified and involved,

- Caregivers are not directly involved in the treatment process, but caregiver involvement outside of the program is imperative. Furthermore, the adolescent must have disclosed their abuse to at least one caregiver.
- completion of a readiness assessment.

A total of 31 participants were admitted into the program for treatment. Of the 31 participants admitted into the program, four were omitted from the study—three individuals dropped out shortly after admission and therefore had no second data point. There were no significant differences between the baseline data from the drop-out participants and that of those who were included in the study. One participant incompletely answered a number of questions at both timepoints and was excluded for having incomplete information.

5a.3.2.1 Program Design

The intensive multimodal treatment program includes the following therapies:

- 1. Trauma-Focused Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (tf-CBT)
- 2. Group Therapy
- 3. Individual Therapy
- 4. Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing (EMDR)
- 5. Yoga and Meditative Therapy
- 6. Art Therapy
- 7. Music Therapy
- 8. Cultural Activities
- 9. Recreational Therapy
- 10. Animal-Assisted Therapy

Although there is a general schedule for each therapy, the allocation of time differs based on which visit the participants are attending, as well as for each individual participant based on their particular needs.

The program's therapeutic framework is modelled after the Neurosequential Model of Therapeutics (NMT)²⁶. NMT is a therapeutic 'bottom-up' approach that aims at a treating lower brain networks (such as brainstem and limbic circuits) in order to develop structure and stability in these regions. From a neurodevelopmental perspective, it is necessary that these regions properly develop in order to successfully access and treat higher cortical networks. As a result, the first 2-weeks of treatment are heavily focused on therapies that target development of lower level networks. Although tf-CBT is the primary component of the multimodal program, there is less time spent on tf-CBT in the first 2-week treatment period as opposed to the subsequent three 2-week treatment periods. Further to this, the distribution of each therapy is individualized based on each participant's needs; that is, although there is a general framework for each treatment options, therapists have the capacity to individualize intervention schedules based on the participants' needs and level of development.

The full program involves four 2-week intensive therapy periods over a 1 year period. However, in the current publication we examine the initial data available for the first 27 participants from their initial 2-week component only. We intend to analyze longer-term outcomes subsequently.

The BBR is located in a semi-rural area in Alberta, Canada and includes a number of communal lodges designed to accommodate the teens and give the ranch a "camp-like" feel. The BBR contains a number of advanced security features designed to provide safety for the adolescents; this includes a 24-hour security-guarded gate, a secured fence, and a confidential location. The BBR facility has been specifically designed to exceed all required safety and regulatory guidelines, is appropriately licensed, and is assessed regularly by all appropriate authorities.

During their stay at the BBR each teen was administered a daily comprehensive schedule that always included Trauma-Focused Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (tf-CBT). Daily and weekly meeting with therapists and staff ensured that there was consistency in treatment. The tf-CBT program involved the following four components: (1) skill-building phase that aimed at improving behavioural, affective, biological, and cognitive self-regulation; (2) careful and gradual exposure to the child's trauma in a safe and controlled setting; (3) cognitive processing of the child's personal traumatic incident as achieved through the development of a trauma narrative; (4)

combined child-caregiver sessions and safety planning to develop treatment closure²⁵. This approach has previously been shown to have lasting positive effects for CSA victims²⁷.

The teens were also scheduled for a number of recreational activities that were designed to make the program more enjoyable, and to help build camaraderie and trust. These activities included: arts and crafts, structured play, animal therapy, cognitive-training, musical activities, and physical exercise. Each activity was properly supervised and carried out under a detailed plan linking them to therapy goals. Roughly 6 hours each day were allocated to structured activities, with the remainder of the day being reserved for free time and meals. As such, this program is considered an intensive multimodal intervention focused around tf-CBT.

5a.3.3 Data Collection

As part of the treatment program, each participant was asked to fill out a survey at intake (baseline) and upon discharge at the end of the initial 2-week visit. Surveys ask basic demographic and environmental questions, followed by a several clinically validated self-report youth psychiatric outcome measures to measure (1) Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs), (2) Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD), (3) Substance Abuse (4) Depression, (5) Anxiety, (6) Quality of Life, (7) Self-Esteem, and (8) Resilience. Anonymized data was then provided to the research team for evaluation. Questionnaire scores at baseline and discharge were compared to assess whether or not symptom improvement occurred in a variety of psychiatric domains.

5a.3.3.1 Assessment Details

5a.3.3.1.1 Demographics

Participants were asked their age, grade, gender, Indigenous status, and living situation in the first part of the assessment.

Details about the traumatic event, including number of incidents (one or multiple), age at first incident, whether or not the victim knew the offender, and whether the offender was an adult or child/adolescent, was asked of the caregiver(s) of the teen. The teens themselves were also asked the same information only if, after revealing their trauma, they felt believed, supported, and that if their disclosure was acted on properly.

5a.3.3.2.Outcome Measures

5a.3.3.2.1 Adverse Childhood Experiences

History of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) was measured using the Center for Youth Wellness ACE-Questionnaire (CYW ACE-Q)²⁸. The CYW ACE-Q is not considered a validated diagnostic tool; however, it has been shown to be an effective tool for measuring exposure to adversity in adolescents²⁹. The CYW ACE-Q is an 18-question survey that asks binary "yes/no" questions pertaining to a variety of common adverse events experienced by youth, including the standard 10 ACE items. Scores with an answer of "yes" are given 1 point and the total is summed. As such, higher scores indicate more ACEs experienced by the individual. A CYW ACE-Q score of >3 combined with symptomatology is generally considered an indicator for treatment referral²⁹. The CYW ACE-Q was collected only at baseline.

5a.3.3.2.2 PTSD

Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder symptoms were assessed using the Child PTSD Symptom Scale (CPSS), a validated self-report measure for this population^{30,31}. The CPSS contains 17-questions relating to the frequency of each PTSD symptom listed in the *DSM-IV*. Each question contains a Likert-scale ranging from 0 (*not at all*) to 3 (*5 or more times a week*). Potential total scores range from 0-51 and represent the following sub-categories: (0-10) *Below Threshold*, (11-15)

Subclinical/Mild, (16-20) *Mild*, (21-25) *Moderate*, (26-30) *Moderately Severe*, (31-40) *Severe*, and (41-51) *Extremely Severe*, and a score of 15 or higher is considered an appropriate clinical cut-off for diagnosing PTSD. CPSS scores were collected at both baseline and discharge.

5a.3.3.2.3 Substance Abuse

Substance Abuse was measured using the CRAFFT screening tool, named after the 6-questions it asks relating to the individual's history of substance use (Car, Relax, Alone, Forget, Friends, Trouble). The CRAFFT is a validated self-report measure for adolescents³². The CRAFFT consists of three introductory questions relating to alcohol, marijuana, and drug use. If that participant answers "yes" to any of the first three questions, they are asked to continue on to the 6 CRAFFT questions, and a score is recorded based on how many of these are answered as "yes." If the participant answers "no" to all three introductory questions, a score of 0 is recorded. Scores range from 0-6, with a score of 2+ indicating a high risk for substance abuse. For our purposes, two extra questions were added pertaining to the use of smoked and smokeless tobacco products. The CRAFFT was collected only at baseline for this portion of the treatment program.

5a.3.3.2.4 Anxiety

Anxiety symptoms were assessed using the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS), a validated self-report measure for this population³³. The HADS is a 14-question scale relating to both anxiety and depression symptoms. For our study, only the anxiety subscale was included, as a separate questionnaire (described below) was used to measure depression symptoms. Questions were answered on a Likert-scale ranging from 0-3 with the answers changing depending on the question. Scores ranged from 0-21, with higher scores indicating a greater degree of anxiety. Scores of 0-7 are considered *Normal*, 8-10 *Borderline Abnormal*, and >10 *Abnormal*; as such, scores >7 indicate a clinical cut-off for an anxiety disorder diagnosis. HADS scores were collected at both baseline and discharge.

Depression symptoms were assessed using the Patient Health Questionnaire—adolescent version (PHQ-A), a validated self-report measure for this population^{34,35}. The PHQ-A is a 9-question scale that is used to assess the severity and frequency of depressive symptoms for children aged 11-17. Each question is scored on a Likert-scale that ranges from 0 (*not at all*) to 3 (*nearly every day*). Scores range from 0-27, with higher scores indicating a greater degree of depression. Scores are broken down into the following sub-categories: (0-4) *No Symptoms* (5-9) *Mild*, (10-14) *Moderate*, (15-19) *Moderately Severe*, (20-27) *Severe*. A score of 8-11 is considered an appropriate cut-off for a major depressive disorder diagnosis³⁶. PHQ-A scores were collected at both baseline and discharge.

Question 9 on the PHQ-A asks the participant how often, over the last 2-weeks, they have had "thoughts that you would be better off dead or hurting yourself in some way." If the participant answers anything greater than a score of 0 (*not at all*), then they are asked to answer two extra questions pertaining to suicidal ideation and attempt. The number of participants who answered these extra questions was recorded.

5a.3.3.2.6 Quality of Life

Quality of life was measured using the KIDSCREEN-10, a validated self-report measure for this population³⁷. KIDSCREEN-10 consists of 10 questions inquiring about how often the individual has had positive experiences related to a high quality of life. Each question is scored on a Likert scale that ranges from 0 (*not at all/never*) to 4 (*extremely/always*). KIDSCREEN-10 also contains a bonus question which asks: "In general, how would you say your health is?" in which the answers range from 0 (*poor*) to 4 (*excellent*). Scores range from 0-44, with higher scores indicating a better quality of life. KIDSCREEN-10 scores were collected at both baseline and discharge.

5a.3.3.2.7 Self-Esteem

Self-esteem was measured using the Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale (RSES), a validated self-report measure for this population³⁸. The RSES consists of 10 questions that ask the individual how much they agree or disagree with a statement relating to how they view themselves. Each question is scored on a Likert-scale (0-3) that range from *Strongly Agree* to *Strongly Disagree*, depending on the question. Scoring is achieved through summation of results, and can range from 0-30, with higher scores indicating better self-esteem. A score between 15-25 is considered in the normal range, with scores below 15 suggesting low self-esteem. RSES scores were collected at both baseline and discharge.

5a.3.3.2.8 Resilience

Resilience was measured using the Child & Youth Resilience Measure – adolescent version (CYRM-12), a validated self-report measure for this population^{39,40}. The CYRM-12 consists of 12 questions that ask the participant to answer the extent to which they believe the statements describe them. Answers range from 1 (*Not at all*) to 4 (*Quite a bit*), and scores range from 12-48, with higher scores indicating more characteristics associated with resilience. CYRM-12 scores were collected at both baseline and discharge.

5a.3.4 Statistical Analysis

In order to compare mean scores at baseline and discharge, as well as to compare changes in the scores of individual questions, 2-tailed paired *t*-test were carried out. For all statistical tests, a 95% confidence interval was used; that is, p < 0.05 was considered a statistically significant change in survey and question scores. However, to account for type I errors, the Benjamini-Hochberg method was used to correct for false discovery. Only results whose adjusted p-values that remained in the 95% confidence interval after this correction (i.e., p < 0.05) were considered statistically significant. Results show mean \pm standard deviation.

5a.4 Results

5a.4.1 Demographics

Thirty-one (31) females aged 13-16 were admitted into the treatment program (Table 1). The average age at admission was 14.3 ± 0.97 . Ten of the female participants (32.3%) identified as Indigenous Canadian. The majority lived with at least one parent (57.1%), while 6 (28.6%) lived with a non-relative. The vast majority of participants indicated that they felt safe in their home (90.3%), that had their own bedroom (87.1%), spent time with friends outside of school (83.9%), and had an adult they can trust (83.9%). Demographic data for the 27 participants who completed both baseline and discharge surveys is summarized in Table 1.

Insert Table 1 here

5a.4.2 Nature of the Trauma

Table 2 summarizes information regarding the nature of the sexual abuse in this population. The mean age at first offence was 5.9 ± 3.5 years. Twenty-four (88.8%) participants reported multiple incidents of sexual abuse, and 92.6% (25) knew their offender prior to the abuse. Among the 27 participants, 85.2% indicated that their offender was an adult, while 9 (33.3%) reported abuse by another child or adolescent. Twenty-three (85.2%) participants felt supported after they revealed their trauma, while only 18 (66.7%) felt believed and 17 (63.0%) felt that it was acted on properly.

Insert Table 2 here

5a.4.3 Outcome Measures

5a.4.3.1 Adverse Childhood Experiences

The mean CYW ACE-Q score upon admission was 8.9 ± 3.3 , with a range of 3-14 (Table 3). Since a history of CSA is a requisite for admission into the treatment program, 100% of the adolescents answered "yes" to question 6 which pertains to sexual abuse. Outside of CSA, the most frequently reported ACEs were victims of bullying (74.1%), divorced parents (74.1%), household member with mental illness (74.1%), verbal abuse (70.4%), feeling of being unsupported/unloved (66.7%), physical abuse (63.0%), heard or witnessed neighbourhood violence (63.0%), and household substance abuse (63.0%).

5a.4.3.1 Overall Results

Overall, all six questionnaires showed statistically significant "positive" improvements as it relates to the specific domain (**Table 3a/3b & Figure 1**). The PHQ-A showed the largest change in mean scores (Δ % = -23.8%, p = 0.001), while the RSES, HADS, and CPSS all had statistically significant improvements of more than 20%.

Insert Figure 1 and Table 3a/3b here

5a.4.3.2 Substance Abuse

The mean CRAFFT score at baseline was 1.76 ± 2.15 , with 9 (33.3%) participants recording a score of 2 or more. Ten (37.0%) adolescents had previously smoked tobacco, while 22.2% (6) had used smokeless tobacco products.

5a.4.3.3 PTSD

The mean CPSS score at baseline was in the upper *Moderate* sub-category $(29.7 \pm 10.6; 95\%$ CI [25.7, 33.7]) while the mean score at discharge was in the *Mild* sub-category $(23.6 \pm 12.3; 95\%$ CI [18.7, 28.6]). The number of teens who scored at or above the clinical threshold for a PTSD

diagnosis decreased from 25 (92.6%) at baseline to 20 (74.0%) at discharge (Figure 2). Five of the 17 questions (29.4%) showed a statistically significant reduction in PTSD symptoms after 2-weeks. Question 9 and 10 showed the greatest change in score/frequency ($\Delta\% = -36.0\%$, p = 0.007; $\Delta\% = -39.6\%$, p = 0.008, respectively). Question 9 asks how often the participant is "Having much less interest doing things you used to do." Question 10 asks how often the participant is "Not feeling close to the people around you."

5a.4.3.4 Anxiety

The mean HADS score at baseline was in the *Abnormal* sub-category (12.0 ± 4.3; 95% CI [10.3, 13.8]). The mean score at discharge was in the *Borderline Abnormal* sub-category (9.6 ± 4.8; 95% CI [7.6, 11.5]). The number of teens who scored at or above the clinical threshold for an anxiety disorder diagnosis decreased from 22 (81.5%) at baseline to 18 (66.6%) at discharge (Figure 2). Three of the 7 questions (42.9%) showed a statistically significant reduction in anxiety symptoms after 2-weeks. Questions 6 and 7 had the largest change in score (Δ %= -26.0%; *p* = 0.025; Δ % = -26.1%, *p* = 0.021, respectively). Question 6 states "I get sort of frightened feelings as if something awful is about to happen." Question 7 states "I can sit at ease and feel relaxed."

5a.4.3.5 Depression

The mean PHQ-A score at baseline was in the *Moderate* sub-category (15.6 ± 6.6; [13.0, 18.2]) with a range of 1-26; the mean score at discharge was in the *Mild* sub-category (11.9 ± 6.4; [9.3, 14.4]). The number of teens who scored at or above the clinical threshold for a major depressive disorder diagnosis decreased from 21 (87.5%) at baseline to 16 (59.3%) at discharge (Figure 2). Three of the 9 questions (33.3%) showed statistically significant reductions in depression symptoms after 2 weeks. Questions 1 and 4 had the greatest reductions (Δ %= -44.2%; *p* = 0.0006; Δ % = -31.3%, *p* = 0.033, respectively). Question 1 asks the participant how often they're "feeling down, depressed, or irritable"; Question 4 asks how often the participant has experienced "poor appetite, weight loss, or overeating."

Question 9, which asks the participant whether, in the last 2-weeks, they have had "thoughts that you would be better off dead or hurting yourself in some way?" showed a 47.5% decrease in scores (p = 0.001). Since the number of individuals who answered "not at all" to thoughts of suicide on Question 9 increased from 9 (33.3%) to 12 (44.4%), this suggested there was also a meaningful reduction in suicidal thinking (p = 0.04). Similarly, at baseline, 11 (61%) of those who had scored at least 1 on Question 9 had contemplated suicide in the previous month and 77.8% (14) admitted to having attempted suicide at least once in their lifetime. However, by 2-weeks only 40% reported having suicidal ideation (p = 0.01).

Insert Figure 2 here

5a.4.3.6 Quality of Life

The mean KIDSCREEN-10 score at baseline was 19.3 ± 6.7 (95% CI [16.6, 22.0]). The mean score at discharge was 22.7 ± 7.3 (95% CI [19.8, 25.6]). Five of the 11 (45.5%) of the questions showed statistically significant improvements over 2-weeks of treatment. Question 4 showed the largest change ($\Delta\% = 62.5\%$, p = 0.022), which asks the individual "Have you felt lonely?"

5a.4.3.7 Self-Esteem

The mean RSES score at baseline was 10.4 ± 6.0 (95% CI [8.0, 12.7]); the mean score at discharge was 12.7 ± 6.3 (95% CI [10.3, 15.2]). Both means fall within the *Low Self-Esteem* sub-category, but the number of participants who were above the *Normal Self-Esteem* threshold (>15) increased from 6 to 10. Three of the 10 questions (30.0%) showed statistically significant improvements after 2-weeks of treatment (Table 5). Question 1, which states "On the whole I am satisfied with myself" showed the greatest improvement in score ($\Delta\% = 52.2\%$, p = 0.013)

The mean CYRM-12 score at baseline was 29.0 ± 7.5 (95% CI [26.0, 32.0]; the mean score at discharge was 31.2 ± 6.5 (95% CI [28.6, 33.7]). Only Question 2 showed a statistically significant improvement ($\Delta\%$ = 32.6%, *p*= 0.011). Question 2 states "I know where to go in the community to get help."

5a.5 Discussion

Child sexual abuse (CSA) is a form of early-life trauma that can lead to psychiatric impairment across a number of domains^{6,7,41,42}. Young females are particularly susceptible to CSA, with at least 20% of Canadian females experiencing one significant incident of sexual abuse before adulthood^{4,5}. As such, the need for an intensive and multifaceted treatment program, specifically tailored for this population, is essential.

The preliminary findings from this study suggest that 2-weeks of an intensive multimodal treatment program specifically designed for adolescent female CSA survivors can induce positive changes across a variety of mental health domains. The results show that after 2-weeks of the treatment program, there was a noticeable reduction in negative symptoms (PTSD, depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation) and an increase in positive domains (quality of life, self-esteem, resiliency). Further to this, all six outcomes showed statistically significant improvement from initial admission to discharge. While it is premature to draw any conclusions based on this preliminary data, these initial findings support the potential benefit of the regimen in treating this population.

As noted in the methods, the program was designed around the Neurosequential Model of Therapeutics (NMT)²⁶, which identifies the need for lower brain functional and developmental stability in order to make the participant more amenable to higher-level therapy, such as tf-CBT— the primary treatment component of the entire program. The NMT approach assists therapists in determining the vulnerabilities and strengths of the participant which can help to tailor the regimen

to each individual's needs⁴³. It's possible that the combination of this 'bottom-up' approach to treatment with the variability afforded to each individual was primarily responsible for the positive results. However, it is also likely that the stability and structure of the program—coupled with a potential respite from toxic home environment—was the primary cause of the observed changes.

One of the most pertinent reasons why these initial results are so important, however, is our finding that over 40% of our sample had expressed suicidal ideation in the previous month, and nearly 3/4 had actually attempted suicide in their lifetime. Significantly, there was nearly a 50% drop in such suicidal thoughts after the 2-week program. These results support previous findings suggesting that these adolescents are at particularly high risk for self-harm^{44,45}; as such, improvements in the short term may have important prospective safety ramifications.

Secondary to the improvements we witnessed, we postulated that, upon admission, our population would have elevated scores for each outcome measure, as CSA survivors are at a higher risk for mental illness. The mean number of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) reported by this population was nearly triple the recommended indicator for treatment referral²⁹. A majority of the participants had not only experienced CSA but had also been bullied, verbally and physically abused, experienced parental divorce, and lived with a mentally ill family member. At baseline, mean scores for PTSD were in the *Moderately Severe*, scores for anxiety were in the *Abnormal* range, and scores for depression were in *Moderate* range. Significantly, over 80% of our population met the clinical cut-off for comorbid PTSD, anxiety, and depression at intake. Mean self-esteem baseline scores were also considered to be *Low*. This highlights the propensity for CSA survivors to experience a wide-range of negative mental health symptoms that can only be combated by a comprehensive treatment program centered around treating the trauma itself.

5a.5.1 Limitations

There were limitations to this research which may reduce the generalizability of the current preliminary findings. Firstly, and importantly, this was not a controlled study. The program is designed and run by an independent not-for-profit organization and was not designed as a clinical

research study. The lack of a control group precludes definitive determination of the potential effectiveness of the intervention. To address this, future research may include an appropriate control group. Comparing outcomes to waitlist controls or CSA survivors not currently undergoing treatment may improve the validity of these findings. The samples size (n=27) and brief followup period (2-weeks) may also limit the generalizability of the current findings. It is certainly possible that in larger samples different results may have been found, or that over longer-periods any initial changes may revert to the mean. To address this, both larger sample groups and longerterm follow up (for up to 12-months) are planned. In addition, there was no formal independent assessment. With data being collected entirely from self-report questionnaires, it is conceivable that such data may not reflect what would be found in independent interviews conducted by appropriately trained individuals. This may potentially be addressed by conducting detailed interviews with smaller sub-groups to determine how accurate the self-reported data may be. Multiple and different types of interventions were in place in the present program, leading to a further limitation in that any particularly beneficial program elements cannot be pinpointed. It is important to note that individuals were also in a novel and highly supportive location with peers who had experienced similar abuse and it is conceivable that non-specific benefits from these aspects of the program may have contributed to the clinical improvements seen. It is, therefore, not possible-without appropriate controls-to determine what specific aspects of the entire intensive multimodal intervention may have been most determinant of our results. To address this issue, future research is planned that will attempt to identify key components of the overall program. Lastly, it is important to be aware that it is likely that different individuals may have responded to different components of this multimodal program, and future research will be needed to parse out which aspects are most important for the largest number of individuals in an individual patient centered approach.

5a.5.2 Conclusion and Future Research

In conclusion, the current preliminary results indicate that an initial 2-week intensive multimodal treatment program designed for adolescent female CSA survivors may lead to improvement in several different mental health domains, including PTSD, anxiety, depression, and suicidality.

However, given the limitations from these preliminary findings, longer-term controlled studies are recommended before drawing firm conclusions on the longer-term effectiveness and generalizability of any improvements. The intensive nature of the program (four 2-week visits over the course of 1-year) inherently requires thorough assessment of the program's effectiveness in treating this population. Future research should compare the effects of such intensive programs with other, less intensive options such as outpatient tf-CBT or online DBT. Further analysis of the full 1-year program may help with some of these issues, particularly in terms of sustainability of these initial improvements suggested by the results to date. Ideally, increased scale and spread of an intensive multi-modal treatment approach, such as the one carried out at the Be Brave Ranch, with detailed assessments in place may also help us to identify key elements for a best-practice treatment program for CSA survivors.

5a.6 References

- 1. Putnam FW. Ten-year research update review: Child sexual abuse. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*. 2003;42(3):269-78.
- Chiu GR, Lutfey KE, Litman HJ, et al. Prevalence and overlap of childhood and adult physical, sexual, and emotional abuse: A descriptive analysis of results from the Boston Area Community Health (BACH) survey. *Violence and Victims*. 2013;28(3):381-402.
- 3. Martin EK, Silverstone PH. How much child sexual abuse is "below the surface," and can we help adults identify it early? *Frontiers in Psychiatry: Child and Neurodevelopmental Psychiatry*. 2013;4:58.
- MacMillan HL, Tanaka M, Duku E, et al. Child physical and sexual abuse in a community sample of young adults: results from the Ontario Child Health Study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*. 2013;37(1):14-21.
- 5. Stoltenborgh M, van Ijzendoorn MH, Euser EM, et al. A global perspective on child sexual abuse: meta-analysis of prevalence around the world. *Child Maltreatment*. 2011;16(2):79-101.
- 6. Bücker J, Kapczinski F, Post R, et al. Cognitive impairment in school-aged children with early trauma. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*. 2012:53(6);758-64.
- 7. Chen LP, Murad MH, Paras ML, et al. Sexual abuse and lifetime diagnosis of psychiatric disorders: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Mayo Clinic proceedings*. 2010;85(7):618-29.
- Robert R, O'Connor T, Dunn J, et al. The effects of child sexual abuse in later family life: Mental health, parenting and adjustment of offspring. *Child Abuse & Neglect*. 2004;28(5):525-45.

- 9. Beitchman JH, Zucker KJ, Hood JE, DaCosta, et al. A review of the long-term effects of child sexual abuse. *Child Abuse & Neglect*. 1992:16(1):101-18.
- 10. Berline L, Elliot D. *Sexual abuse in children*. In J. Myers et al. (Ed.) The ASPAC handbook on child maltreatment (2nd ed.) (pp. 55-73). London, UK: Sage Publications India Pvt. 2002.
- McElvaney R. Disclosure of child sexual abuse: Delays, non-disclosure and partial disclosure. What the research tells us and implications for practice. *Child Abuse Review*. 2013;24(3):159-69.
- Hetzel-Riggin MD, Brausch AD, Montgomery BS. A meta-analytic investigation of therapy modality outcomes for sexually abused children and adolescents: an exploratory study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*. 2007;31(2):125-41.
- Fraser JG, Lloyd S, Murphy R, et al. A comparative effectiveness review of parenting and trauma-focused interventions for children exposed to maltreatment. *Journal of Developmental and Behavioural Pediatrics*. 2013;34(5):353-68.
- Macdonald G, Higgins JP, Ramchandani P, et al. Cognitive-behavioural interventions for children who have been sexually abused. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. 2012;16(5):D001930.
- 15. Cohen JA, Deblinger E, Mannarino AP, et al. A multi-site, randomized controlled trial for children with abuse-related PTSD symptoms. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*. 2004;43(4):393-402.
- 16. Deblinger E, Stauffer LB, Steer RA. Comparative efficacies of supportive and cognitive behavioural therapies for young children who have been sexually abused and their nonoffending mothers. *Child Maltreatment*. 2001;6:332-43.
- 17. Heenan D. Art as therapy: An effective way of promoting positive mental health? *Disability & Society*. 2006;2:179-91.

- Pashall DP. Research and reflection: Animal-assisted therapy in mental health settings. Counselling & Value. 2003;48(1):47-56.
- 19. Dietz TJ, David D, Pennings J. Evaluating animal-assisted therapy in group treatment for child sexual abuse. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*. 2012;21(6):665-83
- 20. D'Andrea W, Bergholz L, Fortunato A, et al. Play to the whistle: A Pilot investigation of a sports-based intervention for traumatized girls in residential treatment. *Journal of Family Violence*. 2013;28(7):739-49.
- 21. Wesselmann D, Armstrong S, Schwietzer C, et al. An integrative EMDR and family therapy model for treating attachment trauma in children: A case series. *Journal of EMDR Practice and Research*. 2018;12(4): <u>https://doi.org/10.1891/1933-3196.12.4.196</u>
- 22. Shapiro F. The role of Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing (EMDR) Therapy in medicine: Addressing the psychological and physical symptoms stemming from adverse life experiences. *The Permanente Journal*. 2014;18(1):71-77.
- 23. Tourigny M, Hebert M, Daigneault I, et al. Efficacy of group therapy for sexually abused adolescent girls. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*. 2005;14(4):71-93.
- 24. Trowell J, Kolvin I, Weeramanthri T, et al. Psychotherapy for sexually abused girls: Psychopathological outcome findings and patterns of change. *British Journal of Psychiatry*. 2002;180:234-47.
- 25. Silverstone PH, Suen YVM, Ashton CK, et al.. Are complex multimodal interventions the best treatments for mental health disorders in children and youth? *Journal of Child and Adolescent Behavior*. 2016;4:4.

- 26. Perry BD. The Neurosequential model of therapeutics: Applying principles of neuroscience to clinical work with traumatized and maltreated children, In: Working with Traumatized Youth in Child Welfare (Nancy Boyd Webb, Ed.). The Guilford Press, New York, NY, pp. 27-52. 2006.
- Mannarino AP, Cohen JA, Deblinger E, et al. Trauma-focused cognitive-behavioural therapy for children: Sustained impact of treatment 6 and 12 months later. *Child Maltreatment*. 2012:17(3);231-41.
- 28. Oh DL, Jerman P, Purewal Boparai SK, et al. Review of tools for measuring exposure to adversity in children and adolescents. *Journal of Pediatric Health Care*. 2018;32(6):564-83.
- 29. Harris NB, Renschler T. *Center for Youth Wellness ACE-Questionnaire (CYW ACE-Q child, teen, teen SR)* 7th ed. Center for Youth Wellness, San Francisco, CA. 2015.
- 30. Serrano-Ibanez ER, Ruiz-Parrage GT, Esteve R, et al. Validation of the Child PTSD Symptom Scale (CPSS) in Spanish adolescents. *Psichothema*. 2018;30(1):130-5.
- Gillihan SJ, Aderka IM, Conklin PH, et al. The Child PTSD Symptom Scale: Psychometric properties in female adolescent sexual assault survivors. *Psychological Assessment*. 2013;25(1):23-31.
- Knight JR, Sherritt L, Shrier LA, et al. Validity of the CRAFFT substance abuse screening test among adolescent clinic patients. *Archives of Pediatric & Adolescent Medicine*. 2002;156(6):607-14.
- 33. White D, Leach C, Sims R, et al. Validation of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale for use with adolescents. *British Journal of Psychiatry*. 1999;175:452-4.

- 34. Richardson LP, McCauley E, Grossman DC, et al. Evaluation of the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) for detecting major depression among adolescents. *Pediatrics*. 2010;126(6):1117-23.
- 35. Johnson JG, Harris ES, Spitzer RL, et al. The patient health questionnaire for adolescents: validation of an instrument for assessment of mental disorders among adolescent primary care patients. *Journal of Adolescent Health*. 2002;30(3):196-204.
- 36. Manea L, Gilbody S, McMillan D. Optimal cut-off score for diagnosing depression with the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9): a meta-analysis. *CMAJ*. 2012;184(3):E191-96.
- 37. Ravens-Sieberer U, Erhart M, Rajmil L, et al. Reliability, construct and criterion validity of the KIDSCREEN-10 score: a short measure for children and adolescents' well-being and health-related quality of life. *Quality of Life Research*. 2010;19(10):1487-500.
- Bagley C, Mallick K. Normative data and mental health construct validity for the Rosenberg self-esteem scale in British adolescents. *International Journal of Adolescence and Youth*. 2012;9(2-3):117-26.
- 39. Govender K, Cowden RG, Asanta KO, et al. Validation of the child and youth resilience measure among Souht African adolescents. *PLoS One*. 2017;12(10):e018815.
- 40. Liebenberg L, Unger M, Leblanc JC. The CYRM-12: A brief measure of resilience. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*. 2013;104(2):e131-35.
- 41. Maniglio R. The impact of child sexual abuse on health: A systematic review of reviews. *Clinical Psychology Review*. 2009;29(7):647-57.
- Gibb BE, Chelminski I, Zimmerman M. Childhood emotional, physical, and sexual abuse, and diagnosis of depressive disorders in adult psychiatric outpatients. *Depression and Anxiety*. 2006;24(4):356-63.

- 43. Ludy-Dobson C, Perry BD. *The role of healthy relational interactions in buffering the impact of childhood trauma*, In E. Gil (Ed.), Working with children to heal interpersonal trauma (pp 26-44). New York: Guilford Press. 2010.
- 44. Maniglio R. The role of child sexual abuse in the etiology of suicide and non-suicidal selfinjury. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavia*. 2011;124(1):30-41.
- 45. Noll JG, Horowitz LA, Bonanno GA, et al. Revictimization and self-harm in females who experienced childhood sexual abuse: Results from a prospective study. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*. 2003;18(12):1452-71.

5a.7 Additional Information

5a.7.1 Declaration of Interest

The author(s) declare no potential conflicts of interest with respect to research, authorship, or publication of this article.

5a.7.2 Funding

Funding for this analysis was provided by Little Warriors via an unrestricted educational grant to the University of Alberta. MR funding was provided through a Mitacs Accelerate award.

5a.7.3 Acknowledgments

We wish to acknowledge the extensive support from an independent charity, Little Warriors (http://littlewarriors.ca), that designed and organizes the Be Brave Ranch facility among its various activities. We were grateful for the provision of an anonymized database, which allowed examination of the data described within this publication.

5a.7.4 Author Contribution

All authors made significant intellectual contributions to this manuscript. Research questions, study design and research methods were developed by MR, HP, WP, and PS, with expertise and consultation provided by AG, VA, GH, YW, and LS. Manuscript was written primarily by MR, with assistance from HP and PS. Data was collected and statistically analyzed by MR with the assistance of input from PS, HP, and AG. All authors contributed to the editorial process and approved the final version of this manuscript.

5a.8 Tables

5a.8.1 TABLE 1. Demographic and environmental information for adolescent female child sexual abuse (CSA) survivors undergoing an episodic complex multimodal treatment program

Demographics	n = 27			
Mean Age (years)	14.2 +/- 0.9			
Identify as Indigenous	10 (37.0%)			
Lives With:				
Both Parents	6 (22.2%)			
One Parent	8 (29.6%)			
Relative	5 (18.6%)			
Other	8 (29.6%)			
Environment	n = 27			
Question:	Answered "Yes"			
I spend time with friends outside of school	22 (81.5%)			
I engage in activities outside of school (e.g., sports teams, clubs,	12 (44.4%)			
organizations)				
I am involved in a community program (e.g., Big Brothers/Big Sisters)	3 (11.1%)			
I have my own bedroom	25 (92.6%)			
I feel safe at home	26 (96.3%)			
I have an adult I can trust	23 (85.2%)			

5a.8.2 TABLE 2: Information relating to nature of the child sexual abuse event(s) experienced by adolescent females undergoing an episodic complex multimodal treatment program for their traumatic experience(s)

Nature of the Trauma	n = 27					
Mean age at first inciden	5.9 +/- 3.5					
Number of incidents						
	One	3 (11.2%)				
	Multiple	24 (88.8%)				
Knew offender	25 (92.6%)					
Offender:						
	Adult	23 (85.2%)				
	Adolescent/Child	9 (33.3%)				
When you first told some	Answered "yes"					
	Believed	18 (66.7%)				
	Supported					
	Like it was acted on properly	17 (63.0%)				

5a.8.3 TABLE 3a. Parametric analysis results: Mean change in self-report outcome measures after 2-weeks of an episodic complex multimodal treatment program for adolescent female survivors of child sexual abuse (CSA) (n=27)

Questionnaire	Domain	Range	μ Baseline	95% CI	μ Discharge	95% CI	Δ	Δ%	р	<i>p</i> *
CPSS	PTSD	0-51	29.7	[24.7, 33.7]	23.6	[18.7, 28.5]	-6.1	-20.3%	0.002	0.009
HADS	Anxiety	0-21	12.0	[10.3, 13.8]	9.6	[7.6, 11.5]	-2.4	-20.6%	0.006	0.014
PHQ-A	Depression	0-27	15.6	[13.0, 18.2]	11.9	[9.3, 14.4]	-3.7	-23.8%	0.001	0.006
KIDSCREEN-10	Quality of Life	0-44	19.3	[16.6, 22.0]	22.7	[19.8, 25.6]	3.4	17.6%	0.022	0.031
RSES	Self-Esteem	0-30	10.4	[8.0, 12.7]	12.7	[10.3, 15.2]	2.3	22.9%	0.010	0.019
CYRM-12	Resiliency	12-48	29.0	[26.0, 32.0]	31.1	[28.6, 33.7]	2.1	6.9%	0.019	0.029

Footnote: $p^* =$ the adjusted p-value following a Benjamini-Hochberg FDR correction used to determine α -critical for each statistical t-test

5a.8.3 TABLE 3b. Non-parametric analysis results: Mean change in self-report outcome measures after 2-weeks of an episodic complex multimodal treatment program for adolescent female survivors of child sexual abuse (CSA) (n=27)

Questionnaire	Domain	Range	Median	95% CI	Median	95 % CI	Δ	Δ%	р	p *
			Baseline		Discharge					
CPSS	PTSD	0-51	32	[23, 36]	22	[15, 31]	-10	-31.3%	0.008	0.012
HADS	Anxiety	0-21	14	[10, 15]	9	[7, 12]	-5	-35.7%	0.042	0.013
PHQ-A	Depression	0-27	16	[13, 18]	13	[7, 14]	-3	-18.8%	0.001	0.007
KIDSCREEN-10	Quality of Life	0-44	19	[16, 23]	22	[18, 26]	3	15.8%	0.016	0.02
RSES	Self-Esteem	0-30	10	[6, 12]	12	[9, 15]	2	20.0%	0.011	0.017
CYRM-12	Resiliency	12-48	29	[25, 32]	31	[28, 33]	2	6.9%	0.024	0.024

Footnote: $p^* =$ the adjusted p-value following a Benjamini-Hochberg FDR correction used to determine α -critical for each statistical two-tailed Wilcoxon signed-rank test

5a.9 Figures

5a.9.1 FIGURE 1a. Parametric Analysis Results: Percentage improvements in mean self-report outcome measure scores for adolescent female child sexual abuse (CSA) survivors undergoing 2-weeks of a complex multimodal treatment program



Footnote: Statistical significance denoted by *(p<0.05), **(p<0.01); variability indicators represent standard error Legend: CPSS—Child PTSD Symptom Scale; HADS—Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale; PHQ-A (Patient Health Questionnaire (adolescent ver.); KIDSCREEN-10—Quality of Life Index; RSES—Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale; CYRM-12—Child & Youth Resilience Measure **5a.9.1 FIGURE 1b. Non-Parametric Analysis:** Percentage improvements in median self-report outcome measure scores for adolescent female child sexual abuse (CSA) survivors undergoing 2-weeks of a complex multimodal treatment program



Footnote: Statistical significance denoted by *(p<0.05), **(p<0.01); variability indicators represent standard error

5a.9.2 FIGURE 2. The number of adolescent female child sexual abuse (CSA) survivors who met the clinical cut-off for a diagnosis of posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), anxiety disorder, and major depressive disorder at initial admission (baseline) and discharge after 2-weeks of a complex multimodal treatment program (n=27)



5a.10 Rationale for Further Investigation

The findings of Chapter 5a revealed preliminary evidence that a complex multimodal treatment program for adolescent child sexual abuse survivors is acceptable, safe, and effective. Based on these results, Chapter 5b expands on program assessment by adding three elements to the study design of Chapter 5a:

- 1. The population under investigation was expanded to include both male and female participants aged 8-12 in order to further assess the potential benefit of the child program
- 2. Changes in outcomes were measured from baseline to the end of the first and second round of treatment (3-months after initial admission) to investigate longitudinal treatment effects
- 3. Participants were differentiated based on the time of completion for each of their two treatment rounds. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Be Brave Ranch was forced to close from March-May, 2020. The unprecedented nature of a global pandemic may have traumatic impacts on vulnerable individuals. Considering the participants in this program are already susceptible to stress, a secondary objective of the subsequent study was to investigate whether the COVID-19 pandemic had an impact on treatment outcomes.
 - a. In order to compare pre-COVID and COVID-impacted cohorts (those completing their treatment rounds following May, 2020), some participants from Chapter 5a are included in both chapters.

Chapter 5B: Child sexual abuse survivors: Differential complex multimodal outcomes for pre-COVID and COVID era cohorts

Authors: Matthew Reeson, BSc¹, Wanda Polzin, MA, RCSW, EdD², Hannah

Pazderka, PhD¹, Vincent Agyapong, MSc, FAPA, MD (research) PhD, FRCPC¹,

Andrew J. Greenshaw, PhD, FRSA¹, Gary Hnatko, MD, FRCPC³, Yifeng Wei,

MA, PhD¹, Laurie Syzmanski², Peter H. Silverstone, MB BS, MD, FRCPC^{1*}

1 - Department of Psychiatry, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada

2 – Little Warriors Be Brave Ranch, Edmonton Alberta

3 - CASA Child Treatment facility, Edmonton, Canada

5b.1 Abstract

Background: Early-life trauma can have widespread psychological impacts on the survivor. Child sexual abuse (CSA) is a form of early-life trauma that affects children and adolescents worldwide. At present, very little research has been done to investigate best-practice evidence-based treatment for youth CSA survivors. In the midst of the current COVID-19 pandemic, it is imperative to investigate the potential impact of added stress on already vulnerable populations.

Objective: The aim of this study was to evaluate the impact of a complex multimodal treatment program on mental health outcomes for youth CSA survivors aged 8-16. Secondary to this, we explored the potential impact of the COVID-19 on clinical presentations of youth and their treatment outcomes.

Methods: Participants of this study were children and youth aged 8-16 who were engaged in a complex multimodal treatment program specifically designed for youth CSA survivors—the Little Warriors Be Brave Ranch. Participants in both the child (8-12 years) and adolescent (13-16 years) programs were asked to complete self-report surveys at initial admission (baseline) and at the end of their first two (of four) treatment rounds. The surveys consisted of validated self-report measures pertaining to: (1) PTSD, (2) depression, (3) anxiety, (4) quality of life, and (5) self-esteem. Both programs were differentiated as either pre-COVID-19 ("pre-COVID" completing treatment prior to March, 2020) or COVID-19-impacted ("COVID-I", completing treatment after May, 2020). Changes in median outcome measure scores were analyzed for statistical significance.

Results: A total of 157 participants were included in this study and the median scores improved for all groups at all timepoints for all five domains; however, the pre-COVID and COVID-I groups differed in their responses. In the child program, statistically significant improvement for the pre-COVID group after round one was reported for depression (-36.6%, p=0.01), anxiety (-26.2%, p=0.008), and self-esteem (16.1%, p=0.05); in the COVID-I group, significant improvement was reported for PTSD (-22.0%, p=0.01), and depression (-21.6%, p=0.031). In the adolescent program, statistically significant improvement was reported in the pre-COVID group after round one for PTSD (-31.3%, p=0.005), depression (-21.4%, p=0.031), anxiety (-31.3%, p=0.007), and

self-esteem (20.0%, p=0.048); in the COVID-I group, significant improvement was reported for PTSD (-15.0%, p=0.048) and anxiety (-28.6%, p=0.026). Improvements were generally maintained or increased at the end of round two. In almost every domain, the improvements of the pre-COVID group were greater than those of the COVID-I group.

Conclusion: A complex multimodal treatment program specifically designed for youth CSA survivors has the capacity to improve a number of relevant determinants of mental health and wellbeing. The COVID-19 pandemic appears to have increased the youth's initial presenting clinical concerns and decreased the benefits of the program. The COVID-19 pandemic may have had an added impact on individual stress levels, or potentially induced retraumatization, that may have resulted in treatment resistance and should be considered in the context of treating vulnerable population.
5b.2 Introduction

Psychological trauma occurs when an individual endures (or perceives) a stressful event—or series of events—that overwhelms their capacity to mentally cope and adapt. Traumatic experiences have been shown to induce long-term negative psychological changes in survivors; this is particularly true for survivors of childhood trauma^{1,2}. Defining psychological trauma remains an ongoing issue, as individuals differ not only in their traumatic experiences, but also in how they respond to those stressors^{3,4}. Childhood maltreatment and early-life trauma fall under the umbrella of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE). In adults, a history of ACE has been associated with deleterious long-term outcomes, including increased likelihood of developing chronic and infectious diseases, decreased vocational and occupational success, engagement in risky behaviors such as unprotected sex or substance abuse, and increased susceptibility to post-traumatic stress disorder (PSTD), depression, anxiety, self-harm, suicidal ideation and suicide attempts^{5,6}.

Child sexual abuse (CSA) is a common ACE that impacts children and adolescents worldwide. There is no currently established overall prevalence for CSA, but global estimates in developed nations approximate that over 8% of males and 16% of females will experience at least one significant episode of CSA prior to adulthood⁷⁻¹¹. In Canada, rates have been estimated as high as 10% in males and 20% in females^{12,13}. Notably, variability in reporting, access to services, and rates of disclosure suggest that the prevalence of CSA is likely underestimated and may be as high as 30% in females and 23% in males^{14,15}. Variability in reporting may also be related to heterogeneity in the definition of CSA, which can include a diverse set of sexually-related behaviors such as: (1) unwanted exposure to pornography, genitalia, or sexual acts; (2) child exploitation or grooming; (3) oral-genital contact; (4) attempted intercourse, and (5) penetration¹⁶⁻¹⁸.

CSA has been associated with a number of psychological challenges for survivors; among these the most common are PTSD, depression, anxiety, and behavioural problems¹⁹⁻²². CSA survivors are more likely to experience trauma-related mental health issues as compared to individuals with other types of early-life trauma^{23,24}. Several non-pharmacological treatment options appear to be effective in treating CSA survivors, but the effectiveness of these modalities in improving desired

outcomes has only been minimally assessed. Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT), particularly trauma-focused CBT (tf-CBT), may be the most impactful monotherapy for CSA-related PTSD, depression, and anxiety^{17,25}. Other modalities, including group therapy^{26,27}, animal-assisted therapy^{28,29}, play therapy³⁰, eye movement desensitization and reprocessing (EMDR)^{31,32}, art therapy³³, and recreational therapy^{33,34}, may also result in positive outcomes. Evidence suggests that combination (i.e., multimodal) therapy (e.g., tf-CBT + play therapy + supportive therapy) is superior to any particular monotherapy in treating this population³⁵.

A major challenge to developing a "gold-standard" for treating CSA is the diversity of experiences between individuals and the way in which this heterogeneity of trauma history manifests psychologically. In a trauma-focused approach, a successful outcome depends on a survivor's capacity to create a mental construction of the trauma and ultimately develop a trauma narrative³⁶. Creation of a trauma narrative is generally mediated through gradual exposure methods which aim to ease the survivor towards confronting and reprocessing traumatic memories. To accomplish this, individuals under treatment must have the capacity to emotionally regulate and mentally process their incident(s)¹⁷. The Neurosequential Model of Therapeutics (NMT), as outlined by Perry (2006)³⁷, suggests a "bottom-up" approach, in which anatomically lower-level brain networks (i.e., autonomic and limbic circuits) are treated first. This allows the survivor to develop the emotional regulation required to effectively access the psychological pathways targeted through tf-CBT. Preliminary evidence suggests that combining the NMT with a multimodal treatment regimen may have the capacity to improve psychological outcomes and well-being in adolescent female CSA survivors³⁸.

At present, a major factor relevant to the treatment of CSA survivors is the psychological impact of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. Pandemics induce immediate instability in daily-life and have been shown in the past to have psychological impacts on individuals who have lived through them³⁹⁻⁴¹. Many experts have expressed concern about the potential consequences the COVID-19 pandemic has on children and adolescents; this includes an increase in reports of child physical and sexual abuse^{42,43}, as well as higher incidences of child sex trafficking, child pornography, and online sexual exploitation—especially as youth are spending more time online and on social media⁴⁴⁻⁴⁷. For children, the closure of schools leads to separation from friends and peer groups; this can cause increased stress, loneliness, depression, and feelings of isolation⁴⁸⁻⁵⁰ and has been associated to declines in physical and mental health⁵¹. Adolescents appear to be particularly impacted by the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic⁵². A systematic review assessing mental health outcomes in youth impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic found the highest levels of depression and anxiety in adolescent populations, particularly in females aged 12-18⁵³. As such, it is essential for trauma-focused treatment programs to acknowledge the potential compounding impact lockdowns, school closures, and the stress of a pandemic are having on already vulnerable populations.

5b.2.1 Primary Objective

The primary aim of this study is to assess the impact of a novel complex multimodal treatment program specifically aimed at treating youth CSA survivors. By analyzing changes in self-report outcome measures in a number of domains related to mental health and well-being, this study intends to provide a preliminary assessment of this program at treating both children and adolescents with a history of CSA. Further to this, we aimed to evaluate the impact the COVID-19 pandemic has had on this population by comparing reported outcomes between participants who completed their treatment before and after the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic.

5b.3 Methods

5b.3.1 Ethics Approval

This second-level independent analysis of previously collected, and fully anonymized, data was approved by the University of Alberta Human Research Ethics Committee (Ethics review number: Pro00089614).

5b.3.2. Study Design

The primary objective of this analysis was to assess the impact of a novel treatment program for CSA survivors in improving mental health and well-being. Secondarily, we aimed to assess the impact the COVID-19 pandemic had on any treatment effects. The analysis was conducted on data collected as part of routine care at a facility dedicated to specifically treat child and adolescent survivors of CSA. As standard procedure, self-report surveys are administered to the participants at admission and discharge from each round of treatment. This study includes data collected between January 2019 – October 2021. Data collected from the surveys was anonymized and sent to a third-party server to be encoded and subsequently sent to researchers for a secondary independent analysis of the collected information.

5b.3.2.1 Treatment Program

Treatment took place at a community care facility known as the Little Warriors "Be Brave Ranch" (BBR). The BBR is a charitable, not-for-profit organization designed to specifically treat children and adolescent survivors of CSA. The BBR consists of two programs: (1) The child program – designed for CSA survivors aged 8-12; (2) The adolescent program – designed for CSA survivors aged 13-16. Both programs consist of four intensive treatment rounds that are spread out over the course of one year. All treatment rounds are 12-days in duration, with the exception of the first round of child program which consists of a 28-day stay.

The BBR is located in a semi-rural area outside of Edmonton, Canada. The facility consists of a number of communal lodges to accommodate the children and provide a more naturalistic and "camp-like" feel. There are a number of advanced security features designed to provide safety for both children and staff, including a 24-hour security-guarded gate, a secured fence, security cameras, and a confidential location. The facility has been intentionally designed to exceed all required safety and regulatory guidelines, is appropriately licensed, and is assessed regularly by all appropriate authorities.

5b.3.2.2 Participants

Admission into the program is based on an initial screening interview conducted by staff at the BBR. Participants for both the child and adolescent program were required to meet the following inclusion criteria:

- Appropriate age for the specific program
- Psychologically minded and able to benefit from therapy
- IQ > 80 as determined by previous assessments
- Medically stable and compliant with medications
- Child has disclosed abuse to at least one adult/caregiver
- Family/caregiver is identified and involved
- Completion of a readiness assessment

5b.3.2.3 Program Design

The intensive multimodal treatment program includes weekly exposure to a suite of therapeutic approach, comprised of the following techniques:

- 11. Trauma-Focused Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (tf-CBT)
- 12. Group Therapy
- 13. Individual Therapy
- 14. Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing (EMDR)
- 15. Yoga and Meditative Therapy
- 16. Art Therapy
- 17. Music Therapy
- 18. Cultural Activities
- 19. Recreational Therapy
- 20. Animal-Assisted Therapy

The allocation of these therapies follows a general schedule that differs based on which round of treatment the participants are attending. The program is specifically designed to allow for some individual variation in the program in order to focus particular therapies for selected individuals who may benefit more from a regimen that emphasizes one specific treatment modality over another. The exact set of treatments was determined by the therapy team following regular (usually

daily) on-site meetings. The therapeutic framework for the program is modelled after the Neurosequential Model of Therapeutics (NMT)³⁷. The first round of treatment (28-days for the children, 12-days for the adolescents) has a heavier emphasis on those treatment options that specifically target the development of lower level networks such as play, music, animal-assisted, recreational/sport, and art therapy. It should be noted while the entire program is centered around a trauma-focused approach, the weight of tf-CBT within the treatment regimen expands over the course of treatment and is thus under-represented in the first half of the program as compared to the later rounds of treatment. Earlier treatment rounds emphasize emotional regulation/sensory somatic work and therapeutic milieu.

During their stay at the BBR, each participant is administered a daily comprehensive schedule that always included some level of tf-CBT. This approach involves the following four components: (1) skill-building phase aimed at improving cognitive, affective, behavioural and biological self-regulation; (2) intentional gradual exposure to the child's trauma in a safe, careful, and controlled manner; (3) cognitive processing of the child's personal traumatic incident as achieved through the construction of a trauma narrative; (4) combined child-caregiver sessions and safety planning to develop closure, a combined approach which has preliminarily been shown to have lasting positive effects for this population⁵⁴. Apart from direct therapy, the participants are also scheduled for a number of recreational activities that were designed to make the program more exciting and help to build social relationships and trust. Each activity is properly supervised and carried out under a detailed plan linking them to therapy goals. Roughly six hours each day are allocated to structured activities, with the remainder of the day being reserved for free time and meals.

5b.3.3 Data Collection

Self-report surveys were administered electronically via tablets at initial admission (baseline) and again at discharge of each treatment round. The present study includes data collected from the first two rounds of treatment for both programs. All data is collected and anonymized by a third party server and then provided to the research team for further evaluation. For many of the outcome measures, the answer options are given on a Likert-scale. To make this less complicated for the children, a slider-bar was implemented into the survey to add a visual effect that intended to help

the child accurately convey their answers and increase their engagement. Surveys ask basic demographic and environmental questions (e.g., involvement with peer groups, community programs, etc.), followed by several clinically validated self-report child psychiatric outcome measures to assess (1) PTSD, (2) depression, (3) anxiety, (4) quality of life, and (5) self-esteem. Questionnaire scores at each timepoint were compared to assess whether or not symptom improvement occurred in a variety of domains for mental health domains.

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the BBR was forced to close between March-May 2020. For study purposes, participants data was differentiated based on whether treatment had completed prior to, or after the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. Pre-COVID participants were those who completed their treatment rounds prior to March 2020; COVID-impacted (COVID-I) participants were those who completed their treatment rounds following May, 2020. Those participants who began their first treatment following this break were given a COVID questionnaire which contained six questions asking the participant how much the COVID-19 pandemic had impact certain aspects of their lives (See Appendix A for "Assessment Details").

5b.3.3.1 Statistical Analysis

To assess the change in median questionnaire scores over time, non-parametric Wilcoxon signedrank test were carried out between baseline and the end of round one for those who completed the first treatment round, as well as between baseline and the end of round two for those who completed the second treatment round. To determine statistical differences in the response distribution of the COVID-19 questionnaire between the two programs, a non-parametric Kolmogorov-Smirnov test for distribution was used. For all statistical tests, a critical value of p=0.05 was used. Due to the number of comparisons in this study, a false discovery correction method—the Benjamini-Hochberg method—was used to appropriately manage Type I errors. Only results whose adjusted p-value remained below the critical alpha level were considered statistically significant.

5b.4 Results

5b.4.1 Participants

In total, 151 participants completed at least one round of treatment and were included in this study. Eighty-two (54.3%) attended the child program and 69 (45.7%) attended the Adolescent Program. Participant demographics summarized in Table 1.

Insert TABLE 1 here

5b.4.1.1 Child Program

The mean age of the 82 participants in the child program was 10.7 (1.3) years (range 8-12) at baseline. The average age of the pre-COVID cohorts was slightly older (10.9 (1.3) years) than that of the COVID-I cohorts (10.4 (1.3) years). The majority of participants were in grade five (20.7%) or six (31.7%). Fifty-seven (69.5%) of the participants were biologically female and 25 (30.5%) male. In terms of gender identity, 46 (56.1%) identified as female, 22 (26.8%) identified as male, and 14 (17.1%) identified as non-binary. Over a third of participants (36.6%) identified as an Indigenous Canadian.

5b.4.1.2 Adolescent Program

The mean age of the 75 participants in the adolescent program was 14.3 (1.4) years (range 13-17) at baseline. The average age of the pre-COVID cohorts was slightly younger (14.1 (0.9) years) than that of the COVID-I cohorts (14.3 (1.5) years). The majority of participants were in grade nine (34.7%) or ten (30.7%). Seventy-one (94.6%) of the participants were biologically female and four (5.4%) were male. In terms of gender identity, 61 (81.3%) identified as female, four (5.4%) identified as male, and ten (13.3%) identified as non-binary. Two-fifths of participants (40.0%) identified as an Indigenous Canadian/American.

5b.4.2 Environmental Questionnaire

5b.4.2.1 Child Program

Results from the Little Warriors Environmental Questionnaire are summarized in Table 2. In total, the questions receiving the highest level of agreement were "feeling safe in my home" (89.0%) and "having an adult I can trust" (89.0%). The fewest number of participants reported engaging in activities outside of school (e.g., sports teams, organizations, clubs, etc.) (68.3%), and interacting with friends outside of school (72.0%). A smaller proportion of the pre-COVID participants reported engaging in extra-curricular activities than those in the COVID-I cohorts (81.6% and 56.8%, respectively). When asked about their traumatic event(s), sixty-two (75.6%) participants reported feeling believed upon disclosing their CSA; sixty (73.2%) reported feeling supported, and sixty-three (76.8%) felt that it had been acted on properly. A larger proportion of the pre-COVID cohorts (86.8% and 61.4%, respectively).

5b.4.2.2 Adolescent Program

Of the 69 adolescent participants, the questions receiving the highest agreement rate were "feeling safe in my home" (93.3%) and "having my own bedroom" (93.3%). The fewest number of participants reported "engaging in activities outside of school" (46.7%), and interacting with friends outside of school (73.3%). A smaller proportion of participants reported "socializing with friends outside of school" in the COVID-I cohorts (64.3% vs. 84.8% pre-COVID) as well as "engaging in extra-curricular activities" (54.8% vs. 66.7 pre-COVID). When asked about their traumatic event(s), fifty-one (68.0%) reported feeling believed upon disclosing their CSA; fifty-three (70.7%) reported feeling supported, and only thirty-five (46.7%) felt that it had been acted on properly. A larger proportion of the pre-COVID cohorts reported feeling believed as compared to the COVID-I cohorts (84.8% and 54.8%, respectively).

Insert TABLE 2 Here

5b.4.3 Survey Results

Changes in median questionnaire scores are summarized in Table 3. Each program was divided into 4 groups based on: (1) Treatment Round (baseline to end of round one vs. baseline to the end of round two); (2) COVID-impacted (those participants who completed their treatment rounds prior to- vs. following the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. Reductions in median PTSD, depression, and anxiety measures were considered improvements; increases in median self-esteem and quality of life were considered improvements. Overall, participants reported positive improvements in every single measured domain at the end of both treatment rounds; this was true for both pre-COVID and COVID-I cohorts.

Insert TABLE 3 here

5b.4.3.1 Child Program

5b.4.3.1.1 Overall Survey Results

Improvements in median scores are summarized in Table 3 and Figure 1. The largest change reported after the first treatment round in the child program was in depression (-36.6%, p=0.01)[†]; a change in median score of 20.5 at baseline to 13 at the end of treatment round one. Improvement in median depression scores was also the largest in round two, but was not statistically significant (-34.1%, p=0.14). For treatment round one, statistically significant changes in the pre-COVID cohorts were reported for depression (-36.6%, p=0.01) and anxiety (-26.2%, p=0.008); for the COVID-I cohorts, significant changes in round one were reported for PTSD (-22.0%, p=0.01) and depression (-21.6%, p=0.031). For treatment round two, significant changes in the pre-COVID cohorts were reported in the PTSD (-20.4%, p=0.05); for the COVID cohorts, significant changes in round two were reported in the depression (-27.3%, p=0.048).

⁺ Note: all p-values are adjusted via the Benjamini-Hochberg false discovery rate correction method

In comparison to the COVID-I cohorts, the improvements reported in the pre-COVID cohorts were greater in almost every domain—this is true for both rounds of treatment. The only reported improvements that were greater in the COVID-I cohorts were: (1) Anxiety changes in treatment round 2 (pre-COVID: 22.9% p=0.13; COVID-I: 25.0%, p=0.18) and (2) self-esteem changes in treatment round 2 (pre-COVID: 3.1%, p=0.88; COVID-I: 11.8%, p=0.36).

Insert FIGURE 1 here

5b.4.3.1.2 PTSD

In both the pre-COVID and COVID-I cohorts, there was a reduction in median CPSS scores for both treatment rounds. The median baseline CPSS score was higher for the COVID-I cohorts (29.5 – *moderately severe*) as compared to the pre-COVID cohorts (25 – *moderate*). The largest improvement was reported for pre-COVID round one (-26.0%, p=0.083). Statistically significant changes were found for pre-COVID round two (-20.4%, p=0.05), and COVID-I round one (-22.0%, p=0.01).

5b.4.3.1.3 Depression

In both the pre-COVID and COVID-I cohorts, median RCADS-D scores were reduced at both timepoints. The median baseline RCADS-D score was higher in the pre-COVID cohorts (20.5 and 18.5, respectively). Statistically significant improvements were reported at pre-COVID round one (-36.6%. p=0.01), COVID I round one (-21.6%, p=0.031), and COVID-I round two (-27.3%, p =0.048). Improvements in depression scores were higher for the pre-COVID cohorts at both timepoints.

5b.4.3.1.4 Anxiety

Median RCADS-A improved at all timepoints for both groups. The median baseline RCADS-A score was higher for the COVID-I cohorts than for pre-COVID (23 and 21, respectively). Statistically significant reductions were only reported at pre-COVID round one (-26.2%, p=0.008).

Improvements in anxiety scores were higher in the pre-COVID cohorts for round one, but were greater for the COVID-I cohorts in round two.

5b.4.3.1.5 Quality of Life

Improvements in median KIDSCREEN-10 scores were reported at all time points; however, none of the changes were statistically significant. The largest improvement was reported at pre-COVID round two (13.0%, p=0.36). Improvements in KIDSCREEN scores were greater at both time points for the pre-COVID cohorts.

5b.4.3.1.6 Self-Esteem

Improvements in median RSES scores were reported at all timepoints; however, none of these changes were statistically significant. The largest improvement was reported by the pre-COVID cohorts in round one (16.1%, p=0.05). Changes in RSES scores were greater for the pre-COVID group at the end of round one but were higher in the COVID-I cohorts at the end of round two.

5b.4.3.2 Adolescent Program Results

5b.4.3.2.1 Overall Survey Results

Improvements in median scores are summarized in Table 3 and Figure 2. The largest improvement at the end of round one was reported PTSD and anxiety for the pre-COVID participants (-31.3%, p=0.005; -31.3%, p=0.007, respectively). The largest change reported after the second round of treatment was reported anxiety for the pre-COVID participants (-38.9%, p=0.024). For treatment round one, statistically significant changes in the pre-COVID cohorts were reported for PTSD (-31.3%, p=0.005), depression (-21.4%, p=0.031), anxiety (-31.3%, p=0.007), and self-esteem (20.0%, p=0.048). For the COVID-I cohorts, statistically significant changes were reported in round one for the PTSD (-15.0%, p=0.048) and anxiety (-28.6%, p=0.026). For treatment round

two, statistically significant changes in the pre-COVID cohorts were reported in the PTSD (-28.1%, p=0.031) and anxiety (-38.9%, p=0.024); for the COVID-I cohorts, there were no statistically significant improvements.

In comparison to the COVID-I cohorts, the improvements reported in the pre-COVID cohorts were greater for all domains at each timepoint.

Insert FIGURE 2 Here

5b.4.3.2.2 PTSD

For both groups there was a reduction in median CPSS scores at both treatment rounds. The median baseline CPSS score was higher for the pre-COVID participants (32 - severe) than the COVID-I participants ($30 - moderately \ severe$). The largest improvement was reported for pre-COVID round one (-31.3%, p=0.005). Statistically significant improvements were also reported for pre-COVID round two (-28.1%, p=0.031), COVID-I round one (-15.0%, p=0.048), and COVID-I round two (-25.4%, p=0.041).

5b.4.3.2.3 Depression

In both groups median PHQ-A scores improved at both timepoints. The median baseline PHQ-A score was higher in the pre-COVID cohorts than the COVID-I cohorts (16 and 12.5, respectively). Statistically significant reductions were reported for pre-COVID round one (-21.4%. p=0.031). Improvements in the COVID-I cohorts were not statistically significant, and were lower than the pre-COVID cohorts at both timepoints.

5b.4.3.2.4 Anxiety

In both groups median HADS scores improved at both timepoints. The median baseline HADS scores were higher for the pre-COVID and COVID-I cohorts (16 and 14, respectively), though both scores fall into the *Abnormal/High* category. Statistically significant reductions were reported for pre-COVID round one (-31.3%, p=0.007), pre-COVID round two (-38.9%, p=0.024), and COVID-I round one (-28.6%, p=0.026). Improvements in anxiety scores were higher for the pre-COVID cohorts at both timepoints.

5b.4.3.2.5 Quality of Life

Improvements in median KIDSCREEN-10 scores were reported at all time points. Statistically significant improvements were not found at any timepoint. Changes in KIDSCREEN scores were greater at both time points for the pre-COVID cohorts.

5b.4.3.2.6 Self-Esteem

Improvements in median RSES scores were reported at all timepoints. Statistically significant changes were reported for pre-COVID round one (20.0%, p=0.048). Changes in RSES scores were greater for the pre-COVID group at both timepoints.

5b.4.4 COVID-19 Questionnaire

The results of the COVID-19 Questionnaire are summarized in Figures 3 & 4. In the child program, the highest level of agreement was reported for question 2: "Social distancing has made me feel disconnected from friends and/or family"; 18 (40.9%) strongly agreed with this statement and 7 (15.9%) agreed. The highest level of disagreement was reported for question 3: "I spend a lot of time worrying about the COVID-19 pandemic"; 18 (40.9%) strongly disagreed with this statement and 15 (34.1%) disagreed. In the teen program, the highest level of agreement was reported for question 2 (11 (26.2%) strongly agreed, 16 (38.9%) agreed) and question 6: "The COVID-19 pandemic has increased the amount of time I spend on electronic devices"; 15 (35.7%) strongly

agreed and 11 (26.2%) agreed. The highest level of disagreement was reported for question 3 (7 (16.7%) strongly disagree, 12 (28.6%) disagree).

For every question, the median adolescent participant response was either equal to or greater than those of the child program, indicating a higher reported level of impact from the COVID-19 pandemic. Statistically significant differences in response distribution were only found for questions 3 (p=0.044).

Insert FIGURES 3 & 4 here

5b.5 Discussion

The purpose of this study was to independently assess the potential impact of an evidence-based complex multimodal treatment program specifically designed to treat youth Child Sexual Abuse (CSA) survivors aged 8-16. The results supported our hypothesis that both children and adolescents would report improvements in PTSD, depression, anxiety, quality of life, and self-esteem after the initial round of treatment. The results further suggest that these initial benefits are sustained following a second round of treatment. Although preliminary, the findings of this analysis support the benefits of a complex multimodal treatment program for this population, irrespective of pandemic experience. Secondarily, the results of this study suggest that the onset and consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic may interfere with the impact of treatment, as evidenced by a reduction in reported outcome improvements in participants who began their treatment following the onset of the pandemic.

5b.5.1 Impact of Treatment Program on CSA

At all timepoints measured in this study, self-reported symptoms of PTSD showed significant and sustained improvements. Considering over a third of CSA survivors experience some form of PTSD in their lifetime⁵⁵, a sustainable reduction in PTSD and other trauma-related symptoms is an essential marker of treatment effectiveness. However, it is important to emphasize that the effects of CSA are heterogenous and depend on the intrinsic characteristics of the victim, the

identity of the offender and their relationship with the victim, as well as the severity, frequency, and duration of the abuse^{18,56,57}. As such, treatment programs specifically designed for young CSA survivors are more likely to provide benefit if it employs a variety of therapeutic tools and strategies. The evidence for this can only be assessed through the implementation of validated outcome measures that assess a variety of relevant domains. At all timepoints, children and adolescents consistently reported improvements in depression, anxiety, quality of life and self-esteem, which helps to strengthen the evidence of positive treatment effect for this population.

There is evidence that tf-CBT may be the best treatment option for traumatized youth^{17,25}; however, the results of the study suggest that tf-CBT is most effective when supplemented with a variety of treatment options. Because the successful development of a trauma narrative is so essential to trauma-focused therapy, those individuals who have the capacity to emotionally regulate are more likely to benefit from this type of therapy³⁶. Schore (2001)⁵⁸ suggested that the development of a trauma narrative through tf-CBT is mediated by a reduction in right hemispheric activity in the brain, which is often overactive in individuals with emotional/limbic dysregulation. The development of a trauma-narrative through gradual exposure may activate left hemispheric linguistic centers, effectively reducing right hemispheric activity while offering the victim the opportunity to verbalize their traumatic memories and fears.

5b.5.2 The Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic

A secondary finding of this study was the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the benefits of the treatment program. In comparison to the participants that completed their treatment round(s) prior to the onset of the pandemic, children and adolescent that began treatment after the onset of the pandemic consistently reported lower levels of improvement. Collective traumas, such as natural disasters or pandemics, have the capacity to retraumatize already vulnerable populations⁵⁹, and may explain some of the differences in treatment outcomes observed. Social distancing, lockdowns, school closures, and a public health crisis has the potential to increase individual stress levels^{48,49} which could result in treatment resistance. In both programs, there was a noticeable reduction in reported improvements in PSTD, depression, and anxiety, although the differences in

anxiety for the child program were less pronounced. PTSD, depression, and anxiety are linked to stress, which is primarily mediated through the Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal (HPA) axis. Early-life stress has been linked to heightened HPA axis hyperactivity⁶⁰, as well as epigenetic modifications of the genes responsible for HPA axis regulation⁶¹. As such, the compounding impact of a pandemic on youth already susceptible to stress dysregulation may be responsible for the reduction in reported improvements; this may be particularly true for adolescents⁵³. The impact of the pandemic may also be inducing added stress on the caregivers of these children and adolescents, which is crucial considering how parental stress has been associated with behavioural problems in children^{62,63}. A recent review on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic revealed that caregivers with higher stress loads are more susceptible to increased alcohol and drug consumption, putting further strain on the family unit⁶⁴.

The findings of the COVID Questionnaire suggests that adolescents attending the program have felt a larger impact of the pandemic as compared to the younger participants. A majority of both the children and adolescents reported feeling more disconnected from friends and family and spending more time on electronic devices. The rising influence of social media has been associated with an increase in mood disorders in youth, particularly adolescent females⁶⁵; this may partially explain some of the treatment resistant effects seen in the COVID-I groups. Disconnection from peer groups also reduces interactions with social support networks, which have been shown to be significant mediators in the management of mental health and quality of life⁶⁶. Adolescent participants were also more likely to report increased family conflict, which may account for some of the differences in outcomes for the two programs. It is possible that "stay-at-home" orders, which have increased interaction time between parents and their children, has been beneficial for younger children; inversely, more interaction between adolescents and parents-coupled with decreased socialization with peer groups—may be increasing family conflict and further adding to their overall stress in older participants. Finally, the majority of participants reported experiencing higher than normal levels of anxiety and stress, which is in line with reports from other studies surveying the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on youth^{67,68}. Interestingly, the majority of children and adolescents disagreed (or were neutral) on the proposition that they spent a lot of time worrying about the pandemic. Considering the noticeable effect the pandemic had on reported

improvements from treatment, this finding could suggest that the stressful impact of the pandemic is unconsciously experienced and may manifest in other forms, such as intrafamilial conflict.

5b.5.3 Cultural Considerations

One notable finding of this analysis was that over a third of the children and adolescents seen in the program identified as Indigenous Canadian. Preliminary research investigating the prevalence of CSA in Canadian Indigenous populations have reported rates of 20-25%, and there is evidence suggesting Indigenous youth are at a higher risk for CSA than their non-Indigenous counterparts⁶⁹. Further to this, Indigenous CSA survivors are more likely to be younger at the time of their abuse and are more likely to experience serious forms of CSA⁷⁰. Considering Indigenous youth are already at an elevated risk for PSTD, depression, substance abuse, and suicide⁷¹, it is imperative that an effective treatment program for these populations exists. The BBR utilizes cultural linkages and attempts to infuse Indigenous values and beliefs into the program to further amplify the positive effects of the program and make these individuals feel comfortable. This includes traditional sweat lodge ceremonies, smudging, traditional teaching, and involvement of local Elders.

5b.5.4 Limitations & Future Considerations

There several limitations to this analysis that may reduce the generalizability of the findings. Most significantly, this was a secondary analysis of data collected by an independent organization, it was not a clinical research study, and there was no comparison group. Without a comparison group, it is difficult to confidently attribute the reported improvements in mental health and well-being solely to the treatment program. We propose that future research should include a treatment-as-usual comparison group in order to fully elucidate the effects specifically attributed to treatment. Further to this, it is possible that some of the positive effects were a result of individuals staying in a highly supportive location with individuals who have had similar experiences, and that the benefits seen were non-specific benefits from the environment rather than the program therapies

specifically. However, since the creating a hospitable environment is an intentional characteristic of the program, any benefits from this part of treatment may be difficult to tease out. It should be noted that these results only encapsulate half of the entire treatment program, which consists of four treatment rounds over the course of 12-months. The purpose of this study was to provide evidence-based justification for further program assessment. Secondly, because data was collected entirely from self-report questionnaires, it is possible that the results are not entirely accurate in reflecting the true degree of symptom severity. Using clinician-rated measures or qualitative interviews to supplement these self-report measures could ensure more accurate data collection and correct for outliers or errors. Thirdly, differences in outcome improvements between groups were not statistically compared. The data analysis strategy relied on multiple group comparisons, and the researchers determined that increasing the number of comparisons would reduce the validity of the statistical analysis. As the primary objective of this research was to assess the impact of the program on mental health outcomes, and not to determine the differences between COVIDimpacted and non-impacted groups, a narrative approach was considered appropriate, with the caveat that these findings are only meant to guide future research. Finally, considering the significant proportion of children treated who identified as Indigenous Canadian, it would be useful for further research to carry out a sub-analysis on this population in order to determine whether or not Indigenous children receive greater or lesser benefit from the program than their non-Indigenous peers.

5b.5.5 Conclusion

The results of this study provide preliminary evidence that a multimodal treatment program specifically designed for youth CSA survivors has the capacity to provide widespread improvements in essential determinants of mental health and well-being. In both the child and adolescent programs, participants reported improvements in every domain under investigation after their first round of treatment. For those who underwent two treatment rounds, these positive improvements were maintained. However, considering this assessment was limited to the first half of the program, it's difficult to determine whether the outcomes reported were a result of acute treatment effects and whether these improvements are sustainable long-term. Further assessment

of the entire program will help support the findings of this study. Second, the findings of this study revealed a decrease in reported improvements for those participants who began their treatment after the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. This may suggest that the consequences of a global pandemic, including lockdowns, school closures, social distancing, and fear of illness, may exacerbate the effects of trauma and/or reduce the benefit of the therapy program. As such, the potential compounding impact that a global pandemic may have on traumatized individuals should be considered when treating this population.

5b.6 References

- 1. Spates RC, Samaraweera N, Plaisier B, et al. Psychological impact of trauma on developing children and youth. *Primary Care: Clinics in Office Practice*. 2007;34(2):387-405.
- 2. Burke NJ, Hellman JL, Scott BG, et al. The impact of adverse childhood experiences on an urban pediatric population. *Child Abuse & Neglect*. 2011;35(6):408-13.
- Hughes K, Bellis MA, Hardcastle KA, et al. The effect of multiple adverse childhood experiences on health: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Public Health*. 2017;2(8):e356-e366.
- Weathers FW, Keane TM. The criterion A problem revisited: Controversies and challenges in defining and measuring psychological trauma. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*. 2007;20(2):107-21.
- Herzog JI, Schmahl C. Adverse Childhood Experiences and the consequences on neurobiological, psychosocial, and somatic conditions across the lifespan. *Frontiers Psychiatry*. 2018;9:420.
- Middlebrooks JS, Audage NC. *The effects of childhood stress on health across the lifespan*. Center for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Injury Prevention and Control. Atlanta, Georgia. 2008.
- 7.

7. Chiu GR, Lutfey KE, Litman HJ, et al. Prevalence and overlap of childhood and adult physical, sexual, and emotional abuse: A descriptive analysis of results from the Boston Area Community Health (BACH) survey. *Violence and Victims*. 2013;28(3):381-402.

8. Martin EK, Silverstone PH. How much Child Sexual Abuse is "below the surface", and can we help adults identify it early? *Frontiers in Psychiatry: Child and Neurodevelopmental Psychiatry*. 2013;4:58.

- Barth J, Bermetz L, Heim E, et al. The current prevalence of child sexual abuse worldwide: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Public Health*. 2013;58(3):469-83.
- 10. Pereda N, Guilera G, Forns M, et al. The prevalence of child sexual abuse in community and student samples: a meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*. 2009;29(4):328-38.
- 11. Finkelhor D, Hammer H, Sedlak AJ. *Sexually assaulted children: national estimates and characteristics*. National Incidence Studies of Missing, Abducted, Runaway, and Thrownaway Children. US Department of Justice. 2008.
- MacMillan HL, Tanaka M, Duku E, et al. Child physical and sexual abuse in a community sample of young adults: results from the Ontario Child Health Study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*. 2013;37(1):14-21.
- 13. Stoltenborgh M, van Ijzendoorn MH, Euser EM, et al. A global perspective on child sexual abuse: meta-analysis of prevalence around the world. *Child Maltreatment*. 2011;16(2):79-101.
- 14. Kelley L, Karsna K. Measuring the scale and changing nature of child sexual abuse and child sexual exploitation: Scoping report. Center of expertise on child sexual abuse (CSA). London Metropolitan University, London. 2017.
- 15. Finkelhor D, Shattuck A, Turner HA, et al. The prevalence of child sexual abuse and sexual assault assessed in late adolescence. *Journal of Adolescent Health*. 2014;55(3):329-33.
- 16. Williams M. Evaluation of the NSPCC's Protect & Respect Child Sexual Exploitation Group Service. London: NSPCC. 2019.

- 17. Macdonald G, Livingstone N, Hanratty J, et al. The effectiveness, acceptability and costeffectiveness of psychosocial interventions for maltreated children and adolescents: an evidence synthesis. *Health Technol Assess*. 2016;20(69):1-508.
- 18. Putnam FW. Ten-year research update review: Child sexual abuse. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*. 2003;42(3):269-78
- 19. Bücker J, Kapczinki F, Post R, et al. Cognitive impairment in school-aged children with early trauma. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*. 2012;53(6):758-64.
- 20. Chen LP, Murad MH, Paras ML, et al. Sexual abuse and lifetime diagnosis of psychiatric disorders: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Mayo Clinic proceedings*. 2010;85(7):618-29.
- 21. Maniglio R. The impact of child sexual abuse on health: a systematic review of reviews. *Clinical Psychology Review*. 2009;29(7):647-57.
- 22. Robert R, O'Connor T, Dunn J. The effects of child sexual abuse in later family life: Mental health, parenting and adjustment of offspring. *Child Abuse & Neglect*. 2004;28(5):525-45.
- 23. Fergusson DM, Boden JM, Horwood JL. Exposure to childhood sexual and physical abuse and adjustment in early adulthood. *Child Abuse & Neglect*. 2008;32(6):607-19.
- 24. Tremblay C, Hebert M, Piche C. Type I and type II posttraumatic stress disorder in sexually abused children. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*. 2000;1:65-90.
- 25. Hetzel-Riggin MD, Brausch AD, Montgomery BS. A meta-analytic investigation of therapy modality outcomes for sexually abused children and adolescents: an exploratory study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*. 2007;31(2):125-41.
- 26. Duffany A, Panos PT. Outcome evaluation of a group treatment of sexually abused and reactive children. *Research on Social Work Practice*. 2009;19(3):291-303,

- 27. Tourigny M, Hebert M, Daigneault I, et al. Efficacy of group therapy for sexually abused adolescent girls. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*. 2005;14(4):71-93.
- 28. Signal T, Taylor N, Prentice K, et al. Going to the dogs: A quasi-experimental assessment of animal assisted therapy for children who have experienced abuse. *Applied Developmental Science*. 2017;21(2):81-93.
- 29. Dietz TJ, Davis D, Pennings J. Evaluating animal-assisted therapy in group treatment for child sexual abuse. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*. 2012;21(6):665-83.
- 30. Slade MK, Warne RT. A meta-analysis of the effectiveness of trauma-focused cognitivebehavioural therapy and play therapy for child victims of abuse. *Journal of Young Investigators*. 2016;30:36-43.
- 31. Wesselmann D, Armstrong S, Schwietzer C, et al. An integrative EMDR and family therapy model for treating attachment trauma in children: A case series. *Journal of EMDR Practice and Research*. 2018;12(4):197-207.
- 32. Shapiro F. The role of Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing (EMDR) Therapy in medicine: Addressing the psychological and physical symptoms stemming from adverse life experiences. *The Permanente Journal*. 2014;18(1):71-7.
- 33. Waller D. Art therapy for children: how it leads to change. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry*. 2006;11(2):271-82.
- 34. D'Andrea W, Bergholz L, Fortunato A, et al. Play to the whistle: A Pilot investigation of a sports-based intervention for traumatized girls in residential treatment. *Journal of Family Violence*. 2013;28(7):739-49.

- 35. Sanchez-Meca J, Rosa-Alcazar AI, Lopez-Soler C. The psychological treatment of sexual abuse in children and adolescents: a meta-analysis. *International Journal of Clinical and Health Psychology*. 2011;11(1):67-93.
- 36. Ruf M, Schauer M. Facing childhood trauma: Narrative exposure therapy within a cascade model of care. In J. Murray (Ed.), Exposure therapy: New developments (pp. 229-261). Nova Science Publishers. 2012.
- 37. Perry BD. The Neurosequential model of therapeutics: Applying principles of neuroscience to clinical work with traumatized and maltreated children, In: Working with Traumatized Youth in Child Welfare (Nancy Boyd Webb, Ed.). The Guilford Press, New York, NY, pp. 27-52. 2006.
- 38. Reeson M, Polzin W, Pazderka H, et al. A novel 2-week intensive multimodal treatment program for child sexual abuse (CSA) survivors is associated with mental health benefits for females aged 13-16. *Journal of the Canadian Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*. 2020;29(3):165-76.
- Chawla N, Tom A, Sen MS, et al. Psychological impact of COVID-19 on children and adolescents: A systematic review. *Indian Journal of Psychological Medicine*. 2021;43(4):294-9.
- 40. 40. Cheng SKW, Wong CW. Psychological intervention with suffers from severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS): lessons learnt from empirical findings. *Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy*. 2005;12(1):80-6.
- 41. 41. Chua SE, Cheung V, McAlonan GM, et al. Stress and psychological impact on SARS patients during the outbreak. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*. 2004;49(6):385-90.
- 42. Bradbury-Jones C, Isham L. The pandemic paradox: The consequences of COVID-19 on domestic violence. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*. 2020;29(13-14):2047-9.

- 43. Kuehn BM. Surge in child abuse, harm during COVID-19 pandemic reported. *JAMA*. 2020;324(7):621.
- 44. Augusti EM, Skjorshammer SS, Hafstad GS. Violence and abuse experiences and associated risk factors during the COVID-19 outbreak in a population-based sample of Norwegian adolescents. *Child Abuse & Neglect*. 2021;118:105156.
- 45. Tener D, Marmor A, Katz C, et al. How does COVID-19 impact intrafamilial child sexual abuse? Comparison analysis of reports by practitioners in Israel and the US. *Child Abuse & Neglect*. 2021;116(pt2):104779.
- 46. Ramaswamy S, Seshadri S. Children on the brink: Risks for child protection, sexual abuse, and related mental health problems in the COVID-19 pandemic. *Indian Journal of Psychiatry*. 2020;62(Suppl 3):S404-13.
- 47. Sserwanja Q, Kawuki J, Kim JH. Increased child abuse in Uganda amidst COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Pediatrics and Child Health*. 2020;57(2):188-91.
- 48. Wang G, Zhang Y, Zhao J, et al. Mitigate the effects of home confinement on children during the COVID-19 outbreak. *Lancet*. 2020;395(10228):945-7.
- 49. Ghosh R, Dubey MJ, Chatterjee S, et al. Impact of COVID-19 on children: special focus on the psychosocial aspect. *Minerva Pediatrica*. 2020;72(3):226-35.
- Matthews T, Danese A, Wertz J, et al. Social isolation, loneliness, and depression in young adulthood: A behavioural genetic analysis. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*. 2016;51(3):339-48.

- 51. Brazendale K, Beets MW, Weaver RG, Pate, R.R., et al. Understanding differences between summer vs. school obesogenic behaviors of children: the structured days hypothesis. *International Journal of Behavioural Nutrition and Psychial Activity*. 2017;14:100.
- 52. Zhou SJ, Zhang LG, Wang LL, et al. Prevalence and socio-demographic correlates of psychological health problems in Chinese adolescents during the outbreak of COVID-19. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*. 2020;29(6):749-58.
- 53. Nearchou F, Flinn C, Niland R, et al. Exploring the impact of COVID-19 on mental health outcomes in children and adolescents: a systematic review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*. 2020;17(22):8479.
- 54. Mannarino AP, Cohen JA, Deblinger E, et al. Trauma-focused cognitive-behavioral therapy for children: sustained impact of treatment 6 and 12 months later. *Child Maltreatment*. 2012;17(3):231-41.
- 55. Berline L, Elliot D. *Sexual abuse in children*. In J. Myers et al. (Ed.) The ASPAC handbook on child maltreatment (2nd ed.) (pp. 55-73). London, UK: Sage Publications India Pvt. 2002.
- 56. Kundakovic M, Champagne FA. Early-life experiences, epigenetics, and the developing brain. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. 2015;40:141-53.
- 57. Nemeroff CB. Neurobiological consequences of childhood trauma. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*. 2004;65(SUpp1):18-28.
- 58. Schore AN. The effects of early relational trauma on right-brain development, affect regulation, and infant mental health. *Infant Mental Health Journal*. 2001;22(1-2):201-69.
- Pazderka H, Brown M, Agyapong V, et al. Collective trauma and mental health in adolescents: a retrospective cohort study of the effects of retraumatization. *Frontiers Psychiatry*. 2021;12:682041.

- 60. Juruena MF, Eror F, Cleare AJ, et al. *The role of early life stress in HPA axis and anxiety*. In : Kim YK. (eds) Anxiety Disorders, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology, vol 1191. Springer, Singapore. 2020.
- Anacker C, O'Donell KJ, Meaney MJ. Early life adversity and the epigenetic programming of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal function. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*. 2014;16(3):321-33.
- 62. Sanner CM, Neece CL. Parental distress and child behavior problems: parenting behaviors as mediators. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*. 2017;27:591-601
- 63. Mackler JS, Kelleher RT, Shanahan L, et al. Parenting stress, parental reactions, and externalizing behaviors from ages 4 to 10. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*. 2015;77(2):388-406.
- 64. Schmidt RA, Genois R, Jin J, et al. The early impact of COVID-19 on the incidence, prevalence, and severity of alcohol use and other drugs: A systematic review. *Drug and alcohol dependence*. 2021;228:109065.
- 65. Kelly Y, Zilanawala A, Booker C, et al. Social media use and adolescent mental health: findings from the UK millennium cohort study. *EClinicalMedicine*. 2019;6:59-68.
- 66. Alsubaie MM, Stain HJ, Webster LAD. The role of sources of social support on depression and quality of life for university students. *International Journal of Adolescence and Youth*. 2019;24:484-96.
- 67. Villani L, Pastorino R, Molinari E, et al. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on psychological well-being of students in an Italian university: a web-based cross-sectional survey. *Globalization and Health*. 2021;17(39):<u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12992-021-00680-w</u>.

- 68. Meherali S, Punjani N, Louie-Poon S, et al. Mental health of children and adolescents amidst COVID-19 and past pandemics: A rapid systematic review. *IJERPH*. 2021;18(7):3432.
- 69. Collin-Vezina D, Dion JTN. Sexual abuse in Canadian Aboriginal communities: a broad review of conflicting evidence. *Pimatisiwin: A Journal of Aboriginal and Indigenous Community Health*. 2009;7(1):27-47.
- 70. Du Mont J, Kosa D, McDonald S, et al. A comparison of Indigenous and non-Indigenous survivors of sexual assault and their receipt of and satisfaction with specialized health care services. *PLoS One*. 2017;12(11):e0188253.
- 71. Nelson SE, Wilson K. The mental health of Indigenous peoples in Canada: A critical review of research. *Social Science & Medicine*. 2017;176:93-112.

5b.7 Additional Information

5b.7.1 Declaration of Interest

The author(s) declare no potential conflicts of interest with respect to research, authorship, or publication of this article.

5b.7.2 Funding

Funding for this analysis was provided by Little Warriors via an unrestricted educational grant to the University of Alberta. MR funding was provided through a Mitacs Accelerate award.

5b.7.3 Acknowledgments

We wish to acknowledge the extensive support from an independent charity, Little Warriors (http://littlewarriors.ca), that designed and organizes the Be Brave Ranch facility among its various activities. We were grateful for the provision of an anonymized database, which allowed examination of the data described within this publication.

5b.7.4 Author Contribution

All authors made significant intellectual contributions to this manuscript. Research questions, study design and research methods were developed by MR, HP, WP, and PS, with expertise and consultation provided by AG, VA, GH, YW, and LS. Manuscript was written primarily by MR, with assistance from HP and PS. Data was collected and statistically analyzed by MR with the assistance of input from PS, HP, and AG. All authors contributed to the editorial process and approved the final version of this manuscript.

5b.8 Tables

5b.8.1 TABLE 1. Demographic information for participants in a multimodal treatment program designed for youth child sexual abuse survivors aged 8-16. Pre-Covid participants underwent their treatment round(s) prior to March, 2020; Covid impacted participants underwent their treatment round(s) following May, 2020.

Child Program		Pre-Covid (n=38)	Covid Impacted (n=44)	Total (n=82)		
Mean age (years)		10.9 ± 1.3	10.4 ± 1.3	10.7 ± 1.3		
Grade						
3		4 (10.5%)	4 (9.1%)	8 (9.8%)		
4		6 (15.8%)	7 (15.9%)	13 (15.9%)		
5		5 (13.2%)	12 (27.3%)	17 (20.7%)		
6		13 (34.2%)	13 (29.5%)	26 (31.7%)		
7		6 (15.8%)	7 (15.9%)	13 (15.9%)		
8		4 (10.5%)	1 (2.3%)	5 (6.1%)		
Sex						
М		16 (42.1%)	9 (20.5%)	25 (30.5%)		
F		22 (57.9%)	35 (79.5%)	57 (69.5%)		
Gender Identity						
М		15 (39.5%)	7 (15.9%)	22 (26.8%)		
F		20 (52.6%)	26 (59.1%)	46 (56.1%)		
Noi	n-binary	3 (7.9%)	11 (25.0%)	14 (17.1%)		
Identify as Indigenous		14 (36.8%)	16 (36.4%)	30 (36.6%)		

Adolescent Program	Pre-Covid (n=33)	Covid Impacted (n=42)	Total (n=75)
Mean age (years)	14.1 ± 0.9	14.3 ± 1.5	14.3 ± 1.5
Grade			
7	1 (3.0%)	5 (11.9%)	6 (8.0%)
8	6 (18.2%)	6 (14.3%)	12 (16.0%)
9	13 (39.4%)	13 (31.0%)	26 (34.7%)
10	12 (36.4%)	11 (26.2%)	23 (30.7%)
11	1 (3.0%)	7 (16.7%)	8 (10.6%)
Sex			
М	0 (0%)	4 (9.5%)	4 (5.4%)
F	33 (100%)	38 (90.5%)	71 (94.6%)
Gender Identity			
М	0 (0%)	4 (9.5%)	4 (5.4%)
F	29 (87.9%)	32 (76.2%)	61 (81.3%)
Non-binary	4 (12.1%)	6 (14.3%)	10 (13.3%)
Identify as Indigenous	11 (33.3%)	19 (45.2%)	30 (40.0%)

5b.8.2 TABLE 2. Number of participants who answered "Yes" to questions in the Environmental Questionnaire designed for youth child sexual abuse survivors aged 8-12 undergoing a multimodal treatment program. Participant answers were recorded at initial admission (baseline). Pre-Covid participants underwent their treatment round(s) prior to March, 2020; Covid impacted participants underwent their treatment round(s) following May, 2020

Environmental Questionnaire Child Participants	Pre-Covid (n=38)	Covid Impacted (n=44)	Total (n=82)
Do you socialize with friends outside of school?	28 (73.7%)	31 (70.5%)	59 (72.0%)
Do you do any activities outside of school (e.g., sports teams, clubs, etc.)?	31 (81.6%)	25 (56.8%)	56 (68.3%)
Do you have your own bedroom?	30 (78.9%)	39 (88.6%)	69 (84.1%)
Do you feel safe in your home?	33 (86.8%)	40 (90.9%)	73 (89.0%)
Do you have an adult you can trust?	34 (89.5%)	39 (88.6%)	73 (89.0%)
After disclosing your trauma:			
Did you feel believed?	30 (78.9%)	32 (72.3%)	62 (75.6%)
Did you feel supported?	33 (86.8%)	27 (61.4%)	60 (73.2%)
Did you feel like it was acted on properly?	30 (78.9%)	33 (75.0%)	63 (76.8%)
Environmental Questionnaire Adolescent Participants	Pre-Covid (n=33)	Covid Impacted (n=42)	Total (n=76)
Do you hang out with friends outside of school?	28 (84.8%)	27 (64.3%)	55 (73.3%)

Do you do any activities outside of school (e.g., sports teams, clubs, etc.)?	22 (66.7%)	23 (54.8%)	35 (46.7%)
Do you have your own bedroom?	31 (93.9%)	39 (92.9%)	70 (93.3%)
Do you feel safe in your home?	30 (91.0%)	40 (95.2%)	70 (93.3%)
Do you have an adult you can trust?	26 (78.8%)	37 (88.1%)	63 (84.0%)
After disclosing your trauma:			
Did you feel believed?	28 (84.8%)	23 (54.8%)	51 (60.0%)
Did you feel supported?	25 (75.8%)	28 (66.7%)	53 (70.7%)
Did you feel like it was acted on properly?	19 (57.6%)	16 (38.1%)	35 (46.7%)

5b.8.3 TABLE 3a. Results from self-report questionnaires answered by young child sexual abuse survivors (aged 8-12) engaged in a multimodal treatment program for their abuse.

CHILD	Domain (range)	Median	95% CI	Median	95% CI	Δ%	р	p*	
PROGRAM		(B)		(T1/T2)					
		Ro	und One Resu	lts (n=82)					
Pre-COVID (n=38)	PTSD (0-51)	25	[20, 31]	18.5	[15, 26]	-26.0%	0.036	0.083	
	Depression (0-30)	20.5	[14, 23]	13	[11, 22]	-36.6%	0.05	0.01	
	Anxiety (0-45)	21	[17, 28]	15.5	[13, 24]	-26.2%	0.001	0.008	
	Quality of Life (0-44)	24	[22, 27]	26	[24, 29]	8.3%	0.093	0.13	
	Self-Esteem (0-30)	15.5	[12, 19]	18	[15, 20]	16.1%	0.015	0.05	
COVID-Impacted	PTSD (0-51)	29.5	[25, 34]	23	[18, 28]	-22.0%	0.001	0.01	
(n=44)	Depression (0-30)	18.5	[14, 22]	14.5	[11, 18]	-21.6%	0.005	0.031	
	Anxiety (0-45)	23	[17, 26]	17.5	[13, 22]	-23.9%	0.093	0.13	
	Quality of Life (0-44)	25	[22, 28]	26	[23, 29]	4.0%	0.29	0.073	
	Self-Esteem (0-30)	15.5	[14, 17]	17	[14, 19]	9.7%	0.17	0.21	
	Round Two Results (n=50)								
	PTSD (0-51)	27	[15, 33]	21.5	[11, 29]	-20.4%	0.015	0.05	

Pre-COVID (n=24)	Depression (0-30)	20.5	[11, 23]	13.5	[11, 20]	-34.1%	0.11	0.14
	Anxiety (0-45)	24	[14, 29]	18.5	[10, 23]	-22.9%	0.091	0.13
	Quality of Life (0-44)	23	[21, 26]	26	[20, 29]	13.0%	0.32	0.36
	Self-Esteem (0-30)	16	[11, 22]	16.5	[12, 22]	3.1%	0.88	0.88
COVID-Impacted	PTSD (0-51)	27	[22, 32]	23	[12, 30]	-14.8%	0.22	0.26
(n=26)	Depression (0-30)	16.5	[13, 23]	12	[8, 19]	-27.3%	0.01	0.048
	Anxiety (0-45)	18	[16, 25]	13.5	[9, 22]	-25.0%	0.14	0.18
	Quality of Life (0-44)	27	[22, 29]	28.5	[26, 31]	5.6%	0.066	.12
	Self-Esteem (0-30)	17	[13, 21]	19	[13, 21]	11.8%	0.33	.36

Footnote: Median scores are reported from initial admission (B), end of treatment round one (T1), and end of treatment round two (T2). Participant answers were recorded at initial admission (baseline). Pre-Covid participants underwent their treatment round(s) prior to March, 2020; Covid impacted participants underwent their treatment round(s) following May, 2020

5b.8.4 TABLE 3b. Results from self-report questionnaires answered by adolescent child sexual abuse survivors (aged 13-17) engaged in a multimodal treatment program for their abuse.
TEEN	Domain (range)	Median	95% CI	Median	95% CI	Δ%	р	p *				
PROGRAM		(B)		(T1/T2)								
Round One Results (n=75)												
Pre-COVID	PTSD (0-51)	32	[23, 17]	22	[17, 29]	-31.3%	< 0.001	0.005				
(n=33)	Depression (0-27)	14	[12, 15]	11	[8, 12]	-21.4%	0.007	0.031				
	Anxiety (0-21)	16	[13, 18]	11	[7, 14]	-31.3%	< 0.001	0.007				
	Quality of Life (0-44)	19	[16, 22]	21	[17, 23]	10.5%	0.026	0.069				
	Self-Esteem (0-30)	10	[7, 12]	12	[10, 15]	20.0%	0.012	0.048				
COVID-	PTSD (0-51)	30	[25, 34]	25.5	[17, 30]	-15.0%	0.02	0.048				
Impacted	Depression (0-27)	12.5	[10, 14]	11	[8, 13]	-12.0%	0.11	0.14				
(n=42)	Anxiety (0-21)	14	[12, 16]	10	[9, 13]	-28.6%	0.007	0.026				
	Quality of Life (0-44)	19.5	[16, 23]	20	[19, 23]	2.6%	0.08	0.13				
	Self-Esteem (0-30)	12	[10, 15]	14	[11, 15]	16.7%	0.02	0.062				
Round Two Results (n=47)												
	PTSD (0-51)	32	[24, 36]	23	[20, 30]	-28.1%	0.007	0.031				

Pre-COVID	Depression (0-27)	14	[12, 15]	10	[7, 12]	-28.6%	0.026	0.059
(n=23)	Anxiety (0-21)	18	[15, 20]	11	[8, 15]	-38.9%	0.003	0.024
	Quality of Life (0-44)	19	[16, 23]	21	[19, 24]	10.5%	0.057	0.10
	Self-Esteem (0-30)	9	[6, 11]	10	[8, 13]	11.1%	0.11	0.14
COVID-	PTSD (0-51)	28.5	[15, 34]	21	[13, 27]	-26.3%	0.041	0.091
Impacted	Depression (0-27)	12	[8, 14]	10	[5, 11]	-16.7%	0.093	0.13
(n=24)	Anxiety (0-21)	14	[8, 18]	10	[8, 16]	-28.6%	0.32	0.36
	Quality of Life (0-44)	20.5	[16, 24]	22	[18, 24]	7.3%	0.40	0.42
	Self-Esteem (0-30)	14.5	[12, 17]	15	[9, 19]	3.4%	0.65	0.67

Footnote: Median scores are reported from initial admission (B), end of treatment round one (T1), and end of treatment round two (T2). Participant answers were recorded at initial admission (baseline). Pre-Covid participants underwent their treatment round(s) prior to March, 2020; Covid impacted participants underwent their treatment round(s) following May, 2020

5b.9 Figures

5b.9.1 FIGURE 1. Percent improvements in median self-report questionnaire scores for child survivors of child sexual abuse (aged 8-12) engaged in a multimodal treatment program.



Footnote: Pre-Covid participants underwent their treatment round(s) prior to March, 2020; Covid impacted participants underwent their treatment round(s) following May, 2020. Round 1 results represent the change in median score from baseline to the end of the first round of treatment; Round 2 results represent the change in median scores from baseline to the end of treatment.

* (p<0.05); ** (p<0.01) [p-values are adjusted based on Benjamini-Hochberg method for false discovery rate correction]; variability indicators represent standard error

5b.9.2 FIGURE 2: Percent improvements in median self-report questionnaire scores for adolescent survivors of child sexual abuse (aged 13-16) engaged in a multimodal treatment program for their abuse.



Footnote: Pre-Covid participants underwent their treatment round(s) prior to March, 2020; Covid impacted participants underwent their treatment round(s) following May, 2020. Round 1 results represent the change in median score from baseline to the end of the first round of treatment; Round 2 results represent the change in median scores from baseline to the end of treatment.

* (p<0.05); ** (p<0.01) [p-values are adjusted based on Benjamini-Hochberg method for false discovery rate correction]; variability indicators represent standard error

5b.9.3 FIGURE 3: Results from the COVID-19 Questionnaire for child survivors of child sexual abuse (aged 8-12) engaged in a multimodal treatment program for their abuse



Footnote: The results show the level of agreement or disagreement with each statement (see Appendix A for full questionnaire). Higher levels of agreement equate to a greater self-reported impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.



5b.9.4 FIGURE 4: Results from the COVID-19 Questionnaire for adolescent survivors of child sexual abuse (aged 13-16) engaged in a multimodal treatment program for their abuse

Footnote: The results show the level of agreement or disagreement with each statement (see Appendix A for full questionnaire). Higher levels of agreement equate to a greater self-reported impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.

5b.10 Appendix A: Assessment Details

5b.10.1 Outcome Measures

5b.10.1.1 PTSD

Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) levels were assessed using the Child PTSD Symptom Scale (CPSS), a validated self-report outcome measure for this population. The CPSS contains 17questions relating to the frequency of each PTSD symptom listed in the *DSM-V*. Answer options are given on a Likert-scale ranging from 0 (*not at all*) to 3 (*5 or more times a week*). Total scores range from 0-51 and represent the following sub-categories: (0-10) *Below Threshold*, (11-15) *Subclinical/Mild*, (16-20) *Mild*, (21-25), *Moderate*, (26-30) *Moderately Severe*, (31-40) *Severe*, and (41-51) *Extremely Severe*. A score of 15 or higher is considered an appropriate clinical cut-off for diagnosing PTSD. CPSS scores were collected at every timepoint.

5b.10.1.2 Depression & Anxiety

Depression and anxiety were measured using the 25-question Revised Children's Anxiety and Depression Scale (RCADS-25), which is a shortened version of the more extensive 47-question RCADS. The RCADS-25 is a validated self-report measure for depression and anxiety in children. The full questionnaire is broken down into two subscales for total depression and anxiety. Each question is scored on a Likert scale ranging from 0 (*never*) to 3 (*always*). Overall scores range from 0-75, with higher scores indicating a greater degree or anxiety and depression. The anxiety subscale includes 15 questions, and scores can range from 0-45; the depression subscale includes 10 questions and can range from 0-30. The threshold for severity varies between age and gender, thus there are not discrete cut-off score for this scale. RCADS-25 questionnaires were collected at all timepoints.

5b.10.1.3 Quality of Life

Quality of life was measured using the KIDSCREEN-10, a validated self-report measure designed for children and adolescents. KIDSCREEN-10 consists of 10 questions relating to how often the individual has positive experiences that are indicators of quality of life. Each question is scored on a Likert scale ranging from 0 (*not at all/never*) to 4 (*extremely/always*). KIDSCREEN-10 also contains a bonus question that asks: "In general, how would you say your health is?" in which the answers range from 0 (*poor*) to 4 (*excellent*). Overall scores range from 0-44, with higher scores indicating better quality of life. KIDSCREEN-10 questionnaires were collected at all timepoints.

5b.10.1.4 Self-Esteem

Self-esteem was measured using the Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale (RSES), a validated self-report measure for children. The RSES consists of 10 questions that ask the individual how much they agree or disagree with a statement relating to how they view themselves. The questions are scored on a Likert scale that ranges from 0 (*strongly agree*) to 3 (*strongly disagree*). A total score is achieved through summation of results, and can range from 0-30, with higher scores indicating better self-esteem. A score between 15-25 is considered in the *normal* range, with scores below 15 suggesting low self-esteem. RSES scores were collected at all timepoints.

5b.10.2 COVID Questionnaire

In order to assess the impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on those participants who began their treatment after its onset, a 6-question COVID Questionnaire was included in the baseline surveys for all participants. Each question was scored on a Likert scale ranging from 1 (*Strongly Disagree*) to 5 (*Strongly Agree*). The questions were worded so that stronger agreement (thus higher scores) indicated a greater impact of the pandemic.

The following questions relate to the COVID-19 Pandemic. Please indicate to what extent you agree or disagree with each statement:

- 1. The COVID-19 pandemic has increased my overall stress and anxiety
- 2. Social distancing has made me feel disconnected from my friends and/or family
- 3. I spend a lot of time worrying about the COVID-19 pandemic
- 4. Self-isolation has increased the amount of conflict with my family
- 5. My fears about COVID-19 have interfered with my plans for the future
- 6. The COVID-19 pandemic has increased the amount of time I spend on electronic devices

Chapter 6: Summary of Findings and Future Directions

6.1 Background

Child and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS) need evidence-based research to establish best-practice interventions¹. Considering three out of four mentally ill adults experience the onset of their symptoms prior to the age of 18², strategies aimed at improving CAMHS can proactively lessen the burden of adult mental illness and should be considered a top priority for the Canadian healthcare system^{3,4}. At present, there is no gold-standard for treatment, and evaluation of therapeutic programs is rarely conducted^{5,6}. Further, despite the large number of validated assessment tools available for this population, no consensus on the utilization of outcome measures in CAMHS currently exists¹. Without proper assessment, determining whether or not a treatment is "successful" is difficult.

An important consideration when treating mental illness in youth populations is the malleability of younger brains and the way in which this makes them more susceptible to environmental influences⁷⁻⁹. It has been well established that early-life stress increases the risk of mental illness and substance abuse in the impacted individual¹⁰. Despite the strong link between Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) and mental illness, limited research has attempted to determine what the best-practice treatment options are for youth with a history of early-life stress. It is possible that treatment programs focused on the specific experience(s) responsible for the onset of mental illness may be more beneficial than those aimed at a particular diagnosis or set of symptoms.

The aim of this dissertation was to provide recommendations on improving CAMHS. Specifically, this dissertation investigated the implementation of assessment tools in a youth treatment program, with a particular emphasis on the impact of early-life adversity on mental illness and treatment outcomes. The findings of these research studies are summarized below.

6.2 Summary of Findings

In chapter 2, a qualitative assessment of stakeholder perceptions at a child and adolescent psychiatric inpatient unit was conducted. Thematic analysis of focus group discussions helped identify important determinants of "success" in treatment. The findings were based on the perceptions of inpatient service providers as well as the parents of psychiatric inpatients. Thematic analysis revealed five primary components relevant to treatment success and stakeholder satisfaction: (1) the mental health and well-being of the child or adolescent; (2) the mental health and well-being of the parents; (3) the integrity of the child-parent dyad; (4) educational, social and occupational competency and success; (5) Interactions with services and institutions. Together, these five components represent factors that are significant when evaluating treatment success in CAMHS.

During these interviews, parents noted the negative impact of stigma, be it internal, coming in the form of negative self-perceptions, or external-unfair judgements from outside sources such as family, friends, and co-workers¹¹. These judgements may impact the well-being of both the child and parent, effectively impacting the strength of the parent-child dyad by inducing stress on the individual components of this relationship^{11,12}. Requiring mental health treatment can be particularly stigmatizing for a young person, especially in an inpatient setting which can feel "institutional" and separate from the outside world¹⁰. Stigmatization is a significant barrier to service access for youth and can negatively impact treatment outcomes^{12,13}. Parents also emphasized the benefit of the milieu in inpatient treatment, citing the important friendships and positive relationships developed with peers and staff while in the program. Positive socialization is a predictor of psychiatric inpatient treatment outcomes and should be considered an important aspect of any intensive treatment program for youth¹⁴. Furthermore, the structure and safety provided by the program was noted as an significant factor in treatment outcomes. For children and youth with severe mental illness, the routine structure and predictability inherent to intensive therapy has been associated with positive outcomes, particular in youth with exposure to early-life trauma^{15,16}.

Service providers emphasized the importance of the therapeutic milieu in determining treatment outcomes. The therapeutic milieu is inherent to intensive treatment programs, and is defined as the distinct combination of service providers (e.g., mental health professionals, social workers, teachers, etc.), therapeutic options (e.g., CBT, DBT, group therapy, etc.), and demographics of the youth in treatment (e.g., age, gender, diagnosis, developmental history, etc.)¹⁷. Intensive treatment programs generally implement an interdisciplinary approach with multiple therapeutic options¹⁸, and there is preliminary evidence that multimodal treatment may be superior to monotherapies¹⁹. The characteristics of youth concurrently undergoing treatment is an important determinant of treatment outcomes¹⁷. Service providers noted that without a waitlist "gatekeeper" who could determine the composition of certain cohorts, it was difficult to create the optimal blend of children or adolescents in the unit at any given time. Children who are surrounded by individuals with similar afflictions can help reduce the potential impact of stigma and assist in building the peer relationships important for treatment success²⁰. For youth with a history of early-life trauma, it may be particularly beneficial to be surrounded by peers with relatable experiences²¹.

The findings described in chapter 2 provided a framework for the subsequent research studies. Chapters 3-5 investigated treatment outcomes and relevant stakeholder information from a novel episodic and multimodal treatment program specifically designed for child sexual abuse (CSA) survivors aged 8-17—the Little Warriors Be Brave Ranch (BBR). The program consisted of four intensive rounds of treatment occurring over the course of one year. Each treatment round was 12-days in duration and required the participants to live at the facility^{*}. The multimodal structure of the BBR provided the benefit of an interdisciplinary approach, but does so in a remote camp-like setting designed to reduce the institutional atmosphere of an inpatient unit. The common ACE of sexual abuse influences the therapeutic milieu to provide participants with an environment that is accepting and understanding of their trauma. The program separated cohorts by age (children aged 8-12 or adolescents aged 13-17) and controlled for biological sex to further enhance the therapeutic milieu. The BBR requires caregiver engagement for treatment and emphasizes the importance of dyadic therapy in treatment outcomes.

Although research investigating the efficacy of multimodal treatment programs for mentally ill youth is scarce, there is preliminary evidence that intensive residential treatment centers are effective at improving outcomes in severely disturbed children²². Multimodal interventions have shown initial success in treating ADHD^{23,24} and eating disorders²⁵, but these programs differ from

^{*} The first round of treatment for the child program is 26 days

the BBR in their design and the interventions offered (e.g., pharmacotherapy). Intensive multimodal treatment has the capacity to care for individuals holistically, which may suggest multimodal treatment is best suited for youth struggling with adverse experiences (e.g., childhood trauma) rather than specific symptoms^{26,27}. By its very nature, multimodal treatment must have some flexibility built into the program design to accommodate the heterogeneity of individuals undergoing treatment²⁸. Furthermore, clearly defining eligibility criteria and individualizing treatment programming are considered essential for success in youth residential treatment²⁹. By limiting inclusion to CSA survivors, the BBR tailored treatment towards a specific experience or set of experiences, which may have increased treatment effects. Multimodal programs can attempt to integrate treatment of the cognitive, spiritual, perceptual, and sensory impacts of early-life trauma³⁰.

To develop a better representation of the population under consideration, chapter 3 investigated the history of ACEs for both the participants undergoing treatment and their biological caregivers. Early-life adversity may transmit intergenerationally, either by the impact of living with a parent suffering from a mental illness or substance abuse disorder, or through heritable epigenetic mechanisms linked to early-life stress³¹⁻³⁴. In chapter 3, the association of parent and child ACE scores was assessed. We found a moderate correlation (r[90]=0.44, p<0.001) between child and parent ACE scores. In a proportion analysis comparing the distribution of ACE scores with the general Alberta population, we found the reported level of ACEs to be significantly greater in both participants and their biological parents. Significantly, over 60% of parents surveyed reported being sexually abused in their childhood. These findings support previous research suggesting an increased risk for ACEs in the subsequent generations of trauma survivors^{10,33,34}. A history of sexual trauma, in particular, appears to increase the risk of CSA in a subsequent generation³⁵. A principal component analysis (PCA) conducted revealed three primary categories of ACEs: i) neglect, ii) lack of family cohesion, and iii) domestic violence. This suggests that differentiating between histories of household dysfunction, childhood abuse, and childhood neglect may be beneficial when considering treatment strategies and risk factors for CSA survivors.

The therapeutic design of the BBR is modelled around the Neurosequential Model of Therapeutics (NMT), as outlined by Perry (2006)³⁶. Some individuals with early-life trauma have a heightened

stress response as a result of their trauma; this overactivation of the sympathetic nervous system can lead to hypervigilance³⁷. In other cases, in an attempt to cognitively shelter from threats of the outside world, persistent stress can induce an immobilized state. Catatonia is a particularly common symptom in victims of severe abuse³⁸. The NMT adopts a "bottom-up" approach to treatment by first implementing therapies that treat anatomically lower brain regions (i.e., the brainstem and diencephalon) through repeated positive somatosensory stimulation. This can be accomplished through yoga and mindfulness, recreational and play therapy, massage therapy, and/or music and movement⁹. The idea is to first treat core areas of the brain responsible for somatic functioning and limbic regulation in order to build the cognitive capacity necessary for higher-level trauma-informed practices (e.g., trauma-focused cognitive behavioural therapy (tf-CBT)).

In chapter 4, a novel online cognitive assessment tool—MyCognition Quotient (MyCQ)—was used to assess whether child participants aged 8-12 showed improvements in cognitive functioning over the course of treatment. The goal was to determine whether a CSA therapeutic program, based off of the NMT framework, improved cognitive performance in five domains: attention, episodic memory, executive function, working memory, and processing speed. From the 54 children included in this study, the results showed an overall improvement in cognitive performance, with the mean age-standardized cognitive assessment score improving from the 48th percentile to the 53^{rd} (p=0.005). The most significant improvements were observed in executive function (13.8 percentile improvement, p<0.001) and attention (13.5 percentile improvement, p=0.009). The findings of this study provide preliminarily support for the effectiveness of the NMT model in improving cognitive performance in CSA survivors.

Following investigation of the effects of the BBR treatment program on cognitive performance, chapter 5a assessed outcomes of mental health and well-being in adolescent female CSA survivors after their initial round of treatment. Participants were asked to complete surveys consisting of a number of validated self-report questionnaires at initial admission and at discharge after 12-days of treatment. Surveys included questionnaires assessing PTSD, depression, anxiety, quality of life, self-esteem, and resilience. Of the 27 participants included in this study, the mean scores on each outcome measure improved over the course of treatment. Paired t-test analyses revealed

statistically significant reductions in PTSD (-20.3%, p=0.002), depression (-23.8%, p=0.001), and anxiety (-20.6%, p=0.006); likewise, mean scores for quality of life (17.6%, p=0.02) and self-esteem (22.9%, p=0.01) revealed statistically significant improvements. Considering the results only represent the first treatment round in which minimal tf-CBT is administered, it is possible that the highly supportive, safe, and fun environment provided by the BBR was responsible for the reported improvements, which is critical considering many participants may come from unstable environments where triggers of their abuse are present. The transition from stable environments to unstable may reverse the positive effects of treatment⁹, and the establishment of safety, comfortability, and trust is necessary for the success of the therapeutic alliance—itself an essential factor in treatment outcomes³⁹.

Finally, chapter 5b built on the findings of chapter 5a by conducting a comprehensive assessment of mental health outcomes in both child and adolescent programs, with a specific focus of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on treatment success. This study assessed the change in outcome measures relating to PTSD, depression, anxiety, quality of life, and self-esteem from initial admission to discharge at the end of the first two rounds of treatment (half the program). Secondarily, participant data was differentiated as either pre-COVID (completion of treatment rounds prior to January, 2020) and COVID-impacted (initiation of treatment after April, 2020^{*}).

Overall, positive changes were reported for all measures at both timepoints in both programs. In the child program, pre-COVID depression measures showed the largest improvements, with a 36.6% (p=0.05) reduction in reported symptoms after round one and a 34.1% (p=0.11) reduction after round two. In the pre-COVID adolescent group, the largest improvements were reported for anxiety at the ends of both treatment rounds (R1: -31.3%, p=0.007; R2: -28.6%, p=0.007). At nearly every timepoint in every domain measured, the improvements reported by the COVID-impacted cohorts were lower than those of the pre-COVID era—this was true for both children and adolescents. The findings suggests that the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic had a detrimental impact on participants which may have resulted in treatment resistance. School closures, lockdowns, anxiety around illness and death, fear of losing loved ones, and a reduction in peer

^{*} As a result of the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, the BBR was forced to close from January-April, 2020. Therefore, no participants were treated during this period.

interactions have all been suggested as ways in which the onset of the pandemic has negatively impacted youth⁴⁰⁻⁴². Participants in this study were asked to complete questionnaires inquiring about the impact of the pandemic on their daily life. Both children and adolescents reported feeling disconnected from others, spending more time on electronic devices and social media, and experiencing increased levels of stress and anxiety. Despite spending more time socializing online, participants felt isolated and lonely, which highlights the way in which social media is a poor substitute for face-to-face interaction and has been shown to exacerbate mood disorders, particularly in adolescent females⁴³. Adolescents also reported higher levels of family conflict, which may amplify the risk for mental health problems as parent-child conflict is a risk factor for mental illness⁴⁴.

In summary, the findings of this dissertation support the implementation of routine outcome assessment in a child and adolescent residential mental health treatment program using validated self-report measures. Stakeholder perceptions are essential to consider in this context, especially for parents. Considering the therapeutic milieu is a key component of any successful treatment program—this is true for both the composition of service providers, the combination of the treatments offered, and the demographics of the youth undergoing treatment^{15,17}. The well-developed association of early-life stress and mental illness provides the rationale for collecting ACE-related data to inform service providers about trauma histories of both participants and their caregivers. Furthermore, creating treatment programs designed for a specific experience rather than a diagnosis may be useful for those with high levels of early-life adversity. Combining these considerations with rigorous and comprehensive outcome data will help improve services and maximize treatment effectiveness. By treating individuals earlier in life, CAMHS can prospectively lessen the significant burden of adult mental illness and substance abuse. Furthermore, treating traumatized youth has the capacity to break the chain of intergenerational trauma and prevent the onset of severe mental illness in youth.

6.3 Limitations

6.3.1 Sample Size and Program Assessment

Some of the findings of this dissertation are limited by the small sample sizes included in the research studies. Since participation in the discussions was limited to those who voluntarily agreed to partake and those who were available at the time, the focus groups conducted in chapter 2 only included ten parents total. Likewise, only six service providers volunteered to partake in the third focus group, and there was an unequal distribution of the provider types, with a bias towards administrative employees and social workers rather than mental health therapists, which may have skewed the results. The sample sizes in chapter 5a included fewer than 50 participants which limits the generalizability of the findings; however, chapter 5b included a sample size of over 150 participants and added to the findings from chapter 5a.

There were a number of reasons for the smaller sample sizes. First, limitations in facility size and resources available constricted the BBR to treating 10-15 participants at any given time. Second, a significant number of participants dropped out from the program or were discharged for inappropriate behavior. Dropout is a common challenge when engaging with intensive treatment programs for mentally ill youth⁴⁵. Third, the longitudinal design of the BBR slows the rate at which participant data can be fully collected. For this reason, chapter 5a only assessed participants who completed the first treatment round, and chapter 5b included only the first two rounds (half the program). Chapter 4 was the only study that investigated the impact of the entire one-year program, but this was limited to children aged 8-12 because the adolescent program had not been implemented yet.

Second, none of the studies conducted were randomized controlled trials (RCTs), which limits the ability to isolate treatment effects from potential confounds such as the positive and stable environment at the BBR. With the exception of chapter 4, the assessment studies in this dissertation did not include a comparison group. Conducting a true RCT with a vulnerable population is difficult as it is unethical to purposely withhold treatment from vulnerable populations, but comparing outcomes from waitlist controls or CSA participants undergoing other forms of treatment would have improved the generalizability of the results. The cognitive assessment tool used in chapter 4 generated a percentile score based off age-standardized performance; this score

was derived from a large and unrelated population. Unfortunately, relevant demographic information such as prevalence of mental illness or history of early-life adversity was not available for this comparison group. To improve validity, the studies conducted in Chapters 5a and 5b followed the National Institutes of Health (NIH) guidelines for pre-post studies with no control group⁴⁶. This includes clearly identifying the study objective, eligibility criteria, intervention characteristics, and outcomes measured; conducting appropriate statistical analysis; and separation from participants and researchers analyzing the data. Abiding by these guidelines strengthened both research and program design.

6.3.2 Data Collection and Analysis

The findings of chapters 3-5 relied solely on convenience sample data from self-report outcome measures. Although the measures implemented were valid and reliable, the subjectivity inherent to self-report minimizes the strength of the results⁴⁷. To improve the validity of the findings, questionnaire scores were shared with on-site therapists as an adjunct to care plan formation; as such, therapists were able to communicate with researchers if any of the survey data reported was incongruent with observations of the therapists. Collecting data from other stakeholders, including caregivers, community members, and service providers is another useful way to control for the subjectivity of self-report⁴⁸. Unfortunately, this data was difficult to collect due to the sensitive nature of engaging with stakeholders in this setting, as well as the lack of motivation some caregivers expressed in engaging with the research.

Another limitation of this dissertation is the variation in statistical methods used. In chapters 5a and 5b, the outcome measures used consisted of Likert scale scoring systems. For this type of data, a non-parametric analysis of statistical significance is considered more appropriate, since a normal distribution cannot be assumed. However, non-parametric analyses tend to have less power than parametric testing, which risks reducing the statistical strength of the conclusions⁴⁹. In this dissertation, I have used both parametric and non-parametric data based on the advice of a voluntary scientific and research committee formed to guide the research at the BBR. In general, a traditional thesis carries the expectation that the method should be entirely consistent; however,

it may be argued that, in a paper-based thesis—where results are presented and published on a project-by-project basis—what is important is that there is consistency in the standard statistical measures used, the data are orderly, and the effects are statistically significant. I contend that using a variety of methods is a strength of the this dissertation because both analyses resulted in essentially the same effects.

Although this dissertation engaged both qualitative and quantitative methods, none of the studies involved a mixed-methods approach, which combines both qualitative and quantitative data into one assessment. Supplementing quantitative findings with qualitative data is a useful way to improve the reliability and validity of results⁵⁰. The initial aim of the research conducted at the GRH inpatient unit was to conduct a quantitative analysis of inpatient outcome measures. However, upon investigation into data collection, it was revealed that routine outcome assessment was being collected on very few patients, creating a significant barrier to carrying out a successful quantitative analysis. As such, the study pivoted to a qualitative analysis when quantitative data is unavailable. No qualitative analysis was done with youth inpatients at the GRH or with any of the stakeholders at the BBR. This was due to the sensitive nature of stakeholder engagement in these settings. Although I would have liked to collect qualitative findings, because of the unique connection between clinical staff and clients in this population, a consensus of opinion among the research leads was that it may be inappropriate for such a qualitative study to be conducted by an individual without clinical training and clinical practice credentials such as myself.

6.3.3 Response shift

Response shift relates to how patients interpret their underlying mental illness and the ways in which they may perceive treatment success⁵¹. Response shifts result from reconceptualization of one's condition by redefining conditions (e.g., anxiety or depression), reprioritization of factors that indicate improvement, and recalibration of the interpretation of self-report measures/scales⁵². In general, response shifts can lead to noise in the data that makes it difficult to determine whether improvement is real or perceived⁵³. As there was no pre-post analysis in Chapters 2 and 3 of this

dissertation, response shift was not a relevant limitation to these studies. However, for Chapters 4, 5a, and 5b, the hospitable environment of the BBR may have been a respite for many participants from their stressful home lives which may have caused response shifts that biased the data. This limitation potentially may be overcome by increasing the sample size and supplementing quantitative data with qualitative analysis.

6.3.4 Researcher bias

Implicit biases can often influence the interpretation and validity of research data and should be considered with any scientific investigation⁵⁴. The author of this dissertation was employed by the BBR to assess potential benefits of the program, with the hope that evidence-based research would support the program's design. Acknowledging that there was an implicit bias to find positive results, we implemented strategies to mitigate this bias. A scientific and research committee consisting of both BBR stakeholders and mental health and psychiatric professionals external to the BBR—oversaw all research studies conducted. Researchers were not present during the time of data collection to ensure participants were not biased by their presence. Considering both treatment settings investigated in this dissertation were intensive child and adolescent programs, there were understandable sensitivities around researcher access to participants. Collaboration between clinical staff and researchers is essential to facilitate research in these contexts, and the staff at the BBR were instrumental in maintaining data collection. As stated, we have been careful to note the limitations of the data collected and that the conclusions are based on a relatively small data set. From an academic perspective, statistically significant preliminary results are only valuable if they are replicated and extended in future work, so I have avoided making definitive claims in relation to conclusions.

6.4 Recommendations for Future Research

The following recommendations for future research consider the aforementioned limitations and suggest ways in which the findings of this dissertation can be improved upon.

6.4.1 Inclusion of relevant stakeholders in outcome assessment

Determining treatment outcomes in mental health services is a challenging process because mental illness manifests heterogeneously. The complex interaction of genetic predispositions and environmental experiences produces a spectrum of psychiatric disorders, many of which overlap in their clinical presentation⁵⁵. Self-report measures are often utilized in mental health treatment settings in an effort to assess the patient's perception of treatment success; however, assessing patient perception is only one of many relevant determinants of treatment effects. Outcomes obtained from relevant stakeholders should be incorporated into any mental health service⁴⁸; this is particularly true for youth, whose outcomes are highly associated with the health of the parent-child relationship⁵⁶. Parental stress and mental illness have been well-established as risk factors for youth mental health disorders and substance use issues and should be considered in outcome assessments⁵⁷. Furthermore, consultation with other relevant stakeholders such as academic experts in child and adolescent psychology and education, clinicians and practitioners, teachers, community members, family members, and peers should be considered as standard practice^{58,59}.

The qualitative analysis conducted in chapter 2 revealed a multitude of important factors relevant to stakeholders, but was limited to service providers and caregivers of adolescent psychiatric inpatients. Future research should expand on these findings by increasing the number of participants interviewed and attempt to engage with a variety of stakeholders. Assessment should be expanded to different treatment services such as outpatient programs or transition services. Using these findings, researchers can develop holistic outcome measures that appropriately capture treatment success. The incorporation of multiple sources of data will help maximize treatment efficacy and guide CAMHS in providing best-practice and evidence-based treatment⁶⁰.

6.4.2 The significance of ACEs and intergenerational trauma

It has been well established that early-life adversity is associated with the early onset of mental illness and substance abuse^{61,62}; further, children whose parents have a history of ACEs are more likely to inherit the neurological impacts of early-life stress^{31,63}. The findings of chapter 3 suggest

that obtaining information relating to trauma-histories may be a helpful in assisting therapists in understanding the antecedents relevant to individual mental illness. This could assist service providers in providing personalized interventions that are finely tailored to individual needs in order to maximize treatment effects⁶⁴. Future research should investigate how the incorporation of this information into empirically supported therapies can improve treatment outcomes.

Although it is true that not all ACEs result in trauma, the two are highly linked. Trauma is strongly predictive of treatment outcomes in a child and adolescent context; this is particularly true for individuals who have suffered more severe traumas (e.g., sexual or physical abuse), and those who have survived multiple traumatic events²⁶. In a Canadian context, the significantly higher rates of mental illness, substance abuse, and suicide in Indigenous populations is an important consideration⁶⁵. An association between exposure to the Indian Residential School system and risk for mental illness and suicide has been established^{66,67}. Investigating the intergenerational impact of trauma that Indigenous youth in these communities have faced, and continue to face, should be a priority for researchers. Future research should focus on engagement with Indigenous communities across Canada, with an emphasis on improving access to services, and developing a culturally sensitive approach to mental health care in these communities⁶⁸.

6.4.3 Assessment of multimodal treatment for CSA survivors

6.4.3.1 Full Program Assessment

The longitudinal design of the BBR—coupled with the unanticipated forced shutdown upon the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic—limited the number of participants who had completed the entire program over the course of investigation. The preliminary results of this dissertation support the positive impact of treatment on this population; however, whether these improvements maintain over time is unclear. Future research should assess the changes in outcomes over the course of the full treatment program as compared to partial program completion. These findings will provide a better understanding of the impact of a longitudinal and episodic treatment design. Obtaining outcomes at intake and discharge of each treatment round may provide a better

understanding of the acute effects of treatment. Furthermore, observing how outcomes change in between treatment rounds may provide an indication of the challenges each child or adolescent faces when leaving the treatment facility.

Evaluation of the BBR is constrained by its longitudinal program design and its limited capacity. Intensive residential treatment programs require significant investment of time and resources to be implemented effectively²⁸. As a result, the number of individuals who can be treated at any given time is limited by the resources available to the treatment facility. At the BBR, only 15-20 individuals will complete the full program within any 12-month window, which limits the sample size and requires any comparison group to remain engaged with treatment longitudinally. A stepped-wedge randomized cluster design (SWD) is a method to overcome this constraint⁶⁹. In a SWD, participant data collection begins prior to the initiation of an intervention so that the change in outcomes with and without the intervention can be monitored for each individual. Participants act as their own controls (i.e., internal controls) which may overcome some of the heterogeneity in symptom manifestation common to CSA survivors⁷⁰. Each new cohort initiates treatment after the preceding cohort(s) so data can accumulate over time. Ideally, SWDs include regular outcome collection from multiple treatment sites⁶⁹. A noted limitation of this dissertation is that data collection was limited to a single treatment center. Future research should utilize SWDs in multiple settings to compare outcomes with other youth treatment programs. In doing so, treatment designs can be evaluated for efficacy internally, while being concurrently appraised against alternative programs. This would provide useful information on best-practice treatment approaches and assist in determining who is most likely to benefit from specific treatment options. Unfortunately, studies such as these require significant buy-in and resource investment, making them difficult to implement⁶⁹. In the BBR context, the recent development an online psychoeducational program designed for adolescent CSA survivors provides an opportunity to overcome this constraint. Future studies could include participants receiving the online program as a comparative cluster in a SWD. Based on availability, waitlist participants could be randomized into treatment only, psychoeducation only, or psychoeducation plus treatment, to determine the impacts of each intervention on outcomes. Using a SWD in this context can help to produce relevant outcome data without having to randomize vulnerable individuals into less intensive interventions that may not provide any therapeutic benefit⁷¹.

Another focus of future research should be on the development and evaluation of transitional processes aimed at supporting individuals after treatment. Integration of follow-up programs and aftercare is considered a key component of youth residential treatment centers²⁸. Implementing strategies aimed at assisting youth following discharge from treatment is essential to maintain treatment effects and prevent readmission⁷². Incorporating the development of life skills, psychoeducation, educational support, community engagement, and family functioning are useful strategies to prepare the child or adolescent for life post-discharge⁷³. At present, the BBR has developed an online psychoeducational program designed for caregivers to assist them in understanding the complexity of their child's mental health problems and help them become more effective caregivers. In doing so, caregivers can be trained in skills that assist in the maintenance of positive improvements gained from treatment. Encouraging the implementation of similar programs is a useful way to improve outcomes long-term.

6.4.3.2 Comparison of outcomes to other populations

The lack of comparison groups in chapters 5a and 5b is a limitation to this dissertation. Future investigation of treatment success should compare mental health outcomes to other children and adolescents. A number of relevant comparison groups could be used for investigation, including: (1) CSA survivors not undergoing multimodal treatment, including those on the waiting list for treatment; (2) Youth undergoing multimodal treatment for non-CSA related mental illness (e.g., psychiatric inpatients with no history of CSA) ; (3) Youth undergoing multimodal treatment with a history of other forms of ACE (e.g., physical abuse, neglect, verbal abuse, etc.); (4) Youth CSA survivors undergoing monotherapy for their abuse. Each of these groups can be enrolled in a SWD study which facilitates comparisons both within individuals and between groups. Doing this successfully may demonstrate which treatment options are most beneficial for specific individuals, effectively maximizing treatment efficiency. However, this kind of approach requires significant funding, which we did not have access to.

6.4.3.3 Comparing outcomes for CSA survivors with or without PTSD

Trauma- and stress-related disorders are described in the DSM-V-TR as those disorders in which the primary cause of dysfunction is exposure to a traumatic or stressful event⁷⁵. Although earlylife adversity will generally induce some form of acute trauma, a diagnosis of PTSD requires the disturbance to last for more than a month. A common misconception is that all CSA survivors suffer from PTSD but roughly 40-50% of CSA survivors meet the diagnostic criteria for PTSD^{76,77}. Future research should investigate whether treatment outcomes differ for PTSD vs non-PTSD CSA survivors, particularly in treatment programs that are primarily trauma-focused. As PTSD and CSA are more common and more persistent in females^{2,78}, treatment specific to PTSD and CSA in females may benefit the largest number of individuals.

6.4.3.4 Comparing multimodal treatment to other evidence-based treatment programs

The primary treatment program under consideration in this thesis was a complex, episodic, and multimodal treatment program. This program is novel in its design, which makes it difficult to find similar programs to directly compare it against. Preliminary evidence suggests that combination of evidence-based treatments may have the highest potential for improving outcomes⁷⁸. At present, there is no gold-standard for combination therapy in CAMHS, including the interventions that should be included and the way in which these interventions should be combined. In a trauma context, any future multimodal treatment program should follow the BBR design in combining the common elements of well-established treatments for traumatized youth. These include: (1) Psychoeducation about trauma-prevalence, impact and intervention; (2) Training in emotion regulation strategies (e.g., cognitive coping or emotional relaxation); (3) Some form of exposure therapy; (4) Cognitive processing therapy; and (5) Development of problem solving and life skills⁷⁹. Furthermore, intensive treatment programs for youth should consider the critical factors of success for residential treatment outlined by Kinark Child and Family Services in Ontario²⁸. Comparing multimodal treatment against monotherapy and other forms of combination therapy may be essential to determine the potential benefit of these programs for CAMHS.

6.4.3.5 The impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on youth mental health

The COVID-19 pandemic began in the midst of the research conducted in this dissertation. Government emergency measures led to severe restrictions on social settings, including closures of schools, and restrictive policies resulted in severe disruptions in the daily life of most individuals. The long-term impact of the pandemic is still unclear, but preliminary research suggests that social distancing, lockdowns, school closures, and the collective trauma of a public health crisis, has led to higher levels of individual stress and poorer mental health outcomes in youth^{41,80}. Early research indicates that this may be particularly true for adolescents⁸¹. The onset of the COVID-19 pandemic provided me with a unique opportunity to assess the impact of a global pandemic on already vulnerable population. By comparing outcomes from children and adolescents undergoing treatment before and after the pandemic's onset, preliminary results revealed a potential resistance to treatment in pandemic-impacted participants. Wherever possible, future research should compare outcomes before and after the onset of the pandemic to further determine the impact of a collective trauma on child and adolescent mental health. Considering adolescents appear to be more prone to the negative effects of the pandemic, research investigating mitigation strategies, such as programs that enhance social interaction in a safe and healthy manner, should be conducted 42,80 .

6.5 Conclusion

The aim of this dissertation was to provide recommendations that may improve mental health treatment and services for youth. The burden of mental illness on the healthcare system can be significantly reduced by proactively treating individuals early in the course of their condition. Increased awareness and education regarding mental health disorders in children and adolescents has helped shift the focus towards action and prevention, but the lack of standardization in outcome assessment remains a significant barrier to determining best-practice approaches. Considering the strong association between early-life adversity and youth mental illness, including trauma histories in screening and assessment is necessary. The intergenerational transmission of ACEs and their

subsequent impact must also be considered when treating this population. Engaging in psychoeducation and transitional support for youth and caregivers is likely to further enhance treatment outcomes.

As this thesis was conducted in two intensive treatment settings, the work naturally flowed into consideration of outcomes in an inpatient clinical setting on the one hand, and a community-based residential treatment program on the other. The success of any mental health intervention is predicated on stakeholder perceptions of treatment outcomes—this is particularly true in a youth context. Engaging relevant stakeholders in treatment outcomes is necessary to properly evaluate the performance of an intervention. Intensive programs, such as inpatient or residential services, require significant resource allocation and are generally reserved for individuals with severe mental illness. From a public health perspective, identifying and treating youth with mental illness appropriately and effectively should be the highest priority⁸². From a health economics perspective, maximizing the availability and efficiency of these services is of the utmost importance⁸³.

This dissertation provides examples of the implementation of routine outcome assessment as means of evaluating a novel youth residential treatment program for CSA survivors. Based on the work I've done, it is clear that there is insufficient access and funding towards CAMHS. For services to be successful going forward, the most appropriate treatment for mentally ill youth in various contexts—be it inpatient, outpatient, or community-based—need to be identified, implemented, and made accessible. There is a huge need to evaluate whether intensive treatment settings are effective and, if so, who they are most effective for. By using routine outcome assessment, the most resource and time intensive treatment options can be assessed, improved upon, and maximized for efficiency. Without the adoption of universal outcome measures, it is not possible to get a clear view of how the investments in child and adolescent mental health should be made. Optimally, funding should be allocated to research that utilizes a mixed methods approach of analysis in order to successfully appraise service access, acceptability, appropriateness, effectiveness, efficiency, and safety^{84,85}. The BBR design, with its built-in program evaluation and routine outcome assessment, provides an excellent framework for how youth residential treatment programs should be constructed.

Finally, the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic was an unanticipated interruption to the course of this research. The resultant policy changes, such as school closures and lockdowns, caused major disruptions in the daily life of children and adolescents globally. The preliminary findings from this research highlighted the damaging impact mass trauma can induce on an already vulnerable population. Future research investigating the mental health effects of the COVID-19 pandemic is necessary. The significant impact of environmental stressors—such as early-life trauma or a global pandemic—on the onset of mental illness cannot be overstated. Considering the constellation of mental health problems associated with ACEs, future research that investigates treatment programs aimed at specific experiences (e.g., CSA) rather than specific diagnoses or symptomatology is needed. The preliminary findings from the Be Brave Ranch suggest that this strategy may be effective, and this question warrants further investigation.

6.6 References

- 1. Mental Health Commission of Canada. *The Mental Health Strategy for Canada: A youth perspective*. Ottawa, ON: MHCC. 2015.
- Kessler RC, Berglund P, Demler O, et al. (Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 2005; 62(6): 593-602.
- 3. Weisz JR, Sandlers IN, Durlak JA, et al. Promoting and protecting youth mental health through evidence-based prevention and treatment. *Am Psychol*. 2005;60(6):628-48.
- 4. Malla A, Shah J, Iyer S, et al. Youth mental health should be a top priority for health care in Canada. *Can J Psychiatry*. 2018;63(4):216-22.
- Collishaw S. Annual research review: Secular trends in child and adolescent mental health. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2015;56(3):370-93.
- 6. Jaffa T, Stocc C. Do inpatient adolescent units recover? A study of outcome and acceptability of treatment. *Eur Child Adolesc Psyhciaty*. 1999;8:292-300.
- Chapman DP, Whitefield CL, Felitti VJ et al. Adverse childhood experiences and the risk of depressive disorders in adulthood. *J Affect Disord*. 2004;82(2):217-25.
- Spenrath MA, Clarke ME, Kutcher S. The science of brain and biological development: implications for mental health research, practice and policy. *J Can Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2011;20(4):298-304.
- Perry BD. Examining child maltreatment through a neurodevelopmental lens: Clinical applications of the Neurosequential Model of Therapeutics *Journal of Loss and Trauma*. 2009;14:240-55.

- 10. Anda RF, Whitfield CL, Felitti VJ, et al. Alcoholic parents, later risk of alcoholism and depression. *Psychiatr Serv.* 2002;53(8):1001-9.
- 11. Gray AJ. Stigma in psychiatry. Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine. 2002;95(2):72-6.
- 12. Sickel AE, Seacat JD, Nabors NA. Mental health stigma update: a review of consequences. *Advances in Mental Health*. 2014;12:202-15
- 13. Heflinger CA, Hinshaw SP. Stigma in child and adolescent mental health services research: understanding professional and institutional stigmatization of youth with mental health problems and their families. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health*. 2010;37(1):61-70.
- 14. Gill F, Butler S, Pistrang N. The experience of adolescent inpatient care and the anticipated transition to the community: Young people's perspectives. *J Adolesc*. 2016;46:57-65
- 15. American Association of Children's Residential Centers. Trauma-informed care in residential treatment. *Residential Treatment for Children & Youth*. 2014;31(2):97-104.
- 16. Briggs EC, Greeson JKP, Layne CM, et al. Trauma exposure, psychosocial functioning, and treatment needs of youth in residential care: preliminary findings from the NTSN core data set. *J Child Adoles Trauma*. 2012;5(2):1-15.
- 17. Gaenellos R. The milieu and milieu therapy in adolescent mental health nursing. *International Journal of Psychiatric Nursing Research*. 2000;5(3):638-48.
- Hegedus A, Kozel B, Fankhauser N, et al. Outcomes and feasibility of the short transitional intervention in psychiatry in improving transition from inpatient treatment to the community: A pilot study. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*. 2017;27(2):571-80.

- Reeves G, Anthony B. Multimodal treatment versus pharmacotherapy alone in children with psychiatric disorders: implications of access, effectiveness, and contextual treatment. *Paediatr Drugs*. 2009;11(3):165-9.
- 20. Millard H, Parke S, Wilson C, et al. Inpatient milieu therapy: considerations for adolescent and transitional age youth. *Adolescent Psychiatry*. 2020;10(1):7-16.
- Chouliara Z, Karatzias T, Gullone A. Therapeutic change in group therapy for interpersonal trauma: a relational framework for research and clinical practice. *J Interpers Violence*. 2020;35(15-16):2897-916.
- 22. Larzelere RE, Dinges K, Schmidt MD, et al. Outcomes of residential treatment: a study of the adolescent clients of Girls and Boys Town. *Child and Youth Care Forum*. 2001;30:175-85.
- 23. MTA Cooperative Group. National Institute of Mental Health multimodal treatment study of ADHD follow-up: 24-month outcomes of treatment strategies for attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Pediatrics*. 2004;113(4):754-61.
- 24. Swanson JM, Arnold LE, Molina BSG. Young adult outcomes in the follow-up of the multimodal treatment study of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: symptom persistence, source discrepancy and heigh suppression. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2017;58(6):66-78
- 25. Halmi KA. The multimodal treatment of eating disorders. World Psychiatry. 2005;4(2):69-73.
- 26. Boyer SN, Hallion LS, Hammell CL, et al. Trauma as a predictive indicator of clinical outcome in residential treatment. *Residential Treatment for Children & Youth*. 2009;26(2):92-104.
- 27. Foa EB, Keane TM, Friedman MJ. (Eds.) Effective treatments for PTSD: Practice guidelines from the International Society for Traumatic Stress. The Guilford Press. 2000.

- Lazarus CN, Lazarus AA. *Multimodal Therapy*. Handbook of Psychotherapy Integration 2. 2019.
- 29. Johnson LL, Van Wagner V, Sheridan M, et al. Strengthening children's mental health residential treatment through evidence and experience. Markham, ON; Kinark Child and Family Services. 2015.
- Zahn BS, Schug SE. The Survivors Project: A multimodal therapy program for adolescents in residential treatment who have survived child sexual abuse. *Residential Treatment for Children* & Youth. 1993;11(2):65-87.
- 31. Lev-Wiesel R. Intergenerational transmission of trauma across three generations: A preliminary study. *Qualitative Social Work*. 2007;6(1):75-94.
- 32. Yehuda R, Daskalakis NP, Bierer LM. Holocaust exposure induced intergenerational effects on FKBP5 methylation. *Biol Psychiatry*. 2016;80(5):372-80.
- 33. Bezo B, Maggi S. Living in 'survival mode': intergenerational transmission of trauma from the Holodomor genocide of 1932-33 in Ukraine. *Soc Sci Med*. 2016;134:87-94.
- 34. Fitzgerald M, London-Johnson A, Gallus KL. Intergenerational transmission of trauma and family systems theory: an empirical investigation. *J Fam Therapy*. 2020;42(3):406-24.
- 35. McCloskey LA, Bailey JA. The intergenerational transmission of risk for child sexual abuse. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*. 2000;15(10):1019-35.
- 36. Perry BD. *Applying principles of neurodevelopment to clinical work with maltreated and traumatized children: The Neurosequential Model of Therapeutics*, In: Working with traumatized youth in child welfare (pp. 27-52). The Guilford Press. 2006.

- Porges SW. The polyvagal theory: phylogenetic contributions to social behavior. *Physiol Behav.* 2003;79(3):503-13.
- 38. Dhossche DM, Ross CA, Stoppelbein L. The role of deprivation, abuse, and trauma in pediatric catatonia without a clear medical cause. *Acata Psychiatr Scand*. 2012;125(1):25-32.
- Cloitre M, Stovall-McClough KC, Miranda R, et al. Therapeutic alliance, negative mood regulation, and treatment outcome in child abuse-related posttraumatic stress disorder. J Consult Clin Psychol. 2004;72(3):411-6.
- 40. Chawla N, Tom A, Sen MS. Psychological impact of COVID-19 on children and adolescents: A systematic review. *Indian J Psychol Med*. 2021;43(4):294-99.
- 41. Wang G, Zhang Y, Zhao J. Mitigate the effects of home confinement on children during the COVID-19 outbreak. *The Lancet*. 2020;395(10228):P945-947.
- 42. Ghosh R, Dubey MJ, Chatterjee S, et al. Impact of COVID-19 on children: special focus on the psychosocial aspect. *Minerva Pediatr*. 2020;72(3):226-35.
- 43. Kelly Y, Zilanawala A, Booker C, et al. Social media use and adolescent mental health: Findings from the UK millennium cohort study. *EClinicalMedicine*. 2019;6:59-68.
- 44. Burt SA, Krueger RF, McGUe M. Parent-child conflict and the comorbidity among childhood externalizing disorders. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 2003;60(5):505-13.
- 45. de Haan A, Boon AE, de Jong JT. A meta-analytic review on treatment dropout in child and adolescent outpatient mental health care. *Clin Psychol Rev.* 2013;33(5):698-711.
- 46. National Institutes of Health (NIH). Study Quality Assessment Tools. Retrieved from: https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-topics/study-quality-assessment-tools

- 47. Del Boca FK, Noll JA. Truth or consequences: the validity of self-report data in health services research on addictons. *Addiction*. 2000;95(Suppl3):S347-60.
- 48. Deighton J, Croudace T, Fonagy P, et al. Measuring mental health and wellbeing outcomes for children and adolescents to inform practice and policy: a review of child self-report measures. *Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health*. 2014;29(8):14.
- 49. Kanyongo GY, Brook GP, Kyei-Blankson L, et al. Reliability and statistical power: How measurement fallibility affects power and required sample sizes for several parametric and nonparametric statistics. *J Mod Appl Stat Methods*. 2007;6(1):81-90.
- 50. Green CA, Duan N, Gibbons RD. Approaches to mixed methods dissemination and implementation research: methods, strengths, caveats, and opportunities. *Adm Policy Ment Health*. 2015;42(5):508-25.
- 51. Fokkema M, Smits N, Kelderman H, et al. Response shifts in mental health interventions: an illustration of longitudinal measurement invariance. *Psychol Assess.* 2013;25(2):520-31.
- 52. Oort FJ, Visser MRM, Sprangers MAG. Formal definitions of measurement bias and explanation bias clarify measurement and conceptual perspectives on response shift. *J Clin Epidemiol.* 2009;62(11):1126-37.
- 53. Carlier IVE, van Eeden WA, de Jong K, et al. Testing for response shift in treatment evaluation of change in self-reported psychopathology amongst secondary psychiatric care outpatients. *Int J Methods Psych Research*. 2019;28(3):e1785.
- 54. Whitley R, Crawford M. Qualitative research in psychiatry. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*. 2005;50(2):108-14.
- 55. Wainberg ML, Scorza P, Shultz JM, et al. Challenges and opportunities in global mental health: a research-to-practice perspective. *Curr Psychiatry Rep.* 2017;19(5):28.
- 56. Sharma V, Hendon J, Churchill R, et al. Improving child and youth mental health: stakeholder perspectives from a cross-sectional survey to inform research priorities. *Mental Health & Prevention*. 2021;22:200201.
- 57. Jones JH, Call TA, Wolford SN, et al. Parental stress and child outcomes: the mediating role of family conflict. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*. 2021;30:746-56.
- 58. Garland AF, Lewczyk-Boxmeyer CM, Gabayan EN, et al. Multiple stakeholder agreement on desired outcomes for adolescents' mental health services. *Psychiatr Serv.* 2004;55(6)671-6.
- 59. Deighton J, Croudace T, Fonagy P, et al. Measuring mental health and wellbeing outcomes for children and adolescents to inform practice and policy: a review of child self-report measures. *Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health*. 2014;29(8):14.
- 60. Tate AE, McCabe RC, Larsson H, et al. Predicting mental health problems in adolescence using machine learning techniques. *PLoS One*. 2020;15(4):e0230389.
- 61. Zarse EM, Neff MR, Yoder R, et al. The ACE questionnaire: two decades of research on childhood trauma as a primary cause of adult mental illness, addiction, and medical diseases. *Cogent Medicine*. 2019;6(1):1581447.
- 62. Elmore AL, Crouch E. The association of Adverse Childhood Experiences with anxiety and depression for children and youth, 8 to 17 years of age. *Acad Pediatr*. 2020;20(5):600-8.
- 63. Narayan AJ, Liberman AF, Masten AS. Intergenerational transmission and prevention of adverse childhood experiences (ACE). *Clinical Psychology Review*. 2021;85:101997.

- 64. Ng MY, Weisz JR. Annual research review: building a science of personalized intervention for youth mental health. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*. 2016;57(3):216-36.
- 65. Nelson SE, Wilson K. The mental health of Indigenous peoples in Canada: A critical review of research. *Soc Sci Med*. 2017;176:93-112.
- 66. Wilk P, Maltby A, Cooke M. Residential schools and the effects on Indigenous health and well-being in Canada a scoping review. *Public Health Reviews*. 2017;37:8.
- 67. McQuaid RJ, Bombay A, McInnis OA, et al. Suicide ideation and attempts among First Nations people living on-reserve in Canada: The intergenerational and cumulative effects of Indian Residential Schools. *Can J Psychiatry*. 2017;62(6):422-30.
- 68. Mental Health Commission of Canada. *The Mental Health Strategy for Canada: A youth perspective*. Ottawa, ON: MHCC. 2015.
- 69. Hemming K, Haines TP, Chilton PJ, et al. The stepped wedge cluster randomized trial: rationale, design, analysis, and reporting. *BMJ*. 2015;350:h391.
- 70. Nemeroff CB. Neurobiological consequences of childhood trauma. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*. 2004;65(SUpp1):18-28.
- 71. Iyer SN, Shah J, Boksa P, et al. A minimum evaluation protocol and stepped-wedge cluster randomized trial of ACCESS Open Minds, a large Canadian youth mental health services transformation project. *BMC Psychiatry*. 2019;19:273.
- 72. Simon JB, Savina EA. Facilitating hospital to school transitions: practices of hospital-based therapists. *Residential Treatment for Children & Youth*. 2007;4(22):49-66.
- 73. Nickerson AB, Colby SA, Brooks JL, et al. Transitioning youth from residential treatment to the community: A preliminary investigation. *Child & Youth Care Forum*. 2007;36(2-3):73-86.

- 74. American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic Criteria and Code: trauma- and stressorrelated disorders*. In Diagnosis and statistical manual of mental disorders (5th ed.). 2013.
- 75. Gospodarevskaya E. Post-traumatic stress disorder and quality of life in sexually abuse Australian children. *J Child Sex Abuse*. 2013;22(3):277-96.
- 76. Rowan AB, Foy DW. Post-traumatic stress disorder in child sexual abuse survivors: A literature review. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*. 1993;6:30-20.
- 77. Barth J, Bermetz L, Heim E, et al. The current prevalence of child sexual abuse worldwide: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Public Health*. 2013;58(3): 469-83.
- 78. Dorsey S, McLaughlin KA, Kerns, SEU, et al. Evidence base update for psychosocial treatments for children and adolescents exposed to traumatic events. J Clin Child Adoles Psychol. 2017;46(3):303-30.
- 79. Deblinger E, Mannarino AP, Cohen JA, et al. A follow-up study of a multisite, randomized, controlled trial for children with sexual abuse-related PTSD symptoms. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2006;45(12):1474-84.
- Cost KT, Crosbie J, Anagnostou E, et al. Mostly worse, occasionally better: impact of COVID-19 pandemic on the mental health of Canadian children and adolescents. *Eur Child Adoles Psychiatry*. 2022;31(4):671-84.
- 81. Octavius GS, Silviani FR, Lesmandjaja A, et al. Impact of COVID-19 on adolescents' mental health: a systematic review. *Middle East Current Psychiatry*. 2020;27:72.
- Mei C, Fitzsimons J, Allen N, et al. Global research priorities for youth mental health. *Early Interv Psychiatry*. 2020;14(1):3-13.

- 83. Hamilton MP, Hetrick SE, Mihalopoulos C, et al. Identifying attributes of care that may improve cost-effectiveness in the youth mental health service system. *Med J Aust.* 2007;207(10):S27-37.
- 84. Cowell J, Harvie M. HQCA: Building a credible, transparent, and independent healthcare quality and safety organization in Alberta. In Healthcare Management Forum (Vol. 25, No. 4, pp. 185-87). Sage CA: Los Angeles, CA: SAGE Publications. 2012.
- 85. British Colombia Patient Safety & Quality Council. *BC Healthy Quality Matrix*. 2020. Retrieved from: <u>https://bcpsqc.ca/resource/bc-health-quality-matrix/</u>

Comprehensive Bibliography

- 1. Affifi TO, MacMillan HL. Resilience following child maltreatment: a review of protective factors. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*. 2011;56(5):266-72
- 2. Akoglu H. User's guide to correlation coefficients. *Turk J Emerg Med.* 2018;18(3):91-3.
- Alberta Health Services. Treatment Services for Youth. 2018. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.albertahealthservices.ca/amh/Page2546.aspx</u>
- Alberta Health Services. Volume Intake (2013-2019). Spreadsheets prepared by Alberta Health Services. Edmonton, AB: AHS. 2019.
- Alsubaie MM, Stain HJ, Webster LAD. The role of sources of social support on depression and quality of life for university students. *International Journal of Adolescence and Youth*. 2019;24:484-96.
- American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry. Improving mental health services in primary care: reducing administrative and financial barriers to access and collaboration. *Pediatrics*. 2009;123(4):1248-51.
- 7. American Association of Children's Residential Centers. Trauma-informed care in residential treatment. *Residential Treatment for Children & Youth*. 2014;31(2):97-104.
- 8. American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic Criteria and Code*: substance-related and addictive disorders. In *Diagnosis and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). 2013.

- 9. American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic Criteria and Code: trauma- and stressorrelated disorders*. In Diagnosis and statistical manual of mental disorders (5th ed.). 2013.
- 10. American Psychiatric Association. DSM-V Basics: Introduction. In *Diagnosis and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). 2013.
- Anacker C, O'Donell KJ, Meaney MJ. Early life adversity and the epigenetic programming of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal function. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*. 2014;16(3):321-33.
- 12. Anda RF, Whitfield CL, Felitti VJ, et al. Adverse childhood experiences, alcoholic parents, and later risk of alcoholism and depression. *Psychiatr Serv.* 2002;53(8):1001–9.
- Andersen SL, Tomada A, Vincow ES, et al. Preliminary evidence for sensitive periods in the effect of childhood sexual abuse on regional brain development. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci.* 2008;20(3): 292-301.
- 14. Ashton CK, O'Brien-Langer A, Silverstone PH. The CASA Trauma and Attachment Group (TAG) program for children who have attachment issues following early developmental trauma. *J Can Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2016;25(1):35–42.
- 15. Augusti EM, Skjorshammer SS, Hafstad GS. Violence and abuse experiences and associated risk factors during the COVID-19 outbreak in a population-based sample of Norwegian adolescents. *Child Abuse & Neglect*. 2021;118:105156.

- 16. Bagley C, Mallick K. Normative data and mental health construct validity for the Rosenberg self-esteem scale in British adolescents. *International Journal of Adolescence* and Youth. 2012;9(2-3):117-26.
- 17. Baker LM, Williams LM, Korgaonkar MS, et al. Impacts of early vs. late childhood early life stress on brain morphometrics, *Brain Imaging and Behavior*. 2012;7:196-203.
- 18. Barker G. Adolescents, social support and help-seeking behavior: An international literature review and programme consultation with recommendations for action. World Health Organization. 2007.
- Barth J, Bermetz L, Heim E, et al. The current prevalence of child sexual abuse worldwide: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Public Health*. 2013;58(3):469-83.
- 20. Batty MJ, Moldavsky M, Foroushani PS, et al. Implementing routine outcome measures in child and adolescent mental health services: From present to future practice. *Child and Adolescent Mental Health*. 2013;18(2):82-7.
- 21. Beitchman JH, Zucker KJ, Hood JE, DaCosta, et al. A review of the long-term effects of child sexual abuse. *Child Abuse & Neglect*. 1992:16(1):101-18.
- 22. Berline L, Elliot D. *Sexual abuse in children*. In J. Myers et al. (Ed.) The ASPAC handbook on child maltreatment (2nd ed.) (pp. 55-73). London, UK: Sage Publications India Pvt. 2002.

- 23. Berthelot N, Ensink K, Bernazzani O, et al. Intergenerational transmission of attachment in abused and neglected mothers: the role of trauma-specific reflective functioning. *Infant Ment Health J.* 2015;36(2):200-12.
- 24. Bezo B, Maggi S. Living in 'survival mode': intergenerational transmission of trauma from the Holodomor genocide of 1932-33 in Ukraine. *Soc Sci Med.* 2016;134:87-94.
- 25. Biegel GM, Brown KW, Shaprio SL, et al. Mindfulness-based stress reduction for the treatment of adolescent psychiatric outpatients: A randomized clinical trial. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*. 2009;77(5):855-66.
- 26. Blumberg MS, Freeman JH, Robinson SR. A new frontier for developmental behavioral neuroscience. In: Blumberg MS, Freeman JH, Robinson SR, (Ed.). Oxford handbook of developmental behavioral neuroscience. New York, NY: Oxford University Press. 2010.
- 27. Bogels SM, Hellemans J, van Deursen S, et al. Mindful parenting in mental health care: effects on parental and child psychopathology, parental stress, parenting, coparenting, and marital functioning. *Mindfulness*. 2013;5(5):536-51.
- Bombay A, Matheson K, Anisman H. The impact of stressors on second generation Indian residential school survivors. *Transcultural Psychiatry*. 2011;48:367-391.
- Bombay A, Matheson K, Anisman H. The intergenerational effects of Indian residential schools: Implications for the concept of historical trauma. *Transcultural Psychiatry*. 2013;51(3):320-38.

- 30. Bor W, Dean AJ, Najman J, et al. Are child and adolescent mental health problems increasing the 21st century? A systematic review. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry*. 2014;48(7):606-16.
- Boulier M, Blair M. Adverse childhood experiences. *Pediatrics and Child Health*. 2018;28(3):132-7.
- 32. Boursnell M. Parents with mental illness: the cycle of intergenerational mental illness. *Children Australia*. 2011;36(1):26-35.
- Boydell KM, Hodgins M, Pignatiello A, et al. Using technology to deliver mental health services to children and youth: A scoping review. *J Can Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2014;23(2):87-99.
- 34. Boyer SN, Hallion LS, Hammell CL, et al. Trauma as a predictive indicator of clinical outcome in residential treatment. *Residential Treatment for Children & Youth*. 2009;26(2):92-104.
- 35. Bradbury-Jones C, Isham L. The pandemic paradox: The consequences of COVID-19 on domestic violence. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*. 2020;29(13-14):2047-9.
- 36. Braithwaite J, Marks D, Taylor N. Harnessing implementation science to improve care quality and patient safety: a systematic review of targeted literature. *Int J Qual Health Care*. 2014;26(3):321-9.

- 37. Brann P, Alexander M, Coombs T. Routine outcome measurement in youth mental health: a comparison of two clinician rated measures, HoNOSCA and HoNOS. *Psychiatry Res.* 2012;200(2-3):884-9.
- Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*. 2006;3(2):77-101.
- 39. Brazendale K, Beets MW, Weaver RG, Pate, R.R., et al. Understanding differences between summer vs. school obesogenic behaviors of children: the structured days hypothesis. *International Journal of Behavioural Nutrition and Psychial Activity*. 2017;14:100.
- 40. Bremness A, Polzin W. Commentary: Developmental Trauma Disorder: A Missed Opportunity in DSM V. *J Can Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry* 2014;23(2):142–145.
- 41. Bremness A, Polzin W. Trauma-informed care. *J Can Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry* 2014;23(2):86.
- 42. Brewin CR. Episodic memory, perceptual memory, and their interaction: Foundations for a theory of posttraumatic stress disorder. *Psychological Bulletin*. 2014;140(1):69-97.
- 43. Brewin CR. Re-experiencing traumatic events in PTSD: new avenues in research on intrusive memories and flashbacks. *European J Psychotraumatology*. 2015;6:27180.
- 44. Briggs EC, Greeson JKP, Layne CM, et al. Trauma exposure, psychosocial functioning, and treatment needs of youth in residential care: preliminary findings from the NTSN core data set. *J Child Adoles Trauma*. 2012;5(2):1-15.

- 45. British Colombia Patient Safety & Quality Council. *BC Healthy Quality Matrix*. 2020. Retrieved from: <u>https://bcpsqc.ca/resource/bc-health-quality-matrix/</u>
- 46. Brodsky BS, Stanley B. Adverse childhood experiences and suicidal behavior. *Psychiatric Clinics of North America*. 2008;31(2):223-35.
- 47. Bücker J, Kapczinski F, Post R, et al. Cognitive impairment in school-aged children with early trauma. *Compr Psychiatry*. 2012;53(6):758-64.
- 48. Burke NJ, Hellman JL, Scott BG, et al. The impact of adverse childhood experiences on an urban pediatric population. *Child Abuse & Neglect*. 2011;35(6):408-13.
- 49. Burri A, Maercker A, Krammer S, et al. Childhood trauma and PTSD symptoms increase the risk of cognitive impairment in a sample of former indentured laborers in old age. *PLoS ONE*. 2013;8(2):e57826.
- 50. Burt SA, Krueger RF, McGUe M. Parent-child conflict and the comorbidity among childhood externalizing disorders. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 2003;60(5):505-13.
- 51. Butler LS, McPherson PM. Is residential treatment misunderstood? [Editorial]. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*. 2007;16(4):465-72.
- 52. Camoirano A. Mentalizing makes parenting work: A review about parental reflective functioning and clinical interventions to improve it. *Front Psychol.* 2017;8:14.
- 53. Campbell TCH, Reupert A, Sutton K, et al. Prevalence of mental illness among parents of children receiving treatment within child and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS): a scoping review. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2021;30(7):997-1012.

- 54. Canadian Substance Use Costs and Harms Scientific Working Group. Canadian substance use costs and harms (2007-2014). (Prepared by the Canadian Institute for Substance Use Research and the Canadian Center on Substance Use and Addiction). Ottawa, ON: Canadian Center on Substance Use and Addiction. 2018.
- 55. Carlier IVE, van Eeden WA, de Jong K, et al. Testing for response shift in treatment evaluation of change in self-reported psychopathology amongst secondary psychiatric care outpatients. *Int J Methods Psych Research*. 2019;28(3):e1785.
- 56. Carr CP, Martin CMS, Stingel AM, et al. The role of early life stress in adult psychiatric disorders: a systematic review according to childhood trauma subtypes. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*. 2013;201(12):1007-20.
- 57. Cash SJ, Bridge JA. Epidemiology of youth suicide and suicidal behavior. *Current opinion in pediatrics*. 2009;21(5):613-19.
- Champagne FA. Epigenetic mechanisms and the transgenerational effects of maternal care. *Front Neuroendocrinol.* 2008;29(3):386-97.
- 59. Chapman DP, Whitefield CL, Felitti VJ et al. Adverse childhood experiences and the risk of depressive disorders in adulthood. *J Affect Disord*. 2004;82(2):217-25.
- 60. Chawla N, Tom A, Sen MS, et al. Psychological impact of COVID-19 on children and adolescents: A systematic review. *Indian Journal of Psychological Medicine*. 2021;43(4):294-9.

- Chen LP, Murad MH, Paras ML, et al. Sexual abuse and lifetime diagnosis of psychiatric disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Mayo Clinic proceedings*. 2010;85(7):618-29.
- 62. Cheng SKW, Wong CW. Psychological intervention with suffers from severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS): lessons learnt from empirical findings. *Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy*. 2005;12(1):80-6.
- 63. Chiu GR, Luftey KE, Litman HJ, et al. Prevalence and overlap of childhood and adult physical, sexual, and emotional abuse: a descriptive analysis of results from the Boston Area Community Health (BACH) survey. *Violence Vict.* 2013;28:381-402.
- 64. Chouliara Z, Karatzias T, Gullone A. Therapeutic change in group therapy for interpersonal trauma: a relational framework for research and clinical practice. *J Interpers Violence*. 2020;35(15-16):2897-916.
- 65. Chua SE, Cheung V, McAlonan GM, et al. Stress and psychological impact on SARS patients during the outbreak. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*. 2004;49(6):385-90.
- 66. Cloitre M, Stovall-McClough KC, Miranda R, et al. Therapeutic alliance, negative mood regulation, and treatment outcome in child abuse-related posttraumatic stress disorder. *J Consult Clin Psychol.* 2004;72(3):411-6.
- 67. Cohen JA, Deblinger E, Mannarino AP, et al. A multi-site, randomized controlled trial for children with abuse-related PTSD symptoms. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*. 2004;43(4):393-402.

- 68. Collin-Vezina D, Dion JTN. Sexual abuse in Canadian Aboriginal communities: a broad review of conflicting evidence. *Pimatisiwin: A Journal of Aboriginal and Indigenous Community Health*. 2009;7(1):27-47.
- 69. Collishaw S, Pickles A, Messer J, et al. Resilience to adult psychopathology following childhood maltreatment: evidence from a community sample. *Child Abuse and Neglect*. 2007;31(3): 211-29
- Collishaw S. Annual research review: Secular trends in child and adolescent mental health. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*. 2015;56(3):370-93.
- 71. Cook A, Spinazzola J, Ford J, et al. Complex trauma in children and adolescents. *Psychiatric Annals.* 2005;35:390-8.
- 72. Copeland WE, Shanahan L, Hinesly J, et al. Association of childhood trauma exposure with adult psychiatric disorders and functional outcomes. *JAMA Netw Open*. 2018;1(7):e184493.
- 73. Cost KT, Crosbie J, Anagnostou E, et al. Mostly worse, occasionally better: impact of COVID-19 pandemic on the mental health of Canadian children and adolescents. *Eur Child Adoles Psychiatry*. 2022;31(4):671-84.
- 74. Costello EJ, Mustillo S, Erkanli A, et al. Prevalence and development of psychiatric disorders in childhood and adolescence. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 2003;60(8):837-44.

- 75. Cowell J, Harvie M. HQCA: Building a credible, transparent, and independent healthcare quality and safety organization in Alberta. In Healthcare Management Forum (Vol. 25, No. 4, pp. 185-87). Sage CA: Los Angeles, CA: SAGE Publications. 2012.
- 76. D'Andrea W, Bergholz L, Fortunato A, et al. Play to the whistle: A Pilot investigation of a sports-based intervention for traumatized girls in residential treatment. *Journal of Family Violence*. 2013;28(7):739-49.
- 77. Danese A, Caspi A, Williams B, et al. Biological embedding of stress through inflammation processes in childhood. *Molecular Psychiatry*. 2014;16(3):244-6.
- 78. Davis JP, Tucker JS, Stein BD, et al. Longitudinal effects of adverse childhood experiences on substance use transition patterns during young adulthood. *Child Abuse Negl.* 2021;120:105201.
- 79. de Haan A, Boon AE, de Jong JT. A meta-analytic review on treatment dropout in child and adolescent outpatient mental health care. *Clin Psychol Rev.* 2013;33(5):698-711.
- 80. Deater-Deckard K, Petrill SA. Parent-child dyadic mutuality and child behavior problems: an investigation of gene-environment processes. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*. 2004;45(6):1171-9.
- 81. Deblinger E, Mannarino AP, Cohen JA, et al. A follow-up study of a multisite, randomized, controlled trial for children with sexual abuse-related PTSD symptoms. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2006;45(12):1474-84.

- 82. Deblinger E, Stauffer LB, Steer RA. Comparative efficacies of supportive and cognitive behavioural therapies for young children who have been sexually abused and their nonoffending mothers. *Child Maltreatment*. 2001;6:332-43.
- 83. Deighton J, Croudace T, Fonagy P, et al. Measuring mental health and wellbeing outcomes for children and adolescents to inform practice and policy: a review of child self-report measures. *Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health*. 2014;29(8):14.
- 84. Del Boca FK, Noll JA. Truth or consequences: the validity of self-report data in health services research on addictons. *Addiction*. 2000;95(Suppl3):S347-60.
- 85. den Bleijker NM, van Schothorst MME, Hendriksen IJM, et al. Effectiveness and implementation of a multidisciplinary lifestyle focused approach in the treatment of inpatients with mental illness (MULTI+): a stepped wedge study protocol. *BMC Psychiatry*. 2022;22:230.
- Bhossche DM, Ross CA, Stoppelbein L. The role of deprivation, abuse, and trauma in pediatric catatonia without a clear medical cause. *Acata Psychiatr Scand*. 2012;125(1):25-32.
- 87. DiClemente CC, Schlundt D, Gemmell L. Readiness and stages of change in addiction treatment. *The American Journal on Addictions*. 2004;13(2):103-19.
- 88. Dietz TJ, David D, Pennings J. Evaluating animal-assisted therapy in group treatment for child sexual abuse. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*. 2012;21(6):665-83

- Bodaj A, Krajina M, Sesar K. The effects of maltreatment in childhood on working memory capacity in adulthood. *Eur J Psychol.* 2017;13(4):618-32.
- 90. Domen AC, van de Weijer SCF, Jaspers MW, et al. The validation of a new online cognitive assessment tool: The MyCognition Quotient. *International Journal of Methods in Psychiatric Research*. 2019;28(3):e1775.
- 91. Donald M, Dower J, Lucke J. Prevalence of adverse life events, depression and suicidal thoughts and behavior among a community sample of young people aged 15-24 years. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*. 2009;25(5):426-32.
- 92. Dong M, Anda RF, Dube SR, et al. The relationship of exposure to childhood sexual abuse to other forms of abuse, neglect, and household dysfunction during childhood. *Child Abuse & Neglect*. 2003;6:625-39.
- 93. Dorsey S, McLaughlin KA, Kerns, SEU, et al. Evidence base update for psychosocial treatments for children and adolescents exposed to traumatic events. *J Clin Child Adoles Psychol.* 2017;46(3):303-30.
- 94. Du Mont J, Kosa D, McDonald S, et al. A comparison of Indigenous and non-Indigenous survivors of sexual assault and their receipt of and satisfaction with specialized health care services. *PLoS One*. 2017;12(11):e0188253.
- 95. Dube SR, Anda RF, Felitti VJ, et al. Childhood abuse, household dysfunction, and the risk of attempted suicide throughout the life span: findings from the Adverse Childhood Experiences Study. *JAMA*. 2001;286(24):3089-96.

- 96. Dube SR, Williamson DF, Thompson T, et al. Assessing the reliability of retrospective reports of adverse childhood experiences among adult HMO members attending a primary care clinic. *Child Abuse Negl.* 2004;28:729–737.
- 97. Duffany A, Panos PT. Outcome evaluation of a group treatment of sexually abused and reactive children. *Research on Social Work Practice*. 2009;19(3):291-303,
- 98. Ebert DD, Zarski AC, Christensen H, et al. Internet and computer-based cognitive behavioral therapy for anxiety and depression in youth: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled outcome trials. *PLoS One*. 2015;10(3):e0119895.
- 99. Eisen SV, Ranganathan G, Seal P, et al. Measuring clinically meaningful change following mental health treatment. *J Behav Health Serv Res*. 2007;34(3):272-89.
- 100. Ellen ME, Leon G, Bouchard G, et al. Barriers, facilitators and views about next steps to implementing supports for evidence-informed decision-making in health systems: a qualitative study. Implement Sci. 2014;9:179.
- 101. Elmore AL, Crouch E. The association of Adverse Childhood Experiences with anxiety and depression for children and youth, 8 to 17 years of age. *Acad Pediatr*. 2020;20(5):600-8.
- 102. Epstein J, Klinkenberg WD. From Eliza to internet: A brief history of computerized assessment. *Computers in Human Behavior*. 2001;17(3):295-314.
- 103. Felitti VJ, Anda RF, Nordenberg D, et al. Relationship of Childhood Abuse and Household Dysfunction to Many of the Leading Causes of Death in Adults: The Adverse

Childhood Experiences (ACE) Study. *American Journal of Preventative Medicine*. 1998;14(4):245-58.

- 104. Fergusson DM, Boden JM, Horwood LJ. Exposure to childhood sexual and physical abuse and adjustment in early adulthood. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 2008;32:607-19.
- 105. Ferro MA. The Psychometric properties of the Kessler Psychological Distress Scale
 (K6) in an epidemiological sample of Canadian youth. *Can J Psychiatry*. 2019;64(9):64757.
- 106. Findlay LC, Sunderland A. Professional and informal mental health support reported by Canadians aged 15 to 24. *Health Reports*. 2014;25(12):3-11.
- 107. Finkelhor D, Hammer H, Sedlak AJ. *Sexually assaulted children: national estimates and characteristics*. National Incidence Studies of Missing, Abducted, Runaway, and Thrown-away Children. US Department of Justice. 2008.
- 108. Finkelhor D, Shattuck A, Turner HA, et al. The prevalence of child sexual abuse and sexual assault assessed in late adolescence. *Journal of Adolescent Health*. 2014;55(3):329-33.
- Fitzgerald M, London-Johnson A, Gallus KL. Intergenerational transmission of trauma and family systems theory: an empirical investigation. *J Fam Therapy*. 2020;42(3):406-24.

- 110. Foa EB, Keane TM, Friedman MJ. (Eds.) Effective treatments for PTSD: Practice guidelines from the International Society for Traumatic Stress. The Guilford Press. 2000.
- 111. Fokkema M, Smits N, Kelderman H, et al. Response shifts in mental health interventions: an illustration of longitudinal measurement invariance. *Psychol Assess.* 2013;25(2):520-31.
- Fonagy P, Luten P, Moulton-Perkins A, et al. Development and validation of a self-report measure of mentalizing: The reflective functioning questionnaire. *PLoS One*. 2016;11(7):e0158678.
- 113. Fontanella CA. The influence of clinical, treatment, and healthcare system characteristics of psychiatric readmission of adolescents. *The American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*. 2008;78 (2):187-98.
- 114. Fraser JG, Lloyd S, Murphy R, et al. A comparative effectiveness review of parenting and trauma-focused interventions for children exposed to maltreatment. *Journal of Developmental and Behavioural Pediatrics*. 2013;34(5):353-68.
- 115. Frensch KM, Cameron G. Treatment of choice or a last resort? A review of residential mental health placements for children and youth. *Child & Youth Care Forum*. 2002;31:307-39.
- 116. Gaenellos R. The milieu and milieu therapy in adolescent mental health nursing. International Journal of Psychiatric Nursing Research. 2000;5(3):638-48.

- Garland AF, Lewczyk-Boxmeyer CM, Gabayan EN, et al. Multiple stakeholder agreement on desired outcomes for adolescents' mental health services. *Psychatir Serv.* 2004;55(6):671-6.
- 118. Garon-bissonnette J, Duguay G, Lemieux R, et al. Maternal childhood abuse and neglect predicts offspring development in early childhood: The roles of reflective functioning and child sex. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 2021;105030.
- 119. Garrett AS, Abazid L, Cohen JA, et al. Changes in brain volume associated with trauma-focused cognitive behavioural therapy among youth with posttraumatic stress disorder. *J Trauma Stress*. 2011;34(4):744-56.
- 120. GBD 2019 Mental Disorders Collaborators. Global, regional, and national burden of 12 mental disorders in 204 countries and territories, 1990-2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. *The Lancet Psychiatry*. 2022;9(2):137-50.
- 121. Geanellos R. The milieu and milieu therapy in adolescent mental health nursing. International Journal of Psychiatric Nursing Research. 2000;5(3):638-48.
- 122. Ghosh R, Dubey MJ, Chatterjee S, et al. Impact of COVID-19 on children: special focus on the psychosocial aspect. *Minerva Pediatrica*. 2020;72(3):226-35.
- 123. Giano Z, Wheeler DL, Hubach RD. The frequencies and disparities of adverse childhood experiences in the U.S. *BMC Public Health*. 2020;20:1327.

- 124. Gibb BE, Chelminski I, Zimmerman M. Childhood emotional, physical, and sexual abuse, and diagnosis of depressive disorders in adult psychiatric outpatients. *Depression and Anxiety*. 2006;24(4):356-63.
- 125. Gill F, Butler S, Pistrang N. The experience of adolescent inpatient care and the anticipated transition to the community: Young people's perspectives. *Journal of Adolescence*. 2016;46:57-65.
- 126. Gillihan SJ, Aderka IM, Conklin PH, et al. The Child PTSD Symptom Scale: Psychometric properties in female adolescent sexual assault survivors. *Psychological Assessment*. 2013;25(1):23-31.
- 127. Golden MH, Samuels MP, Southall DP. How to distinguish between neglect and deprivational abuse. *Arch Dis Child*. 2003;88:105-107.
- 128. Goodman GS, Ghetti S, Jodi A, et al. A prospective study of memory for child sexual abuse: new findings relevant to the repressed-memory controversy. *Psychological Science*. 2003;14(2):113-18.
- 129. Gopalan G, Goldstein L, Klingenstein K, et al. (2010). Engaging families into child mental health treatment: updates and special considerations. *Journal of the Canadian Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*. 2010;19(3):182-196.
- 130. Gospodarevskaya E. Post-traumatic stress disorder and quality of life in sexually abused Australian children. *J Child Sex Abuse*. 2013;22:277-96.

- 131. Govender K, Cowden RG, Asanta KO, et al. Validation of the child and youth resilience measure among Souht African adolescents. *PLoS One*. 2017;12(10):e018815.
- Government of Canada. The Human Face of Mental Health and Mental Illness in Canada. Ottawa: Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada. 2016.
- 133. Grasso DJ, Ford JD, Briggs-Gowan MJ. Early life trauma exposure and stress sensitivity in young children. *J Pediatr Psychol*. 2013;38(1):94-103.
- 134. Gray AJ. Stigma in psychiatry. *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine*. 2002;95(2):72-6.
- 135. Green CA, Duan N, Gibbons RD. Approaches to mixed methods dissemination and implementation research: methods, strengths, caveats, and opportunities. *Adm Policy Ment Health.* 2015;42(5):508-25.
- 136. Green J, Jacobs B, Beecham, J, et al. Inpatient treatment in child and adolescent psychiatry: a prospective study of health gain and costs. *Journal of child and adolescent psychiatry, and allied disciplines*. 2007;48(12):1259-67.
- 137. Guinosso SA, Johnson SB, Riley AW. Multiple adverse experiences and child cognitive development. *Pediatric Research*. 2016;79:220-6.
- 138. Guzick AG, Leong AW, Dickonson EM, et al. Brief, parent-led, transdiagnostic cognitive-behavioral therapy for youth with emotional problems related to the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Affective Disorders*. 2022;301(15):130-7.

- Hair HJ. Outcomes for children and adolescents after residential treatment: A review of research from 1993 to 2003. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*. 2005;14(4):551-75.
- Hall CL, Moldavsky M, Baldwin L, et al. The use of routine outcome measures in two child and adolescent mental health services: a completed audit cycle. *BMC Psychiatry*. 2013;13:270.
- 141. Halmi KA. The multimodal treatment of eating disorders. *World Psychiatry*. 2005;4(2):69-73.
- 142. Hamilton MP, Hetrick SE, Mihalopoulos C, et al. Identifying attributes of care that may improve cost-effectiveness in the youth mental health service system. *Med J Aust*. 2007;207(10):S27-37.
- Harder AT, Knorth EJ, Kalveroboer ME. Transition secured? A follow-up study of adolescents who have left secure residential care. *Children and Youth Services Review*. 2011;33(12):2482-8.
- 144. Harris NB, Renschler T. *Center for Youth Wellness ACE-Questionnaire (CYW ACE-Q child, teen, teen SR)* 7th ed. Center for Youth Wellness, San Francisco, CA. 2015.
- 145. Hasson-Ohayon I, Levy I, Kravetz S, et al. Insight into mental illness, self-stigma, and the family burden of parents of persons with a severe mental illness. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*. 2011;52(1):75-80.

- 146. Hayes C, Eivors A, Crossley J. 'Living in an alternative reality': adolescents' experiences of psychiatric inpatient care. *Child and Adolescent Mental Health*. 2011;16(3):150-7.
- 147. Hayes C, Simmons M, Simons C, et al. Evaluating effectiveness in adolescent mental health inpatient units: a systematic review. *Int J Ment Health Nursing*. 2017;27(2):498-513.
- 148. Heenan D. Art as therapy: An effective way of promoting positive mental health?*Disability & Society*. 2006;2:179-91.
- 149. Heflinger CA, Hinshaw SP. Stigma in child and adolescent mental health services research: understanding professional and institutional stigmatization of youth with mental health problems and their families. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health*. 2010;37(1):61-70.
- 150. Hegedus A, Kozel B, Fankhauser N, et al. Outcomes and feasibility of the short transitional intervention in psychiatry in improving transition from inpatient treatment to the community: A pilot study. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*. 2017;27(2):571-80.
- 151. Heim C, Binder EB. Current research trends in early life stress and depression: review of human studies on sensitive periods, gene-environment interactions, and epigenetics. *Experimental Neurology*. 2012;233:102-11.
- 152. Hemming K, Haines TP, Chilton PJ, et al. The stepped wedge cluster randomized trial: rationale, design, analysis, and reporting. *BMJ*. 2015;350:h391.

- 153. Herman KC, Borden LA, Hsu C, et al. Enhancing family engagement in interventions for mental health problems in youth. *Residential Treatment for Children & Youth*. 2011;28(2):102-19.
- 154. Herzog JI, Schmahl C. Adverse childhood experiences and the consequences on neurobiological, psychosocial, and somatic conditions across the lifespan. *Front Psychiatry*. 2018;9:420.
- 155. Hetzel-Riggin MD, Brausch AD, Montgomery BS. A meta-analytic investigation of therapy modality outcomes for sexually abused children and adolescents: an exploratory study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*. 2007;31(2):125-41.
- 156. Hoagwood K, Burns BJ, Kiser, et al. Evidence-based practice in child and adolescent mental health services. *Psychiatr Serv*. 2001;52(9):1179-89.
- 157. Hoagwood KE, Purtle J, Spandorfer J, et al. Aligning dissemination and implementation science with health policies to improve children's mental health. *Am Psychol.* 2020;75(8):1130-45.
- 158. Horvath AR. From evidence to best practice in laboratory medicine. *Clin Biochem Rev.* 2013;34(2):47-60.
- 159. Hosman CMH, van Doesum KTM, van Santvoort F. Prevention of emotional problems and psychiatric risks in children of parents with a mental illness in the Netherlands: The scientific basis to a comprehensive approach. *Advances in Mental Health*. 2009;8(3):250-63.

- 160. Huang T, Li H, Tan S, et al. The efficacy and acceptability of exposure therapy for the treatment of post-traumatic stress disorder in children and adolescents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Psychiatry*. 2022;22:259.
- Hudson JL, Rapee RM, Deveney C, et al. Cognitive-behavioural treatment versus an active control for children and adolescents with anxiety disorders: a randomized trial. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*. 2009;48(5):533-44.
- 162. Hughes K, Bellis MA, Hardcastle KA, et al. The effect of multiple adverse childhood experiences on health: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Public Health.* 2017;2(8):e356-e366.
- 163. Hunsley J, Lee CM. Research-informed benchmarks for psychological treatments: Efficacy studies, effectiveness studies, and beyond. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*. 2007;38(1):21-33.
- Institute of Health Economics. Mental health economics statistics in your pocket.
 Edmonton: IHE. Number of absent workers calculated using Statistics Canada work absence rates. 2007. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/71-211-x/71-211-x/211</u>
- 165. Iyer SN, Shah J, Boksa P, et al. A minimum evaluation protocol and stepped-wedge cluster randomized trial of ACCESS Open Minds, a large Canadian youth mental health services transformation project. *BMC Psychiatry*. 2019;19:273.

- 166. Jaffa T, Stocc C. Do inpatient adolescent units recover? A study of outcome and acceptability of treatment. *Eur Child Adolesc Psyhciaty*. 1999;8:292-300.
- 167. James, S, Charlemagne SJ, Gilman AB, et al. Post-discharge services and psychiatric rehospitalization among children and youth. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health.* 2010;37:434-45.
- 168. Johnson JG, Harris ES, Spitzer RL, et al. The patient health questionnaire for adolescents: validation of an instrument for assessment of mental disorders among adolescent primary care patients. *Journal of Adolescent Health*. 2002;30(3):196-204.
- 169. Johnson LL, Van Wagner V, Sheridan M, et al. Strengthening children's mental health residential treatment through evidence and experience. Markham, ON; Kinark Child and Family Services. 2015.
- 170. Jones CW, Esteves KC, Gray SAO, et al. The transgenerational transmission of maternal adverse childhood experiences (ACEs): Insights from placental aging and infant autonomic nervous system reactivity. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. 2019;106:20-7.
- 171. Jones JH, Call TA, Wolford SN, et al. Parental stress and child outcomes: the mediating role of family conflict. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*. 2021;30:746-56.
- 172. Juruena MF, Eror F, Cleare AJ, et al. *The role of early life stress in HPA axis and anxiety*. In : Kim YK. (eds) Anxiety Disorders, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology, vol 1191. Springer, Singapore. 2020.

- Juruena MF, Gadelrab R, Cleare AJ, et al. Epigenetics: a missing link between early
 life stress and depression. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*.
 2021;109:110231.
- 174. Kanyongo GY, Brook GP, Kyei-Blankson L, et al. Reliability and statistical power: How measurement fallibility affects power and required sample sizes for several parametric and nonparametric statistics. *J Mod Appl Stat Methods*. 2007;6(1):81-90.
- 175. Kelley L, Karsna K. Measuring the scale and changing nature of child sexual abuse and child sexual exploitation: Scoping report. Center of expertise on child sexual abuse (CSA). London Metropolitan University, London. 2017.
- 176. Kelley SD, Bickman L. Beyond outcomes monitoring: measurement feedback systems in child and adolescent clinical practice. *Curr Opin Psychiatry*. 2009;22(4):363-8.
- 177. Kelly Y, Zilanawala A, Booker C, et al. Social media use and adolescent mental health: findings from the UK millennium cohort study. *EClinicalMedicine*. 2019;6:59-68.
- 178. Kerig PK, Alexander JF. Family matters: Integrating trauma treatment into functional family therapy for traumatized delinquent youth. *Journal of Child & Adolescent Trauma* 2012;5:205-23.
- 179. Kessler RC, Berglund P, Demler O, et al. (Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 2005; 62(6): 593-602.

- 180. Kieling C, Baker-Henningham H, Belfer M, et al. Child and adolescent mental health worldwide: evidence for action. *The Lancet*. 2011;378(9801):1515-25.
- 181. Kirisci L, Dunn MG, Mezzich AC, et al. Impact of parental substance use disorder and clinical neglect severity on substance use involvement in male offspring. *Prevention Science*. 2001;2:241-55.
- 182. Klein JB, Jacobs RH, Reinecke MA. Cognitive-behavioural therapy for adolescent depression: a meta-analytic investigation of changes in effect-size estimates. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2007;6(11):1403-13.
- 183. Knight JR, Sherritt L, Shrier LA, et al. Validity of the CRAFFT substance abuse screening test among adolescent clinic patients. *Archives of Pediatric & Adolescent Medicine*. 2002;156(6):607-14.
- 184. Krause KR, Chung S, Adewuya AO, et al. International consensus on a standard set of outcome measures for child and youth anxiety, depression, obsessive-compulsive disorder, and post-traumatic stress disorder. *Lancet Psychiatry*. 2021;8(1):76-86.
- Kuehn BM. Surge in child abuse, harm during COVID-19 pandemic reported.
 JAMA. 2020;324(7):621.
- 186. Kundakovic M, Champagne FA. Early-life experiences, epigenetics, and the developing brain. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. 2015;40:141-53.
- 187. Kwan B, Rickwood DJ. A systematic review of mental health outcome measures for young people aged 12 to 25 years. *BMC Psychiatry*. 2015;15:279.

- Larzelere RE, Dinges K, Schmidt MD, et al. Outcomes of residential treatment: a study of the adolescent clients of Girls and Boys Town. *Child and Youth Care Forum*. 2001;30:175-85.
- 189. Lazarus CN, Lazarus AA. *Multimodal Therapy*. Handbook of Psychotherapy Integration 2. 2019.
- 190. Le PD, Eschliman EL, Grivel MM, et al. Barriers and facilitators to implementation of evidence-based task-sharing mental health intervnetions in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review using implementation science frameworks. *Implement Sci.* 2022;17:4.
- 191. Lee D, Jerman P, Purewal-Boparai SK, et al. Review of tools for measuring exposure toa diversity in children and adolescents. *J Ped Health Care* 2018;32(6):564-83.
- 192. Lee V, Hoaken PNS. Cognition, emotion, and neurobiological development: mediating the relation between maltreatment and aggression. *Childhood Maltreatment*. 2007;12:281-98
- 193. Leenarts LEW, Diehle J, Doreleijiers TAH, et al. Evidence-based treatments for children ith trauma-related psychopathology as a result of childhood maltreatment: a systematic review. *Eur Child Adoles Pschiatry*. 2013;22(5):259-83.
- 194. Leichtman, M. Residential treatment of children and adolescents: Past, present, and future. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*. 2006;76(3):285-94.

- 195. Lev-Wiesel R. Intergenerational transmission of trauma across three generations: A preliminary study. *Qualitative Social Work*. 2007;6(1):75-94.
- Lewis CC, Simons AD, Silva SG, et al. The role of readiness to change in response to treatment of adolescent depression. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*. 2009;77(3):422-8.
- 197. Liebenberg L, Unger M, Leblanc JC. The CYRM-12: A brief measure of resilience. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*. 2013;104(2):e131-35.
- 198. Lim KL, Jacobs P, Ohinmaa A, et al. A new population-based measure of the economic burden of mental illness in Canada. *Chronic Diseases in Canada*. 2008;28(3):92-8.
- 199. Lin Y, Yu Y, Zeng J, et al. Comparing the reliability and validity of the SF-36 and SF-12 in measuring quality of life among adolescents in China: a large sample cross-sectional study. *Health Qual Life Outcomes*. 2020;18(1):360.
- 200. Logan DE, King CA. Parental facilitation of adolescent mental health service utilization: A conceptual and empirical review. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*. 2001;8(3):319-33.
- 201. Losel F, Bender D. Emotional and antisocial outcomes of bullying and victimization at school: A follow-up from childhood to adolescence. *Journal of Aggression, Conflict and Peace Research*. 2011;3(2):89-96.

- 202. Lu W, Mueser KT, Rosenberg SD, et al. Correlates of adverse childhood experiences among adults with severe mood disorders. *Psychiatr Serv.* 2008;59(9):1018-26.
- 203. Luby JL, Belden AC, Spitznagel E. Risk factors for preschool depression: the mediating role of early stressful life events. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*. 2006;47(12):1292-8.
- 204. Ludy-Dobson C, Perry BD. *The role of healthy relational interactions in buffering the impact of childhood trauma*, In E. Gil (Ed.), Working with children to heal interpersonal trauma (pp 26-44). New York: Guilford Press. 2010.
- 205. Lupien SJ, Juster RP, Raymond C, et al. The effects of chronic stress on the human brain: From neurotoxicity, to vulnerability, to opportunity. *Front Neuroendocrinology*. 2018;49(91):91-105.
- 206. Lyons JS, Bornstein S, Navarro, P et al. Youth Residential Treatment Options in Newfoundland & Labrador. St. John's, NL: Newfoundland & Labrador Center for Applied Health Research, Memorial University. 2010.
- 207. Macdonald G, Higgins JP, Ramchandani P, et al. Cognitive-behavioural interventions for children who have been sexually abused. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. 2012;16(5):CD001930.
- 208. Macdonald G, Livingston N, Hanratty J, et al. The effectiveness, acceptability and cost-effectiveness of psychosocial interventions for maltreated children and adolescents: an evidence synthesis. *Health Technol Assess*. 2016;20(69):1-508.

- 209. Mackler JS, Kelleher RT, Shanahan L, et al. Parenting stress, parental reactions, and externalizing behaviors from ages 4 to 10. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*. 2015;77(2):388-406.
- 210. MacMillan HL, Tanaka M, Duku E, et al. Child physical and sexual abuse in a community sample of young adults: results from the Ontario Child Health Study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*. 2013;37(1):14-21.
- 211. MacQueen GM, Frey BN, Ismail Z, et al. Canadian Network for Mood and Anxiety Treatments (CANMAT) 2016 clinical guidelines for the management of adults with major depressive disorder—Section 6: Special populations: youth, women, and the elderly. *Can J Psychiatry*. 2016;61(9):588-603.
- 212. Majer M, Nater UM, Lin JM, et al. Association of childhood trauma with cognitive function in healthy adults: a pilot study. *BMC Neurology*. 2010;10:61.
- 213. Malki K, Koritskaya E, Harris F, et al. Epigenetic differences in monozygotic twins discordant for major depressive disorder. *Transl Psychaitry*. 2016;6(6):e893.
- 214. Malla A, Shah J, Iyer S, et al. Youth mental health should be a top priority for health care in Canada. *Can J Psychiatry*. 2018;63(4):216-22.
- 215. Manea L, Gilbody S, McMillan D. Optimal cut-off score for diagnosing depression with the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9): a meta-analysis. *CMAJ*. 2012;184(3):E191-96.

- Maniglio R. The impact of child sexual abuse on health: A systematic review of reviews. *Clinical Psychology Review*. 2009;29(7):647-57.
- 217. Maniglio R. The role of child sexual abuse in the etiology of suicide and nonsuicidal self-injury. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavia*. 2011;124(1):30-41.
- 218. Mannarino AP, Cohen JA, Deblinger E, et al. Trauma-focused cognitivebehavioural therapy for children sustained impact of treatment 6 and 12 months later. *Childhood Maltreatment*. 2012;17:231-41.
- 219. Martin AM, Fishman R, Baxter L, et al. Practitioners' attitudes towards the use of standardized diagnostic assessment in routine practice: a qualitative study in two child and adolescent mental health services. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry*. 2011;16(3):407-20.
- 220. Martin EK, Silverstone PH. How much Child Sexual Abuse is "below the surface", and can we help adults identify it early? *Frontiers in Psychiatry: Child and Neurodevelopmental Psychiatry.* 2013;4:58.
- 221. Martin JK, Pescosolido BA, Olafsdottir S, et al. The construction of fear: Americans' preferences for social resistance from children and adolescents with mental health problems. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*. 2007;48(1):50-67.
- 222. Martinez JI, Lau AS, Chorpita BF, et al. Psychoeducation as a mediator of treatment approach engagement in child psychotherapy for disruptive behavior. *J Clin Child & Adol Psychol.* 2017;46(4):573-87.

- 223. Martos SN, Tang WY, Wang Z. Elusive inheritance: Transgenerational effects and epigenetic inheritance in human environmental disease. *Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology*. 2015;118(1):44-54.
- 224. Matthews T, Danese A, Wertz J, et al. Social isolation, loneliness, and depression in young adulthood: A behavioural genetic analysis. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*. 2016;51(3):339-48.
- 225. McCloskey LA, Bailey JA. The intergenerational transmission of risk for child sexual abuse. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*. 2000;15(10):1019-35.
- 226. McDonald S, Tough S. *The Alberta Center for Child, Family and Community Research.* The Alberta Adverse Childhood Experiences Study. 2013.
- 227. McElvaney R. Disclosure of child sexual abuse: Delays, non-disclosure and partial disclosure. What the research tells us and implications for practice. *Child Abuse Review*. 2013;24(3):159-69.
- 228. McGorry PD, Purcell R, Goldstone S, et al. Age of onset and timing of treatment for mental and substance use disorders: implications for preventive intervention strategies and models of care. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*. 2011;24(4):301-6.
- 229. McQuaid RJ, Bombay A, McInnis OA, et al. Suicide ideation and attempts among First Nations people living on-reserve in Canada: The intergenerational and cumulative effects of Indian Residential Schools. *Can J Psychiatry*. 2017;62(6):422-30.
- 230. Meaney MJ, Szyf M. Environmental programming of stress response through DNA methylation: life at the interface between a dynamic environment and a fixed genome. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci.* 2006;7(2):103-23.
- 231. Meherali S, Punjani N, Louie-Poon S, et al. Mental health of children and adolescents amidst COVID-19 and past pandemics: A rapid systematic review. *IJERPH*. 2021;18(7):3432.
- 232. Mei C, Fitzsimons J, Allen N, et al. Global research priorities for youth mental health. *Early Interv Psychiatry*. 2020;14(1):3-13.
- 233. Menke A, Klengel T, Rubel J, et al. Genetic variation in FKBP5 associated with the extent of stress hormone dysregulation in major depression. *Genes Brain Behav.* 2013;12(3):289-96.
- 234. Mental Health Commission of Canada (MHCC). Making the Case for Investing in Mental Health in Canada. 2010. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/wp-content/uploads/drupal/2016-</u>06/Investing in Mental Health FINAL Version ENG.pdf
- 235. Mental Health Commission of Canada. *The Mental Health Strategy for Canada: A youth perspective*. Ottawa, ON: MHCC. 2015
- 236. Merrick MT, Ports KA, Ford DC. Unpacking the impact of adverse childhood experiences on adult mental health. *Child Abuse Negl.* 2017;69:10-9.

- 237. Middlebrooks JS, Audage NC. *The effects of childhood stress on health across the lifespan*. Center for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Injury Prevention and Control. Atlanta, Georgia. 2008.
- 238. Millard H, Parke S, Wilson C, et al. Inpatient milieu therapy: considerations for adolescent and transitional age youth. *Adolescent Psychiatry*. 2020;10(1):7-16.
- 239. MTA Cooperative Group. National Institute of Mental Health multimodal treatment study of ADHD follow-up: 24-month outcomes of treatment strategies for attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Pediatrics*. 2004;113(4):754-61.
- 240. Narayan AJ, Liberman AF, Masten AS. Intergenerational transmission and prevention of adverse childhood experiences (ACE). *Clinical Psychology Review*. 2021;85:101997.
- 241. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Clinical practice guidelines for the treatment of child and youth depression. 2005. Retrieved from: https://frayme.ca/fr/projects/clinical-practice-guidelines-treatment-child-and-youthdepression
- 242. National Institutes of Health (NIH). Study Quality Assessment Tools. Retrieved from: https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-topics/study-quality-assessment-tools

- 243. Navaneelan T. Suicide rates: an overview. Statistics Canada no. 82-624-X. 2012. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.suicideinfo.ca/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/Suicide-Rates-An-Overview_oa.pdf</u>
- 244. Nearchou F, Flinn C, Niland R, et al. Exploring the impact of COVID-19 on mental health outcomes in children and adolescents: a systematic review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*. 2020;17(22):8479.
- 245. Nelson SE, Wilson K. The mental health of Indigenous peoples in Canada: A critical review of research. *Social Science & Medicine*. 2017;176:93-112
- Nemeroff CB. Neurobiological consequences of childhood trauma. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*. 2004;65(SUpp1):18-28.
- 247. Ng MY, Weisz JR. Annual research review: building a science of personalized intervention for youth mental health. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*. 2016;57(3):216-36.
- 248. Nickerson AB, Colby SA, Brooks JL, et al. Transitioning youth from residential treatment to the community: A preliminary investigation. *Child & Youth Care Forum*. 2007;36(2-3):73-86.
- 249. Nilsson L, Hofflander M, Eriksen S, et al. The importance of interaction in the implementation of information technology in health care: a symbolic interactionism study on the meaning of accessibility. *Inform Health Soc Care*. 2012;37(4):277-90.

- 250. Noll JG, Horowitz LA, Bonanno GA, et al. Revictimization and self-harm in females who experienced childhood sexual abuse: Results from a prospective study. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*. 2003;18(12):1452-71.
- 251. O'Brien D, Harvey K, Howse J, et al. Barriers to managing child and adolescent mental health problems: a systematic review of primary care practitioners' perceptions. *British Journal of General Practice*. 2016;66(651): e693-707.
- 252. O'Neil KA, Conner BT, Kendall PC. Internalizing disorders and substance use disorders in youth: comorbidity, risk, temporal order, and implications for intervention. *Clin Psychol Rev.* 2010;31(1):104-12.
- Octavius GS, Silviani FR, Lesmandjaja A, et al. Impact of COVID-19 on adolescents' mental health: a systematic review. *Middle East Current Psychiatry*. 2020;27:72.
- 254. Oh DL, Jerman P, Purewal Boparai SK, et al. Review of tools for measuring exposure to adversity in children and adolescents. *Journal of Pediatric Health Care*. 2018;32(6):564-83.
- 255. Oort FJ, Visser MRM, Sprangers MAG. Formal definitions of measurement bias and explanation bias clarify measurement and conceptual perspectives on response shift. *J Clin Epidemiol.* 2009;62(11):1126-37.
- Paris J. Canadian psychiatry across 5 decades: from clinical inference to evidencebased practice. *Can J Psychiatry*. 200;45(1):34-9.

- 257. Pashall DP. Research and reflection: Animal-assisted therapy in mental health settings. *Counselling & Value*. 2003;48(1):47-56.
- 258. Patel P, Oremus M. The association between adverse childhood experiences and late-life cognition: A systematic review of cross-sectional and case-control studies. *The Gerontologist*. 2022;gnac041.
- 259. Patel V, Saxena S, Lund C, et al. The Lancet Commission on global mental health and sustainable development. *The Lancet Commission*. 2018;392(10157):1153-98.
- 260. Pazderka H, Brown M, Agyapong V, et al. Collective trauma and mental health in adolescents: a retrospective cohort study of the effects of retraumatization. *Frontiers Psychiatry*. 2021;12:682041.
- 261. Pears K, Fisher PA. Developmental, cognitive, and neuropsychological functioning in preschool-aged foster children: associations with prior maltreatment and placement history. *Dev Behav Pediatr.* 2005;26:112-22.
- 262. Pearson C, Jantz T, Ali J. Mental and substance use disorders in Canada. Statistics
 Canada Catalogue no. 82-624-X. 2013. Retrieved from: https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/82-624-x/2013001/article/11855-eng.pdf
- 263. Pechtel P, Pizzagalli DA. Effects of early life stress on cognitive and affective function: an integrated review of human literature. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*.
 2011;214(1):55-70.

- 264. Peng H, Zhu Y, Strachan E, et al. Childhood trauma, DNA methylation of stressrelated genes, and depression: findings from two monozygotic twin studies. *Psychosom Med.* 2018;80(7):599-608.
- 265. Pennant ME, Loucas CE, Whittington C, et al. Computerized therapies for anxiety and depression in children and young people: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Beh Res Ther.* 2015;67:1-18.
- 266. Pereda N, Guilera G, Forns M, et al. The international epidemiology of child sexual abuse: a continuation of Finkelhor (1994). *Child Abuse & Neglect*. 2009;33:331-42.
- 267. Pereda N, Guilera G, Forns M, et al. The prevalence of child sexual abuse in community and student samples: a meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*. 2009;29:328-38.
- 268. Perry BD. Applying principles of neurodevelopment to clinical work with maltreated and traumatized children: The Neurosequential Model of Therapeutics, In: Working with traumatized youth in child welfare (pp. 27-52). The Guilford Press. 2006.
- 269. Perry, BD. Effects of traumatic events on children: an introduction. *The Child Trauma Academy*. 2003. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.fa-sett.no/filer/perry-handout-effects-of-trauma.pdf</u>
- 270. Perry BD. Examining child maltreatment through a neurodevelopmental lens: Clinical applications of the Neurosequential Model of Therapeutics *Journal of Loss and Trauma*. 2009;14:240-55.

- 271. Perry BD. *The Neurosequential model of therapeutics: Applying principles of neuroscience to clinical work with traumatized and maltreated children*, In: Working with Traumatized Youth in Child Welfare (Nancy Boyd Webb, Ed.). The Guilford Press, New York, NY, pp. 27-52. 2006.
- 272. Poa M. Defining success in the transition to adulthood. *Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am.* 2017;26(2):191-8.
- 273. Porges SW. The polyvagal theory: phylogenetic contributions to social behavior.*Physiol Behav.* 2003;79(3):503-13.
- 274. Proctor E, Silmere H, Raghavan R, et al. Outcomes for implementation research: conceptual distinctions, measurement challenges, and research agenda. *Adm Policy Ment Health*. 2011;38(2):65-76.
- 275. Pumariega AJ. Residential treatment for children and youth: Time for reconsideration and reform. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*. 2007;77(3):343-5.
- 276. Putnam FW. Ten-year research update review: Child sexual abuse. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*. 2003;42(3):269-78.
- 277. Quereshi SU, Long ME, Bradshaw MR, et al. Does PTSD impair cognition beyond the effect of trauma? *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci.*, 2011;23(1):16-28.
- 278. Radliff KM, Wheaton JE, Robinson K, et al. Illuminating the relationship between bullying and substance use among middle and high school youth. *Addict Behav*. 2012;37(4):569-72.

- 279. Ramaswamy S, Seshadri S. Children on the brink: Risks for child protection, sexual abuse, and related mental health problems in the COVID-19 pandemic. *Indian Journal of Psychiatry*. 2020;62(Suppl 3):S404-13.
- 280. Ramo-Fernandez L, Boeck C, Koenig AM, et al. The effects of childhood maltreatment on epigenetic regulation of stress-response associated genes: an intergenerational approach. *Scientific Reports*. 2019;9:983.
- 281. Randell KA, O'Malley D, Dowd DM. Association of parental adverse childhood experiences and current child adversity. *JAMA Pediatr.* 2015;169(8):786-7.
- 282. Rao U, Chen LA. Characteristics, correlates, and outcomes of childhood and adolescent depressive disorders. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*. 2009;11(1):45-62.
- 283. Ravens-Sieberer U, Erhart M, Rajmil L, et al. Reliability, construct and criterion validity of the KIDSCREEN-10 score: a short measure for children and adolescents' well-being and health-related quality of life. *Quality of Life Research*. 2010;19(10):1487-500.
- 284. Reeson M, Polzin W, Pazderka H, et al. A novel 2-week intensive multimodal treatment program for child sexual abuse (CSA) survivors is associated with mental health benefits for females aged 13-16. *Journal of the Canadian Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*. 2020;29(3):165-76.
- 285. Reeves G, Anthony B. Multimodal treatment versus pharmacotherapy alone in children with psychiatric disorders: implications of access, effectiveness, and contextual treatment. *Paediatr Drugs*. 2009;11(3):165-9.

- 286. Rehm J, Shield KD. Global burden of disease and the impact of mental and addictive disorders. *Curr Psychiatry Rep.* 2019;21(2):10.
- 287. Reynolds CR, Suzuki LA. Bias in psychological assessment: An empirical review and recommendations. Handbook of Psychology, Second Edition. Johny Wiley & Sons, Inc. 2013.
- 288. Richardson LP, McCauley E, Grossman DC, et al. Evaluation of the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) for detecting major depression among adolescents. *Pediatrics*.
 2010;126(6):1117-23.
- 289. Roach KE. Measurement of health outcomes: reliability, validity and responsiveness. *Journal of Prosthetics and Orthotics*. 2006;18(6 proceedings):P8-12.
- 290. Robert R, O'Connor T, Dunn J, et al. The effects of child sexual abuse in later family life; mental health, parenting and adjustment of offspring. *Child Abuse & Neglect*. 2004;28(5): 525-45.
- 291. Rowan AB, Foy DW. Post-traumatic stress disorder in child sexual abuse survivors:A literature review. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*. 1993;6:30-20.
- 292. Ruf M, Schauer M. Facing childhood trauma: Narrative exposure therapy within a cascade model of care. In J. Murray (Ed.), Exposure therapy: New developments (pp. 229-261). Nova Science Publishers. 2012.

- 293. Sanchez-Meca J, Rosa-Alcazar AI, Lopez-Soler C. The psychological treatment of sexual abuse in children and adolescents: a meta-analysis. *International Journal of Clinical* and Health Psychology. 2011;11(1):67-93.
- 294. Sanner CM, Neece CL. Parental distress and child behavior problems: parenting behaviors as mediators. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*. 2017;27:591-601
- 295. Sather EW, Iversen VC, Svindseth MF, et al. Patient's perspectives on care pathways and informed shared decision making in the transition between psychiatric hospitalization and the community. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice*. 2019;25(6):1131-41.
- 296. Schilling EA, Aseltine RH, Gore S. Adverse childhood experiences and mental health in young adults: a longitudinal survey. *BMC public health*. 2007;7:30.
- 297. Schleider JL, Abel MR, Weisz JR. Implicit theories and youth mental health problems: a random-effects meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*. 2015;35:1-9.
- 298. Schmidt RA, Genois R, Jin J, et al. The early impact of COVID-19 on the incidence, prevalence, and severity of alcohol use and other drugs: A systematic review. *Drug and alcohol dependence*. 2021;228:109065.
- 299. Schore AN. The effects of early relational trauma on right-brain development, affect regulation, and infant mental health. *Infant Mental Health Journal*. 2001;22(1-2):201-69.

- Scott K, Lewis CC. Using measurement-based care to enhance any treatment. *Cogn Behav Pract.* 2015;22(1):49-59.
- 301. Scury K, Kolasssa IT. Biological memory of childhood maltreatment: current knowledge and recommendations for future research. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*. 2012;1262: 93-100.
- 302. Serim Demirgoren B, Ozbek A, Gencer O. Factors affecting improvement of children and adolescents who were treated in the child and adolescent psychiatry inpatient unit. *The Journal of international medical research*. 2017;45(4):1318-23.
- 303. Serrano-Ibanez ER, Ruiz-Parrage GT, Esteve R, et al. Validation of the Child PTSD Symptom Scale (CPSS) in Spanish adolescents. *Psichothema*. 2018;30(1):130-5.
- 304. Setoya Y, Saito K, Kasahara M, et al. Evaluating outcomes of the child and adolescent psychiatric unit: A prospective study. *International Journal of Mental Health Systems*. 2018;5:7.
- 305. Shah P, Mountain D. The medical model is dead: long live the medical model. British Journal of Psychiatry. 2007;191:135-7.
- 306. Shapiro F. The role of Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing (EMDR) Therapy in medicine: Addressing the psychological and physical symptoms stemming from adverse life experiences. *The Permanente Journal*. 2014;18(1):71-77.

- 307. Sharma V, Hendon J, Churchill R, et al. Improving child and youth mental health: stakeholder perspectives from a cross-sectional survey to inform research priorities. *Mental Health & Prevention*. 2021;22:200201.
- 308. Shastri PC. Promotion and prevention in child mental health. *Indian Journal of Psychiatry*. 2009;51(2):88-95.
- 309. Shonkoff JP, Fisher PA. Rethinking evidence-based practice and two-generation programs to create the future of early childhood policy. *Dev Psychopathol.* 2013;25:1635-53.
- 310. Shonkoff JP, Garner AS, Committee on Psychosocial Aspects of Child and Family Health, et al. The lifelong effects of early childhood adversity and toxic stress. *Pediatrics* 2012;129:e232–46.
- 311. Sickel AE, Seacat JD, Nabors NA. Mental health stigma update: a review of consequences. *Advances in Mental Health*. 2014;12:202-15
- 312. Signal T, Taylor N, Prentice K, et al. Going to the dogs: A quasi-experimental assessment of animal assisted therapy for children who have experienced abuse. *Applied Developmental Science*. 2017;21(2):81-93.
- 313. Silberman DM, Acosta GB, Zorilla Zubilete MA. Long-term effects of early life stress exposure: role of epigenetic mechanisms. *Pharmacol Res*. 2016;109:64-73.

- 314. Silverman WK, Ortiz CD, Viswesvaran C, et al. Evidence-based psychosocial treatments for children and adolescents exposed to traumatic events. *J Clin Child Adoles Psychol.* 2008;37(1):156-83.
- 315. Silverstone PH, Greenspan F, Silverstone M, et al. A complex multimodal 4-week residential treatment program significantly reduces PTSD symptoms in child sexual abuse victims. *Journal of Child and Adolescent Behaviour*. 2016;4(1):doi:10.4172/2375-4494.1000275.
- 316. Silverstone PH, Suen YVM, Ashton CK, et al.. Are complex multimodal interventions the best treatments for mental health disorders in children and youth? *Journal of Child and Adolescent Behavior*. 2016;4:4.
- 317. Simon JB, Savina EA. Facilitating hospital to school transitions: practices of hospital-based therapists. *Residential Treatment for Children & Youth.* 2007;4(22):49-66.
- Singal AG, Higgins PDR, Waljee AK. A primer on effectiveness and efficacy trials.
 Clin Trans Gastroenterol. 2014;5(1):e45.
- 319. Slade MK, Warne RT. A meta-analysis of the effectiveness of trauma-focused cognitive-behavioural therapy and play therapy for child victims of abuse. *Journal of Young Investigators*. 2016;30:36-43.
- 320. Smetanin P, Stiff D, Briatne C, et al. The life and economic impact of major mental illnesses in Canada: 2011 to 2041. *RiskAnalytica*, on behalf on the Mental Health Commission of Canada. 2011.

- 321. Smouth MF. The factor structure and predictive validity of the Kessler Psychological Distress Scale (K10) in children and adolescents. *Australian Psychologist*. 2019;54(2):102-13.
- 322. Soleimanpour S, Geierstanger S, Brindis CD. Adverse childhood experiences and resilience: addressing the unique needs of adolescents. *Acad Pediatr*. 2017;17(7S):S108-14.
- 323. Spates RC, Samaraweera N, Plaisier B, et al. Psychological impact of trauma on developing children and youth. *Primary Care: Clinics in Office Practice*. 2007;34(2):387-405.
- 324. Spenrath MA, Clarke ME, Kutcher S. The science of brain and biological development: implications for mental health research, practice, and policy. *J Can Acad Child Adoles Psychaitry*. 2011;20(4): 298-304.
- 325. Spratt EG, Friedenberg SL, Swenson CC, et al. The effects of early neglect on cognitive, language, and behavioural function in childhood. *Psychology (Irvine)*. 2012;3(2):175-82.
- 326. Sserwanja Q, Kawuki J, Kim JH. Increased child abuse in Uganda amidst COVID19 pandemic. *Journal of Pediatrics and Child Health*. 2020;57(2):188-91.
- 327. Staccini L, Tomba E, Grandi S, et al. The evaluation of family functioning by the family assessment device: a systematic review of studies in adult clinical populations. *Fam Process.* 2015;54(1):94-115.

- 328. Stevens JS, Reddy R, Kim YJ, et al. Episodic memory after trauma exposure: medial temporal lobe function is positively related to re-experiencing and inversely related to negative affect symptoms. *Neuroimage Clin.* 2018;17:650-58.
- 329. Stoltenborgh M, van Ijzendoorn MH, Euser EM, et al. A global perspective on child sexual abuse: meta-analysis of prevalence around the world. *Child Maltreatment*. 2011;16(2):79-101.
- 330. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Service Administration (SAMHSA). Treatment considerations for youth and young adults with serious emotional disturbances and serious mental illnesses and co-occurring substance use. Publication No. PEP20-06-02-001. Rockville, MD: National Mental Health and Substance Use Policy Laboratory, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. 2021.
- 331. Swanson JM, Arnold LE, Molina BSG. Young adult outcomes in the follow-up of the multimodal treatment study of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: symptom persistence, source discrepancy and heigh suppression. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2017;58(6):66-78
- 332. Taniellen T, Jaycox PH, Paddock, SM, et al. Improving treatment seeking among adolescents with depression: understanding readiness for treatment. *Journal of Adolescent Health.* 2009;45(5):490-8.
- 333. Tate AE, McCabe RC, Larsson H, et al. Predicting mental health problems in adolescence using machine learning techniques. *PLoS One*. 2020;15(4):e0230389.

- 334. Tavkar P, Hansen DJ. Interventions for families victimized by child sexual abuse: clinical issues and approaches for child advocacy center-based services. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*. 2011;18(3):188-99.
- 335. Tener D, Marmor A, Katz C, et al. How does COVID-19 impact intrafamilial child sexual abuse? Comparison analysis of reports by practitioners in Israel and the US. *Child Abuse & Neglect*. 2021;116(pt2):104779.
- 336. The Canadian Paediatric Society. *Policy Brief: Child & Youth Mental Health*. April, 2022. Retrieved from: <u>https://cps.ca/uploads/advocacy/PolicyBrief_MH.pdf</u>
- 337. The Center for Addiction and Mental Health (CAMH). Mental Illness and Addiction: Facts and Stats. 2020. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.camh.ca/en/drivingchange/the-crisis-is-real/mental-health-statistics</u>.
- 338. Tourigny M, Hebert M, Daigneault I, et al. Efficacy of group therapy for sexually abused adolescent girls. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*. 2005;14(4):71-93.
- 339. Tremblay C, Hebert M, Piche C. Type I and type II posttraumatic stress disorder in sexually abused children. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*. 2000;1:65-90.
- 340. Trowell J, Kolvin I, Weeramanthri T, et al. Psychotherapy for sexually abused girls:
 Psychopathological outcome findings and patterns of change. *British Journal of Psychiatry*. 2002;180:234-47.
- 341. Uher R. The role of genetic variation in the causation of mental illness: an evolution-informed framework. *Molecular Psychiatry*. 2009;14:1072-82.

- 342. van der Kolk BA. Developmental trauma disorder: towards a rational diagnosis for chronically traumatized children. *Prax. Kinderpsychol. Kinderpsychiatr.* 2009;58(8):572-86.
- 343. Venturo-Conerly KE, Fitzpatrick OM, Horn RL, et al. Effectiveness of youth psychotherapy delivered remotely: A meta-analysis. *American Psychologist*. 2022;77(1):71-84.
- 344. Vijverberg R, Ferdinand R, Beekman A, et al. Factors associated with treatment intensification in child and adolescent psychiatry: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Psychiatry*. 2018;18:291.
- 345. Villani L, Pastorino R, Molinari E, et al. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on psychological well-being of students in an Italian university: a web-based cross-sectional survey. *Globalization and Health*. 2021;17(39):<u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12992-021-00680-w</u>.
- 346. Villarreal V, Ponce C, Guitierrez H. Treatment acceptability of interventions published in six psychology journals. *School Psychology International*. 2015;36(3):322-32.
- 347. Vitiello B, Brent DA, Greenhill LL, et al. Depressive symptoms and clinical status during the Treatment of Adolescent Suicide Attempters (TASA) study. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2009;48(10):997-1004.

- 348. Vostanis P, Graves A, Meltzer H, et al. Relationship between parental psychopathology, parenting strategies and child mental health. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*. 2006;41:509-14
- 349. Waddell C, McEwan K, Shepherd CA, et al. A public health strategy to improve the mental health of Canadian children. *Can J Psychiatry*. 2005;50(4):226-33.
- 350. Wainberg ML, Scorza P, Shultz JM, et al. Challenges and opportunities in global mental health: a research-to-practice perspective. *Curr Psychiatry Rep*. 2017;19(5):28.
- 351. Waller D. Art therapy for children: how it leads to change. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry*. 2006;11(2):271-82.
- 352. Wang G, Zhang Y, Zhao J, et al. Mitigate the effects of home confinement on children during the COVID-19 outbreak. *Lancet*. 2020;395(10228):945-7.
- 353. Weathers FW, Keane TM. The criterion A problem revisited: Controversies and challenges in defining and measuring psychological trauma. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*. 2007;20(2):107-21.
- 354. Weisz JR, Sandler IN, Durlak JA, et al. Promoting and protecting youth mental health through evidence-based prevention and treatment. *Am Psychol.* 2005;60(6):628-48.
- 355. Wesselmann D, Armstrong S, Schwietzer C, et al. An integrative EMDR and family therapy model for treating attachment trauma in children: A case series. *Journal of EMDR Practice and Research*. 2018;12(4):197-207.

- 356. White D, Leach C, Sims R, et al. Validation of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale for use with adolescents. *British Journal of Psychiatry*. 1999;175:452-4.
- 357. Whitley R, Crawford M. Qualitative research in psychiatry. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*. 2005;50(2):108-14.
- 358. Widom CS, Hiller-Sturmhofel S. Alcohol abuse as a risk factor for and consequence of child abuse. *Alcohol Res Health*. 2001;25(1):52-7.
- 359. Wild CT, Wolfe J, Wang J, Ohinmaa A. *Gap Analysis of Public Mental Health and Addictions Programs (GAP-MAP) Final Report*. Edmonton, AB: University of Alberta School of Public Health. 2014.
- 360. Wilk P, Maltby A, Cooke M. Residential schools and the effects on Indigenous health and well-being in Canada a scoping review. *Public Health Reviews*. 2017;37:8.
- 361. Williams M. Evaluation of the NSPCC's Protect & Respect Child Sexual Exploitation Group Service. London: NSPCC. 2019.
- 362. Williams NJ, Beidas RS. Annual Research Review: The state of implementation science in child psychology and psychiatry: a review and suggestions to advance the field. *J Child Psychol and Psychiatry*. 2018;60(4):430-50.
- 363. Williams RJ, Chang SY. A comprehensive and comparative review of adolescent substance abuse treatment outcome. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*. 2000;7(2):138-66.

- 364. Willis DG, Sullivan-Bolyai S, Knafl K, et al. Distinguishing features and similarities between descriptive phenomenological and qualitative description research. *Western journal of nursing research*. 2016;38(9):1185-204.
- 365. Wolford G, Rosenberg SD, Rosenberg HJ, et al. A clinical trial comparing interviewer and computer-assisted assessment among clients with severe mental illness. *Psychiatric Services*. 2008;59(7):769-75.
- 366. World Health Organization (WHO). Adolescent Mental Health. 2021. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/adolescent-mental-health</u>
- 367. Yang B-Z, Zhang H, Ge W, et al. Child abuse and epigenetic mechanisms of disease risk. Am J Prev Med. 2013;44(2):101–107.
- 368. Yehuda R, Daskalakis NP, Bierer LM, et al. Holocaust exposure induced intergenerational effects on FKBP5 methylation. *Biol Psychiatry*. 2016;80(5):372-80.
- 369. Yin B, Teng T, Tong L, et al. Efficacy and acceptability of parent-only group cognitive behavioral intervention for treatment of anxiety disorder in children and adolescents: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *BMC Psychiatry*. 2021;21:29.
- 370. Youth Mental Health Canada (YMHC). Youth mental health statistics in Canada.
 2017. Retrieved from: https://ymhc.ngo/resources/ymh-stats/
- 371. Zahn BS, Schug SE. The Survivors Project: A multimodal therapy program for adolescents in residential treatment who have survived child sexual abuse. *Residential Treatment for Children & Youth*. 1993;11(2):65-87.

- 372. Zarse EM, Neff MR, Yoder R, et al. The ACE questionnaire: two decades of research on childhood trauma as a primary cause of adult mental illness, addiction, and medical diseases. *Cogent Medicine*. 2019;6(1):1581447.
- 373. Zelochoski AD, Sharma R, Besserra K, et al. Traumatized youth in residential treatment settings: prevalence, clinical presentation, treatment, and policy implications. J Fam Viol. 2013;28:639-52.
- 374. Zhang G, Pradhan S. Mammalian epigenetic mechanisms. *IUBMB Life*.2014;66(4):240-56.
- 375. Zhou SJ, Zhang LG, Wang LL, et al. Prevalence and socio-demographic correlates of psychological health problems in Chinese adolescents during the outbreak of COVID-19. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*. 2020;29(6):749-58.
- 376. Zhou X, Hetrick SE, Cuijpers P, et al. Comparative efficacy and acceptability of psychotherapies for depression in children and adolescents: A systematic review and network meta-analysis. *World Psychiatry*. 2015;14(2):207-22.
- 377. Zlomuzica A, Woud LM, Machulska A, et al. Deficits in episodic memory and mental time travel in patients with post-traumatic stress disorder. *Progress in Neuropsycopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry.*, 2018;83:43-54.